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Chapter 1

.

IntroducƟon to Financial AccounƟng

AccounƟng involves a process of collecƟng, recording, and reporƟng a business’s economic ac-
ƟviƟes to users. It is oŌen called the language of business because it uses a unique vocabulary
to communicate informaƟon to decision makers. To understand accounƟng, we first look at the
basic forms of business organizaƟons. The concepts and principles that provide the foundaƟon
for financial accounƟng are then discussed. With an emphasis on the corporate form of business
organizaƟon, we will examine how we communicate to users of financial informaƟon using finan-
cial statements. Finally, we will review how financial transacƟons are analyzed and then reported
on financial statements.

Chapter 1 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Define accounƟng.

LO2 – IdenƟfy and describe the forms of business organizaƟon.

LO3 – IdenƟfy and explain the Generally Accepted AccounƟng Principles (GAAP).

LO4 – IdenƟfy, explain, and prepare the financial statements.

LO5 – Analyze transacƟons by using the accounƟng equaƟon.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 1.

1. What is accounƟng?

2. What is the difference between internal and external users of accounƟng informaƟon?

3. What is the difference between managerial and financial accounƟng?

4. What is the difference between a business organizaƟon and a non-business organizaƟon?

5. What are the three types of business organizaƟons?

6. What is a PAE? A PE?

7. What does the term limited liabilitymean?

1



2 Introduction to Financial Accounting

8. Explain how ethics are involved in the pracƟce of accounƟng.

9. Describe what GAAP refers to.

10. IdenƟfy and explain the six qualitaƟve characterisƟcs of GAAP.

11. IdenƟfy and explain at least five of the nine principles that support the GAAP qualitaƟve
characterisƟcs.

12. How is financial informaƟon communicated to external users?

13. What are the four financial statements?

14. Which financial statement measures financial performance? Financial posiƟon?

15. What informaƟon is provided in the statement of cash flows?

16. Explain how retained earnings and dividends are related.

17. What are the three primary components of the balance sheet?

18. Equity consists of what two components?

19. How are assets financed?

20. IdenƟfy and explain the three types of acƟviƟes a business engages in.

21. What are notes to the financial statements?

22. What is the accounƟng equaƟon?

23. What are the disƟncƟons among calendar, interim, and fiscal year ends?

1.1 AccounƟng Defined

LO1 – Define
accounƟng.

AccounƟng is the process of idenƟfying, measuring, recording, and com-
municaƟng an organizaƟon’s economic acƟviƟes to users. Users need in-
formaƟon for decision making. Internal users of accounƟng informaƟon
work for the organizaƟon and are responsible for planning, organizing,
and operaƟng the enƟty. The area of accounƟng known as managerial
accounƟng serves the decision-making needs of internal users. External
users do not work for the organizaƟon and include investors, creditors,
labour unions, and customers. Financial accounƟng is the area of account-
ing that focuses on external reporƟng and meeƟng the needs of external
users. This book addresses financial accounƟng. Managerial accounƟng is
covered in other books.
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1.2 Business OrganizaƟons

LO2 – IdenƟfy
and describe the
forms of business
organizaƟon.

An organizaƟon is a group of individuals who come together to pursue
a common set of goals and objecƟves. There are two types of business
organizaƟons: business and non-business. A business organizaƟon sells
products and/or services for profit. A non-business organizaƟon, such as
a charity or hospital, exists to meet various societal needs and does not
have profit as a goal. All businesses, regardless of type, record, report,
and, most importantly, use accounƟng informaƟon for making decisions.

This book focuses onbusiness organizaƟons. There are three common formsof business organizaƟons—
a proprietorship, a partnership, and a corporaƟon.

Proprietorship

A proprietorship is a business owned by one person. It is not a separate legal enƟty, which means
that the business and the owner are considered to be the same enƟty. This means, for example,
that froman income tax perspecƟve, the profits of a proprietorship are taxed as part of the owner’s
personal income tax return. Unlimited liability is another characterisƟc of a sole proprietorship
meaning that if the business could not pay its debts, the owner would be responsible even if the
business’s debts were greater than the owner’s personal resources.

Partnership

A partnership is a business owned by two or more individuals. Like the proprietorship, it is not a
separate legal enƟty and its owners are typically subject to unlimited liability.

CorporaƟon

A corporaƟon is a business ownedby one ormore owners. The owners are known as shareholders.
A shareholder owns shares of the corporaƟon. Shares1 are units of ownership in a corporaƟon.
For example, if a corporaƟon has 1,000 shares, there may be three shareholders where one has
700 shares, another has 200 shares, and the third has 100 shares. The number of shares held by a
shareholder represents how much of the corporaƟon they own. A corporaƟon can have different
types of shares; this topic is discussed in a later chapter. When there is only one type of share, it
is usually called common shares.

A corporaƟon’s shares can be privately held or available for public sale. A corporaƟon that holds
its shares privately and does not sell them publicly is known as a private enterprise (PE). A corpo-

1Shares are also called stock.
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raƟon that sells its shares publicly, typically on a stock exchange, is called a publicly accountable
enterprise (PAE).

Unlike the proprietorship and partnership, a corporaƟon is a separate legal enƟty. This means, for
example, that from an income tax perspecƟve, a corporaƟon files its own tax return. The owners
or shareholders of a corporaƟon are not responsible for the corporaƟon’s debts so have limited
liabilitymeaning that the most they can lose is what they invested in the corporaƟon.

In larger corporaƟons, there can be many shareholders. In these cases, shareholders do not man-
age a corporaƟon but parƟcipate indirectly through the elecƟon of aBoard of Directors. The Board
of Directors does not parƟcipate in the day-to-day management of the corporaƟon but delegates
this responsibility to the officers of the corporaƟon. An example of this delegaƟon of responsibility
is illustrated in Figure 1.1.

..SHAREHOLDERS
(Owners)

.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(Represent Owners)

..

PRESIDENT

.

VICE PRES.
MARKETING

.

VICE PRES.
FINANCE

.

VICE PRES.
PRODUCTION

.

Elect

.

Appoint

Figure 1.1: Generalized Form of a Corporate OrganizaƟon

Shareholders usually meet annually to elect a Board of Directors. The Board of Directors meets
regularly to review the corporaƟon’s operaƟons and to set policies for future operaƟons. Unlike
shareholders, directors can be held personally liable if a company fails.

The focus of these chapters will be on the corporate form of business organizaƟon. The propri-
etorship and partnership organizaƟons will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 11.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Forms
of OrganizaƟon.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_2_1Organizations
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_2_1Organizations
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1.3 Generally Accepted AccounƟng Principles (GAAP)

LO3 – IdenƟfy
and explain the
Generally Ac-
cepted Account-
ing Principles
(GAAP).

The goal of accounƟng is to ensure informaƟon provided to decision mak-
ers is useful. To be useful, informaƟon must be relevant and faithfully
represent a business’s economic acƟviƟes. This requires ethics, beliefs
that help us differenƟate right from wrong, in the applicaƟon of under-
lying accounƟng concepts or principles. These underlying accounƟng con-
cepts or principles are known as Generally Accepted AccounƟng Princi-
ples (GAAP).

GAAP in Canada, as well as in many other countries, is based on InternaƟonal Financial ReporƟng
Standards (IFRS) for publicly accountable enterprises (PAE). IFRS are issued by the InternaƟonal
AccounƟng Standards Board (IASB). The IASB’smandate is to promote the adopƟon of a single set
of global accounƟng standards through a process of open and transparent discussions among cor-
poraƟons, financial insƟtuƟons, and accounƟng firms around the world. Private enterprises (PE)
in Canada are permiƩed to follow either IFRS or AccounƟng Standards for Private Enterprises
(ASPE), a set of less onerous GAAP-based standards developed by the Canadian AccounƟng Stan-
dards Board (AcSB). The AcSB is the body that governs accounƟng standards in Canada. The focus
in this book will be on IFRS for PAEs2.

AccounƟng pracƟces are guided by GAAP which are comprised of qualitaƟve characterisƟcs and
principles. As already stated, relevance and faithful representaƟon are the primary qualitaƟve
characterisƟcs. Comparability, verifiability, Ɵmeliness, and understandability are addiƟonal qual-
itaƟve characterisƟcs.

InformaƟon that possesses the quality of:

• relevance has the ability to make a difference in the decision-making process.

• faithful representaƟon is complete, neutral, and free from error.

• comparability tells users of the informaƟon that businesses uƟlize similar accounƟng prac-
Ɵces.

• verifiabilitymeans that others are able to confirm that the informaƟon faithfully represents
the economic acƟviƟes of the business.

• Ɵmeliness is available to decision makers in Ɵme to be useful.

• understandability is clear and concise.

Table 1.1 lists the nine principles that support these qualitaƟve characterisƟcs.
2It should be noted, however, that at the introductory level, there are no significant differences in how IFRS and

ASPE are applied.
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AccounƟng Principle ExplanaƟon/Example
Business enƟty Requires that each economic enƟty maintain separate records.

Example: A business owner keeps separate accounƟng records
for business transacƟons and for personal transacƟons.

Consistency Requires that a business use the same accounƟng policies and proce-
dures from period to period.

Example: A business uses a parƟcular inventory cosƟng method.
It cannot change to a different inventory cosƟng method in the next
accounƟng period.

Cost Requires that each economic transacƟon be based on the actual
original cost (also known as historical cost principle).

Example: The business purchases a delivery truck adverƟsed for
$75,000 and pays $70,000. The truck must be recorded at the cost of
$70,000, the amount actually paid.

Full disclosure Requires that accounƟng informaƟon communicate sufficient informa-
Ɵon to allow users to make knowledgeable decisions.

Example: A business is applying to the bank for a $1,000,000
loan. The business is being sued for $20,000,000 and it is certain that
it will lose. The business must tell the bank about the lawsuit even
though the lawsuit has not yet been finalized.

Going concern Assumes that a business will conƟnue for the foreseeable future.

Example: All indicaƟons are that Business X will conƟnue so it
is reported to be a ‘going concern’. Business Z is being sued for
$20,000,000 and it is certain that it will lose. The $20,000,000 loss
will force the business to close. Business Z must not only disclose the
lawsuit but it must also indicate that there is a ‘going concern’ issue.

Matching Requires that financial transacƟons be reported in the period in which
they occurred/were realized.

Example: Supplies were purchased March 15 for $700. They will
be recorded as an asset on March 15 and then expensed as they are
used.

Materiality Requires a business to apply proper accounƟng only for items that
would affect decisions made by users.

Example: The business purchases a stapler for $5 today. Techni-
cally, the stapler will last several years so should be recorded as
an asset. However, the business will record the $5 as an expense
instead because depreciaƟng a $5 item will not impact the decisions of
financial informaƟon.
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AccounƟng Principle ExplanaƟon/Example
Monetary unit Requires that financial informaƟon be communicated in stable units of

money.

Example: Land was purchased in 1940 for $5,000 Canadian. It is
maintained in the accounƟng records at $5,000 Canadian and is not
adjusted.

RecogniƟon Requires that revenues be recorded when earned and expenses be
recorded when incurred, which is not necessarily when cash is received
(in the case of revenues) or paid (in the case of expenses).

Example: A sale occurred on March 5. The customer received
the product on March 5 but will pay for it on April 5. The business
records the sale on March 5 when the sale occurred even though the
cash is not received unƟl April 5.

Table 1.1: AccounƟng Principles

Note: Some of the principles discussed above may be challenging to understand because related
concepts have not yet been introduced. Therefore, most of these principleswill be discussed again
in more detail in a later chapter.

1.4 Financial Statements

LO4 – IdenƟfy,
explain, and pre-
pare the financial
statements.

Recall that financial accounƟng focuses on communicaƟng informaƟon to
external users. That informaƟon is communicated using financial state-
ments. There are four financial statements: the income statement, state-
ment of changes in equity, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows.
Each of these is introduced in the following secƟons using an example
based on a ficƟƟous corporate organizaƟon called Big Dog Carworks Corp.

The Income Statement

An income statement communicates informaƟon about a business’s financial performance by
summarizing revenues less expenses over a period of Ɵme. Revenues are createdwhen a business
provides products or services to a customer in exchange for assets. Assets are resources result-
ing from past events and from which future economic benefits are expected to result. Examples
of assets include cash, equipment, and supplies. Assets will be discussed in more detail later in
this chapter. Expenses are the assets that have been used up or the obligaƟons incurred in the
course of earning revenues. When revenues are greater than expenses, the difference is called
net income or profit. When expenses are greater than revenue, a net loss results.
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Consider the following income statement of Big Dog Carworks Corp. (BDCC). This business was
started on January 1, 2015 by Bob “Big Dog” Baldwin in order to repair automobiles. All the shares
of the corporaƟon are owned by Bob.

At January 31, the income statement shows total revenues of $10,000 and various expenses to-
taling $7,800. Net income, the difference between $10,000 of revenues and $7,800 of expenses,
equals $2,200.

..Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Income Statement

..For the Month Ended January 31, 2015
Revenues

Repair revenues $10,000
Expenses

Rent expense $1,500
Salaries expense 3,500
Supplies expense 2,000
Fuel expense 700
Total expenses 7,800

Net income ..$2,200

..

The heading shows the
name of the enƟty, the
type of financial state-
ment, and the period-
in-Ɵme date.

.

The net income
is transferred to
the statement
of changes in
equity.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Income
Statement.

The Statement of Changes in Equity

The statement of changes in equity provides informaƟon about how the balances in Share capital
and Retained earnings changed during the period. Share capital is a heading in the shareholders’
equity secƟon of the balance sheet and represents how much shareholders have invested. When
shareholders buy shares, they are invesƟng in the business. The number of shares they purchase
will determine how much of the corporaƟon they own. The type of ownership unit purchased by
Big Dog’s shareholders is known as common shares. Other types of shares will be discussed in a
later chapter. When a corporaƟon sells its shares to shareholders, the corporaƟon is said to be
issuing shares to shareholders.

In the statement of changes in equity shown below, Share capital and Retained earnings balances
at January 1 are zero because the corporaƟon started the business on that date. During January,
Share capital of $10,000 was issued to shareholders so the January 31 balance is $10,000.

Retained earnings is the sum of all net incomes earned by a corporaƟon over its life, less any
distribuƟons of these net incomes to shareholders. DistribuƟons of net income to shareholders

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_2CorporateIncomeStatement
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_2CorporateIncomeStatement
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are called dividends. Shareholders generally have the right to share in dividends according to the
percentage of their ownership interest. To demonstrate the concept of retained earnings, recall
that Big Dog has been in business for one month in which $2,200 of net income was reported.
AddiƟonally, $200 of dividends were distributed, so these are subtracted from retained earnings.
Big Dog’s retained earnings were therefore $2,000 at January 31, 2015 as shown in the statement
of changes in equity below.

..Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Statement of Changes in Equity

..For the Month Ended January 31, 2015

Share Retained Total
Capital Earnings Equity

Opening balance $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Shares issued 10,000 10,000
Net income 2,200 2,200
Dividends (200) (200)
Ending balance ..$10,000 ..$2,000 $12,000

..

The heading shows the
name of the enƟty, the
type of financial state-
ment, and the period-
in-Ɵme date.

.

These totals are transferred
to the balance sheet at Jan-
uary 31, 2015.

To demonstrate how retained earnings would appear in the next accounƟng period, let’s assume
that Big Dog reported a net income of $5,000 for February, 2015 and dividends of $1,000 were
given to the shareholder. Based on this informaƟon, retained earnings at the end of February
would be $6,000, calculated as the $2,000 January 31 balance plus the $5,000 February net income
less the $1,000 February dividend. The balance in retained earnings conƟnues to change over Ɵme
because of addiƟonal net incomes/losses and dividends.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Statement
of Changes in Equity.

The Balance Sheet

The balance sheet, or statement of financial posiƟon, shows a business’s assets, liabiliƟes, and
equity at a point in Ɵme. The balance sheet of Big Dog Carworks Corp. at January 31, 2015 is
shown below.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_3StatementOfChangesInEquity
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_3StatementOfChangesInEquity
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..Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Balance Sheet

..At January 31, 2015

Assets LiabiliƟes
Cash $ 3,700 Bank Loan $ 6,000
Accounts receivable 2,000 Accounts payable 700
Prepaid insurance 2,400 Unearned revenue 400
Equipment 3,000 Total liabiliƟes $ 7,100
Truck 8,000

Equity
Share capital $10,000
Retained earnings 2,000

Total equity 12,000

Total assets ..$19,100 Total liabiliƟes and equity ..$19,100

..

The heading shows the name of
the enƟty, the type of financial
statement, and the point-in-Ɵme
date.

.

Total assets ($19,100 here)
always equal Total liabiliƟes
($7,100) plus Equity ($12,000).

What Is an Asset?

Assets are economic resources that provide future benefits to the business. Examples include
cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, equipment, and trucks. Cash is coins and currency,
usually held in a bank account, and is a financial resource with future benefit because of its pur-
chasing power. Accounts receivable represent amounts to be collected in cash in the future for
goods sold or services provided to customers on credit. Prepaid expenses are assets that are paid
in cash in advance and have benefits that apply over future periods. For example, a one-year in-
surance policy purchased for cash on January 1, 2015 will provide a benefit unƟl December 31,
2015 so is a prepaid asset. The equipment and truck were purchased on January 1, 2015 and will
provide benefits for 2015 and beyond so are assets.

What Is a Liability?

A liability is an obligaƟon to pay an asset in the future. For example, Big Dog’s bank loan represents
an obligaƟon to repay cash in the future to the bank. Accounts payable are obligaƟons to pay a
creditor for goods purchased or services rendered. A creditor owns the right to receive payment
from an individual or business. Unearned revenue represents an advance payment of cash from
a customer for Big Dog’s services or products to be provided in the future. For example, Big Dog
collected cash from a customer in advance for a repair to be done in the future.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Balance
Sheet.

What Is Equity?

Equity represents the net assets owned by the owners (the shareholders). Net assets are assets
minus liabiliƟes. For example, in Big Dog’s January 31 balance sheet, net assets are $12,000, cal-
culated as total assets of $19,100 minus total liabiliƟes of $7,100. This means that although there
are $19,100 of assets, only $12,000 are owned by the shareholders and the balance, $7,100, are
financed by debt. NoƟce that net assets and total equity are the same value; both are $12,000.
Equity consists of share capital and retained earnings. Share capital represents how much the
shareholders have invested in the business. Retained earnings is the sumof all net incomes earned
by a corporaƟon over its life, less any dividends distributed to shareholders.

In summary, the balance sheet is represented by the equaƟon: Assets = LiabiliƟes + Equity. Assets
are the investments held by a business. The liabiliƟes and equity explain how the assets have been
financed, or funded. Assets can be financed through liabiliƟes, also known as debt, or equity.
Equity represents amounts that are owned by the owners, the shareholders, and consists of share
capital and retained earnings. Investments made by shareholders, namely share capital, are used
to finance assets and/or pay down liabiliƟes. AddiƟonally, retained earnings, comprised of net
income less any dividends, also represent a source of financing.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Account
Types.

The Statement of Cash Flows (SCF)

Cash is an asset reported on the balance sheet. Ensuring there is sufficient cash to pay expenses
and liabiliƟes as they come due is a criƟcal business acƟvity. The statement of cash flows (SCF)
explains how the balance in cash changed over a period of Ɵme by detailing the sources (inflows)
and uses (ouƞlows) of cash by type of acƟvity: operaƟng, invesƟng, and financing, as these are the
three types of acƟviƟes a business engages in. OperaƟng acƟviƟes are the day-to-day processes
involved in selling products and/or services to generate net income. Examples of operaƟng acƟvi-
Ɵes include the purchase and use of supplies, paying employees, fuelling equipment, and renƟng
space for the business. InvesƟng acƟviƟes are the buying of assets needed to generate revenues.
For example, when an airline purchases airplanes, it is invesƟng in assets required to help it gen-
erate revenue. Financing acƟviƟes are the raising of money needed to invest in assets. Financing
can involve issuing share capital (geƫng money from the owners known as shareholders) or bor-
rowing. Figure 1.2 summarizes the interrelaƟonships among the three types of business acƟviƟes.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_4EquityAndBalance
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_4EquityAndBalance
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_5AcctTypes
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_5AcctTypes
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..

OperaƟng
AcƟviƟes
(creates net
income)

.

InvesƟng
AcƟviƟes
(buys assets to

generate revenues)

.

Financing
AcƟviƟes

(raises money to
invest in assets)

.

Cash flows result-
ing from operaƟng
acƟviƟes can be
reinvested in

.

Cash flows resulƟng
from operaƟng
acƟviƟes can be
used to pay down

.

Cash flows resulƟng
from financing
acƟviƟes can be

used to buy assets

Figure 1.2: RelaƟonships Among the Three Types of Business AcƟviƟes

The statement of cash flows for Big Dog is shown below.
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..Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Statement of Cash Flows

..For the Month Ended January 31, 2015

OperaƟng acƟviƟes:
Net income $ 2,200
Adjustments:

Increase in unearned revenues 400
Increase in accounts payable 700
Increase in prepaid insurance (2,400)
Increase in accounts receivable (2,000)
Net cash used by operaƟng acƟviƟes $(1,100)

InvesƟng acƟviƟes:
Purchase of equipment $(3,000)
Purchase of truck (3,000)
Net cash used by invesƟng acƟviƟes (6,000)

Financing acƟviƟes:
Issued shares $10,000
Borrowed from bank 3,000
Payment on bank loan (2,000)
Paid dividends (200)
Net cash provided by financing acƟviƟes 10,800

Net increase in cash 3,700
Cash balance, January 1 -0-
Cash balance, January 31 ..$3,700

..

The heading shows
the name of the en-
Ɵty, the type of fi-
nancial statement,
and the period-in-Ɵme
date.

.

This agrees with the Cash
amount shown on the Balance
Sheet at January 31, 2015.

The statement of cash flows is useful because cash is one of the most important assets of a corpo-
raƟon. InformaƟon about expected future cash flows are therefore important for decisionmakers.
For instance, Big Dog’s bank manager needs to determine whether the remaining $6,000 loan can
be repaid, and also whether or not to grant a new loan to the corporaƟon if requested. The state-
ment of cash flows helps inform those who make these decisions.

Notes to the Financial Statements

An essenƟal part of financial statements are the notes that accompany them. These notes are
generally located at the end of a set of financial statements. The notes provide greater detail about
various amounts shown in the financial statements, or provide non-quanƟtaƟve informaƟon that
is useful to users. For example, a note may indicate the esƟmated useful lives of long-lived assets,
or loan repayment terms. Examples of note disclosures will be provided later.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Commu-
nicaƟng Through Financial Statements.

1.5 TransacƟon Analysis and Double-entry AccounƟng

LO5 – Analyze
transacƟons
by using the
accounƟng
equaƟon.

The accounƟng equaƟon is foundaƟonal to accounƟng. It shows that the
total assets of a business must always equal the total claims against those
assets by creditors and owners. The equaƟon is expressed as:

..
ASSETS = LIABILITIES + EQUITY

(economic resources (creditors’ claims (owners’ claims
owned by an enƟty) on assets) on assets)

When financial transacƟons are recorded, combined effects on assets, liabiliƟes, and equity are
always exactly offseƫng. This is the reason that the balance sheet always balances.

Each economic exchange is referred to as a financial transacƟon — for example, when an orga-
nizaƟon exchanges cash for land and buildings. Incurring a liability in return for an asset is also a
financial transacƟon. Instead of paying cash for land and buildings, an organizaƟon may borrow
money from a financial insƟtuƟon. The company must repay this with cash payments in the fu-
ture. The accounƟng equaƟon provides a system for processing and summarizing these sorts of
transacƟons.

Accountants view financial transacƟons as economic events that change components within the
accounƟng equaƟon. These changes are usually triggered by informaƟon contained in source
documents (such as sales invoices and bills from creditors) that can be verified for accuracy.

The accounƟng equaƟon can be expanded to include all the items listed on the Balance Sheet of
Big Dog at January 31, 2015, as follows:

ASSETS = LIABILITIES + EQUITY
Cash + Accounts + Prepaid + Equipment + Truck = Bank + Accounts + Unearned + Share + Retained

Receivable Insurance Loan Payable Revenue Capital Earnings

If one item within the accounƟng equaƟon is changed, then another item must also be changed
to balance it. In this way, the equality of the equaƟon is maintained. For example, if there is an
increase in an asset account, then there must be a decrease in another asset or a corresponding

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_1FinState
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_4_1FinState
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increase in a liability or equity account. This equality is the essence of double-entry accounƟng.
The equaƟon itself always remains in balance aŌer each transacƟon. The operaƟon of double-
entry accounƟng is illustrated in the following secƟon, which shows 10 transacƟons of Big Dog
Carworks Corp. for January 2015.

Effect on the AccounƟng EquaƟon
TransacƟon
Number Date DescripƟon of TransacƟon ASSETS = LIABILITIES + EQUITY

1 Jan.1 Big Dog Carworks Corp. issued
1,000 shares to Bob Baldwin, the
owner or shareholder, for $10,000
cash.
The asset Cash is increased while
the equity item Share Capital is also
increased. The impact on the equa-
Ɵon is:

..CASH ..+10,000
..SHARE CAPITAL ..+10,000

2 Jan.2 Big Dog Carworks Corp. borrowed
$3,000 from the bank and de-
posited the cash into the business’s
bank account.
The asset Cash is increased and the
liability Bank Loan is also increased.
The impact on the equaƟon is:

..CASH ..+3,000
..BANK LOAN ..+3,000

3 Jan.2 The corporaƟon purchased $3,000
of equipment for cash.
There is an increase of the asset
Equipment and a decrease to an-
other asset, Cash. The impact on
the equaƟon is:

..EQUIPMENT ..+3,000
..CASH ..-3,000

4 Jan.2 The corporaƟon purchased a tow
truck for $8,000, paying $3,000
cash and incurring an addiƟonal
bank loan for the balance.
The asset Cash is decreased while
the asset Truck is increased and the
liability Bank Loan is also increased.
The impact on the equaƟon is:

..CASH ..-3,000
..TRUCK ..+8,000

..BANK LOAN ..+5,000

.
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Effect on the AccounƟng EquaƟon
TransacƟon
Number Date DescripƟon of TransacƟon ASSETS = LIABILITIES + EQUITY

5 Jan.5 Big Dog Carworks Corp. paid $2,400
for a one-year insurance policy, ef-
fecƟve January 1.
Here the asset Prepaid Insurance is
increased and the asset Cash is de-
creased. The impact on the equa-
Ɵon is:

..PREPAID INSURANCE ..+2,400
..CASH ..-2,400

Since the one-year period will not
be fully used at January 31 when
financial statements are prepared,
the insurance cost is considered to
be an asset at the payment date.
The transacƟon does not affect lia-
biliƟes or equity.

6 Jan.10 The corporaƟon paid $2,000 cash to
the bank to reduce the loan out-
standing.
The asset Cash is decreased and
there is a decrease in the liabil-
ity Bank Loan. The impact on the
equaƟon is:

..BANK LOAN ..-2,000
..CASH ..-2,000

7 Jan.15 The corporaƟon received $400 as
an advance payment from a cus-
tomer for services to be performed
over the next two months as fol-
lows: $300 for February, $100 for
March.
The asset Cash is increased by $400
and a liability, Unearned Revenue,
is also increased since the revenue
will not be earned by the end of Jan-
uary. It will be earned when the
work is performed in later months.
At January 31, these amounts are
repayable to customers if the work
is not done (and thus a liability).
The impact on the equaƟon is:

..CASH ..+400
..UNEARNED REVENUE ..+400

.



1.5. Transaction Analysis and Double-entry Accounting 17

Effect on the AccounƟng EquaƟon
TransacƟon
Number Date DescripƟon of TransacƟon ASSETS = LIABILITIES + EQUITY

8 Jan.20 Automobile repairs of $10,000
were made for a customer; $8,000
of repairs were paid in cash and
$2,000 of repairs will be paid in the
future.
Cash and Accounts Receivable as-
sets of the corporaƟon increase.
The repairs are a revenue; rev-
enue causes an increase in net in-
come and an increase in net income
causes an increase in equity. The
impact on the equaƟon is:

..CASH ..+8,000
..ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ..+2,000

..REPAIR REVENUE ..+10,000
This acƟvity increases assets and
net income.

9 Jan.31 The corporaƟon paid operaƟng ex-
penses for the month as follows:
$1,600 for rent; $3,500 for salaries;
and $2,000 for supplies expense.
The $700 for truck operaƟng ex-
penses (e.g., oil, gas) was on credit.
There is a decrease in the asset
Cash. Expenses cause net income
to decrease and a decrease in net
income causes equity to decrease.
There is an increase in the liability
Accounts Payable. The impact on
the equaƟon is:

..RENT EXPENSE ..-1,600
..SALARIES EXPENSE ..-3,500
..SUPPLIES EXPENSE ..-2,000

..TRUCK OPERATING EXPENSE ..-700
..CASH ..-7,100

..ACCOUNTS PAYABLE ..+700
10 Jan.31 Dividends of $200were paid in cash

to the only shareholder, Bob Bald-
win.
Dividends cause retained earnings
to decrease. A decrease in retained
earnings will decrease equity. The
impact on the equaƟon is:

..DIVIDENDS ..-200
..CASH ..-200

.
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These various transacƟons can be recorded in the expanded accounƟng equaƟon as shown below:

ASSETS = LIABILITIES + EQUITY
Trans. Cash + Acc. + Prepaid + Equip. + Truck = Bank + Acc. + Unearned + Share + Retained

Rec. Insur. Loan Pay. Revenue Capital Earnings
1. ..+10,000 +10,000
2. +3,000 +3,000
3. -3,000 +3,000
4. -3,000 +8,000 +5,000
5. -2,400 +2,400
6. 2,000 -2,000
7. +400 +400
8. +8,000 +2,000 ..+10,000
9. -7,100 +700 -1,600

-3,500
-2,000
-700

10. ..-200 ..-200
..3,700 + 2,000 + 2,400 + 3,000 + ..8,000 = ..6,000 + 700 + 400 + ..10,000 + ..2,000

..

These numbers
are used to pre-
pare the Income
Statement.

.

TransacƟons in
these columns are
used to prepare
the Statement of
Changes in Equity.

.

Column totals are used to prepare the Balance Sheet.

.

ASSETS = $18,600

.

LIABILITIES + EQUITY = $18,600

Figure 1.3: TransacƟons Worksheet for January 31, 2015
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TransacƟons summary:

1. Issued share capital for $10,000 cash.

2. Received a bank loan for $3,000.

3. Purchased equipment for $3,000 cash.

4. Purchased a truck for $8,000; paid $3,000 cash and incurred a bank loan for the balance.

5. Paid $2,400 for a comprehensive one-year insurance policy effecƟve January 1.

6. Paid $2,000 cash to reduce the bank loan.

7. Received $400 as an advance payment for repair services to be provided over the next two
months as follows: $300 for February, $100 for March.

8. Performed repairs for $8,000 cash and $2,000 on credit.

9. Paid a total of $7,100 for operaƟng expenses incurred during the month; also incurred an
expense on account for $700.

10. Dividends of $200 were paid in cash to the only shareholder, Bob Baldwin.

The transacƟons summarized in Figure 1.3 were used to prepare the financial statements de-
scribed earlier, and reproduced in Figure 1.4 below.
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Big Dog Carworks Corp. .. Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Balance Sheet Income Statement

At January 31, 2015 For the Month Ended January 31, 2015

Assets
Cash $ 3,700
Accounts receivable 2,000
Prepaid insurance 2,400
Equipment 3,000
Truck 8,000 Revenue

$19,100 Repairs $10,000
LiabiliƟes Expenses

Bank loan $ 6,000 Rent $ 1,600
Accounts payable 700 Salaries 3,500
Unearned revenue 400 7,100 Supplies 2,000

Truck operaƟon 700
Equity Total expenses 7,800

Share capital $10,000
Retained earnings ..2,000 Net income ..$2,200

12,000
$19,100 ..

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Month Ended January 31, 2015
Share Retained Total

Capital Earnings Equity
Opening balance $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Shares issued 10,000 10,000
Net income ..2,200 2,200
Dividends (200) (200)
Ending balance ..$10,000 ..$2,000 $12,000

..

The components of
equity are shown on
the Balance Sheet.

.

Net Income be-
comes part of Re-
tained Earnings.

Figure 1.4: Financial Statements of Big Dog Carworks Corp.

AccounƟng Time Periods

Financial statements are prepared at regular intervals—usually monthly or quarterly—and at the
end of each 12-month period. This 12-month period is called the fiscal year. The Ɵming of the
financial statements is determined by the needs of management and other users of the financial
statements. For instance, financial statements may also be required by outside parƟes, such as
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bankers and shareholders. However, accounƟng informaƟon must possess the qualitaƟve char-
acterisƟc of Ɵmeliness—it must be available to decision makers in Ɵme to be useful—which is
typically a minimum of once every 12 months.

AccounƟng reports, called the annual financial statements, are prepared at the end of each 12-
month period, which is known as the year-end of the enƟty. Some companies’ year-ends do not
follow the calendar year (year ending December 31). This may be done so that the fiscal year
coincides with their natural year. A natural year ends when business operaƟons are at a low
point. For example, a ski resort may have a fiscal year ending in late spring or early summer when
business operaƟons have ceased for the season.

CorporaƟons listed on stock exchanges are generally required to prepare interim financial state-
ments, usually every three months, primarily for the use of shareholders or creditors. Because
these types of corporaƟons are large and usually have many owners, users require more up-to-
date financial informaƟon.

The relaƟonship of the interim and year-end financial statements is illustrated in Figure 1.5.

..

Jan. 1, 2015
(commencement
of operaƟons)

.

Jan. 31, 2015
(interim)

.

Dec. 31, 2015
(fiscal year end)

.

INTERIM
BALANCE
SHEET

(prepared
on this
date)

.

INTERIM INCOME
STATEMENT

INTERIM STATE-
MENT OF CHANGES

IN EQUITY
INTERIM STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
(for the month
of January)

.

YEAR
END

BALANCE
SHEET

(prepared
on this
date)

.

YEAR END INCOME STATEMENT
YEAR END STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

YEAR END STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

.

Thesemay be prepared.

.

Thesemust be prepared.

Figure 1.5: RelaƟonship of Interim and Year-end Financial Statements
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Account-
ing EquaƟon.

Summary of Chapter 1 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Define accounƟng.

AccounƟng is the process of idenƟfying, measuring, recording, and communicaƟng an organiza-
Ɵon’s economic acƟviƟes to users for decision making. Internal users work for the organizaƟon
while external users do not. Managerial accounƟng serves the decision-making needs of internal
users. Financial accounƟng focuses on external reporƟng to meet the needs of external users.

LO2 – IdenƟfy and describe the forms of business organizaƟon.

The three forms of business organizaƟons are a proprietorship, partnership, and corporaƟon.

The following chart summarizes the key characterisƟcs of each form of business organizaƟon.

CharacterisƟc Proprietorship Partnership CorporaƟon
Separate legal enƟty No No Yes
Business income is taxed as part of the business No3 No4 Yes
Unlimited liability Yes Yes No
One owner permiƩed Yes No Yes5

Board of Directors No No Yes

LO3 – IdenƟfy and explain theGenerally AcceptedAccounƟng Principles (GAAP).

GAAP followed in Canada by PAEs (Publicly Accountable Enterprises) are based on IFRS (Interna-
Ɵonal Financial ReporƟng Standards). PEs (Private Enterprises) follow GAAP based on ASPE (Ac-
counƟng Standards for Private Enterprises), a less onerous set of GAAP maintained by the AcSB
(AccounƟng Standards Board). GAAP have qualitaƟve characterisƟcs (relevance, faithful repre-
sentaƟon, comparability, verifiability, Ɵmeliness, and understandability) and principles (business
enƟty, consistency, cost, full disclosure, going concern, matching, materiality, monetary unit, and
recogniƟon).

3Business income is added to the owner’s personal income and the owner pays tax on the sum of the two.
4Business income is added to the owner’s personal income and the owner pays tax on the sum of the two.
5A corporaƟon can have one or more owners.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_5_1SumAsset
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN1_5_1SumAsset
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LO4 – IdenƟfy, explain, and prepare the financial statements.

The four financial statements are: income statement, statement of changes in equity, balance
sheet, and statement of cash flows. The income statement reports financial performance by
detailing revenues less expenses to arrive at net income/loss for the period. The statement of
changes in equity shows the changes during the period to each of the components of equity: share
capital and retained earnings. The balance sheet idenƟfies financial posiƟon at a point in Ɵme by
lisƟng assets, liabiliƟes, and equity. Finally, the statement of cash flows details the sources and
uses of cash during the period based on the three business acƟviƟes: operaƟng, invesƟng, and
financing.

LO5 – Analyze transacƟons by using the accounƟng equaƟon.

The accounƟng equaƟon, A = L + E, describes the asset investments (the leŌ side of the equa-
Ɵon) and the liabiliƟes and equity that financed the assets (the right side of the equaƟon). The
accounƟng equaƟon provides a system for processing and summarizing financial transacƟons re-
sulƟng from a business’s acƟviƟes. A financial transacƟon is an economic exchange between two
parƟes that impacts the accounƟng equaƟon. The equaƟon must always balance.





...

Chapter 2

.

The AccounƟng Process

Chapter 2 looks more closely at asset, liability, and equity accounts and how they are affected by
double-entry accounƟng, namely, debits and credits. The transacƟons introduced in Chapter 1
for Big Dog Carworks Corp. are used to explain debit and credit analysis. The preparaƟon of a
trial balance will be introduced. AddiƟonally, this chapter will demonstrate how transacƟons are
recorded in a general journal and posted to a general ledger. Finally, the concept of the accounƟng
cycle is presented.

Chapter 2 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Describe asset, liability, and equity accounts, idenƟfying the effect of debits and cred-
its on each.

LO2 – Analyze transacƟons using double-entry accounƟng.

LO3 – Prepare a trial balance and explain its use.

LO4 – Record transacƟons in a general journal and post in a general ledger.

LO5 – Define the accounƟng cycle.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 2.

1. What is an asset?

2. What is a liability?

3. What are the different types of equity accounts?

4. What is retained earnings?

5. How are retained earnings and revenues related?

6. Why are T-accounts used in accounƟng?

7. How do debits and credits impact the T-account?

25
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8. What is a chart of accounts?

9. Are increases in equity recorded as a debit or credit?

10. Are decreases in equity recorded as a debit or credit?

11. Does issuing shares and revenues cause equity to increase or decrease?

12. Are increases in the share capital account recorded as a debit or credit?

13. Are increases in revenue accounts recorded as debits or credits?

14. Do dividends and expenses cause equity to increase or decrease?

15. Are increases in the dividend account recorded as a debit or credit?

16. Are increases in expense accounts recorded as debits or credits?

17. How is a trial balance useful?

18. What is the difference between a general journal and a general ledger?

19. Explain the posƟng process.

20. What is the accounƟng cycle?

2.1 Accounts

LO1 – Describe
asset, liabil-
ity, and equity
accounts, idenƟ-
fying the effect
of debits and
credits on each.

Chapter 1 reviewed the analysis of financial transacƟons and the resulƟng
impact on the accounƟng equaƟon. We now expand that discussion by
introducing the way transacƟon is recorded in an account. An account
accumulates detailed informaƟon regarding the increases and decreases
in a specific asset, liability, or equity item. Accounts are maintained in
a ledger also referred to as the books. We now review and expand our
understanding of asset, liability, and equity accounts.

Asset Accounts

Recall that assets are resources that have future economic benefits for the business. The primary
purpose of assets is that they be used in day-to-day operaƟng acƟviƟes in order to generate rev-
enue either directly or indirectly. A separate account is established for each asset. Examples of
asset accounts are reviewed below.

• Cash has future purchasing power. Coins, currency, cheques, and bank account balances
are examples of cash.
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• Accounts receivable occur when products or services are sold on account or on credit.
When a sale occurs on account or on credit, the customer has not paid cash but promises
to pay in the future.

• Notes receivable are a promise to pay an amount on a specific future date plus a predeter-
mined amount of interest.

• Office supplies are supplies to be used in the future. If the supplies are used before the end
of the accounƟng period, they are an expense instead of an asset.

• Merchandise inventory are items to be sold in the future.

• Prepaid insurance represents an amount paid in advance for insurance. The prepaid insur-
ance will be used in the future.

• Prepaid rent represents an amount paid in advance for rent. The prepaid rent will be used
in the future.

• Land cost must be in a separate account from any building that might be on the land. Land
is used over future periods.

• Buildings indirectly help a business generate revenue over future accounƟng periods since
they provide space for day-to-day operaƟng acƟviƟes.

Liability Accounts

As explained in Chapter 1, a liability is an obligaƟon to pay for an asset in the future. The primary
purpose of liabiliƟes is to finance invesƟng acƟviƟes that include the purchase of assets like land,
buildings, and equipment. LiabiliƟes are also used to finance operaƟng acƟviƟes involving, for
example, accounts payable, unearned revenues, andwages payable. A separate account is created
for each liability. Examples of liability accounts are reviewed below.

• Accounts payable are debts owed to creditors for goods purchased or services received as
a result of day-to-day operaƟng acƟviƟes. An example of a service received on credit might
be a plumber billing the business for a repair.

• Wages payable are wages owed to employees for work performed.

• Short-term notes payable are a debt owed to a bank or other creditor that is normally paid
within one year. Notes payable are different than accounts payable in that notes involve
interest.

• Long-term notes payable are a debt owed to a bank or other creditor that is normally paid
beyond one year. Like short-term notes, long-term notes involve interest.

• Unearned revenues are payments received in advance of the product or service being pro-
vided. In other words, the business owes a customer the product/service.
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Equity Accounts

Chapter 1 explained that equity represents the net assets owned by the owners of a business. In a
corporaƟon, the owners are called shareholders. Equity is tradiƟonally one of the more challeng-
ing concepts to understand in introductory financial accounƟng. The difficulty stems from there
being different types of equity accounts: share capital, retained earnings, dividends, revenues,
and expenses. Share capital represents the investments made by owners into the business and
causes equity to increase. Retained earnings is the sum of all net incomes earned over the life
of the corporaƟon to date, less any dividends distributed to shareholders over the same Ɵme pe-
riod. Therefore, the Retained Earnings account includes revenues, which cause equity to increase,
along with expenses and dividends, which cause equity to decrease. Figure 2.1 summarizes equity
accounts.

..EQUITY.

Share Capital

.

Retained
Earnings

.

Dividends

.

Revenues

.

Expenses

.

Recall that revenues less expenses equals net in-
come/net loss. Net income/net loss is not an ac-
count but is the result of subtracƟng expenses
from revenues.

Figure 2.1: ComposiƟon of Equity Accounts

T-accounts

A simplified account, called a T-account, is oŌenused as a teaching/learning tool to show increases
and decreases in an account. It is called a T-account because it resembles the leƩer T. As shown
in the T-account below, the leŌ side records debit entries and the right side records credit entries.
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Account Name

Debit Credit
(always on leŌ) (always on right)

The type of account determines whether an increase or a decrease in a parƟcular transacƟon
is represented by a debit or credit. For financial transacƟons that affect assets, dividends, and
expenses, increases are recorded by debits and decreases by credits. This guideline is shown in
the following T-account.

Assets, Dividends, Expenses
Debits are
always

..increases

Credits are
always

..decreases
...

For financial transacƟons that affect liabiliƟes, share capital, and revenues, increases are recorded
by credits and decreases by debits, as follows:

LiabiliƟes, Revenues, Share Capital
Debits are
always

..decreases

Credits are
always

..increases
...

Another way to illustrate the debit and credit rules is based on the accounƟng equaƟon. Remem-
ber that dividends, expenses, revenues, and share capital are equity accounts.

Assets = LiabiliƟes + Equity
Increases are recorded as: Debits Credits Credits1

Decreases are recorded as: Credits Debits Debits2

1Revenues and the issuance of Share Capital are equity accounts. They cause equity to increase so increases in
these account types are recorded as credits.

2Expenses, and Dividends are equity accounts. They cause equity to decrease. Decreases in equity are always
recorded as debits so as expenses and dividends are realized, they are debited.
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The following summary shows how debits and credits are used to record increases and decreases
in various types of accounts.

ASSETS
DIVIDENDS LIABILITIES
EXPENSES SHARE CAPITAL
Increases are DEBITED. REVENUE increases are CREDITED.
Decreases are CREDITED. Decreases are DEBITED.

This summary will be used in a later secƟon to illustrate the recording of debits and credits regard-
ing the transacƟons of Big Dog Carworks Corp. introduced in Chapter 1.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Account
Types.

The account balance is determined by adding and subtracƟng the increases and decreases in an
account. Two assumed examples are presented below.

Cash Accounts Payable
10,000 3,000 700 5,000
3,000 3,000
400 2,400 4,300 Balance

8,000 2,000
7,100
200

Balance 3,700

The $3,700 debit balance in the Cash account was calculated by adding all the debits and subtract-
ing the sum of the credits. The $3,700 is recorded on the debit side of the T-account because the
debits are greater than the credits. In Accounts Payable, the balance is a $4,300 credit calculated
by subtracƟng the debits from the credits.

NoƟce that Cash shows a debit balance while Accounts Payable shows a credit balance. The Cash
account is an asset so its normal balance is a debit. Anormal balance is the side onwhich increases
occur. Accounts Payable is a liability and because liabiliƟes increase with credits, the normal bal-
ance in Accounts Payable is a credit as shown in the T-account above.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Account
Balances.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Normal

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_1_1AcctTypes
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_1_1AcctTypes
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_1_2AccountBalance
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_1_2AccountBalance
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_1_3NormalBalance
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Balance.

Chart of Accounts

A business will create a list of accounts called a chart of accountswhere each account is assigned
both a name and a number. A common pracƟce is to have the accounts arranged in a manner
that is compaƟble with the order of their use in financial statements. For instance, Asset accounts
begin with the digit ‘1’, Liability accounts with the digit ‘2’. Each business will have a unique chart
of accounts that corresponds to its specific needs. Big Dog Carworks Corp. uses the following
numbering system for its accounts:

100-199 Asset accounts
200-299 Liability accounts
300-399 Share capital, retained earnings, and dividend accounts
500-599 Revenue accounts
600-699 Expense accounts

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Account
Numbers.

2.2 TransacƟon Analysis Using Accounts

LO2 – Analyze
transacƟons us-
ing double-entry
accounƟng.

In Chapter 1, transacƟons for Big Dog Carworks Corp. were analyzed to de-
termine the change in each item of the accounƟng equaƟon. In this next
secƟon, these same transacƟonswill be used to demonstrate double-entry
accounƟng. Double-entry accounƟngmeans each transacƟon is recorded
in at least two accounts where the total debits ALWAYS equal the total
credits. As a result of double-entry accounƟng, the sum of all the debit
balance accounts in the ledger must equal the sum of all the credit bal-
ance accounts. The rule that debits = credits is rooted in the accounƟng
equaƟon:

ASSETS = LIABILITIES + EQUITY3
Increases are: Debits Credits Credits
Decreases are: Credits Debits Debits

3The issuance of share capital and revenues cause equity to increase; as indicated above, increases in equity are
recorded as credits. Dividends and expenses cause equity to decrease; decreases in equity are recorded as debits.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_1_3NormalBalance
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_1_3NormalBalance
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_1_4AccountNumber
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_1_4AccountNumber
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IllustraƟve Problem—Double-Entry AccounƟng and the Use of Accounts

In this secƟon, the following debit and credit summary will be used to record the transacƟons of
Big Dog Carworks Corp. into T-accounts.

ASSETS LIABILITIES
DIVIDENDS SHARE CAPITAL
EXPENSES REVENUE
Increases are DEBITED. Increases are CREDITED.
Decreases are CREDITED. Decreases are DEBITED.

TransacƟon 1

Jan. 1 – Big Dog Carworks Corp. issued 1,000 shares to Bob Baldwin, a shareholder, for a total of
$10,000 cash.

Analysis:

Cash
..Debit: An asset account, Cash, is increased resulƟng in a debit. ..10,000

Share Capital
..Credit: Share Capital, an equity account, is increased resulƟng in a credit.* ..10,000

.

*Note: An alternate analysis would be that the issuance of shares causes equity to increase and
increases in equity are always recorded as a credit.

TransacƟon 2

Jan. 2 – Borrowed $3,000 from the bank.

Analysis:

Cash
..Debit: An asset account, Cash, is increased resulƟng in a debit. ..3,000

Bank Loan
..Credit: A liability account, Bank Loan, is increased resulƟng in a credit. ..3,000

.

TransacƟon 3

Jan. 3 – Equipment is purchased for $3,000 cash.

Analysis:
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Equipment
Debit: One asset is acquired in exchange for another asset. An asset
account, Equipment, is increased resulƟng in a ..debit. ..3,000

Cash
..Credit: The account, Cash, also an asset, is decreased resulƟng in a credit. ..3,000

.

TransacƟon 4

Jan. 3 – A truck was purchased for $8,000; Big Dog paid $3,000 cash and incurred a $5,000 bank
loan for the balance.

Analysis:

Truck
..Debit: An asset account, Truck, is increased resulƟng in a debit. ..8,000

Cash
..Credit: An asset account, Cash, is decreased resulƟng in a credit. ..3,000

Bank Loan
..Credit: A liability account, Bank Loan, is increased resulƟng in a credit. ..5,000

.

Note: TransacƟon 4 involves one debit and two credits. NoƟce that the total debit of $8,000 equals
the total credits of $8,000 which saƟsfies the double-entry accounƟng rule requiring that debits
ALWAYS equal credits.

TransacƟon 5

Jan. 5 – Big Dog Carworks Corp. paid $2,400 cash for a one-year insurance policy, effecƟve January
1.

Analysis:

Prepaid Insurance
Debit: An asset account, Prepaid Insurance, is increased resulƟng in a
debit. Because the insurance provides future benefit, it is recorded as an
asset unƟl it is ..used. ..2,400

Cash
Credit: Payment of the insurance results in a decrease in the asset
account, Cash, resulƟng in a ..credit. ..2,400.

TransacƟon 6
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Jan. 10 – The corporaƟon paid $2,000 cash to reduce the bank loan.

Analysis:

Bank Loan
..Debit: This payment decreases the liability, Bank Loan, resulƟng in a debit. ..2,000

Cash
..Credit: The payment also decreases the asset, Cash, resulƟng in a credit. ..2,000

.

TransacƟon 7

Jan. 15 – The corporaƟon received an advance payment of $400 for repair services to be per-
formed as follows: $300 in February and $100 in March.

Analysis:

Cash
Debit: An asset, Cash, is increased at the Ɵme the cash is received
resulƟng in a ..debit. ..500

Unearned Repair
Revenue

Credit: Since the revenue relaƟng to this cash receipt is not earned as of
this date, a liability account, Unearned Repair Revenue, is credited
because Big Dog ‘owes’ the customer $500 of ..work. ..500

.

TransacƟon 8

Jan. 31 – A total of $10,000 of automoƟve repair services is performed for a customer who paid
$8,000 cash. The remaining $2,000 will be paid in 30 days.

Analysis:

Cash
..Debit: An asset, Cash, is increased resulƟng in a debit. ..8,000

Accounts
Receivable

..Debit: An asset, Accounts Receivable, is increased resulƟng in a debit. ..2,000

Repair Revenue
..Credit: An equity, Repair Revenue, is increased resulƟng in a credit. ..10,000

.

TransacƟon 9
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Jan. 31 – OperaƟng expenses of $7,100were paid in cash: Rent expense, $1,600; salaries expense,
$3,500; and supplies expense of $2,000. $700 for truck operaƟng expenses (e.g., oil, gas) were
incurred on credit.

Analysis:

Rent Expense
Debit: This transacƟon increases four expense accounts resulƟng in a
debit to ..each. ..1,600

Salaries Expense
.. ..3,500

Supplies Expense
.. ..2,000

Truck OperaƟng
Expense

.. ..700

.

Note: Each expense is recorded in an individual account.

Cash
..Credit: An asset, Cash, is decreased resulƟng in a credit. ..7,100

Accounts Payable
..Credit: A liability, Accounts Payable, is increased resulƟng in a credit. ..700

.

TransacƟon 10

Jan. 31 – Dividends of $200 were paid in cash to the only shareholder, Bob Baldwin.

Analysis:

Dividends
..Debit: Dividends, an equity account, is increased resulƟng in a debit. ..200

Note: An alternate analysis would be that dividends cause equity to decrease and that
decreases in equity are always recorded as a debit.

Cash
..Credit: An asset, Cash is decreased resulƟng in a credit. ..200

.

AŌer the January transacƟons of Big Dog Carworks Corp. have been recorded in the T-accounts,
each account is totalled and the difference between the debit balance and the credit balance is
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calculated, as shown in the following diagram. The numbers in parentheses refer to the transac-
Ɵon numbers used in the preceding secƟon. To prove that the accounƟng equaƟon is in balance,
the account balances for each of assets, liabiliƟes, and equity are added. NoƟce that total assets
of $19,100 equal the sum of total liabiliƟes of $7,100 plus equity of $12,000.
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Cash Bank Loan Share Capital Dividends Repair Revenue
..(1) 10,000 (3) 3,00 ..0 ..(6) 2,000 (2) 3,00 ..0 .. (1) 10,000 (10) 200 (8) 10,00 ..0

(2) 3,000 (4) 3,000 (4) 5,000
(7) 400 (5) 2,400
(8) 8,000 (6) 2,000 Bal. 6,000

(9) 7,100
(10) 20 ..0

Accounts Payable Rent Expense
Bal. 3,700 (9) 700 (9) 1,600

Accounts Receivable Unearned Repair Revenue Salaries Expense
(8) 2,000 (7) 400 (9) 3,500

Prepaid Insurance Supplies Expense
(5) 2,400 (9) 2,000

Equipment
(3) 3,000

Truck OperaƟon Expense
(9) 700

Truck
..(4) 8,000

19,1001 = 7,1002 + 12,0003

1. 3,700 + 2,000 + 2,400 + 3,000 + 8,000 = 19,100
2. 6,000 + 700 + 400 = 7,100
3. 10,000 - 200 + 10,000 - 1,600 - 3,500 - 2,000 - 700 = 12,000 ..

ASSETS

.

LIABILITIES

.

EQUITY
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Analyzing
TransacƟons.

2.3 The Trial Balance

LO3 – Prepare a
trial balance and
explain its use.

To help prove that the accounƟng equaƟon is in balance, a trial balance is
normally prepared instead of the T-account lisƟng shown in the previous
secƟon. A trial balance is an internal document that lists all the account
balances at a point in Ɵme. The total debits must equal total credits on
the trial balance. The form and content of a trial balance is illustrated
below, using the account numbers, account names, and account balances
of Big Dog Carworks Corp. at January 31, 2015. Assume that the account
numbers are those assigned by the business.

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Trial Balance

At January 31, 2015

Acct. No. Account Debit Credit
101 Cash $3,700
110 Accounts receivable 2,000
161 Prepaid insurance 2,400
183 Equipment 3,000
184 Truck 8,000
201 Bank loan $6,000
210 Accounts payable 700
247 Unearned revenue 400
320 Share capital 10,000
330 Dividends 200
450 Repair revenue 10,000
654 Rent expense 1,600
656 Salaries expense 3,500
668 Supplies expense 2,000
670 Truck operaƟon expense 700

$27,100 $27,100

Double-entry accounƟng requires that debits equal credits. The trial balance establishes that this
equality exists for Big Dog but it does not ensure that each item has been recorded in the proper
account. Neither does the trial balance ensure that all items that should have been entered have
been entered. In addiƟon, a transacƟon may be recorded twice. Any or all of these errors could
occur and the trial balance would sƟll balance. Nevertheless, a trial balance provides a useful
mathemaƟcal check before preparing financial statements.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_2_1TAccount
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_2_1TAccount
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Trial
Balance.

PreparaƟon of Financial Statements

Financial statements for the one-month period ended January 31, 2015 can nowbe prepared from
the trial balance figures. First, an income statement is prepared.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_3_1TrialBal
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_3_1TrialBal
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Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Trial Balance

At January 31, 2015

Acct. No. Account Debit Credit
101 Cash $ 3,700 Big Dog Carworks Corp.
110 Accounts receivable 2,000 Income Statement
161 Prepaid insurance 2,400 For the Month Ended January 31, 2015
183 Equipment 3,000
184 Truck 8,000 Revenues
201 Bank loan $ 6,000 ..Repair revenue $10,000
210 Accounts payable 700
247 Unearned revenue 400 Expenses
..320 Share capital 10,000 Salaries expense $ 3,500
..330 Dividends 200 Supplies expense 2,000

450 Repair revenue ..10,000 Rent expense 1,600
654 Rent expense 1,600 ..Truck operaƟon expense 700
656 Salaries expense 3,500 Total expenses 7,800
668 Supplies expense 2,000 Net income ..$ 2,200
670 Truck operaƟon expense ..700

$27,100 $27,100

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Month Ended January 31, 2015
Share Retained Total

Capital Earnings Equity
Balance at beginning of period $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-

..Shares issued 10,000 10,000
Net income ..2,200 2,200

..Dividends (200) (200)
Ending balance $10,000 $2,000 $12,000

..

Share Capital and Dividends
are transferred to the State-
ment of Changes in Equity.
Dividends is part of Re-
tained Earnings because
it is a distribuƟon of net
income.

.

Net Income is trans-
ferred to the State-
ment of Changes in
Equity as part of Re-
tained Earnings.
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The asset and liability accounts from the trial balance and the ending balances for share capital and retained earnings on the statement
of changes in equity are used to prepare the balance sheet.

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Balance Sheet

Big Dog Carworks Corp. At January 31, 2015
Trial Balance

At January 31, 2015 Assets
Cash $ 3,700

Acct. No. Account Debit Credit ..Accounts receivable 2,000
..101 Cash ..$ 3,700 Prepaid insurance 2,400

110 Accounts receivable 2,000 Equipment 3,000
161 Prepaid insurance 2,400 Truck 8,000
183 Equipment 3,000 Total assets $19,100
184 Truck 8,000
201 Bank loan $ 6,000 LiabiliƟes
210 Accounts payable 700 Bank loan $ 6,000
..247 Unearned revenue ..400 Accounts payable 700

320 Share capital 10,000 ..Unearned repair revenue 400
330 Dividends 200 Total liabiliƟes $ 7,100
450 Repair revenue 10,000
654 Rent expense 1,600 Equity
656 Salaries expense 3,500 Share capital ..$10,000
668 Supplies expense 2,000 Retained earnings ..2,000
670 Truck operaƟon expense 700 Total equity 12,000

$27,100 $27,100 Total liabiliƟes and equity $19,100

..

These accounts are used to
prepare the Balance Sheet.

.

The Share Capital and Retained Earnings bal-
ances are transferred to the Balance Sheet
from the Statement of Changes in Equity
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NOTE: Pay aƩenƟon to the links between financial statements.

The income statement is linked to the statement of changes in equity: Revenues and expenses
are reported on the income statement to show the details of net income. Because net income
causes equity to change, it is then reported on the statement of changes in equity.

The statement of changes in equity is linked to the balance sheet: The statement of changes
in equity shows the details of how equity changed during the accounƟng period. The balances
for share capital and retained earnings that appear on the statement of changes in equity are
transferred to the equity secƟon of the balance sheet.

The balance sheet SUMMARIZES equity by showing only account balances for share capital and
retained earnings. To obtain the details regarding these equity accounts, we must look at the
income statement and the statement of changes in equity.
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2.4 Using Formal AccounƟng Records

LO4 – Record
transacƟons in a
general journal
and post in a
general ledger.

The preceding analysis of financial transacƟons used T-accounts to record
debits and credits. T-accounts will conƟnue to be used for illustraƟve pur-
poses throughout this book. In actual pracƟce, financial transacƟons are
recorded in a general journal.

A general journal, or just journal, is a document that is used to chronolog-
ically record a business’s debit and credit transacƟons (see Figure 2.2). It is
oŌen referred to as the book of original entry. Journalizing is the process
of recording a financial transacƟon in the journal. The resulƟng debit and
credit entry recorded in the journal is called a journal entry.

A general ledger, or just ledger, is a record that contains all of a business’s accounts. PosƟng is
the process of transferring amounts from the journal to the matching ledger accounts. Because
amounts recorded in the journal eventually end up in a ledger account, the ledger is someƟmes
referred to as a book of final entry.

Recording TransacƟons in the General Journal

Each transacƟon is first recorded in the journal. The January transacƟons of Big Dog Carworks
Corp. are recorded in its journal as shown in Figure 2.2. The journalizing procedure follows these
steps (refer to Figure 2.2 for corresponding numbers):

1. The year is recorded at the top and the month is entered on the first line of page 1. This
informaƟon is repeated only on each new journal page used to record transacƟons.

2. The date of the first transacƟon is entered in the second column, on the first line. The day
of each transacƟon is always recorded in this second column.

3. The name of the account to be debited is entered in the descripƟon column on the first
line. By convenƟon, accounts to be debited are usually recorded before accounts to be
credited. The column Ɵtled ‘F’ (for Folio) indicates the number given to the account in the
General Ledger. For example, the account number for Cash is 101. The amount of the debit
is recorded in the debit column. A dash is oŌen used by accountants in place of .00.

4. The name of the account to be credited is on the second line of the descripƟon column
and is indented about one cenƟmetre into the column. Accounts to be credited are always
indented in thisway in the journal. The amount of the credit is recorded in the credit column.
Again, a dash may be used in place of .00.

5. An explanaƟon of the transacƟon is entered in the descripƟon column on the next line. It is
not indented.
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6. A line is usually skipped aŌer each journal entry to separate individual journal entries and
the date of the next entry recorded. It is unnecessary to repeat the month if it is unchanged
from that recorded at the top of the page.
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GENERAL JOURNAL Page 1
Date DescripƟon F Debit Credit

..1 ..2015

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

.. ..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

.. ..

.. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. .. .. ..

..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
..
..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
..

.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. ..
..
..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. ..
..

.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. ..
.. ..

Jan.

.

1

.

Cash

.

101

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Share Capital

.

320

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record the issuance of share capital.

.

2

.

Cash

.

101

.

3

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Bank Loan

.

201

.

3

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record receipt of a bank loan.

.

2

.

Equipment

.

183

.

3

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Cash

.

101

.

3

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record the purchase of equipment for cash.

.

3

.

Truck

.

184

.

8

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Bank Loan

.

201

.

5

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Cash

.

101

.

3

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record the purchase of a tow truck; paid

.

cash and incurred addiƟonal bank loan.

.

5

.

Prepaid Insurance

.

161

.

2

.

4

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Cash

.

101

.

2

.

4

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record payment for a one-year insurance policy.

.

10

.

Bank Loan

.

201

.

2

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Cash

.

101

.

2

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record payment on bank loan.

.

15

.

Cash

.

101

.

4

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Unearned Repair Revenue

.

247

.

4

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record receipt of payment for services not performed:

.

$300 for February, $100 for March.

.

31

.

Cash

.

101

.

8

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Accounts Receivable

.

110

.

2

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Repair Revenue

.

450

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record repaid revenue earned in January.

.

31

.

Rent Expense

.

654

.

1

.

6

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Salaries Expense

.

656

.

3

.

5

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Supplies Expense

.

668

.

2

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Truck OperaƟon Expense

.

670

.

7

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Cash

.

101

.

7

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Accounts Payable

.

210

.

7

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record cash payment of expenses for the month.

.

31

.

Dividends

.

330

.

2

.

0

.

0

.

-

.
Cash

.
101

.
2

.
0

.
0

.
-

.To record distribuƟon of dividends..

2

.

3

.

4

.

5

.

6

.

This entry tells us
to:

- Post $10,000 to
the debit side of
the Cash account
(increasing Cash
by $10,000), and

- Post $10,000 to
the credit side of
the Share Capital
account (increas-
ing this account
by $10,000).

Figure 2.2: General Journal TransacƟons for BDCC in January
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Most of Big Dog’s entries have one debit and credit. An entry can also have more than one debit
or credit, in which case it is referred to as a compound entry. The entry dated January 3 is an
example of a compound entry.

PosƟng TransacƟons to the General Ledger

The ledger account is a formal variaƟon of the T-account. The ledger accounts shown in Figure 2.3
are similar to what is used in electronic/digital accounƟng programs. Ledger accounts are kept in
the general ledger. Debits and credits recorded in the journal are posted to appropriate ledger
accounts so that the details and balance for each account can be found easily. Figure 2.3 uses the
first transacƟon of Big Dog Carworks Corp. to illustrate how to post amounts and record other
informaƟon.

..GENERAL JOURNAL ..Page 1
Date DescripƟon F Debit Credit
2015

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
..

..
..GENERAL LEDGER

Cash Acct. No. 101
Date DescripƟon F Debit Credit DR/CR Balance
2015

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

Share Capital Acct. No. 320
Date DescripƟon F Debit Credit DR/CR Balance
2015

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

....

Jan.

.

1

.

Cash

.

101

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Share Capital

.

320

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To record the issuance of share capital.

.

Jan.

.

1

.

GJ1

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

DR

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Jan.

.

1

.

GJ1

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

CR

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

The journal records
each financial trans-
acƟon in double-entry
form. Each side of the
entry is transferred to
a separate ledger ac-
count.

.

The ledger stores trans-
acƟons according to
account and keeps a
running total of each
account balance.

.

3

.

1

.

1
.

2

.

4

.

4

Figure 2.3: IllustraƟon of a TransacƟon Posted to Two Accounts in the General Ledger

1. The date and amount are posted to the appropriate ledger account. Here the entry debiƟng
Cash is posted from the journal to the Cash ledger account. The entry crediƟng Share Capital
is then posted from the journal to the Share Capital ledger account.

2. The journal page number is recorded in the folio (F) column of each ledger account as a
cross reference. In this case, the posƟng has been made from general journal page 1; the
reference is recorded as GJ1.
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3. The appropriate ledger account number is recorded in the folio (F) column of the journal to
indicate the posƟng has beenmade to that parƟcular account. Here the entry debiƟng Cash
has been posted to Account No. 101. The entry crediƟng Share Capital has been posted to
Account No. 320.

4. AŌer posƟng the entry, a balance is calculated in the Balance column. A notaƟon is recorded
in the column to the leŌ of the Balance column indicaƟng whether the balance is a debit or
credit. A brief descripƟon can be entered in the DescripƟon column but this is generally not
necessary since the journal includes a detailed descripƟon for each journal entry.

This manual process of recording, posƟng, summarizing, and preparing financial statements is
cumbersome and Ɵme-consuming. In virtually all businesses, the use of accounƟng soŌware au-
tomates much of the process. In this and subsequent chapters, either the T-account or the ledger
account can be used in working through exercises and problems. Both formats are used to explain
and illustrate concepts in subsequent chapters.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Journal-
izing TransacƟons.

2.5 The AccounƟng Cycle

LO5 – Define
the accounƟng
cycle.

In the preceding secƟons, the January transacƟons of Big Dog Carworks
Corp. were used to demonstrate the steps performed to convert eco-
nomic data into financial informaƟon. This conversion was carried out in
accordance with the basic double-entry accounƟng model. These steps
are summarized in Figure 2.4.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_4_1Journ
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN2_4_1Journ
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..GENERAL JOURNAL ..Page
Date DescripƟon F ..Debit ..Credit

LEDGER ACCOUNT Acct. No.
Date DescripƟon F ..Debit ..Credit DR/CR ..Balance

..TRIAL BALANCE
At…

Account Names Account Balances
Debit Credit

..Income Statement ..Balance Sheet
For the…Ended… At…
Revenue $xxx Assets $xx
Expenses xx LiabiliƟes x
Net income $ x Equity x

$xx

..

Step 1: TransacƟons are ana-
lyzed and journalized.
Journalizing consists of analyzing
transacƟons as they occur to see
how they affect the accounƟng
equaƟon. Then, the transacƟons
are recorded chronologically in
the general journal.

Step 2: TransacƟons are summa-
rized by account.
PosƟng consists of transferring
debits and credits from the gen-
eral journal to the appropriate
general ledger accounts.

Step 3: The equality of debits
and credits is proved.
A trial balance is prepared, list-
ing account numbers and names
along with account balances to
prove the equality of the debits
and credits.
Step 4: The summarized transac-
Ɵons are communicated.
Preparing the financial state-
ments consists of using the bal-
ances listed in the columns of
the trial balance to prepare the
income statement, statement of
changes in equity, and balance
sheet.

.

Step 1

.

Step 2

.

Step 3

.

Step 4

Figure 2.4: IllustraƟng the Steps in the AccounƟng Cycle

The sequence just described, beginning with the journalising of the transacƟons and ending with
the communicaƟon of financial informaƟon in financial statements, is commonly referred to as
the accounƟng cycle. There are addiƟonal steps involved in the accounƟng cycle and these will
be introduced in Chapter 3.

Summary of Chapter 2 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Describe asset, liability, and equity accounts, idenƟfying the effect of deb-
its and credits on each.

Assets are resources that have future economic benefits such as cash, receivables, prepaids, and
machinery. Increases in assets are recorded as debits and decreases as credits. LiabiliƟes rep-
resent an obligaƟon to pay an asset in the future and include payables and unearned revenues.
Inceases in liabiliƟes are recorded as credits and decreases as debits. Equity represents the net
assets owned by the owners and includes share capital, dividends, revenues, and expenses. In-
creases in equity, caused by the issuance of shares and revenues, are recorded as credits, and
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decreases in equity, caused by dividends and expenses, are recorded as debits. The following
summary can be used to show how debits and credits impact the types of accounts.

LO2 – Analyze transacƟons using double-entry accounƟng.

Double-entry accounƟng requires that each transacƟonbe recorded in at least twoaccountswhere
the total debits always equal the total credits. The double-entry accounƟng rule is rooted in the
accounƟng equaƟon: Assets = LiabiliƟes + Equity.

LO3 – Prepare a trial balance and explain its use.

To help prove the accounƟng equaƟon is in balance, a trial balance is prepared. The trial balance
is an internal document that lists all the account balances at a point in Ɵme. The total debits must
equal total credits on the trial balance. The trial balance is used in the preparaƟon of financial
statements.

LO4 – Record transacƟons in a general journal and post in a general ledger.

The recording of financial transacƟons was introduced in this chapter using T-accounts, an illustra-
Ɵve tool. A business actually records transacƟons in a general journal, a document which chrono-
logically lists each debit and credit journal entry. To summarize the debit and credit entries by
account, the entries in the general journal are posted (or transferred) to the general ledger. The
account balances in the general ledger are used to prepare the trial balance.

LO5 – Define the accounƟng cycle.

Analyzing transacƟons, journalizing them in the general journal, posƟng from the general journal
into the general ledger, preparing the trial balance, and generaƟng financial statements are steps
followed each accounƟng period. These steps form the core of the accounƟng cycle. AddiƟonal
steps involved in the accounƟng cycle will be introduced in Chapter 3.





...

Chapter 3

.

Financial AccounƟng and AdjusƟng Entries

Chapters 1 and 2 described the recording and reporƟng of economic transacƟons in detail. How-
ever, the account balances used to prepare the financial statements in these previous chapters
did not necessarily reflect correct amounts. Chapter 3 introduces the concept of adjusƟng entries
and how these saƟsfy the matching principle, ensuring revenues and expenses are reported in
the correct accounƟng period. The preparaƟon of an adjusted trial balance is discussed, as well
as its use in compleƟng financial statements. At the end of the accounƟng period, aŌer financial
statements have been prepared, it is necessary to close temporary accounts to retained earnings.
This process is introduced in this chapter, as is the preparaƟon of a post-closing trial balance. The
accounƟng cycle, the steps performed each accounƟng period that result in financial statements,
is also reviewed.

Chapter 3 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Explain how the Ɵmeliness, matching, and recogniƟon GAAP require the recording of
adjusƟng entries.

LO2 – Explain the use of and prepare the adjusƟng entries required for prepaid expenses,
depreciaƟon, unearned revenues, accrued revenues, and accrued expenses.

LO3 – Prepare an adjusted trial balance and explain its use.

LO4 – Use an adjusted trial balance to prepare financial statements.

LO5 – IdenƟfy and explain the steps in the accounƟng cycle.

LO6 – Explain the use of and prepare closing entries and a post-closing trial balance.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 3.

1. What is the GAAP principle of Ɵmeliness?

2. What is the GAAP principle of matching?

3. What is the GAAP principle of revenue recogniƟon?

51
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4. What are adjusƟng entries and when are they journalized?

5. What are the five types of adjustments?

6. Why is an adjusted trial balance prepared?

7. How is the unadjusted trial balance different from the adjusted trial balance?

8. What are the four closing entries and why are they journalized?

9. Why is the Dividends account not closed to the income summary?

10. When is a post-closing trial balance prepared?

11. How is a post-closing trial balance different from an adjusted trial balance?

3.1 The OperaƟng Cycle

LO1 – Explain
how the Ɵmeli-
ness, matching,
and recogniƟon
GAAP require
the recording
of adjusƟng
entries.

Financial transacƟons occur conƟnuously during an accounƟng period as
part of a sequence of operaƟng acƟviƟes. For Big Dog Carworks Corp., this
sequence of operaƟng acƟviƟes takes the following form:

1. OperaƟons begin with some cash on hand.

2. Cash is used to purchase supplies and to pay expenses.

3. Revenue is earned as repair services are completed for customers.

4. Cash is collected from customers.

This cash-to-cash sequence of transacƟons is commonly referred to as an
operaƟng cycle and is illustrated in Figure 3.1.

..

Cash is
on hand.

.

Repair supplies are purchased.

.

Expenses are paid.

.

Cash payment to supplier is made.

.

Repair services are performed.

.

Accounts receivable result.

.

Cash is collected
from customer.

.
One OperaƟng Cycle

.
Time

Figure 3.1: One OperaƟng Cycle
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Depending on the type of business, an operaƟng cycle can vary in duraƟon from short, such as one
week (e.g., a grocery store) to much longer, such as one year (e.g., a car dealership). Therefore,
an annual accounƟng period could involve mulƟple operaƟng cycles as shown in Figure 3.2.

..

One AccounƟng Period

.
Jan.1,
2015

.
Dec. 31,
2015

.

One
OperaƟng
Cycle

.
Time

Figure 3.2: OperaƟng Cycles Within an Annual AccounƟng Period

NoƟce that not all of the operaƟng cycles in Figure 3.2 are completed within the accounƟng pe-
riod. Since financial statements are prepared at specific Ɵme intervals to meet the GAAP require-
ment of Ɵmeliness, it is necessary to consider how to record and report transacƟons related to
the accounƟng period’s incomplete operaƟng cycles. Two GAAP requirements—recogniƟon and
matching—provide guidance in this area, and are the topic of the next secƟons.

RecogniƟon Principle in More Detail

GAAP provide guidance about when an economic acƟvity should be recognized in financial state-
ments. An economic acƟvity is recognized when it meets two criteria:

1. it is probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item will flow to the
business; and

2. it has a value that can be measured with reliability.

Revenue RecogniƟon Illustrated

Revenue recogniƟon is the process of recording revenue in the accounƟng period in which it was
earned; this is not necessarily when cash is received. Most corporaƟons assume that revenue has
been earned at an objecƟvely-determined point in the accounƟng cycle. For instance, it is oŌen
convenient to recognize revenue at the point when a sales invoice has been sent to a customer
and the related goods have been received or services performed. This point can occur before
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receipt of cash from a customer, creaƟng an asset called Accounts Receivable and resulƟng in the
following entry:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record revenue earned on account.

When cash payment is later received, the asset Accounts Receivable is exchanged for the asset
Cash and the following entry is made:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record cash received from credit cus-
tomer.

Revenue is recognized in the first entry (the credit to revenue), prior to the receipt of cash. The
second entry has no effect on revenue.

When cash is received at the same Ɵme that revenue is recognized, the following entry is made:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record cash received from customer.

When a cash deposit or advance payment is obtained before revenue is earned, a liability called
Unearned Revenue is recorded as follows:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Unearned Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record cash received from customer for
work to be done in the future.

Revenue is not recognized unƟl the services have been performed. At that Ɵme, the following
entry is made:
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Unearned Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record the earned porƟon of Unearned
Revenue.

The preceding entry reduces the unearned revenue account by the amount of revenue earned.

The matching of revenue to a parƟcular Ɵme period, regardless of when cash is received, is an
example of accrual accounƟng. Accrual accounƟng is the process of recognizing revenues when
earned and expenses when incurred regardless of when cash is exchanged; it forms the basis of
GAAP. RecogniƟon of expenses is discussed in the next secƟon.

Expense RecogniƟon Illustrated

In a business, costs are incurred conƟnuously. To review, a cost is recorded as an asset if it will be
incurred in producing revenue in future accounƟng periods. A cost is recorded as an expense if
it will be used or consumed during the current period to earn revenue. This disƟncƟon between
types of cost outlays is illustrated in Figure 3.3.

..COST OUTLAYS.

Recorded as ASSETS
When costs are incurred to
produce revenue in future
accounƟng periods, for ex-

ample: prepaid rent, prepaid
insurance, and unused supplies.

.

Recorded as EXPENSES
When costs are incurred to
earn revenue in the present

accounƟng period, for example:
rent expense, insurance expense,

and office supplies expense.

Figure 3.3: The InterrelaƟonship Between Assets and Expense

In the previous secƟon regarding revenue recogniƟon, journal entries illustrated three scenarios
where revenuewas recognized before, at the same Ɵme as, and aŌer cash was received. Similarly,
expenses can be incurred before, at the same Ɵme as, or aŌer cash is paid out. An example of
when expenses are incurred before cash is paid occurs when the uƟliƟes expense for January is
not paid unƟl February. In this case, an account payable is created in January as follows:
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

UƟliƟes Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Accounts Payable (or UƟliƟes Payable) XX

To record January uƟliƟes expense to be
paid in February.

The uƟliƟes expense is reported in the January income statement.

When the January uƟliƟes are paid in February, the following is recorded:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Payable (or UƟliƟes Payable) . . . XX
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record payment in February of uƟliƟes
used in January.

The preceding entry has no effect on expenses reported on the February income statement.

Expenses can also be recorded at the same Ɵme that cash is paid. For example, if salaries for
January are paid on January 31, the entry on January 31 is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Salaries Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record payment of January salaries.

As a result of this entry, salaries expense is reported on the January income statement when cash
is paid.

Finally, a cash payment can be made before the expense is incurred, such as insurance paid in
advance. A prepayment of insurance creates an asset Prepaid Insurance and is recorded as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Prepaid Insurance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record payment of insurance in ad-
vance.

As the prepaid insurance is used, it is appropriate to report an expense on the income statement
by recording the following entry:
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Insurance Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Prepaid Insurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record the use of Prepaid Insurance.

The preceding examples illustrate how to match expenses to the appropriate accounƟng period.
The matching principle requires that expenses be reported in the same period as the revenues
they helped generate. That is, expenses are reported on the income statement: a) when related
revenue is recognized, or b) during the appropriate Ɵme period, regardless of when cash is paid.

To ensure the recogniƟon and matching of revenues and expenses to the correct accounƟng pe-
riod, account balances must be reviewed and adjusted prior to the preparaƟon of financial state-
ments. This is the topic of the next secƟon.

3.2 AdjusƟng Entries

LO2 – Explain
the use of and
prepare the
adjusƟng entries
required for pre-
paid expenses,
depreciaƟon,
unearned rev-
enues, accrued
revenues, and ac-
crued expenses.

At the end of an accounƟng period, before financial statements can be
prepared, the accounts must be reviewed for potenƟal adjustments. This
review is done by using the unadjusted trial balance. The unadjusted trial
balance is a trial balance where the accounts have not yet been adjusted.
The trial balance of Big Dog Carworks Corp. at January 31 was prepared in
Chapter 2 and appears in Figure 3.4 below. It is an unadjusted trial balance
because the accounts have not yet been updated for adjustments. We
will use this trial balance to illustrate how adjustments are idenƟfied and
recorded.
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Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Unadjusted Trial Balance

At January 31, 2015

Acct. Account Debit Credit
101 Cash $3,700
110 Accounts receivable 2,000
161 Prepaid insurance 2,400
183 Equipment 3,000
184 Truck 8,000
201 Bank loan $6,000
210 Accounts payable 700
247 Unearned revenue 400
320 Share capital 10,000
330 Dividends 200
450 Repair revenue 10,000
654 Rent expense 1,600
656 Salaries expense 3,500
668 Supplies expense 2,000
670 Truck operaƟon expense 700

$27,100 $27,100

Figure 3.4: Unadjusted Trial Balance of Big Dog Carworks Corp. at January 31, 2015

Adjustments are recorded with adjusƟng entries. The purpose of adjusƟng entries is to ensure
both the balance sheet and the income statement faithfully represent the account balances for
the accounƟng period. AdjusƟng entries help saƟsfy thematching principle. There are five types of
adjusƟng entries as shown in Figure 3.5, each of which will be discussed in the following secƟons.

..
Adjust
prepaid
assets

.
Adjust

unearned
liabiliƟes

.
Adjust

plant and
equipment
assets

.
Adjust for
accrued
revenues1

.
Adjust for
accrued
expenses2

.

1. An accrued revenue is a revenue that has been earned but has not been collected or recorded.

.

2. An accrued expense is an expense that has been incurred but has not yet been paid or recorded.

Figure 3.5: Five Types of AdjusƟng Entries

AdjusƟng Prepaid Asset Accounts

An asset or liability account requiring adjustment at the end of an accounƟng period is referred
to as amixed account because it includes both a balance sheet porƟon and an income statement
porƟon. The income statement porƟon must be removed from the account by an adjusƟng entry.

Refer to Figure 3.4 which shows an unadjusted balance in prepaid insurance of $2,400. Recall
from Chapter 2 that Big Dog paid for a 12-month insurance policy that went into effect on January
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1 (transacƟon 5).

..Prepaid Insurance
2,400 Prepaid Insurance 2,400

Cash 2,400

..

The unadjusted trial
balance shows the
following balance in
the Prepaid Insurance
account:

.

The balance resulted when
the journal entry below was
recorded:

At January 31, onemonth or $200 of the policy has expired (been used up) calculated as $2,400/12
months = $200.

The adjusƟng entry on January 31 to transfer $200 out of prepaid insurance and into insurance
expense is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Insurance Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200
Prepaid Insurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200

To adjust for the use of one month of Pre-
paid Insurance.

As shown below, the balance remaining in the Prepaid Insurance account is $2,200 aŌer the ad-
jusƟng entry is posted. The $2,200 balance represents the unexpired asset that will benefit future
periods, namely, the 11 months from February to December, 2015. The $200 transferred out
of prepaid insurance is posted as a debit to the Insurance Expense account to show how much
insurance has been used during January.

Insurance Expense Prepaid Insurance
2,400

..200 ..200
Bal. 2,200 ..

An expense account,
Insurance Expense,
is increased by the
amount used.

.

An asset account, Prepaid Insurance,
is decreased by the $200 of insurance
coverage that was used during January.

If the adjustment was not recorded, assets on the balance sheet would be overstated by $200 and
expenses would be understated by the same amount on the income statement.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Prepaid
Expenses.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_1PrepaidExpensesExp
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_1PrepaidExpensesExp
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AdjusƟng Unearned Liability Accounts

On January 15, Big Dog received a $400 cash payment in advance of services being performed:
$300 for January and $100 for February.

..Unearned Repair
Revenue

400 Cash 400
Unearned Repair Rev. 400

..

The unadjusted trial
balance shows the
following in the Un-
earned Repair Rev-
enue account:

.

The receipt of the $400 advance
payment was recorded as follows:

This advance payment was originally recorded as unearned, since the cash was received before
repair services were performed. At January 31, $300 of the $400 unearned amount has been
earned. Therefore, $300 must be transferred from unearned repair revenue into repair revenue.
The adjusƟng entry at January 31 is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Unearned Repair Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 300
Repair Revenuee. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 300

To adjust for repair revenue earned.

AŌer posƟng the adjustment, the $100 remaining balance in unearned repair revenue ($400 –
$300) represents the amount at the end of January that will be earned in February.

Unearned Repair
Revenue Repair Revenue

400 10,000
..300 ..300

Bal. 100 Bal. 10,300
..

A liability account,
Unearned Repair Rev-
enue, is decreased by
the $300 adjustment.

.

A revenue account,
Repair Revenue, is
increased by the $300
adjustment.

If the adjustment was not recorded, unearned repair revenue would be overstated (too high) by
$300 causing liabiliƟes on the balance sheet to be overstated. AddiƟonally, revenue would be
understated (too low) by $300 on the income statement if the adjustment was not recorded.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Unearned
Revenues.

AdjusƟng Plant and Equipment Accounts

Plant and equipment assets, also known as long-lived assets, are expected to help generate rev-
enues over the current and future accounƟng periods because they are used to produce goods,
supply services, or used for administraƟve purposes. The truck and equipment purchased by Big
Dog Carworks Corp. in January are examples of plant and equipment assets that provide economic
benefits for more than one accounƟng period. Because plant and equipment assets are useful for
more than one accounƟng period, their cost must be spread over the Ɵme they are used. This
is done to saƟsfy the matching principle. For example, the $100,000 cost of a machine expected
to be used over five years is not expensed enƟrely in the year of purchase because this would
cause expenses to be overstated in Year 1 and understated in Years 2, 3, 4, and 5. Therefore, the
$100,000 cost must be spread over the asset’s five-year life.

The process of allocaƟng the cost of a plant and equipment asset over the period of Ɵme it is
expected to be used is called depreciaƟon. The amount of depreciaƟon is calculated using the
actual cost and an esƟmate of the asset’s useful life and residual value. The useful life of a plant
and equipment asset is an esƟmate of how long it will actually be used by the business regardless
of how long the asset is expected to last. For example, a carmight have amanufacturer’s suggested
life of 10 years but a business may have a policy of keeping cars for only 2 years. The useful life
for depreciaƟon purposes would therefore be 2 years and not 10 years. The residual value is an
esƟmate of what the plant and equipment asset will be sold for when it is no longer used by a
business. Residual value can be zero. There are different formulas for calculaƟng depreciaƟon.
We will use the straight-line method of depreciaƟon:

Cost− EsƟmated Residual Value
EsƟmated Useful Life

The cost less esƟmated residual value is the total depreciable cost of the asset. The straight-line
method allocates the depreciable cost equally over the asset’s esƟmated useful life. When record-
ing depreciaƟon expense, our iniƟal insƟnct is to debit depreciaƟon expense and credit the Plant
and Equipment asset account in the same way prepaids were adjusted with a debit to an expense
and a credit to the Prepaid asset account. However, crediƟng the Plant and Equipment asset ac-
count is incorrect. Instead, a contra account called accumulated depreciaƟonmust be credited. A
contra account is an account that is related to another account and typically has an opposite nor-
mal balance that is subtracted from the balance of its related account on the financial statements.
Accumulated depreciaƟon records the amount of the asset’s cost that has been expensed since it
was put into use. Accumulated depreciaƟon has a normal credit balance that is subtracted from
a Plant and Equipment asset account on the balance sheet.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_3UnearnedRevenuesExp
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_3UnearnedRevenuesExp
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IniƟally, the concept of crediƟng Accumulated DepreciaƟon may be confusing because of how we
learned to adjust prepaids (debit an expense and credit the prepaid). Remember that prepaids
actually get used up and disappear over Ɵme. The Plant and Equipment asset account is not cred-
ited because, unlike a prepaid, a truck or building does not get used up and disappear. The goal
in recording depreciaƟon is to match the cost of the asset to the revenues it helped generate. For
example, a $50,000 truck that is expected to be used by a business for 4 years will have its cost
spread over 4 years. AŌer 4 years, the asset will likely be sold (journal entries related to the sale
of plant and equipment assets are discussed in Chapter 8).

The adjusƟng journal entry to record depreciaƟon is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

DepreciaƟon Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Accumulated DepreciaƟon . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To adjust for depreciaƟon.

SubtracƟng the accumulated depreciaƟon account balance from the Plant and Equipment asset
account balance equals the carrying amount or net book value of the plant and equipment asset
that is reported on the balance sheet.

Let’s work through two examples to demonstrate depreciaƟon adjustments. Big Dog Carworks
Corp.’s January 31, 2015 unadjusted trial balance showed the following two plant and equipment
assets:

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Unadjusted Trial Balance

At January 31, 2015

Acct. Account Debit Credit
183 Equipment 3,000
184 Truck 8,000

The equipment was purchased for $3,000.

..Equipment
3,000 Equipment 3,000

Cash 3,000

..

The Equipment gen-
eral ledger account
appears as follows:

.

The balance resulted when
this journal entry was
recorded:

The equipment was recorded as a plant and equipment asset because it has an esƟmated useful
life greater than 1 year. Assume its actual useful life is 10 years (120 months) and the equipment
is esƟmated to be worth $0 at the end of its useful life (residual value of $0).



3.2. Adjusting Entries 63

Cost− EsƟmated Residual Value
EsƟmated Useful Life

=
$3,000− $0
120 months

= $25/month

Note that depreciaƟon is always rounded to the nearest whole dollar. This is because depre-
ciaƟon is based on esƟmates—an esƟmated residual value and an esƟmated useful life; it is not
exact. The following adjusƟng journal entry is made on January 31:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

DepreciaƟon Expense, Equipment . . . . . . . 25
Accumulated DepreciaƟon, Equipment 25

To adjust for one month of depreciaƟon
on the equipment.

When the adjusƟng entry is posted, the accounts appear as follows:

Accumulated DepreciaƟon
Equipment DepreciaƟon – Equipment Expense – Equipment
..3,000 ..25 ..25

..

The Equipment ac-
count remains un-
changed by the ad-
jusƟng entry. .

A contra account, Ac-
cumulated Deprecia-
Ɵon, is increased by
$25. .

DepreciaƟon Expense is in-
creased by $25, the amount of
the equipment’s cost that has
been allocated to expense.

For financial statement reporƟng, the asset and contra asset accounts are combined. The net book
value of the equipment on the balance sheet is shown as $2,975 ($3,000 – $25).

BDCC also shows a truck for $8,000 on the January 31, 2015 unadjusted trial balance.

..Truck
8,000 Truck 8,000

Bank Loan 5,000
Cash 3,000

..

The Truck general
ledger accounts ap-
pears as:

.

The journal entry to record
the purchase of the truck
was:

Assume the truck has an esƟmated useful life of 80 months and a zero esƟmated residual value.
At January 31, one month of the truck cost has expired since it was put into operaƟon in January.
Using the straight-line method, depreciaƟon is calculated as:
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Cost− EsƟmated Residual Value
EsƟmated Useful Life

=
$8,000− $0
8 months

= $100/month

The adjusƟng entry recorded on January 31 is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

DepreciaƟon Expense, Truck . . . . . . . . . . . . 100
Accumulated DepreciaƟon, Truck . . . . . 100

To adjust for one month of depreciaƟon
on the truck.

When the adjusƟng entry is posted, the accounts appear as follows:

Accumulated DepreciaƟon
Truck DepreciaƟon – Truck Expense – Truck

..8,000 ..100 ..100

..
The Truck account
remains unchanged
by the adjusƟng en-
try.

.
A contra account, Ac-
cumulated Deprecia-
Ɵon, is increased by
$100.

.
DepreciaƟon Expense is in-
creased by $100, the amount
of the truck’s cost that has
been allocated to expense.

For financial statement reporƟng, the asset and contra asset accounts are combined. The net book
value of the truck on the balance sheet is shown as $7,900 ($8,000 – $100).

If depreciaƟon adjustments are not recorded, assets on the balance sheet would be overstated.
AddiƟonally, expenses would be understated on the income statement causing net income to be
overstated. If net income is overstated, retained earnings on the balance sheet would also be
overstated.

It is important to note that land is a long-lived asset. However, it is not depreciated because it
does not get used up over Ɵme. Therefore, land is oŌen referred to as a non-depreciable asset.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Depre-
ciaƟon.

AdjusƟng for Accrued Revenues

Accrued revenues are revenues that have been earned but not yet collected or recorded. For
example, a bank has numerous notes receivable. Interest is earned on the notes receivable as

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_2AmortizeExp
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_2AmortizeExp
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Ɵme passes. At the end of an accounƟng period, there would be notes receivable where the
interest has been earned but not collected or recorded. The adjusƟng entry for accrued revenues
is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To adjust for accrued revenue.

For Big Dog Carworks Corp., assume that on January 31, $400 of repair work was completed for
a client but it had not yet been collected or recorded. BDCC must record the following adjusƟng
entry:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 400
Repair Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 400

To adjust for accrued revenue.

Accounts Receivable Repair Revenue
2,000 10,300

..400 ..400
Bal. 2,400 Bal. 10,700 ..

An asset account, Ac-
counts Receivable, is
increased by the ac-
crued amount.

.

An income statement
account, Repair Revenue,
is increased by the $400
of accrued revenue.

If the adjustment was not recorded, assets on the balance sheet would be overstated by $200 and
expenses would be understated by the same amount on the income statement.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Accrued
Revenues.

AdjusƟng for Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses are expenses that have been incurred but not yet paid or recorded. For exam-
ple, a uƟlity bill received at the end of the accounƟng period is likely not payable for 2–3 weeks.
UƟliƟes for the period have been used but have not yet been paid or recorded. The adjusƟng
entry for accrued expenses is:

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_5AccruedRevenuesExp
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_5AccruedRevenuesExp
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To adjust for accrued expense.

Accruing Interest Expense

For Big Dog Carworks Corp., the January 31, 2015 unadjusted trial balance shows a $6,000 bank
loan balance. Assume it is a 4%, 60-day bank loan1. It was dated January 3 which means that on
January 31, 28 days of interest have accrued (January 31 less January 3 = 28 days) as shown in
Figure 3.6.

..

28 days of
interest has
been incurred
at January 31

. 60–day Note.

January 3

.

January 31

.

March 4
(Maturity
date)

Figure 3.6: Interest Incurred During an AccounƟng Period

The formula for calculaƟng interest when the term is expressed in days is:

Interest = Principal× Interest rate× Elapsed Ɵme in days
365

The interest expense accrued at January 31 is calculated as:

Interest = $6,000× 0.04× 28
365

= $18 (rounded to nearest whole dollar)

Interest is normally expressed as an annual rate. Therefore, the 28 days must be divided by the
365 days in a year.2 Normally all interest calculaƟons in this textbook are rounded to two decimal
places. However, for simplicity of demonstraƟons in this chapter, we will round to the nearest
whole dollar.

1The maturity date is March 4, 2015 calculated as: January 31 less January 3 = 28 days + 28 days in February = 56
days + 4 days = March 4.

2To review interest calculaƟons, refer to the Chapter 3 - Interest Tutorial.
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BDCC’s adjusƟng entry on January 31 is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
Interest Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

To adjust for accrued interest; $6,000 X
4% X 28/365 = $18.41 (rounded to $18 for
illustraƟve purposes in this chapter).

This adjusƟng entry enables BDCC to include the interest expense on the January income state-
ment even though the payment has not yet been made. The entry creates a payable that will be
reported as a liability on the balance sheet at January 31.

When the adjusƟng entry is posted, the accounts appear as:

Interest Expense Interest Payable
..18 ..18

..
An expense account is
established to record
the debit.

.
Interest payable is es-
tablished to record the
credit.

On February 28, interest will again be accrued and recorded as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
Interest Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

To adjust for accrued interest; $6,000 X
4% X 28/365 = $18.41 (rounded to $18 for
illustraƟve purposes in this chapter).

On March 4 when the bank loan matures, Big Dog will pay the interest and principal and record
the following entry:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3
Interest Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36
Bank Loan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,000

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6039
To record payment of the bank loan and
interest; interest expense for March is
$6,000 X 4% X 4/365 = $2.63 (rounded to
$3 for illustraƟve purposes in this chapter).
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The $36 debit to interest payable will cause the UƟliƟes Payable account to go to zero since the
liability no longer exists once the cash is paid. NoƟce that the total interest expense recorded on
the bank loan was $39—$18 expensed in January, $18 expensed in February, and $3 expensed in
March. The interest expense was matched to the life of the bank loan.

Accruing Income Tax Expense

Another adjustment that is required for Big Dog Carworks Corp. involves the recording of cor-
porate income taxes. In most jurisdicƟons, a corporaƟon is taxed as an enƟty separate from its
shareholders. For simplicity, assume BDCC’s income tax due for January 2015 is $500. The adjust-
ing entry is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Income Tax Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 500
Income Tax Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 500

To adjust for January accrued income tax.

When the adjusƟng entry is posted, the accounts appear as follows:

Income Tax Expense Income Tax Payable
..500 ..500

..
Income Tax Expense,
an income statement
account, is created at
January 31.

.
A liability, Income Tax
Payable, is created at
January 31.

The above adjusƟng entry enables the company to match the income tax expense accrued in Jan-
uary to the income earned during the same month.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Accrued
Expenses.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Collec-
Ɵon/Payment of Accrual Adjustments in the Next AccounƟng Period.

The five types of adjustments discussed in the previous paragraphs are summarized in Figure 3.7.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_4AccruedExpensesExp
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_4AccruedExpensesExp
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_6AccrualAdjustment
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_2_6AccrualAdjustment
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..Each of the five steps of adjusƟng entries either
debits an expense or credits a revenue.

.

Adjust Prepaid assets by recording:
Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

Prepaid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
To adjust a Prepaid for the amount used.

.

Adjust Plant and Equipment assets by recording:
DepreciaƟon Expense . . . . . . . . . . . XX

Accumulated DepreciaƟon . . XX
To adjust Plant and Equipment assets for

depreciaƟon.

.

Adjust for Accrued Expenses by recording:
Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

Liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
To accrue an expense.

.

Adjust Unearned liabiliƟes by recording:
Unearned Liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
To adjust an Unearned Liability for the amount

earned.

.

Adjust for Accrued Revenues by recording:
Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
To accrue a revenue.

1. An accrued revenue is a revenue that has been earned but has not yet been collected or recorded.
2. An accrued expense is an expense that has been incurred but has not yet been paid or recorded.

Figure 3.7: Summary of the Five Types of AdjusƟng Entries

3.3 The Adjusted Trial Balance

LO3 – Prepare an
adjusted trial bal-
ance and explain
its use.

In the last secƟon, adjusƟng entries were recorded and posted. As a result,
some account balances reported on the January 31, 2015 unadjusted trial
balance in Figure 2 have changed. Recall that an unadjusted trial balance
reports account balances before adjusƟng entries have been recorded and
posted. An adjusted trial balance reports account balances aŌer adjusƟng
entries have been recorded and posted. Figure 3.8 shows the adjusted trial
balance for BDCC at January 31, 2015.

In Chapters 1 and 2, the preparaƟon of financial statements was demonstrated using BDCC’s unad-
justed trial balance. We now know that an adjusted trial balancemust be used to prepare financial
statements.
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Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Adjusted Trial Balance
At January 31, 2015

Account Balance
Account Debit Credit
Cash $3,700
Accounts receivable 2,400
Prepaid insurance 2,200
Equipment 3,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon – equipment $ 25
Truck 8,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon – truck 100
Bank loan 6,000
Accounts payable 700
Interest payable 18
Unearned repair revenue 100
Income tax payable 500
Share capital 10,000
Dividends 200
Repair revenue 10,700
DepreciaƟon expense – equipment 25
DepreciaƟon expense – truck 100
Rent expense 1,600
Insurance expense 200
Interest expense 18
Salaries expense 3,500
Supplies expense 2,000
Truck operaƟon expense 700
Income tax expense 500
Total debits and credits $28,143 $28,143

Figure 3.8: BDCC’s January 31, 2015 Adjusted Trial Balance

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Adjusted
Trial Balance.

3.4 Using the Adjusted Trial Balance to Prepare Financial State-
ments

LO4 – Use an
adjusted trial
balance to pre-
pare financial
statements.

In the last secƟon, we saw that the adjusted trial balance is prepared af-
ter journalizing and posƟng the adjusƟng entries. This secƟon shows how
financial statements are prepared using the adjusted trial balance.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_3_1AdjTrial
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_3_1AdjTrial
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Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Adjusted Trial Balance

January 31, 2015
Account Balance

Account Debit Credit
Cash ..$ 3,700
Accounts receivable 2,400
Prepaid insurance 2,200
Equipment 3,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon – equipment $ 25
Truck 8,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon – truck 100
Bank loan 6,000
Accounts payable 700
Interest payable 18
Unearned repair revenue 100
Income tax payable ..500
Share capital 10,000
Dividends 200 ..
Repair revenue 10,700
DepreciaƟon expense – equipment 25
DepreciaƟon expense – truck 100
Rent expense 1,600
Insurance expense 200
Interest expense 18
Salaries expense 3,500
Supplies expense 2,000
Truck operaƟon expense 700
Income tax expense 500 ..

Total debits and credits $28,143 $28,143
..

Asset accounts, liability ac-
counts, and the equity ac-
counts from the statement
of changes in equity are
used to prepare the balance
sheet.

.

Share capital, dividends,
and the net income/loss
from the income statement
are used to prepare the
statement of changes in
equity.

.

Revenue and expense ac-
counts are used to prepare
the income statement.

Figure 3.9: BDCC’s January 31, 2015 Adjusted Trial Balance and Links Among Financial State-
ments

The income statement is prepared first, followed by the statement of changes in equity as shown
below.
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Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Adjusted Trial Balance
At January 31, 2015

Account Debit Credit
Cash $ 3,700 Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Accounts receivable 2,400 Income Statement
Prepaid insurance 2,200 For the Month Ended January 31, 2015
Equipment 3,000
Accum. dep. – equipment $ 25 ..Revenues
Truck 8,000 Repair revenue $10,700
Accum. dep. – truck 100
Bank loan 6,000 Expenses
Accounts payable 700 Salaries expense $ 3,500
Interest payable 18 Supplies expense 2,000
Unearned revenue 100 Rent expense 1,600
Income tax payable 500 Truck operaƟng expense 700

..Share capital 10,000 Income tax expense 500
..Dividends 200 Insurance expense 200

Repair revenue ..10,700 Dep. expense – truck 100
Dep. expense – equipment 25 Dep. expense – equipment 25
Dep. expense – truck 100 Interest expense 18
Rent expense 1,600 Total expenses 8,643
Insurance expense 200 ..Net income ..$2,057
Interest expense 18
Salaries expense 3,500 Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Supplies expense 2,000 Statement of Changes in Equity
Truck operaƟon expense 700 For the Month Ended January 31, 2015
Income tax expense ..500

$28,143 $28,143 Share Retained Total
capital earnings equity

Balance at beginning of period $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
..Shares issued 10,000 10,000

..Dividends (200) (200)
Net income ..2,057 2,057
Balance at end of period $10,000 $1,857 $11,857

..

Share capital and dividends are trans-
ferred to the Statement of Changes in
Equity. Dividends is part of retained
earnings because it is a distribuƟon of
net income.

.

Net income is trans-
ferred to the Statement of
Changes in Equity as part
of retained earnings.
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The balance sheet can be prepared once the statement of changes in equity is complete.

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Balance Sheet

Big Dog Carworks Corp. At January 31, 2015
Trial Balance

At January 31, 2015 Assets
..Cash $ 3,700

Account Debit Credit Accounts receivable 2,400
..Cash ..$ 3,700 Prepaid insurance 2,200

Accounts receivable 2,400 Equipment $3,000
Prepaid insurance 2,200 Less: Accum. dep. 25 2,975
Equipment 3,000 Truck $8,000
Accum. dep. – equipment $ 25 Less: Accum. dep. 100 7,900
Truck 8,000 Total assets $19,175
Accum. dep. – truck 100
Bank loan 6,000 LiabiliƟes
Accounts payable 700 Bank loan $ 6,000
Interest payable 18 Accounts payable 700
Unearned revenue 100 Interest payable 18

..Income tax payable ..500 Unearned repair revenue 100
Share capital 10,000 ..Income tax payable 500
Dividends 200 Total liabiliƟes $7,318
Repair revenue 10,700
Dep. expense – equipment 25 Equity
Dep. expense – truck 100 Share capital ..$10,000
Rent expense 1,600 Retained earnings ..1,857
Insurance expense 200 Total equity 11,857
Interest expense 18 Total liabiliƟes and equity $19,175
Salaries expense 3,500
Supplies expense 2,000
Truck operaƟon expense 700
Income tax expense 500

$28,143 $28,143

..

These accounts are used to prepare the Balance Sheet.

.

The share capital and retained earnings
balances are transferred to the balance
sheet from the statement of changes in
equity.
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NoƟce how accumulated depreciaƟon is shown on the balance sheet.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Adjust-
ments and Financial Statements.

3.5 The AccounƟng Cycle

LO5 – IdenƟfy
and explain
the steps in
the accounƟng
cycle.

The concept of the accounƟng cycle was introduced in Chapter 2. The
accounƟng cycle consists of the steps followed each accounƟng period to
prepare financial statements. These eight steps are:

Step 1: TransacƟons are analyzed and recorded in the general journal

Step 2: The journal entries in the general journal are posted to accounts in
the general ledger

Step 3: An unadjusted trial balance is prepared to ensure total debits equal total credits

Step 4: The unadjusted account balances are analyzed and adjusƟng entries are journalized in the
general journal and posted to the general ledger

Step 5: An adjusted trial balance is prepared to prove the equality of debits and credits

Step 6: The adjusted trial balance is used to prepare financial statements

Step 7: Closing entries are journalized and posted

Step 8: Prepare a post-closing trial balance

Steps 1 through 6 were introduced in this and the preceding chapters. Steps 7 and 8 are discussed
in the next secƟon.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Reviewing
the AccounƟng Cycle.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_4_1AdjustFS
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_4_1AdjustFS
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_5_1Order
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_5_1Order
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3.6 The Closing Process

LO6 – Explain the
use of and pre-
pare closing en-
tries and a post-
closing trial bal-
ance.

At the end of a fiscal year, aŌer financial statements have been prepared,
the revenue, expense, and dividend account balances must be zeroed so
that they can begin to accumulate amounts belonging to the new fiscal
year. To accomplish this, closing entries are journalized and posted. Clos-
ing entries transfer each revenue and expense account balance, as well as
any balance in the Dividend account, into retained earnings. Revenues, ex-
penses, and dividends are therefore referred to as temporary accountsbe-
cause their balances are zeroed at the end of each accounƟng period. Bal-
ance sheet accounts, such as retained earnings, are permanent accounts
because they have a conƟnuing balance from one fiscal year to the next.
The closing process transfers temporary account balances into a perma-
nent account, namely retained earnings. The four entries in the closing
process are detailed below.

Entry 1: Close the revenue accounts to the income summary account

A single compound closing entry is used to transfer revenue account balances to the income sum-
mary account. The income summary is a checkpoint: once all revenue and expense account bal-
ances are transferred/closed to the income summary, the balance in the Income Summary account
must be equal to the net income/loss reported on the income statement. If not, the revenues and
expenses were not closed correctly.

Entry 2: Close the expense accounts to the Income Summary account

The expense accounts are closed in one compound closing journal entry to the Income Summary
account. All expense accounts with a debit balance are credited to bring them to zero. Their
balances are transferred to the Income Summary account as an offseƫng debit.

AŌer entries 1 and 2 above are posted to the Income Summary account, the balance in the income
summary must be compared to the net income/loss reported on the income statement. If the
income summary balance does notmatch the net income/loss reported on the income statement,
the revenues and/or expenses were not closed correctly.

Entry 3: Close the income summary to retained earnings

The Income Summary account is closed to the Retained Earnings account. This procedure transfers
the balance in the income summary to retained earnings. Again, the amount closed from the
income summary to retained earnings must always equal the net income/loss as reported on the
income statement.

Note that the Dividend account is not closed to the Income Summary account because dividends
is not an income statement account. The dividend account is closed in Entry 4.

Entry 4: Close dividends to retained earnings
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The Dividend account is closed to the Retained Earnings account. This results in transferring the
balance in dividends, a temporary account, to retained earnings, a permanent account.

The balance in the Income Summary account is transferred to retained earnings because the net
income (or net loss) belongs to the shareholders. The closing entries for Big Dog Carworks Corp.
are shown in Figure 3.10.

GENERAL JOURNAL Page 1
Date DescripƟon F Debit Credit
2015

..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. ..
..

.. .. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. ..

..

.. .. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. .. ..

..

.. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. ..

..

..

Closing Entries

.

Jan.

.

31

.

Repair Revenue

.

1

.

0

.

7

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Income Summary

.

1

.

0

.

7

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To close the revenue account balance.

.

Income Summary

.

8

.

6

.

4

.

3

.

-

.

DepreciaƟon expense – equipment

.

2

.

5

.

-

.

DepreciaƟon expense – truck

.

1

.

0

.

0

.

-

.
Income tax expense

.
5

.
0

.
0

.
-

.Insurance expense .2 .0 .0 .- .
Interest expense

.
1

.
8

.
-

.

Rent expense

.

1

.

6

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Salaries expense

.

3

.

5

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Supplies expense

.

2

.

0

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Truck operaƟon expense

.

7

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To close expense account balances.

.

Income Summary

.

2

.

0

.

5

.

7

.

-

.

Retained earnings

.

2

.

0

.

5

.

7

.

-

.

To close income summary to retained earnings.

.

Retained Earnings

.

2

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

Dividends

.

2

.

0

.

0

.

-

.

To close dividends to retained earnings.

Figure 3.10: Closing Entries

PosƟng the Closing Entries to the General Ledger

When entries 1 and 2 are posted to the general ledger, the balances in all revenue and expense
accounts are transferred to the Income Summary account. The transfer of these balances is shown
in Figure 3.11. NoƟce that a zero balance results for each revenue and expense account aŌer
the closing entries are posted, and there is a $2,057 credit balance in the income summary. The
income summary balance agrees to the net income reported on the income statement.
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1. Closing Expense Accounts 2. Closing Revenue Accounts

Dep. Expense – Equipment Repair Revenue
Bal. 25 ..25 ..10,700 10,700
Bal. -0- -0- Bal.

Dep. Expense – Truck
Bal. 100 ..100
Bal. -0-

Insurance Expense
Bal. 200 ..200
Bal. -0- Income Summary

..8,643 ..10,700
Interest Expense 2,057Bal.

Bal. 18 ..18
Bal. -0-

Rent Expense
Bal. 1,600 ..1,600
Bal. -0-

Salaries Expense
Bal. 3,500 ..3,500
Bal. -0-

Supplies Expense
Bal. 2,000 ..2,000
Bal. -0-

Truck OperaƟon Expense
Bal. 700 ..700
Bal. -0-

Income Taxes Expense
Bal. 500 ..500
Bal. -0-

.

Figure 3.11: Closing Revenue and Expense Accounts

When the income summary is closed to retained earnings in the third closing entry, the $2,057
credit balance in the income summary account is transferred into retained earnings as shown in
Figure 3.12. As a result, the income summary is leŌ with a zero balance.
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3. Closing the Income Summary Account

Income Summary Retained Earnings
8,643 10,700 ..2,057

..2,057 2,057 Bal.
Bal. -0-

.

Figure 3.12: Closing the Income Summary Account

This example demonstrated closing entries when there was a net income. When there is a net
loss, the Income Summary account will have a debit balance aŌer revenues and expenses have
been closed. To close the Income Summary account when there is a net loss, the following closing
entry is required:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Retained Earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To close the net loss, a debit balance in the
income summary, to retained earnings.

Finally, when dividends is closed to retained earnings in the fourth closing entry, the $200 debit
balance in the Dividends account is transferred into retained earnings as shown in Figure 3.13.
AŌer the closing entry is posted, the Dividends account is leŌ with a zero balance and retained
earnings is leŌ with a credit balance of $1,857. NoƟce that the $1,857 must agree to the retained
earnings balance calculated on the statement of changes in equity.

4. Closing the Dividends Account

Dividends Retained Earnings
200 ..200 ..200 2,057

Bal. -0- 1,857 Bal.

.

Figure 3.13: Closing the Dividends Account

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Closing
Entries.

The Post–Closing Trial Balance

A post-closing trial balance is prepared immediately following the posƟng of closing entries. The
purpose is to ensure that the debits and credits in the general ledger are equal and that all tempo-

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_6_1ClosingEntries
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_6_1ClosingEntries
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rary accounts have been closed. The post-closing trial balance for Big Dog Carworks Corp. appears
below.

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Post-Closing Trial Balance

January 31, 2015
Account Balance

Account Debit Credit
Cash ..$ 3,700
Accounts receivable 2,400
Prepaid insurance 2,200
Equipment 3,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon – equipment $ 25
Truck 8,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon – truck 100
Bank loan 6,000
Accounts payable 700
Interest payable 18
Unearned repair revenue 100
Income taxes payable 500
Share capital 10,000
Retained earnings ..1,857

Total debits and credits $19,300 $19,300

..

Only permanent
accounts remain.

Note that only balance sheet accounts, the permanent accounts, have balances and are carried
forward to the next accounƟng year. All temporary accounts begin the new fiscal year with a zero
balance, so they can be used to accumulate amounts belonging to the new Ɵme period.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Closing
Errors.

Summary of Chapter 3 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Explain how the Ɵmeliness, matching, and recogniƟon GAAP require the
recording of adjusƟng entries.

Financial statements must be prepared in a Ɵmely manner, at minimum, once per fiscal year.
For statements to reflect acƟviƟes accurately, revenues and expenses must be recognized and re-
ported in the appropriate accounƟng period. In order to achieve this type of matching, adjusƟng
entries need to be prepared.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_6_2ClosingErrors
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN3_6_2ClosingErrors
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LO2 – Explain the use of and prepare the adjusƟng entries required for prepaid
expenses, depreciaƟon, unearned revenues, accrued revenues, and accrued ex-
penses.

AdjusƟng entries are prepared at the end of an accounƟng period. They allocate revenues and
expenses to the appropriate accounƟng period regardless of when cash was received/paid. The
five types of adjustments are:

Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Prepaid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To adjust prepaid for the amount used/expired. To adjust for accrued expense.

DepreciaƟon Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Accumulated DepreciaƟon. . . . . . . . . . . XX Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To allocate the cost of a plan or equipment To adjust for accrued revenue.
asset over its useful life.

Unearned Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To adjust unearned amounts for amount earned.

LO3 – Prepare an adjusted trial balance and explain its use.

The adjusted trial balance is prepared using the account balances in the general ledger aŌer ad-
jusƟng entries have been posted. Debits must equal credits. The adjusted trial balance is used to
prepare the financial statements.

LO4 – Use an adjusted trial balance to prepare financial statements.

Financial statements are prepared based on adjusted account balances.

LO5 – IdenƟfy and explain the steps in the accounƟng cycle.

The steps in the accounƟng cycle are followed each accounƟng period in the recording and report-
ing of financial transacƟons. The steps are:

1. TransacƟons are analyzed and recorded in the general journal.

2. The journal entries in the general journal are posted to accounts in the general ledger.

3. An unadjusted trial balance is prepared to ensure total debits equal total credits.



Summary of Chapter 3 Learning Objectives 81

4. The unadjusted account balances are analyzed, and adjusƟng entries are journalized in the
general journal and posted to the general ledger.

5. An adjusted trial balance is prepared to prove the equality of debits and credits.

6. The adjusted trial balance is used to prepare financial statements.

7. Closing entries are journalized and posted.

8. Prepare a post-closing trial balance.

LO6 – Explain the use of and prepare closing entries and a post-closing trial bal-
ance.

AŌer the financial statements have been prepared, the temporary account balances (revenues,
expenses, and dividends) are transferred to retained earnings, a permanent account, via closing
entries. The result is that the temporary accounts will have a zero balance and will be ready to
accumulate transacƟons for the next accounƟng period. The four closing entries are:

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To close each revenue to the income summary.

Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To close each expense to the income summary.

Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX OR Retained Earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Retained Earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To close a net income in income summary to To close a net loss in income summary to
retained earnings. retained earnings.

Retained Earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To close dividends to retained earnings.

The post-closing trial balance is prepared aŌer the closing entries have been posted to the gen-
eral ledger. The post-closing trial balance will contain only permanent accounts because all the
temporary accounts have been closed.





...

Chapter 4

.
The Classified Balance Sheet and Related Disclosures

Chapters 1 through 3 discussed and illustrated the steps in the accounƟng cycle. They also dis-
cussed the concepts, assumpƟons, and procedures that provide a framework for financial account-
ing as a whole. Chapter 4 expands upon the content and presentaƟon of financial statements. It
reinforces what has been learned in previous chapters and introduces the classificaƟon or group-
ing of accounts on the balance sheet. Chapter 4 expands on notes to the financial statements,
the auditor’s report, and the management’s responsibility report which are all integral to meeƟng
disclosure requirements.

Chapter 4 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Explain the importance of and challenges related to basic financial statement disclo-
sure.

LO2 – Explain and prepare a classified balance sheet.

LO3 – Explain the purpose and content of notes to financial statements.

LO4 – Explain the purpose and content of the auditor’s report.

LO5 – Explain the purpose and content of the report that describes management’s respon-
sibility for financial statements.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 4.

1. What shapes and limits an accountant’s measurement of wealth?

2. Are financial statements primarily intended for internal or external users?

3. What is a classified balance sheet?

4. What are the classificaƟons within a classified balance sheet?

5. What are current assets?

6. What are non-current assets?

83
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7. What are current liabiliƟes?

8. What are long-term liabiliƟes?

9. What is the current-porƟon of a long-term liability?

10. What is the purpose and content of the notes to the financial statements?

11. What is the purpose and content of the auditor’s report?

12. What is the purpose and content of the report that describes management’s responsibility
for financial statements?

4.1 Financial Statement Disclosure Decisions

LO1 – Explain the
importance of
and challenges
related to basic
financial state-
ment disclosure.

Financial statements communicate informaƟon, with a focus on the needs
of financial statement users such as a company’s investors and creditors.
AccounƟng informaƟon should make it easier for management to allocate
resources and for shareholders to evaluate management. A key objecƟve
of financial statements is to fairly present the enƟty’s economic resources,
obligaƟons, equity, and financial performance.

Fulfilling these objecƟves is challenging. Accountantsmustmake a number of subjecƟve decisions
about how to apply generally accepted accounƟng principles. For example, they must decide how
to measure wealth and how to apply recogniƟon criteria. They must also make pracƟcal cost-
benefit decisions about how much informaƟon is useful to disclose. Some of these decisions are
discussed in the following secƟon.

Making AccounƟng Measurements

Economists oŌen definewealth as an increase or decrease in the enƟty’s ability to purchase goods
and services. Accountants use a more specific measurement—they consider only increases and
decreases resulƟng from actual transacƟons. If a transacƟon has not taken place, they do not
record a change in wealth.

The accountant’smeasurement ofwealth is shaped and limited by the generally accepted account-
ing principles introduced and discussed in Chapter 1, including cost, the monetary unit, the busi-
ness enƟty, Ɵmeliness, recogniƟon, and going concern. These principles mean that accountants
record transacƟons in one currency (for example, dollars). They assume the monetary currency
retains its purchasing power. Changes in market values of assets are generally not recorded. The
enƟty is expected to conƟnue operaƟng into the foreseeable future.
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Economists, on the other hand, do recognize changes in market value. For example, if an enƟty
purchased land for $100,000 that subsequently increased in value to $125,000, economists would
recognize a $25,000 increase in wealth. InternaƟonal Financial ReporƟng Standards generally do
not recognize this increase unƟl the enƟty actually disposes of the asset; accountants would con-
Ɵnue to value the land at its $100,000 purchase cost. This pracƟce is based on the applicaƟon of
the cost principle, which is a part of GAAP.

Economic wealth is also affected by changes in the purchasing power of the dollar. For example,
if the enƟty has cash of $50,000 at the beginning of a Ɵme period and purchasing power drops
by 10% because of inflaƟon, the enƟty has lost wealth because the $50,000 can purchase only
$45,000 of goods and services. Conversely, the enƟty gains wealth if purchasing power increases
by 10%. In this case, the same $50,000 can purchase $55,000 worth of goods and services. How-
ever, accountants do not record any changes because the monetary unit principle assumes that
the currency unit is a stable measure.

QualiƟes of AccounƟng InformaƟon

Financial statements are focused primarily on the needs of external users. To provide informaƟon
to these users, accountants make cost-benefit judgments. They use materiality consideraƟons
to decide how parƟcular items of informaƟon should be recorded and disclosed. For example,
if the costs associated with financial informaƟon preparaƟon are too high or if an amount is not
sufficiently large or important, a businessmight implement amateriality policy for various types of
asset purchases to guide how such costs are to be recorded. For example, a business might have
a materiality policy for the purchase of office equipment whereby anything cosƟng $100 or less
is expensed immediately instead of recorded as an asset. In this type of situaƟon, purchases of
$100 or less are recorded as an expense instead of an asset to avoid having to record depreciaƟon
expense, a cost-benefit consideraƟon that will not impact decisions made by external users of the
business’s financial statements.

Accountantsmust alsomake decisions based onwhether informaƟon is useful. Is it comparable to
prior periods? Is it verifiable? Is it presented with clarity and conciseness to make it understand-
able? Readers’ percepƟon of the usefulness of accounƟng informaƟon is determined by how well
those who prepare financial statements address these qualitaƟve consideraƟons.

4.2 Classified Balance Sheet

LO2 – Explain
and prepare a
classified balance
sheet.

The accounƟng cycle and double-entry accounƟng have been the focus
of the preceding chapters. This chapter focuses on the presentaƟon of
financial statements, including how financial informaƟon is classified (the
way accounts are grouped) and what is disclosed.
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A common order for the presentaƟon of financial statements is:

1. Income statement

2. Statement of changes in equity

3. Balance sheet

4. Statement of cash flows

5. Notes to the financial statements

In addiƟon, the financial statements are oŌen accompanied by an auditor’s report and a state-
ment enƟtled “Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements.” Each of these items will
be discussed below. Financial statement informaƟon must be disclosed for the most recent year
with the prior year for comparison.

Because external users of financial statements have no access to the enƟty’s accounƟng records, it
is important that financial statements be organized in a manner that is easy to understand. Thus,
financial data are grouped into useful, similar categories within classified financial statements, as
discussed below.

The Classified Balance Sheet

A classified balance sheet organizes the asset and liability accounts into categories. The previous
chapters used an unclassified balance sheet which included only three broad account groupings:
assets, liabiliƟes, and equity. The classificaƟon of asset and liability accounts into meaningful
categories is designed to facilitate the analysis of balance sheet informaƟon by external users.
Assets and liabiliƟes are classified as either current or non-current. Another common term for
non-current is long-term. Non-current assets, also referred to as long-termassets, can be classified
further into long-term investments; property, plant and equipment; and intangible assets. The
asset and liability classificaƟons are summarized below:

Assets LiabiliƟes

Non-current or long-term assets: Non-current or long-term liabiliƟes

Long-term investments

Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

Intangible assets
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Current Assets

Current assets are those resources that the enƟty expects to convert to cash, or to consumeduring
the next year or within the operaƟng cycle of the enƟty, whichever is longer. Examples of current
assets include:

• cash, comprising paper currency and coins, deposits at banks, cheques, and money orders.

• short-term investments, the investment of cash that will not be needed immediately, in
short-term, interest-bearing notes that are easily converƟble into cash.

• accounts receivable that are due to be collected within one year.

• notes receivable, usually formalized account receivables—wriƩen promises to pay specified
amounts with interest, and due to be collected within one year.

• merchandise inventory that is expected to be sold within one year.

The current asset category also includes accounts whose future benefits are expected to expire in
a short period of Ɵme. These are not expected to be converted into cash, and include:

• prepaid expenses that will expire within the next year, usually consisƟng of advance pay-
ments for insurance, rent, and other similar items.

• supplies on hand at the end of an accounƟng year that will be used during the next year.

On the balance sheet, current assets are normally reported before non-current assets. They are
listed by decreasing levels of liquidity—their ability to be converted into cash. Therefore, cash
appears first under the current asset heading since it is already liquid.

Non-current Assets

Non-current assets are assets that will be useful for more than one year; they are someƟmes
referred to as long-lived assets. Non-current assets include property, plant, and equipment (PPE)
items used in the operaƟons of the business. Some examples of PPE are: a) land, b) buildings, c)
equipment, and d) motor vehicles such as trucks.

Other types of non-current assets include long-term investments and intangible assets. Long-term
investments are held for more than one year or the operaƟng cycle and include long-term notes
receivable and investments in shares and bonds. Intangible assets are resources that do not have
a physical form and whose value comes from the rights held by the owner. They are used over the
long term to produce or sell products and services and include copyrights, patents, trademarks,
and franchises.
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Current LiabiliƟes

Current liabiliƟes are obligaƟons thatmust be paidwithin the next 12months orwithin the enƟty’s
next operaƟng cycle, whichever is longer. They are shown first in the liabiliƟes secƟon of the
balance sheet and listed in order of their due dates, with any bank loans shown first. Examples of
current liabiliƟes include:

• bank loans (or notes payable) that are payable on demand or duewithin the next 12months

• accounts payable

• accrued liabiliƟes such as interest payable and wages payable

• unearned revenue

• the current porƟon of long-term liabiliƟes

• income taxes payable.

The current porƟon of a long-term liability is the principal amount of a long-term liability that
is to be paid within the next 12 months. For example, assume a $24,000 note payable issued on
January 1, 2015 where principal is repaid at the rate of $1,000 per month over two years. The
current porƟon of this note on the January 31, 2015 balance sheet would be $12,000 (calculated
as 12 months X $1,000/month). The remaining principal would be reported on the balance sheet
as a long-term liability.

Non-Current or Long-Term LiabiliƟes

Non-current liabiliƟes, also referred to as long-term liabiliƟes, are borrowings that do not require
repayment for more than one year, such as the long-term porƟon of a bank loan or a mortgage. A
mortgage is a liability that is secured by real estate.

Equity

The equity secƟon of the classified balance sheet consists of two major accounts: share capital
and retained earnings.

The following illustrates the presentaƟon of Big Dog Carworks Corp.’s classified balance sheet aŌer
several years of operaƟon.
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Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Balance Sheet

At December 31, 2018
Assets LiabiliƟes

2018 2017 2018 2017
Current assets Current liabiliƟes
Cash $ 10,800 $ 12,000 Borrowings (Note 5) $ 39,000 $ 82,250
Accounts receivable 26,000 24,000 Accounts payable 24,000 22,000
Merchandise inventories 120,000 100,000 Income taxes payable 15,000 10,000
Prepaid expenses 1,200 570 Total current liabiliƟes $ 78,000 $114,250
Total current assets $158,000 $136,570

Property, plant, and
equipment ..(Note 4) 126,645 10,430

Long-term liabiliƟes
Borrowings (Note 5) 163,145 -0-

Total liabiliƟes $241,145 $114,250

Equity
Share capital ..(Note 6) $ 11,000 $ 11,000
Retained earnings 32,500 21,750

Total equity 43,500 32,750
Total assets $284,645 $147,000 Total liabiliƟes and equity $284,645 $147,000

..

Notes are included at the end of the
financial statements. Among other pur-
poses, they provide details about a par-
Ɵcular category on the balance sheet or
income statement.

The balance sheet can be presented in the account form balance sheet, as shown above where
liabiliƟes and equiƟes are presented to the right of the assets. An alternaƟve is the report form
balance sheet where liabiliƟes and equity are presented below the assets.

The Classified Income Statement

Recall that the income statement summarizes a company’s revenues less expenses over a period
of Ɵme. An income statement for BDCC was presented in Chapter 1 as copied below.

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Income Statement

For the Month Ended January 31, 2015
Revenues

Repair revenues $10,000
Expenses

Rent expense $1,600
Salaries expense 3,500
Supplies expense 2,000
Fuel expense 700
Total expenses 7,800

Net income $2,200
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The format used abovewas sufficient to disclose relevant financial informaƟon for Big Dog’s simple
start-up operaƟons. Like the classifiedbalance sheet, an income statement canbe classified aswell
as prepared with comparaƟve informaƟon. The classified income statement will be discussed in
detail in Chapter 5.

Regardless of the type of financial statement, any items that arematerialmust be disclosed sepa-
rately so users will not otherwise be misled. Materiality is a maƩer for judgment. Office supplies
of $2,000 per month used by BDCC in January 2015 might be a material amount and therefore
disclosed as a separate item on the income statement for the month ended January 31, 2015. If
annual revenues grew to $1 million, $2,000 per month for supplies might be considered immate-
rial. These expenditures would then be grouped with other similar items and disclosed as a single
amount.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Classified
Balance Sheets.

4.3 Notes to Financial Statements

LO3 – Explain
the purpose
and content of
notes to financial
statements.

As an integral part of its financial statements, a company provides notes
to the financial statements. In accordance with the disclosure principle,
notes to the financial statements provide relevant details that are not in-
cluded in the body of the financial statements. For instance, details about
property, plant, and equipment are shown in Note 4 in the following sam-
ple notes to the financial statements. The notes help external users un-
derstand and analyze the financial statements.

Although a detailed discussion of disclosures that might be included as part of the notes is beyond
the scope of an introductory financial accounƟng course, a simplified example of note disclosure
is shown below for Big Dog Carworks Corp.

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

1. Nature of operaƟons
The principal acƟvity of Big Dog Carworks Corp. is the servicing and repair of vehicles.

2. General informaƟon and statement of compliance with IFRS
Big Dog Carworks Corp. is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Canada.
Its registered office and principal place of business is 123 Fox Street, Owlseye, Alberta, T1K
0L1, Canada. Big Dog Carworks Corp.’s shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN4_2_1Classify
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN4_2_1Classify
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The financial statements of Big Dog Carworks Inc. have been prepared in accordance with
InternaƟonal Financial ReporƟng Standards (IFRS) as issued the InternaƟonal AccounƟng
Standards Boards (IASB).

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 were approved and autho-
rised for issue by the board of directors on March 17, 2019.

3. Summary of accounƟng policies
The financial statements have been prepared using the significant accounƟng policies and
measurement bases summarized below.

(a) Revenue
Revenue arises from the rendering of service. It is measured by reference to the fair
value of consideraƟon received or receivable.

(b) OperaƟng expenses
OperaƟng expenses are recognized in the income statement upon uƟlizaƟon of the
service or at the date of their origin.

(c) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly aƩributable to the acquisiƟon, construcƟon, or producƟon of
property, plant, and equipment are capitalized during the period of Ɵme that is neces-
sary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported as interest
expense.

(d) Property, plant, and equipment
Land held for use in producƟon or administraƟon is stated at cost. Other property,
plant, and equipment are iniƟally recognized at acquisiƟon cost plus any costs directly
aƩributable to bringing the assets to the locaƟons and condiƟons necessary to be em-
ployed in operaƟons. They are subsequently measured using the cost model: cost less
subsequent depreciaƟon.
DepreciaƟon is recognized on a straight-line basis to write down the cost, net of esƟ-
mated residual value. The following useful lives are applied:

Buildings: 25 years
Equipment: 10 years
Truck: 5 years

Residual value esƟmates and esƟmates of useful life are updated at least annually.

(e) Income taxes
Current income tax liabiliƟes comprise those obligaƟons to fiscal authoriƟes relaƟng
to the current or prior reporƟng periods that are unpaid at the reporƟng date. Calcu-
laƟon of current taxes is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substanƟvely enacted by the end of the reporƟng period.

(f) Share capital
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.
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(g) EsƟmaƟon uncertainty
When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of judg-
ments, esƟmates, and assumpƟons about the recogniƟon andmeasurement of assets,
liabiliƟes, income, and expenses. InformaƟon about esƟmates and assumpƟons that
have the most significant effect on recogniƟon and measurement of assets, liabiliƟes,
income, and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substanƟally different.

4. Property, plant, and equipment

Details of the company’s property, plant, and equipment and their carrying amounts at De-
cember 31 are as follows:

2018 2017
Land Building Equip. Truck Total Total

Gross Carrying Amount
Balance, January 1 $ -0- $ -0- $3,000 $8,000 $ 11,000 $11,000
AddiƟons 30,000 90,000 120,000
Balance, January 31 30,000 90,000 3,000 8,000 131,000 11,000

DepreciaƟon
Balance, January 1 -0- 90 480 570 285
DepreciaƟon for year 3,500 45 240 3,785 285
Balance, December 31 3,500 135 720 4,355 570

Carrying Amount
December 31 $30,000 $86,500 $2,865 $7,280 ..$126,645 ..$ 10,430

..

These amounts agree
to the amount of PPE
shown in the assets sec-
Ɵon of BDCC’s balance
sheet.

5. Borrowings

Borrowings include the following financial liabiliƟes measured at cost:

Current Non-Current
2018 2017 2018 2017

Demand blank loan $ 20,000 $ 52,250 $ -0- $ -0-
Subordinated shareholder loan 13,762 30,000 -0- -0-
Mortgage 5,238 -0- 163,145 -0-
Total carrying amount $39,000 $82,250 $163,145 $ -0-

The bank loan is due on demand and bears interest at 6% per year. It is secured by accounts
receivable and inventories of the company.

The shareholder loan is due on demand, non-interest bearing, and unsecured.
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The mortgage is payable to First Bank of Capitalville. It bears interest at 5% per year and
is amorƟzed over 25 years. Monthly payments including interest are $960. It is secured by
land and buildings owned by the company. The terms of the mortgage will be re-negoƟated
in 2021.

6. Share capital

The share capital of Big Dog Carworks Corp. consists of fully-paid common shares with a
stated value of $1 each. All shares are eligible to receive dividends, have their capital repaid,
and represent one vote at the annual shareholders’ meeƟng. There were no shares issued
during 2017 or 2018.

4.4 Auditor’s Report

LO4 – Explain the
purpose and con-
tent of the audi-
tor’s report.

Financial statements are oŌen accompanied by an auditor’s reportAudi-
tor’s report. An audit is an external examinaƟon of a company’s financial
statement informaƟon and its system of internal controls.

Internal controls are the processes insƟtuted by management of a com-
pany to direct, monitor, and measure the accomplishment of its objec-
Ɵves. This includes the prevenƟon and detecƟon of fraud and error. An au-
dit seeks not certainty, but reasonable assurance that the financial state-
ment informaƟon is not materially misstated.

The auditor’s report is a structured statement issued by an independent examiner, usually a pro-
fessional accountant, who is contracted by the company to report the audit’s findings to the com-
pany’s board of directors. An audit report provides some assurance to present and potenƟal in-
vestors and creditors that the company’s financial statements are trustworthy. Therefore, it is a
useful means to reduce the risk of their financial decisions.

An example of an unqualified auditor’s report for BDCC is shown below, along with a brief descrip-
Ɵon of each component. Put in simple terms, an unqualified auditor’s report indicates that the
financial statements are truthful and a qualified auditor’s report is one that indicates the financial
statements are not or may not be truthful.
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..INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

..The Board of Directors of Big Dog Carworks Corp.
..Owiseye, Alberta

..I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Big Dog Carworks
Corp., which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2018, the
income statement, statement of changes in equity, and statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of ..significant accounƟng
policies and other explanatory informaƟon.

Management Responsibility for the Financial Statements

..Management is responsible for the preparaƟon and fair presentaƟon of
these financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounƟng principles, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparaƟon of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, ..whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

..My responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based
on my audit. I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted audiƟng standards. Those standards require that I comply with
ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the ..financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
..An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the enƟty’s preparaƟon and fair presentaƟon of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effecƟveness of the enƟty’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluaƟon of the appropriateness of accounƟng policies used and
the reasonableness of accounƟng esƟmates made by management, as well
as evaluaƟng the overall presentaƟon of the ..financial statement.

..I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and
..appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

..In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material aspects,
the financial posiƟon of Big Dog Carworks Corp. as at December 31, 2016,
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian generally ..accepted accounƟng principles.

..(signed)
H. K. Walker, CPA
March 15, 2019

..Anywhereville, AB..

The audit report is addressed to
the board.

.

The audited informaƟon is de-
scribed.

.

Management’s responsibiliƟes are
described.

.

The auditor’s responsibiliƟes
and the audit standards are de-
scribed.

.

The audit procedures are de-
scribed in general terms.

.

A conclusion about the adequacy
of audit evidence is stated.

.

An opinion is expressed about
the financial statement informa-
Ɵon.

.

The report is signed by the audi-
tor and dated.

.

The auditor’s independence from
the company is stated.
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4.5 Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements

LO5 – Explain the
purpose and con-
tent of the report
that describes
management’s
responsibility
for financial
statements.

The final piece of informaƟon oŌen included with the annual financial
statements is a statement describing management’s responsibility for the
accurate preparaƟon and presentaƟon of financial statements. This state-
ment underscores the division of duƟes involvedwith the publicaƟon of fi-
nancial statements. Management is responsible for preparing the financial
statements, including esƟmates that underlie the accounƟng numbers. An
example of an esƟmate is the useful life of long-lived assets in calculaƟng
depreciaƟon.

The independent auditor is responsible for examining the financial statement informaƟon as pre-
pared by management, including the reasonableness of esƟmates, and then expressing an opin-
ion on their accuracy. In some cases, the auditor may assist management with aspects of financial
statement preparaƟon. For instance, the auditor may provide guidance on how a new accounƟng
standard will affect financial statement presentaƟon or other informaƟon disclosure. UlƟmately,
however, the preparaƟon of financial statements is management’s responsibility.

An example of a statement describing management’s responsibility for the preparaƟon and pre-
sentaƟon of annual financial statements is shown below.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

..The accompanying financial statements of the company are the
responsibility of management. The financial statements were prepared by
management in accordance with accounƟng principles generally accepted
in Canada, applied on a consistent basis, and conform in all material
respects with InternaƟonal AccounƟng Standards. The significant
accounƟng policies, which management believes are appropriate for the
company, are described in Note 3 to the ..financial statements.

..Management is responsible for the integrity and objecƟvity of the financial
statements. EsƟmates are necessary in the preparaƟon of these statements
and, based on careful judgements, have been properly reflected.
Management has established systems of internal control that are designed
to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded from loss or
unauthorized use, and to produce reliable accounƟng records for the
preparaƟon of financial ..informaƟon...

Management’s responsibility for
all aspects of financial statement
presentaƟon and disclosure is
expressly stated.

.

Management’s responsibility for
esƟmates used and maintenance
of internal controls is acknowl-
edged.
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..The board of directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils
its responsibiliƟes for financial reporƟng and internal control. The audit
commiƩee of the board, which is comprised solely of directors who are not
employees of the company, is appointed by the board of directors annually.
The audit commiƩee of the board meets regularly with financial
management of the company and with the shareholders’ independent
auditor to discuss internal controls, audit maƩers, including audit scope and
auditor remuneraƟon, and financial reporƟng issues. The independent
shareholders’ auditor has unrestricted access to the audit commiƩee. The
audit commiƩee reviews the annual financial statements and reporƟng to
the board, and makes recommendaƟons with respect to their acceptance.
The audit commiƩee also makes recommendaƟons to the board with
respect to the appointment and remuneraƟon of the company’s audito ..r.

..Management recognizes its responsibility for conducƟng the company’s
affairs in compliance with established financial standards and applicable
laws, and maintains proper standards of conduct for its acƟviƟe ..s.

..(signed)
Bill Brown II, Chief Financial Officer

..March 3, 2019 ..

The board of directors’ and audit
commiƩee’s respecƟve roles are
explained.

.

Management acknowledges its
obligaƟon to oversee all aspects
of the company’s operaƟons in a
legal and ethical manner.

.

The officer responsible for the
financial affairs of the company
signs and dates the statement.

Summary of Chapter 4 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Explain the importance of and challenges related to basic financial state-
ment disclosure.

The objecƟve of financial statements is to communicate informaƟon tomeet the needs of external
users. In addiƟon to recording and reporƟng verifiable financial informaƟon, accountants make
decisions regarding how to measure transacƟons. Applying GAAP can present challenges when
judgment must be applied as in the case of cost-benefit decisions and materiality.

LO2 – Explain and prepare a classified balance sheet.

A classified balance sheet groups assets and liabiliƟes as follows:
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Assets: LiabiliƟes:
Current assets Current liabiliƟes
Non-current assets:

• Property, plant, and equipment

• Long-term investments

• Intangible assets

Non-current or long-term liabiliƟes

Current assets are those that are used within one year or one operaƟng cycle, whichever is longer,
and include cash, accounts receivables, and supplies. Non-current assets are used beyond one
year or one operaƟng cycle. There are three types of non-current assets: property, plant, and
equipment (PPE), long-term investments, and intangible assets. Long-term investments include
investments in shares and bonds. Intangible assets are rights held by the owner and do not have
a physical substance; they include copyrights, patents, franchises, and trademarks. Current liabili-
Ɵes must be paid within one year or one operaƟng cycle, whichever is longer. Long-term liabiliƟes
are paid beyond one year or one operaƟng cycle. Income statements are also classified (discussed
in Chapter 5).

LO3 – Explain the purpose and content of notes to financial statements.

In accordance with the GAAP principle of full disclosure, relevant details not contained in the body
of financial statements are included in the accompanying notes to financial statements. Notes
would include a summary of accounƟng policies, details regarding property, plant, and equipment
assets, and specifics about liabiliƟes such as the interest rates and repayment terms.

LO4 – Explain the purpose and content of the auditor’s report.

An audit as it relates to the auditor’s report is an external examinaƟon of a company’s financial
statement informaƟon and its system of internal controls. Internal controls are the processes in-
sƟtuted by management of a company to direct, monitor, and measure the accomplishment of its
objecƟves including the prevenƟon and detecƟon of fraud and error. The auditor’s report provides
some assurance that the financial statements are trustworthy. In simple terms, an unqualified au-
ditor’s report indicates that the financial statements are truthful and a qualified auditor’s report
is one that indicates the financial statements are not or may not be truthful.
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LO5 – Explain the purpose and content of the report that describes manage-
ment’s responsibility for financial statements.

This report makes a statement describing management’s responsibility for the accurate prepara-
Ɵon and presentaƟon of financial statements.



...

Chapter 5

.
AccounƟng for the Sale of Goods

To this point, examples of business operaƟons have involved the sale of services. This chapter in-
troduces business operaƟons based on the purchase and resale of goods. For example, Canadian
Tire and Walmart each purchase and resell goods—such businesses are known as merchandis-
ers. The accounƟng transacƟons for merchandising companies differ from those of service-based
businesses. Chapter 5 covers accounƟng for transacƟons of sales of goods on credit and related
cash collecƟons by merchandising firms, and transacƟons involving purchases and payments for
goods sold in the normal course of business acƟviƟes.

Chapter 5 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 –Describemerchandising and explain the financial statement components of sales, cost
of goods sold, merchandise inventory, and gross profit; differenƟate between the perpetual
and periodic inventory systems.

LO2 – Analyze and record purchase transacƟons for a merchandiser.

LO3 – Analyze and record sales transacƟons for a merchandiser.

LO4 – Record adjustments to merchandise inventory.

LO5 – Explain and prepare a classified mulƟple-step income statement for a merchandiser.

LO6 – Explain the closing process for a merchandiser.

LO7 – Explain and idenƟfy the entries regarding purchase and sales transacƟons in a periodic
inventory system.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following quesƟons as a self-check while working through Chapter 5.

1. What is gross profit and how is it calculated?

2. How is a merchandiser different from a service company?

3. What is a perpetual inventory system?

4. How is the purchase of merchandise inventory on credit recorded in a perpetual system?

99
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5. How is a purchase return recorded in a perpetual system?

6. What does the credit term of “1/15, n30” mean?

7. How is a purchase discount recorded in a perpetual system?

8. How is the sale of merchandise inventory on credit recorded in a perpetual system?

9. How is a sales return that is restored to inventory recorded versus a sales return that is not
restored to inventory (assuming a perpetual inventory system)?

10. What is a sales discount and how is it recorded in a perpetual inventory system?

11. Why does merchandise inventory need to be adjusted at the end of the accounƟng period
and how is this done in a perpetual inventory system?

12. What types of transacƟons affect merchandise inventory in a perpetual inventory system?

13. How are the closing entries for a merchandiser using a perpetual inventory system different
than for a service company?

14. When reporƟng expenses on an income statement, how is the funcƟon of an expense re-
ported versus the nature of an expense?

15. On a classified mulƟple-step income statement, what is reported under the heading ‘Other
revenues and expenses’ and why?

16. What is the periodic inventory system?

17. How is cost of goods sold calculated under the periodic inventory system?
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5.1 The Basics of Merchandising

LO1 – Describe
merchandising
and explain
the financial
statement com-
ponents of sales,
cost of goods
sold, merchan-
dise inventory,
and gross profit;
differenƟate
between the
perpetual and
periodic inven-
tory systems.

A merchandising company, or merchandiser, differs in several basic ways
from a company that provides services. First, a merchandiser purchases
and then sells goods whereas a service company sells services. For exam-
ple, a car dealership is a merchandiser that sells cars while an airline is a
service company that sells air travel. Because merchandising involves the
purchase and then the resale of goods, an expense called cost of goods
sold results. Cost of goods sold is the cost of the actual goods sold. For
example, the cost of goods sold for a car dealership would be the cost of
the cars purchased from manufacturers and then resold to customers. A
service company does not have an expense called cost of goods sold since
it does not sell goods. Because a merchandiser has cost of goods sold
expense and a service business does not, the income statement for a mer-
chandiser includes different details. A merchandising income statement
highlights cost of goods sold by showing the difference between sales rev-
enue and cost of goods sold called gross profit or gross margin. The basic
income statement differences between a service business and a merchan-
diser are illustrated in Figure 5.1.

Service Company Merchandising Company

Revenues Sales

Less: Cost of Goods Sold

Equals: Gross Profit

Less: Expenses Less: Expenses

Equals: Net Income Equals: Net Income

Figure 5.1: Differences Between the Income Statements of Service and Merchandising Compa-
nies

Assume that Excel Cars CorporaƟon decides to go into the business of buying used vehicles from
a supplier and reselling these to customers. If Excel purchases a vehicle for $3,000 and then sells
it for $4,000, the gross profit would be $1,000, as follows:

Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,000
Cost of Goods Sold . . . . 3,000

Gross Profit . . . . . . . . $ 1,000
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The word “gross” is used by accountants to indicate that other expenses incurred in running the
business must sƟll be deducted from this amount before net income is calculated. In other words,
gross profit represents the amount of sales revenue that remains to pay expenses aŌer the cost
of the goods sold is deducted.

A gross profit percentage can be calculated to express the relaƟonship of gross profit to sales.
The sale of the vehicle that cost $3,000 results in a 25% gross profit percentage ($1,000/4,000).
That is, for every $1 of sales, the company has $.25 leŌ to cover other expenses aŌer deducƟng
cost of goods sold. Readers of financial statements use this percentage as a means to evaluate
the performance of one company against other companies in the same industry, or in the same
company from year to year. Small fluctuaƟons in the gross profit percentage can have significant
effects on the financial performance of a company because the amount of sales and cost of goods
sold are oŌen very large in comparison to other income statement items.

Another difference between a service company and a merchandiser relates to the balance sheet.
A merchandiser purchases goods for resale. Goods held for resale by a merchandiser are called
merchandise inventory and are reported as an asset on the balance sheet. A service company
would not normally have merchandise inventory.

Inventory Systems

There are two types ofways inwhich inventory ismanaged: perpetual inventory systemor periodic
inventory system. In a perpetual inventory system, the merchandise inventory account and cost
of goods sold account are updated immediately when transacƟons occur. In a perpetual system,
as merchandise inventory is purchased, it is debited to the merchandise inventory account. As
inventory is sold to customers, the cost of the inventory sold is removed from the merchandise
inventory account and debited to the cost of goods sold account. A perpetual system means that
account balances are known on a real-Ɵme basis. This chapter focuses on the perpetual system.

Some businesses sƟll use a periodic inventory system in which the purchase of merchandise in-
ventory is debited to a temporary account called Purchases. At the end of the accounƟng period,
inventory is counted (known as a physical count) and the merchandise inventory account is up-
dated and cost of goods sold is calculated. In a periodic inventory system, the real-Ɵme balances
in merchandise inventory and cost of goods sold are not known. It should be noted that even in
a perpetual system a physical count must be performed at the end of the accounƟng period to
record differences between the actual inventory on hand and the account balance. The entry to
record this difference is discussed later in this chapter. The periodic system is discussed in greater
detail in the appendix to this chapter.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Using
the InformaƟon – Gross Profit RaƟo.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN5_1_1GrossMargin
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN5_1_1GrossMargin
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5.2 The Purchase and Payment of Merchandise Inventory (Per-
petual)

LO2 – Analyze
and record
purchase trans-
acƟons for a
merchandiser.

As introduced in Chapter 3, a company’s operaƟng cycle includes purchases
on account or on credit and is highlighted in Figure 5.2.

..

..Inventory is
purchased.

.

A liability is incurred.

.

Cash payment to supplier is made.

.

Inventory sold to customer.

.

Accounts receivable result.

.Cash is collected
from customer.

.

One OperaƟng Cycle

.

Time

Figure 5.2: Purchase and Payment PorƟon of the OperaƟng Cycle

Recording the Purchase of Merchandise Inventory (Perpetual)

When merchandise inventory is purchased, the cost is recorded in a Merchandise Inventory gen-
eral ledger account. An account payable results when the merchandise inventory is acquired but
will not be paid in cash unƟl a later date. For example, recall the vehicle purchased on account by
Excel for $3,000. The journal entry and general ledger T-account effects would be as follows.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,000
Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,000

To record the purchase ofmerchandise in-
ventory on account.

In addiƟon to the purchase of merchandise inventory, there are other acƟviƟes that affect the
Merchandise Inventory account. For instance, merchandise may occasionally be returned to a
supplier or damaged in transit, or discounts may be earned for prompt cash payment. These
transacƟons result in the reducƟon of amounts due to the supplier and the costs of inventory. The
purchase of merchandise inventory may also involve the payment of transportaƟon and handling
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costs. These are all costs necessary to prepare inventory for sale, and all such costs are included
in the Merchandise Inventory account. These costs are discussed in the following secƟons.

Purchase Returns and Allowances (Perpetual)

Assume that the vehicle purchased by Excel turned out to be the wrong colour. The supplier was
contacted and agreed to reduce the price by $300 to $2,700. This is an example of a purchase
returns and allowances adjustment. The amount of the allowance, or reducƟon, is recorded as a
credit to the Merchandise Inventory account, as follows:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 300
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 300

To record purchase allowance; incorrect
colour.

Note that the cost of the vehicle has been reduced to $2,700 ($3,000 – 300) as has the amount
owing to the supplier. Again, the perpetual inventory system records changes in the Merchandise
Inventory account each Ɵme a relevant transacƟon occurs.

Purchase Discounts (Perpetual)

Purchase discounts affect the purchase price of merchandise if payment is made within a Ɵme
period specified in the supplier’s invoice. For example, if the terms on the $3,000 invoice for one
vehicle received by Excel indicates “1/15, n45”, this means that the $3,000 must be paid within 45
days (‘n’ = net). However, if cash payment is made by Excel within 15 days, the purchase price will
be reduced by 1%.

Assuming the amount is paid within 15 days, the supplier’s terms enƟtle Excel to deduct $27
[($3,000 - $300) = $2,700 x 1% = $27]. The payment to the supplier would be recorded as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,700
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,673

To record payment on account within the
discount period.

The cost of the vehicle in Excel’s inventory records is now $2,673 ($3,000 – 300 – 27). If payment
is made aŌer the discount period, $2,700 of cash is paid and the entry would be:
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,700
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,700

To record payment of account; no pur-
chase discount applied.

Trade discounts are similar to purchase discounts. A supplier adverƟses a list price which is the
normal selling price of its goods to merchandisers. Trade discounts are given by suppliers to mer-
chandisers that buy a large quanƟty of goods. For instance, assume a supplier offers a 10% trade
discount on purchases of 1,000 units or more where the list price is $1/unit. If Beta Merchandiser
Corp. buys 1,000 units on account, the entry in Beta’s records would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 900
Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 900

To record purchase on account; 10% trade
discount ($1,000 – 10% = $900).

Note that the net amount (list price less trade discount) is recorded.

TransportaƟon

Costs to transport goods from the supplier to the seller must also be considered when recording
the cost of merchandise inventory. The shipping terms on the invoice idenƟfy the point at which
ownership of the inventory transfers from the supplier to the purchaser. When the terms are
FOB shipping point, ownership transfers at the ‘shipping point’ so the purchaser is responsible for
transportaƟon costs. FOB desƟnaƟon indicates that ownership transfers at the ‘desƟnaƟon point’
so the seller is responsible for transportaƟon costs. FOB is the abbreviaƟon for “free on board.”

Assume that Excel’s supplier sells with terms of FOB shipping point indicaƟng that transportaƟon
costs are Excel’s responsibility. If the cost of shipping is $125 and this amount was paid in cash to
the truck driver at Ɵme of delivery, the entry would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 125
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 125

To record shipping costs on inventory pur-
chased.

The cost of the vehicle in the Excel Merchandise Inventory account is now $2,798 (calculated as
$3,000 original cost - $300 allowance - $27 discount + $125 shipping). It is important to note that
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Excel’s transportaƟon costs to deliver goods to customers are recorded as delivery expenses and
do not affect the Merchandise Inventory account.

The next secƟon describes how the sale of merchandise is recorded as well as the related costs of
items sold.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Pur-
chases.

5.3 Merchandise Inventory: Sales and CollecƟon (Perpetual)

LO3 – Analyze
and record sales
transacƟons for a
merchandiser.

In addiƟon to purchases on account, amerchandising company’s operaƟng
cycle includes the sale of merchandise inventory on account or on credit
as highlighted in Figure 5.3.

..

..Inventory is
purchased.

.

A liability is incurred.

.

Cash payment to supplier is made.

.

Inventory sold to customer.

.

Accounts receivable result.

.Cash is collected
from customer.

.

One OperaƟng Cycle

.

Time

Figure 5.3: Sales and CollecƟon PorƟon of the OperaƟng Cycle

There are some slight recording differences when revenue is earned in a merchandising company.
These are discussed below.

Recording the Sale of Merchandise Inventory (Perpetual)

The sale of merchandise inventory is recorded with two entries:

1. recording the sale by debiƟng Cash or Accounts Receivable and crediƟng Sales, and

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN5_2_1MerchandisePurchases
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN5_2_1MerchandisePurchases
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2. recording the cost of the sale by debiƟng Cost of Goods Sold and crediƟng Merchandise
Inventory.

Assume the vehicle purchased by Excel is sold for $4,000 on account. Recall that the cost of this
vehicle in the Excel Merchandise Inventory account is $2,798, as shown below.

The entries to record the sale of the merchandise inventory are:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,000
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,000

To record the sale of merchandise on ac-
count.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,798
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,798

To record the cost of the sale.

The first entry records the sales revenue. The second entry is required to reduce theMerchandise
Inventory account and transfer the cost of the inventory sold to the Cost of Goods Sold account.
The second entry ensures that both the Merchandise Inventory account and Cost of Goods Sold
account are up to date.

Sales Returns and Allowances

Whenmerchandise inventory that has been sold is returned to themerchandiser by the customer,
a sales return and allowance is recorded. For example, assume some damage occurs to the mer-
chandise inventory sold by Excel while it is being delivered to the customer. Excel gives the cus-
tomer a sales allowance by agreeing to reduce the amount owing by $100. The entry is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Sales Returns and Allowances . . . . . . . . . . . 100
Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100

To record allowance for damage to mer-
chandise inventory during delivery.

Accounts receivable is credited because the original sale was made on account and has not yet
been paid. The amount owing from the customer is reduced to $3,900. If the $3,900 had already
been paid, a credit would be made to Cash and $100 refunded to the customer. The Sales Returns
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and Allowances account is a contra revenue account and is therefore deducted from Sales when
preparing the income statement.

If goods are returned by a customer, a sales return occurs. The related sales and cost of goods
sold recorded on the income statement are reversed and the goods are returned to inventory. For
example, assume Max CorporaƟon sells a plasƟc container for $3 that it purchased for $1. The
dual entry at the Ɵme of sale would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

To record sale on credit.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

To record the cost of the sale.

If the customer returns the container and the merchandise is restored to inventory, the dual jour-
nal entry would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Sales Returns and Allowances . . . . . . . . . . . 3
Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

To record sales return.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

To record sales return being restored to in-
ventory.

The use of a contra account to record sales returns and allowances permits management to track
the amount of returned and damaged items.

Sales Discounts

Another contra revenue account, Sales Discounts, records reducƟons in sales amounts when a
customer pays within a certain Ɵme period. For example, assume Excel Cars CorporaƟon offers
sales terms of “2/10, n30.” Thismeans that the amount owedmust be paid by the customerwithin
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30 days (‘n’ = net); however, if the customer chooses to pay within 10 days, a 2% discount may be
deducted from the amount owing.

Consider the sale of the vehicle for $3,900 ($4,000 less the $100 allowance for damage). Payment
within 10 days enƟtles the customer to a $78 discount ($3,900 x 2% = $78). If payment is made
within the discount period, Excel receives $3,822 cash ($3,900 - 78) and prepares the following
entry:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,822
Sales Discounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,900
To record payment on account and sales
discount applied.

This entry reduces the accounts receivable amount to zero which is the desired result. If payment
is not made within the discount period, the customer pays the full amount owing of $3,900.

As was the case for Sales Returns and Allowances, the balance in the Sales Discounts account is
deducted from Sales on the income statement to arrive at Net Sales. Merchandisers oŌen report
only the net sales amount on the income statement. Details from sales returns and allowances,
and sales discounts, are oŌen omiƩed because they are immaterial in amount relaƟve to total
sales. However, as already stated, separate general ledger accounts for each of sales returns and
allowances, and sales discounts, are useful in helping management idenƟfy potenƟal problems
that require invesƟgaƟon.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Gross
Profit.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Sales.

5.4 Adjustments to Merchandise Inventory (Perpetual)

LO4 – Record
adjustments to
merchandise
inventory.

To verify that the actual amount of merchandise inventory on hand is con-
sistent with the balance recorded in the accounƟng records, a physical in-
ventory count must be performed at the end of the accounƟng period.
When a physical count of inventory is conducted, the costs aƩached to
these inventory items are totalled. This total is compared to theMerchan-
dise Inventory account balance in the general ledger. Any discrepancy is

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN5_3_1GrossProfit
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN5_3_1GrossProfit
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN5_3_2MerchandiseSales
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called shrinkage. TheŌ and deterioraƟon of merchandise inventory are
the most common causes of shrinkage.

The adjusƟng entry to record shrinkage is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To adjust for shrinkage.

Summary of Merchandising TransacƟons

As the preceding secƟons have illustrated, there are a number of entries which are unique to a
merchandiser. These are summarized below (assume all transacƟons were on account):

(a) To record the purchase of merchandise inventory from a supplier:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

(b) To record purchase return and allowances:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

(c) To record purchase discounts:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

(d) To record shipping costs from supplier to merchandiser:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
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(e) To record sale of merchandise inventory and cost of the sale:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

AND

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

(f) To record sales returns restored to inventory:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Sales Returns and Allowances . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

AND

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

(g) To record sales returns and allowances (where returns are not restored to inventory):

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Sales Returns and Allowances . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

(h) To record discounts:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Sales Discounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
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(i) To record adjustment for shrinkage at the end of the accounƟng period:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

The effect of these transacƟons on each of merchandise inventory and cost of goods sold is de-
picted below:

Merchandise Inventory (MI) Cost of Goods Sold (COGS)

(a) Purchase of MI (b) Purchase Ret. & Allow. (e) Cost of MI Sold (f) Cost of sales
returns restored to

(d) Shipping Costs (c) Purchase Discounts (i) Shrinkage Adjustment inventory

(f) Sales Return (when (e) Sale of MI
restored to inventory)

(i) Shrinkage Adjustment
Adjusted Balance Reported
on the Balance Sheet

Adjusted Balance Reported
on the Income Statement

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Mer-
chandising AdjusƟng Entry.

5.5 Merchandising Income Statement

LO5 – Explain and
prepare a clas-
sified mulƟple-
step income
statement for a
merchandiser.

Businesses are required to show expenses on the income statement based
on either the nature or the funcƟon of the expense. The nature of an ex-
pense is determined by its basic characterisƟcs (what it is). For example,
when expenses are listed on the income statement as interest, deprecia-
Ɵon, income tax, or wages, this idenƟfies the nature of each expense. In
contrast, the funcƟon of an expense describes the grouping of expenses
based on their purpose (what they relate to). For example, an income
statement that shows cost of goods sold, selling expenses, and general and
administraƟve expenses has grouped expenses by their funcƟon. When
expenses are grouped by funcƟon, addiƟonal informaƟon must be dis-
closed to show the nature of expenses within each group. The full disclo-
sure principle is the generally accepted accounƟng principle that requires
financial statements to report all relevant informaƟon about the opera-
Ɵons and financial posiƟon of the enƟty. InformaƟon that is relevant but
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not included in the body of the statements is provided in the notes to the
financial statements.

A merchandising income statement can be prepared in different formats. For this course, only
one format will be introduced—the classified mulƟple-step format. This format is generally used
for internal reporƟng because of the detail it includes. An example of a classified mulƟple-step
income statement is shown below using assumed data for XYZ Inc. for its month ended December
31, 2015.

XYZ Inc.
Income Statement

Month Ended December 31, 2015
Sales $100,000
Less: Sales discounts $1,000
Sales returns and allowances 500 1,500

Net sales
Cost of goods sold 50,000
Gross profit from sales $48,500
OperaƟng expenses:
Selling expenses:
Sales salaries expense $11,000
Rent expense, selling space 9,000
AdverƟsing expense 5,000
DepreciaƟon expense, store equipment 3,000
Total selling expenses $28,000

General and administraƟve expenses:
Office salaries expense $9,000
Rent expense, office space 3,000
Office supplies expense 1,500
DepreciaƟon expense, office equipment 1,000
Insurance expense 1,000
Total general and administraƟve expenses 15,500

Total operaƟng expenses 43,500
Income from operaƟons $5,000
Other revenues and expenses:
Rent revenue $12,000
Interest expense 1,500 10,500

Income before tax $15,500
Income tax expense 3,000
Net income $12,500

NoƟce that the classified mulƟple-step income statement shows expenses by both funcƟon and
nature. The broad categories that show expenses by funcƟon include operaƟng expenses, selling
expenses, and general and administraƟve expenses. Within each category, the nature of expenses
is disclosed including sales salaries, adverƟsing, depreciaƟon, supplies, and insurance. NoƟce
that Rent Expense has been divided between two groupings because it applies to more than one
category or funcƟon.

The normal operaƟng acƟvity for XYZ Inc. is merchandising. Revenues and expenses that are not
part of normal operaƟng acƟviƟes are listed under Other Revenues and Expenses. XYZ Inc. shows
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Rent Revenue under Other Revenues and Expenses because this type of revenue is not part of its
merchandising operaƟons. Interest earned, dividends earned, and gains on the sale of property,
plant, and equipment are other examples of revenues not related to merchandising operaƟons.
XYZ Inc. deducts Interest Expense under Other Revenues and Expenses. Interest expense does not
result from operaƟng acƟviƟes; it is a financing acƟvity because it is associatedwith the borrowing
ofmoney. Another example of a non-operaƟng expense is losses on the sale of property, plant, and
equipment. Income tax expense is a government requirement so it is shown separately. NoƟce
that income tax expense follows the subtotal ‘Income before tax’.

5.6 Closing Entries for a Merchandiser

LO6 – Explain
the closing
process for a
merchandiser.

The process of recording closing entries for service companies was illus-
trated in Chapter 3. The closing procedure for merchandising companies
is the same as for service companies—all income statement accounts are
transferred to the IncomeSummary account, the IncomeSummary is closed
to Retained Earnings, and Dividends are closed to Retained Earnings.

When preparing closing entries for a merchandiser, the income statement accounts unique for
merchandisers need to be considered—Sales, Sales Discounts, Sales Returns and Allowances, and
Cost of Goods Sold. Sales is a revenue account so has a normal credit balance. To close Sales, it
must be debited with a corresponding credit to the income summary. Sales Discounts and Sales
Returns and Allowances are both contra revenue accounts so each has a normal debit balance.
Cost of Goods Sold has a normal debit balance because it is an expense. To close these debit
balance accounts, a credit is required with a corresponding debit to the income summary.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Closing
Entries.

5.7 Chapter 5 Appendix: The Periodic Inventory System

LO7 – Explain
and idenƟfy the
entries regarding
purchase and
sales transac-
Ɵons in a periodic
inventory sys-
tem.

The perpetual inventory systemmaintains a conƟnuous, real-Ɵme balance
in bothMerchandise Inventory, a balance sheet account, andCost ofGoods
Sold, an income statement account. As a result, the Merchandise inven-
tory general ledger account balance should always equal the value of phys-
ical inventory on hand at any point in Ɵme. AddiƟonally, the Cost of Goods
Sold general ledger account balance should always equal the total cost
of merchandise inventory sold for the accounƟng period. The accounts
should perpetually agree; hence the name. An alternate system is consid-
ered below, called the periodic inventory system.
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DescripƟon of the Periodic Inventory System

The periodic inventory system does not maintain a constantly-updated merchandise inventory
balance. Instead, ending inventory is determined by a physical count and valued at the end of an
accounƟng period. The change in inventory is recorded only periodically. AddiƟonally, a Cost of
Goods Sold account is notmaintained in a periodic system. Instead, cost of goods sold is calculated
at the end of the accounƟng period.

Whengoods are purchasedusing the periodic inventory system, the cost ofmerchandise is recorded
in a Purchases account in the general ledger, rather than in the Merchandise Inventory account
as is done under the perpetual inventory system. The Purchases account is an income statement
account that accumulates the cost of merchandise acquired for resale.

The journal entry, assuming a purchase of merchandise on credit, is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Purchases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

Purchase Returns and Allowances (Periodic)

Under the periodic inventory system, any purchase returns or purchase allowances are accumu-
lated in a separate account called Purchase Returns and Allowances, an income statement ac-
count, and recorded as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Purchase Returns and Allowances . . . . XX

Purchase Returns and Allowances is a contra expense account and the balance is deducted from
Purchases when calculaƟng cost of goods sold on the income statement.

Purchase Discounts (Periodic)

Another contra expense account, Purchase Discounts, accumulates reducƟons in the purchase
price of merchandise if payment is made within a Ɵme period specified in the supplier’s invoice
and recorded as:
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Purchase Discounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

TransportaƟon (Periodic)

Under the periodic inventory system, an income statement account called TransportaƟon-in is
used to accumulate transportaƟon or freight charges on merchandise purchased for resale. The
TransportaƟon-in account is used in calculaƟng the cost of goods sold on the income statement.
It is recorded as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

TransportaƟon-In . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Cash or Accounts Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

At the end of the accounƟng period, cost of goods sold must be calculated which requires that the
balance in Merchandise Inventory be determined. To determine the end of the period balance in
Merchandise Inventory, a physical count of inventory is performed. The total value of the inventory
as idenƟfied by the physical count becomes the ending balance in Merchandise Inventory. Cost of
goods sold can then be calculated as follows:

Beginning Balance of Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . XX
Plus: Net Cost of Goods Purchased* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Less: Ending Balance of Merchandise Inventory . . . . XX
Equals: Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

*Net Cost of Goods Purchased is calculated as:
Purchases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Less: Purchase Returns and Allowances . . . . . . . XX
Less: Purchase Discounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Equals: Net Purchases. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Add: TransportaƟon-In . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Equals: Net Cost of Goods Purchased . . . . . . . . . XX

Closing Entries (Periodic)

In the perpetual inventory system, the Merchandise Inventory account is conƟnuously updated
and is adjusted at the end of the accounƟng period based on a physical inventory count. In the
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periodic inventory system, the balance in Merchandise Inventory does not change during the ac-
counƟng period. As a result, at the end of the accounƟng period, the balance in Merchandise
Inventory in a periodic system is the beginning balance. In order for the Merchandise Inventory
account to reflect the ending balance as determined by the physical inventory count, the beginning
inventory balance must be removed by crediƟng Merchandise Inventory, and the ending inven-
tory balance entered by debiƟng it. This is accomplished as part of the closing process. Closing
entries for a merchandiser that uses a periodic inventory system are illustrated below using the
adjusted trial balance informaƟon for Norva Inc.

Step 1: Close debit balance income statement
Norva Inc. accounts plus beginning merchandise inventory:

Adjusted Trial Balance Income Statement 15,200
At December 31, 2015 Merchandise Inventory 1,000

Debits Credits Sales Discounts 200
Cash $15,000 Purchases 5,000
Merchandise Inventory 1,000 Salaries Expense 7,000
Accounts payable $ 5,000 AdverƟsing Expense 2,000
Common shares 8,000
Dividends 500 Step 2: Close credit balance income statement
Retained earnings 3,500 accounts plus ending merchandise inventory:
Sales 13,400 Merchandise Inventory 2,000
Sales discounts 200 Sales 13,400
Purchases 5,000 Purchase Returns & Allowances 800
Purchase returns & allowances 800 Income Summary 16,200
Salaries expense 7,000
AdverƟsing expense 2,000 Step 3: Close income summary to retained earnings:
Totals $30,700 $30,700 Income Summary 1,000

Retained Earnings 1,000
Other informaƟon: The ending balance in
merchandise inventory is $2,000 based on a Step 4: Close dividends to retained earnings:
physical count. Retained Earnings 500

Dividends 500

When the closing entries above are posted and a post-closing trial balance prepared as shown
below, noƟce that the Merchandise Inventory account reflects the correct balance based on the
physical inventory count.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Journal-
izing Merchandise TransacƟons.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Income
Statement and Closing Entries.
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Summary of Chapter 5 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Describe merchandising and explain the financial statement components
of sales, cost of goods sold, merchandise inventory, and gross profit; differenƟ-
ate between the perpetual and periodic inventory systems.

Merchandisers buy and resell products. Merchandise inventory, an asset, is purchased from sup-
pliers and resold to customers to generate sales revenue. The cost of the merchandise inventory
sold is an expense called cost of goods sold. The profit realized on the sale of merchandise inven-
tory before considering any other expenses is called gross profit. Gross profit may be expressed
as a dollar amount or as a percentage. To track merchandise inventory and cost of goods sold in
real Ɵme, a perpetual inventory system is used; the balance in each ofMerchandise Inventory and
Cost of Goods Sold is always up-to-date. In a periodic inventory system, a physical count of the
inventory must be performed in order to determine the balance in Merchandise Inventory and
Cost of Goods Sold.

LO2 – Analyze and record purchase transacƟons for a merchandiser.

In a perpetual inventory system, a merchandiser debits Merchandise Inventory regarding the pur-
chase ofmerchandise for resale from a supplier. Any purchase returns and allowances or purchase
discounts are credited to Merchandise Inventory as they occur to keep the accounts up-to-date.

LO3 – Analyze and record sales transacƟons for a merchandiser.

In a perpetual inventory system, a merchandiser records two entries at the Ɵme of sale: one to
record the sale and a second to record the cost of the sale. Sales returns that are returned to in-
ventory also require to entries: one to reverse the sale by debiƟng a sales returns and allowances
account and a second to restore the merchandise to inventory by debiƟng Merchandise Inven-
tory and crediƟng Cost of Goods Sold. Sales returns not restored to inventory as well as sales
allowances are recorded with one entry: debit sales returns and allowances and credit cash or
accounts receivable. Sales discounts are recorded when a credit customer submits their payment
within the discount period specified.

LO4 – Record adjustments to merchandise inventory.

A physical count of merchandise inventory is performed and the total compared to the general
ledger balance of Merchandise Inventory. Discrepancies are recorded as an adjusƟng entry that
debits cost of goods sold and credits Merchandise Inventory.
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LO5 – Explain and prepare a classifiedmulƟple-step income statement for amer-
chandiser.

A classified mulƟple-step income statement for a merchandiser is for internal use because of the
detail provided. Sales, less sales returns and allowances and sales discounts, results in net sales.
Net sales less cost of goods sold equals gross profit. Expenses are shown based on both their
funcƟon and nature. The funcƟonal or group headings are: operaƟng expenses, selling expenses,
and general and administraƟve expenses. Within each grouping, the nature of expenses is detailed
including: depreciaƟon, salaries, adverƟsing, wages, and insurance. A specific expense can be
divided between groupings.

LO6 – Explain the closing process for a merchandiser.

The steps in preparing closing entries for a merchandiser are the same as for a service company.
The difference is that a merchandiser will need to close income statement accounts unique to
merchandising such as: Sales, Sales Returns and Allowances, Sales Discounts, and Cost of Goods
Sold.

LO7 – Explain and idenƟfy the entries regarding purchase and sales transacƟons
in a periodic inventory system.

A periodic inventory systemmaintains a Merchandise Inventory account but does not have a Cost
of Goods Sold account. The Merchandise Inventory account is updated at the end of the account-
ing period as a result of a physical inventory count. Because amerchandiser using a period system
does not use aMerchandise Inventory account to record purchase or sales transacƟons during the
accounƟng period, it maintains accounts that are different than under a perpetual system, namely,
Purchases, Purchase Returns and Allowances, Purchase Discounts, and TransportaƟon-in.
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Chapter 6

.

Assigning Costs to Merchandise

Recording transacƟons related to the purchase and sale of merchandise inventory was introduced
and discussed in Chapter 5. This chapter reviews how the cost of goods sold is calculated using
various inventory cost flow assumpƟons. AddiƟonally, issues related to merchandise inventory
that remains on hand at the end of an accounƟng period are also explored.

Chapter 6 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Calculate cost of goods sold and merchandise inventory using specific idenƟficaƟon,
first-in first-out (FIFO), and weighted average cost flow assumpƟons—perpetual.

LO2 – Explain the impact on financial statements of inventory cost flows and errors.

LO3 – Explain and calculate lower of cost and net realizable value inventory adjustments.

LO4 – EsƟmatemerchandise inventory using the gross profitmethod and the retail inventory
method.

LO5 – Explain and calculate merchandise inventory turnover.

LO6 – Calculate cost of goods sold and merchandise inventory using specific idenƟficaƟon,
first-in first-out (FIFO), and weighted average cost flow assumpƟons—periodic.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 6

1. What three inventory cost flow assumpƟons can be used in perpetual inventory systems?

2. What impact does the use of different inventory cost flow assumpƟons have on financial
statements?

3. What is the meaning of the term lower of cost and net realizable value, and how is it calcu-
lated?

4. What is the effect on net income of an error in ending inventory values?

5. What methods are used to esƟmate ending inventory?

121
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6. What raƟo can be used to evaluate the liquidity of merchandise inventory?

7. What inventory cost flow assumpƟons can be used in a periodic inventory system?

6.1 Inventory Cost Flow AssumpƟons

LO1 – Calculate
cost of goods sold
and merchandise
inventory using
specific idenƟ-
ficaƟon, first in
first-out (FIFO),
and weighted
average cost flow
assumpƟons—
perpetual.

Determining the cost of each unit of inventory, and thus the total cost
of ending inventory on the balance sheet, can be challenging. Why? We
know from Chapter 5 that the cost of inventory can be affected by dis-
counts, returns, transportaƟon costs, and shrinkage. AddiƟonally, the pur-
chase cost of an inventory item can be different from one purchase to the
next. For example, the cost of coffee beans could be $5.00 a kilo in Octo-
ber and $7.00 a kilo in November. Finally, some types of inventory flow
into and out of the warehouse in a specific sequence, while others do not.
For example, milk would need to be managed so that the oldest milk is
sold first. In contrast, a car dealership has no control over which vehicles
are sold because customers make specific choices based on what is avail-
able. So how is the cost of a unit in merchandise inventory determined?
There are several methods that can be used. Each method may result in a
different cost, as described in the following secƟons.

Assume a company sells only one product and uses the perpetual inventory system. It has no
beginning inventory at June 1, 2015. The company purchased five units during June as shown in
Figure 6.1.

Purchase TransacƟon
Date Number of units Price per unit

June 1 1 $1
5 1 2
7 1 3

21 1 4
28 1 5

5 $15

Figure 6.1: June Purchases and Purchase Price per Unit

At June 28, there are 5 units in inventory with a total cost of $15 ($1 + $2 + $3 + $4 + $5). Assume
four units are sold June 30 for $10 each on account. The cost of the four units sold could be
determined based on idenƟfying the cost associatedwith the specific units sold. For example, a car
dealership tracks the cost of each vehicle purchased and sold. AlternaƟvely, a business that sells
perishable items would want the oldest units to move out of inventory first to minimize spoilage.
Finally, if large quanƟƟes of low dollar value items are in inventory, such as pencils or hammers,
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an average cost might be used to calculate cost of goods sold. A business may choose one of three
methods to calculate cost of goods and the resulƟng ending inventory based on an assumed flow.
These methods are: specific idenƟficaƟon, FIFO, and weighted average, and are discussed in the
next secƟons.

Specific IdenƟficaƟon

Under specific idenƟficaƟon, each inventory item that is sold is matched with its purchase cost.
This method is most pracƟcal when inventory consists of relaƟvely few, expensive items, parƟcu-
larly when individual units can be idenƟfied with serial numbers—for example, motor vehicles.

Assume the four units sold on June 30 are those purchased on June 1, 5, 7, and 28. The fourth
unit purchased on June 21 remains in ending inventory. Cost of goods sold would total $11 ($1 +
$2 + $3 + $5). Sales would total $40 (4 @ $10). As a result, gross profit would be $29 ($40 – 11).
Ending inventory would be $4, the cost of the unit purchased on June 21.

The general ledger T-accounts for Merchandise Inventory and Cost of Goods Sold would show:

Merchandise Inventory
Jun. 1 $1

5 2
7 3

21 4
28 5 Cost of Goods Sold

11 Jun. ..30 ..11
End. Bal. 4

.

Figure 6.2: Cost of Goods Sold using Specific IdenƟficaƟon

The entry to record the June 30 sale on account would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40

To record the sale of merchandise on ac-
count.
Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11
To record the cost of the sale.

It is not possible to use specific idenƟficaƟon when inventory consists of a large number of simi-
lar, inexpensive items that cannot be easily differenƟated. Consequently, a method of assigning
costs to inventory items based on an assumed flow of goods can be adopted. Two such generally
accepted methods, known as cost flow assumpƟons, are discussed next.
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The First-in, First-out (FIFO) Cost Flow AssumpƟon

First-in, first-out (FIFO) assumes that the first goods purchased are the first ones sold. A FIFO cost
flow assumpƟon makes sense when inventory consists of perishable items such as groceries and
other Ɵme-sensiƟve goods.

Using the informaƟon from the previous example, the first four units purchased are assumed to
be the first four units sold under FIFO. The cost of the four units sold is $10 ($1 + $2 + $3 + $4).
Sales sƟll equal $40, so gross profit under FIFO is $30 ($40 – $10). The cost of the one remaining
unit in ending inventory would be the cost of the fiŌh unit purchased ($5).

The general ledger T-accounts for Merchandise Inventory and Cost of Goods Sold as illustrated in
Figure 6.3 would show:

Merchandise Inventory
Jun. 1 $1

5 2
7 3

21 4
28 5 Cost of Goods Sold

10 ..Jun. 30 ..10
End. Bal. 5

.

Figure 6.3: Cost of Goods Sold using FIFO

The entry to record the sale would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40

To record the sale of merchandise on ac-
count.
Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10
To record the cost of the sale.

The Weighted Average Cost Flow AssumpƟon

A weighted average cost flow is assumed when goods purchased on different dates are mixed
with each other. The weighted average cost assumpƟon is popular in pracƟce because it is easy
to calculate. It is also suitable when inventory is held in common storage faciliƟes—for example,
when several crude oil shipments are stored in one large holding tank. To calculate a weighted
average, the total cost of all purchases of a parƟcular inventory type is divided by the number of
units purchased.
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To calculate the weighted average cost in our example, the purchase prices for all five units are
totaled ($1 + $2 + $3 + $4 + $5 = $15) and divided by the total number of units purchased (5). The
weighted average cost for each unit is $3 ($15/5). The weighted average cost of goods sold would
be $12 (4 units @ $3). Sales sƟll equal $40 resulƟng in a gross profit under weighted average of
$28 ($40 – $12). The cost of the one remaining unit in ending inventory is $3.

The general ledger T-accounts for Merchandise Inventory and Cost of Goods Sold are:

Merchandise Inventory
Jun. 1 ..$1

5 2
7 3

21 4
28 ..5 Cost of Goods Sold

..12 ..Jun. 30 ..12
End. Bal. 3

..
= $15 total cost/5 units = $3 avg. cost/unit

.

4 units sold @ $3 avg. cost/unit = $12 COGS

Figure 6.4: Cost of Goods Sold using Weighted Average

The entry to record the sale would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40

To record the sale of merchandise on ac-
count.
Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
To record the cost of the sale.

Cost Flow AssumpƟons: A Comprehensive Example

Recall that under the perpetual inventory system, cost of goods sold is calculated and recorded in
the accounƟng system at the Ɵme when sales are recorded. In our simplified example, all sales
occurred on June 30 aŌer all inventory had been purchased. In reality, the purchase and sale
of merchandise is conƟnuous. To demonstrate the calculaƟons when purchases and sales occur
conƟnuously throughout the accounƟng period, let’s review a more comprehensive example.

Assume the same example as above, except that sales of units occur as follows during June:
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Date Number of Units Sold
June 3 1

8 1
23 1
29 1

To help with the calculaƟon of cost of goods sold, an inventory record cardwill be used to track the
individual transacƟons. This card records informaƟon about purchases such as the date, number
of units purchased, and purchase cost per unit. It also records cost of goods sold informaƟon: the
date of sale, number of units sold, and the cost of each unit sold. Finally, the card records the
balance of units on hand, the cost of each unit held, and the total cost of the units on hand. A
parƟally-completed inventory record card is shown in Figure 6.5 below:

Purchases/Shipping Costs/ Cost of Goods Sold/
(Purchase Returns/Discounts) (Returns to Inventory) Balance in Inventory

Date Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $
June 1 ..1 ..1

3 ..1 ..0
5 1 1
7 1 2
8 1 1
21 1 2
23 1 1
28 1 2
29 1 ..1

..

Ending Inventory is 1 unit.

Figure 6.5: Inventory Record Card

In Figure 6.5, the inventory at the end of the accounƟng period is one unit. This is the number of
units on hand according to the accounƟng records. A physical inventory count must sƟll be done,
generally at the end of the fiscal year, to verify the quanƟƟes actually on hand. As discussed in
Chapter 5, any discrepancies idenƟfied by the physical inventory count are adjusted for as shrink-
age.

As purchases and sales are made, costs are assigned to the goods using the chosen cost flow
assumpƟon. This informaƟon is used to calculate the cost of goods sold amount for each sales
transacƟon at the Ɵme of sale. These costs will vary depending on the inventory cost flow as-
sumpƟon used. As we will see in the next secƟons, the cost of sales may also vary depending on
when sales occur.
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Comprehensive Example—Specific IdenƟficaƟon

To apply specific idenƟficaƟon, we need informaƟon about which units were sold on each date.
Assume that specific units were sold as detailed below.

Date of Sale Specific Units Sold
June 3 The unit sold on June 3 was purchased on June 1

8 The unit sold on June 8 was purchased on June 7
23 The unit sold on June 23 was purchased on June 5
29 The unit sold on June 29 was purchased on June 28

Using the informaƟon above to apply specific idenƟficaƟon, the resulƟng inventory record card
appears in Figure 6.6.

Purchases/Shipping Costs/ Cost of Goods Sold/
(Purchase Returns/Discounts) (Returns to Inventory) Balance in Inventory

Date Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $
June 1 1 $1 $1 1 $1 $1

3 1 $1 $1 0 $0 $0
5 1 $2 $2 1 $2 $2
7 1 $3 $3 ..2 ..1@$2

..1@$3
8 1 $3 $3 1 $2 $2
21 1 $4 $4 ..2 ..1@$2

..1@$4
23 1 $2 $2 1 $4 $4
28 1 $5 $5 ..2 ..1@$4

..1@$5
29 1 $5 $5 1 $4 $4

..$5 .

$6

.

$9

Figure 6.6: Inventory Record Card using Specific IdenƟficaƟon

NoƟce in Figure 6.7 that the number of units sold plus the units in ending inventory equals the
total units that were available for sale. This will always be true regardless of which inventory cost
flow method is used.
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Purchases/Shipping Costs/ Cost of Goods Sold/
(Purchase Returns/Discounts) (Returns to Inventory) Balance in Inventory

Date Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $
June 1 1 $1 $1 1 $1 $1

3 1 $1 $1 0 $0 $0
5 1 $2 $2 1 $2 $2
7 1 $3 $3 2 1@$2 $5

1@$3
8 1 $3 $3 1 $2 $2
21 1 $4 $4 2 1@$2 $6

1@$4
23 1 $2 $2 1 $4 $4
28 1 $5 $5 2 1@$4 $9

1@$5
29 .. ..1 $5 $5 ..1 $4 $4

..

Total number of
units available
for sale: 5 units

.

Total number
of units

sold: 4 units

.

Total number of
units in ending
inventory: 1 unit

.

=

.

+

Figure 6.7: Total Units Sold plus Total Units in Ending Inventory equals Total Units Available for
Sale

Purchases/Shipping Costs/ Cost of Goods Sold/
(Purchase Returns/Discounts) (Returns to Inventory) Balance in Inventory

Date Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $
June 1 1 $1 $1 1 $1 $1

3 1 $1 $1 0 $0 $0
5 1 $2 $2 1 $2 $2
7 1 $3 $3 2 1@$2 $5

1@$3
8 1 $3 $3 1 $2 $2
21 1 $4 $4 2 1@$2 $6

1@$4
23 1 $2 $2 1 $4 $4
28 1 $5 $5 2 1@$4 $9

1@$5
29 .. 1 $5 ..$5 1 $4 ..$4

..

Total cost of
goods available
for sale: $15

.

Total cost
of goods
sold: $11

.

Total cost
of ending

inventory: $4

.

=

.

+
Figure 6.8: Total Cost of Goods Sold plus Total Cost of Units in Ending Inventory equals Total Cost

of Goods Available for Sale (Specific IdenƟficaƟon)
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Figure 6.8 highlights the relaƟonship in which total cost of goods sold plus total cost of ending
inventory equals total cost of goods available for sale. This relaƟonship will always be true for
each of specific idenƟficaƟon, FIFO, and weighted average.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Specific
IdenƟficaƟon.

Comprehensive Example—FIFO (Perpetual)

Using the same informaƟon, we now apply the FIFO cost flow assumpƟon as shown in Figure 6.9.

Purchases/Shipping Costs/ Cost of Goods Sold/
(Purchase Returns/Discounts) (Returns to Inventory) Balance in Inventory

Date Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $
June 1 1 $1 $1 1 $1 $1

3 1 $1 $1 0 $0 $0
5 1 $2 $2 1 $2 $2
7 1 $3 $3 2 1@$2 $5

1@$3
8 1 $2 $2 1 $3 $3
21 1 $4 $4 2 1@$3 $7

1@$4
23 1 $3 $3 1 $4 $4
28 1 $5 $5 2 1@$4 $9

1@$5
29 1 $4 $4 1 $5 $5

Figure 6.9: Inventory Record Card using FIFO (Perpetual)

When calculaƟng the cost of the units sold in FIFO, the oldest unit in inventory will always be
the first unit removed. For example, in Figure 6.9, on June 8, one unit is sold when the previous
balance in inventory consisted of 2 units: 1 unit purchased on June 5 that cost $2 and 1 unit
purchased on June 7 that cost $3. Because the unit cosƟng $2 was in inventory first (before the
June 8 unit cosƟng $3), the cost assigned to the unit sold on June 8 is $2. Under FIFO, the first
units into inventory are assumed to be the first units removed from inventory when calculaƟng
cost of goods sold. Therefore, under FIFO, ending inventory will always be the most recent units
purchased. In Figure 6.9, there is one unit in ending inventory and it is assigned the $5 cost of the
most recent purchase which was made on June 28.

The informaƟon in Figure 6.9 is repeated in Figure 6.10 to reinforce that goods available for sale
equals the sum of goods sold and ending inventory.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_1_1SpecificIdentification
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_1_1SpecificIdentification
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Purchases/Shipping Costs/ Cost of Goods Sold/
(Purchase Returns/Discounts) (Returns to Inventory) Balance in Inventory

Date Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $
June 1 1 $1 $1 1 $1 $1

3 1 $1 $1 0 $0 $0
5 1 $2 $2 1 $2 $2
7 1 $3 $3 2 1@$2 $5

1@$3
8 1 $2 $2 1 $3 $3
21 1 $4 $4 2 1@$3 $7

1@$4
23 1 $3 $3 1 $4 $4
28 1 $5 $5 2 1@$4 $9

1@$5
29 .. .. ..1 $4 ..$4 ..1 $5 ..$5 ..

Total number of
units available
for sale: 5 units

.

Total
number of
units sold:
4 units

.

Total
number
of units
in ending
inventory:
1 unit

.

=

.

+

.

Total cost of
goods available
for sale: $15

.

Total cost
of goods
sold: $10

.

Total cost of
ending in-
ventory: $5

.

=

.

+
Figure 6.10: Total Goods Sold plus Ending Inventory equals Total Goods Available for Sale (FIFO

Perpetual)

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run FIFO
Perpetual.

Comprehensive Example—Weighted Average (Perpetual)

The inventory record card transacƟons using weighted average cosƟng are detailed in Figure 6.11.
For consistency, all weighted average calculaƟons will be rounded to two decimal places. When
a perpetual inventory system is used, the weighted average is calculated each Ɵme a purchase is
made. For example, aŌer the June 7 purchase, the balance in inventory is 2 units with a total cost
of $5.00 (1 unit at $2.00 + 1 unit at $3.00) resulƟng in an average cost per unit of $2.50 ($5.00 ÷
2 units = $2.50). When a sale occurs, the cost of the sale is based on the most recent average cost
per unit. For example, the cost of the sale on June 3 uses the $1.00 average cost per unit from
June 1 while the cost of the sale on June 8 uses the $2.50 average cost per unit from June 7.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_1_3FIFOPerpetual
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_1_3FIFOPerpetual


6.1.Inventory
C

ost
Flow

A
ssum

ptions
131

Purchases/Shipping Costs/ Cost of Goods Sold/ CalculaƟng AvgCost/Unit
(Purchase Returns/Discounts) (Returns to Inventory) Balance in Inventory Total AvgCost/

Date Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units AvgCost/Unit Total $ Total $ ÷ Units = Unit
June 1 1 $1 $1 1 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 ÷ 1 = $1.00/unit

3 1 $1.00 $1.00 0 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ÷ 0 = $0.00/unit
5 1 $2 $2 1 $2.00 $2.00 $2.00 ÷ 1 = $2.00/unit
7 1 $3 $3 2 $2.50 $5.00 $5.00 ÷ 2 = $2.50/unit
8 1 $2.50 $2.50 1 $2.50 $2.50 $2.50 ÷ 1 = $2.50/unit
21 1 $4 $4 2 $3.25 $6.50 $6.50 ÷ 2 = $3.25/unit
23 1 $3.25 $3.25 1 $3.25 $3.25 $3.25 ÷ 1 = $3.25/unit
28 1 $5 $5 2 $4.13* $8.25 $8.25 ÷ 2 = $4.13*/unit
29 1 $4.13 $4.13 1 $4.12 $4.12 $4.12 ÷ 1 = $4.12/unit

* Rounded

Figure 6.11: Inventory Record Card using Weighted Average CosƟng (Perpetual)
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A commonerrormadeby studentswhen applyingweighted average occurswhen the unit costs are
rounded. For example, on June 28, the average cost per unit is rounded to $4.13 ($8.25÷ 2 units =
$4.125/unit rounded to $4.13). On June 29, the cost of the unit sold is $4.13, the June 28 average
cost per unit. Care must be taken to recognize that the total remaining balance in inventory aŌer
the June 29 sale is $4.12, calculated as the June 28 ending inventory total dollar amount of $8.25
less the June 29 total cost of goods sold of $4.13. Students will oŌen incorrectly use the average
cost per unit, in this case $4.13, to calculate the ending inventory balance. Remember that the cost
of goods sold plus the balance in inventory must equal the goods available for sale as highlighted
in Figure 6.12.
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Purchases/Shipping Costs/ Cost of Goods Sold/ CalculaƟng AvgCost/Unit
(Purchase Returns/Discounts) (Returns to Inventory) Balance in Inventory Total AvgCost/

Date Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units Cost/Unit Total $ Units AvgCost/Unit Total $ Total $ ÷ Units = Unit
June 1 1 $1 $1 1 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 ÷ 1 = $1.00/unit

3 1 $1.00 $1.00 0 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ÷ 0 = $0.00/unit
5 1 $2 $2 1 $2.00 $2.00 $2.00 ÷ 1 = $2.00/unit
7 1 $3 $3 2 $2.50 $5.00 $5.00 ÷ 2 = $2.50/unit
8 1 $2.50 $2.50 1 $2.50 $2.50 $2.50 ÷ 1 = $2.50/unit
21 1 $4 $4 2 $3.25 $6.50 $6.50 ÷ 2 = $3.25/unit
23 1 $3.25 $3.25 1 $3.25 $3.25 $3.25 ÷ 1 = $3.25/unit
28 1 $5 $5 2 $4.13* $8.25 $8.25 ÷ 2 = $4.13*/unit
29 .. .. ..1 $4.13 ..$4.13 ..1 $4.12 ..$4.12 $4.12 ÷ 1 = $4.12/unit

* Rounded

..

Total number of
units available
for sale: 5 units

.

Total
number of
units sold:
4 units

.

Total
number
of units
in ending
inventory:
1 unit

.

=

.

+

.

Total cost of
goods available
for sale: $15

.

Total cost of
goods sold:
$10.88

.

Total cost
of ending
inventory:
$4.12

.

=

.

+

Figure 6.12: Total Goods Sold plus Ending Inventory equals Total Goods Available for Sale (Weighted Average Perpetual)
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to runWeighted
Average Perpetual.

Figure 6.13 compares the results of the three cost flow methods. Goods available for sale, units
sold, and units in ending inventory are the same regardless of which method is used. Because
each cost flowmethod allocates the cost of goods available for sale in a parƟcular way, the cost of
goods sold and ending inventory values are different for each method.

Total Cost Total Total
of Goods Units Total Cost Total Total Cost Units in

Cost Flow Available Available of Goods Units of Ending Ending
AssumpƟon for Sale for Sale Sold Sold Inventory Inventory

Specific IdenƟficaƟon $15.00 5 11.00 4 4.00 1
FIFO 15.00 5 10.00 4 5.00 1

Weighted Average 15.00 5 10.88 4 4.12 1

Figure 6.13: Comparing Specific IdenƟficaƟon, FIFO, and Weighted Average

Journal Entries

In Chapter 5 the journal entries to record the sale of merchandise were introduced. Chapter 5
showed how the dollar value included in these journal entries is determined. We now know that
the informaƟon in the inventory record is used to prepare the journal entries in the general journal.
For example, the credit sale on June 23 using weighted average cosƟng would be recorded as
follows (refer to Figure 6.13).

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10.00
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10.00

To record credit sale at a selling price of
$10 per unit.
Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.25

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.25
To record the cost of the sale.

Perpetual inventory incorporates an internal control feature that is lost under the periodic inven-
tory method. Losses resulƟng from theŌ and error can easily be determined when the actual
quanƟty of goods on hand is counted and compared with the quanƟƟes shown in the inventory
records as being on hand. It may seem that this advantage is offset by the Ɵme and expense
required to conƟnuously update inventory records, parƟcularly where there are thousands of dif-
ferent items of various sizes on hand. However, computerizaƟonmakes this record keeping easier
and less expensive because the inventory accounƟng system can be Ɵed in to the sales system so
that inventory is updated whenever a sale is recorded.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_1_2MovingWeightedAverage
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_1_2MovingWeightedAverage
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Inventory Record Card

In a company such as a large drugstore or hardware chain, inventory consists of thousands of dif-
ferent products. For businesses that carry large volumes of many inventory types, the general
ledger merchandise inventory account contains only summarized transacƟons of the purchases
and sales. The detailed transacƟons for each type of inventory would be recorded in the underly-
ing inventory record cards. The inventory record card is an example of a subsidiary ledger, more
commonly called a subledger. The merchandise inventory subledger provides a detailed lisƟng
of type, amount, and total cost of all types of inventory held at a parƟcular point in Ɵme. The sum
of the balances on each inventory record card in the subledger would always equal the ending
amount recorded in the Mechandise Inventory general ledger account. So a subledger contains
the detail for each product in inventory while the general ledger account shows only a summary.
In this way, the general ledger informaƟon is streamlined while allowing for detail to be available
through the subledger. There are other types of subledgers: the accounts receivable subledger
and the accounts payable subledger. These will be introduced in a subsequent chapter.

6.2 Financial Statement Impact of Different Inventory Cost Flows

LO2 – Explain
the impact of
inventory cost
flows and errors.

When purchase costs are increasing, as in a period of inflaƟon (or decreas-
ing, as in a period of deflaƟon), each cost flow assumpƟon results in a
different value for cost of goods sold and the resulƟng ending inventory,
gross profit, and net income.

Using informaƟon from the preceding comprehensive example, the ef-
fects of each cost flow assumpƟon on net income and ending inventory
are shown in Figure 6.14.

Spec. Wtd.
Ident. FIFO Avg.

Sales $40.00 $40.00 $40.00
Cost of goods sold 11.00 10.00 10.88
Gross profit and net income $29.00 $30.00 $29.12

Ending inventory (on the balance sheet) $ 4.00 $ 5.00 $ 4.12

Figure 6.14: Effects of Different Cost Flow AssumpƟons

FIFOmaximizes net income and ending inventory amounts when costs are rising. FIFOminimizes
net income and ending inventory amounts when purchase costs are decreasing.

Because different cost flow assumpƟons can affect the financial statements, GAAP requires that
the assumpƟon adopted by a company be disclosed in its financial statements (full disclosure prin-
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ciple). AddiƟonally, GAAP requires that once a method is adopted, it be used every accounƟng
period thereaŌer (consistency principle) unless there is a jusƟfiable reason to change. A business
that has a variety of inventory items may choose a different cost flow assumpƟon for each item.
For example, Walmart might use weighted average to account for its sporƟng goods items and
specific idenƟficaƟon for each of its various major appliances.

Effect of Inventory Errors on the Financial Statements

There are two components necessary to determine the inventory value disclosed on a corpora-
Ɵon’s balance sheet. The first component involves calculaƟng the quanƟty of inventory on hand
at the end of an accounƟng period by performing a physical inventory count. The second require-
ment involves assigning the most appropriate cost to this quanƟty of inventory.

An error in calculaƟng either the quanƟty or the cost of ending inventory will misstate reported
income for two Ɵme periods. Assume merchandise inventory at December 31, 2019, 2020, and
2021 was reported as $2,000 and that merchandise purchases during each of 2020 and 2021 were
$20,000. There were no other expenditures. Assume further that sales each year amounted to
$30,000 with cost of goods sold of $20,000 resulƟng in gross profit of $10,000. These transacƟons
are summarized below.

Merchandise Inventory 2020 2021
Beg. Bal. 2,000 Sales $30,000 $30,000
2020 Purch. 20,000 20,000 2020 ..COGS COGS ..20,000 ..20,000
2020 Bal. 2,000 Gross profit $10,000 $10,000
2021 Purch. 20,000 20,000 2021 ..COGS
2021 Bal. 2,000 .

Assume now that ending inventory was misstated at December 31, 2020. Instead of the $2,000
that was reported, the correct value should have been $1,000. The effect of this error was to
understate cost of goods sold on the income statement—cost of goods sold should have been
$21,000 in 2020 as shown below instead of $20,000 as originally reported above. Because of the
2020 error, the 2021 beginning inventory was incorrectly reported above as $2,000 and should
havebeen$1,000 as shownbelow. This caused the 2021 gross profit to beunderstatedby $1,000—
cost of goods sold in 2021 should have been $19,000 as illustrated below but was originally re-
ported above as $20,000.
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Merchandise Inventory 2020 2021
Op. Bal. 2,000 Sales $30,000 $30,000
2020 Purch. 20,000 .. COGS ..21,000 ..19,000

Gross Profit $ 9,000 $11,000
..2020 Bal. 1,000

2021 Purch. 20,000
..

2021 Bal. 2,000

..

20,000 2020 COGS
1,000 Inv. Adj.

.

Inv. Adj. 1,000 20,000 2021 COGS

.
Ending inventory is
incorrectly stated.

As can be seen, income is misstated in both 2020 and 2021 because cost of goods sold in both
years is affected by the adjustment to ending inventory needed at the end of 2020 and 2021. The
opposite effects occur when inventory is understated at the end of an accounƟng period.

An error in ending inventory is offset in the next year because one year’s ending inventory becomes
the next year’s opening inventory. This process can be illustrated by comparing gross profits for
2020 and 2021 in the above example. The sum of both years’ gross profits is the same.

Overstated
Inventory

Correct
Inventory

Gross profit for 2020 $10,000 $ 9,000
Gross profit for 2021 10,000 11,000
Total $20,000 $20,000

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Inventory
Errors.

6.3 Lower of Cost and Net Realizable Value (LCNRV)

LO3 – Explain
and calculate
lower of cost and
net realizable
value inventory
adjustments.

In addiƟon to the adjusƟng entry to record the shrinkage of merchandise
inventory (discussed in Chapter 5), there is an addiƟonal adjusƟng entry to
be considered at the end of the accounƟng periodwhen calculaƟng cost of
goods sold and ending inventory values for the financial statements. Gen-
erally accepted accounƟng principles require that inventory be valued at
the lesser amount of its laid-down cost and the amount for which it can
likely be sold—its net realizable value (NRV). This concept is known as the
lower of cost and net realizable value, or LCNRV. Note that the laid-down
cost includes the invoice price of the goods (less any purchase discounts)
plus transportaƟon in, insurance while in transit, and any other expendi-

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_2_1OverUnderstated
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_2_1OverUnderstated
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ture made by the purchaser to get the merchandise to the place of busi-
ness and ready for sale.

As an example, a change in consumer demand may mean that inventories become obsolete and
need to be reduced in value below the purchase cost. This oŌen occurs in the electronics industry
as new and more popular products are introduced.

The lower of cost and net realizable value can be applied to individual inventory items or groups
of similar items, as shown in Figure 6.15 below.

LCNRV
Total Total Unit Group
Cost NRV Basis Basis

White paper $1,250 $1,200 $1,200
Coloured paper 1,400 1,500 1,400

Total ..$2,650 $2,700 $2,600 ..$2,650

Ending inventory (LCNRV) $2,600 $2,650

.

Figure 6.15: LCNRV CalculaƟons

Depending on the calculaƟon used, the valuaƟon of ending inventory will be either $2,600 or
$2,650. Under the unit basis, the lower of cost and net realizable value is selected for each item:
$1,200 for white paper and $1,400 for coloured paper, for a total LCNRV of $2,600. Because the
LCNRV is lower than cost, an adjusƟng entry must be recorded as follows.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50

To adjust inventory to reflect its LCNRV.

The purpose of the adjusƟng entry is to ensure that inventory is not overstated on the balance
sheet and that income is not overstated on the income statement.

If white paper and coloured paper are considered a similar group, the calculaƟons in Figure 6.15
above show they have a combined cost of $2,650 and a combined net realizable value of $2700.
LCNRV would therefore be $2,650. In this case, the cost is equal to the LCNRV so no adjusƟng
entry would be required if applying LCNRV on a group basis.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Lower
of Cost or Net Realizable Value.
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6.4 EsƟmaƟng the Balance in Merchandise Inventory

LO4 – EsƟmate
merchandise
inventory using
the gross profit
method and the
retail inventory
method.

Aphysical inventory count determines the quanƟty of itemsonhand. When
costs are assigned to these items and these individual costs are added, a
total inventory amount is calculated. Is this dollar amount correct? Should
it be larger? How can one tell if the physical count is accurate? Being able
to esƟmate this amount provides a check on the reasonableness of the
physical count and valuaƟon.

The two methods used to esƟmate the inventory dollar amount are the
gross profit method and the retail inventory method. Both methods are
based on a calculaƟon of the gross profit percentage in the income state-
ment. Assume the following informaƟon:

Sales $15,000 100%
Cost of Goods Sold:
OperaƟng Inventory $ 4,000
Purchases 12,000
Cost of Goods Available for Sale 16,000
Less: Ending Inventory (6,000)

Cost of Goods Sold 10,000 67%
Gross Profit $ 5,000 33%

The gross profit percentage, rounded to the nearest whole percent, is 33% ($5,000/15,000). This
means that for each dollar of sales, an average of $.33 is leŌ to cover other expenses aŌer deduct-
ing cost of goods sold.

EsƟmaƟng ending inventory requires an understanding of the relaƟonship of ending inventory
with cost of goods sold. Review the following cost of goods sold calculaƟons.

..Cost of Goods Sold: ..Cost of Goods Sold:
Opening Inventory $ 4,000 Opening Inventory $ 4,000
Purchases 12,000 Purchases 12,000
Cost of Goods Available for Sale $16,000 Cost of Goods Available for Sale $16,000
Less: EsƟmated Ending Inventory ? Less: EsƟmated Ending Inventory 6,000

Cost of Goods Sold ..$10,000 Cost of Goods Sold ..?

..
How much of the $16,000 of goods
that the company had available to
sell is sƟll not sold at December
31 (in other words, what is ending
inventory)? You can calculate this as:

Available for sale $16,000
Less inventory that was sold 10,000
Equals what must sƟll be on hand $ 6,000

.
How much of the $16,000 of goods that
were available to be sold have been
sold? You use the dollar amount of
ending inventory to calculate this, as:

Available for sale $16,000
Less inventory on hand 6,000
Equals what must have been sold $10,000
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The sum of cost of goods sold and ending inventory is always equal to cost of goods available
for sale. Knowing any two of these amounts enables the third amount to be calculated. Under-
standing this relaƟonship is the key to esƟmaƟng inventory using either the gross profit or retail
inventory methods, discussed below.

Gross Profit Method

The gross profit method of esƟmaƟng ending inventory assumes that the percentage of gross
profit on sales remains approximately the same from period to period. Therefore, if the gross
profit percentage is known, the dollar amount of ending inventory can be esƟmated. First, gross
profit is esƟmated by applying the gross profit percentage to sales. From this, cost of goods sold
can be derived, namely the difference between sales and gross profit. Cost of goods available
for sale can be determined from the accounƟng records (opening inventory + purchases). The
difference between cost of goods available for sale and cost of goods sold is the esƟmated value
of ending inventory.

To demonstrate, assume that Pete’s Products Ltd. has an average gross profit percentage of 40%.
If opening inventory at January 1, 2019 was $200, sales for the six months ended June 30, 2019
were $2,000, and inventory purchased during the six months ended June 30, 2019 was $1,100,
the cost of goods sold and ending inventory can be esƟmated as follows.

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2019

Sales (given) $2,000
Cost of Goods Sold:
Opening Inventory (given) $ 200
Purchases (given) 1,100
Cost of Goods Available for Sale 1,300
Less: EsƟmated Ending Inventory ..(100)

Cost of Goods Sold ..1,200
Gross Profit $ ..800

..

Step 3: Ending inven-
tory can be esƟmated
($1,300-1,200=100).

.

Step 2: Cost of
goods sold can be
derived ($2,000-
800=$1,200).

.

Step 1: Gross profit
is esƟmated at $800
($2,000 x 40%).

The esƟmated ending inventory at June 30 must be $100—the difference between the cost of
goods available for sale and cost of goods sold.

The gross profit method of esƟmaƟng inventory is useful in situaƟons when goods have been
stolen or destroyed by fire or when it is not cost-effecƟve to make a physical inventory count.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Gross
Profit Method.

Retail Inventory Method

The retail inventorymethod is another way to esƟmate cost of goods sold and ending inventory. It
can be used when items are consistently valued at a known percentage of cost, known as amark-
up. A mark-up is the raƟo of retail value (or selling price) to cost. For example, if an inventory
item had a retail value of $12 and a cost of $10, then it was marked up to 120% (12/10 x 100).
Mark-ups are commonly used in clothing stores.

To apply the retail inventory method using themark-up percentage, the cost of goods available for
sale is first converted to its retail value (the selling price). To do this, the mark-up (raƟo of retail
to cost) must be known. Assume the same informaƟon as above for Pete’s Products Ltd., except
that now every item in the store is marked up to 160% of its purchase price. That is, if an item is
purchased for $100, it is sold for $160. Based on this, opening inventory, purchases, and cost of
goods available can be restated at retail. Cost of goods sold can then be valued at retail, meaning
that it will equal sales for the period. From this, ending inventory at retail can be determined and
then converted back to cost using the mark-up. These steps are illustrated below.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_4_1GrossProfit
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Six Months Ended
June 30, 2019

At Retail At Cost
Cost of Goods Sold:
Opening Inventory (from records) $ ..320 ..$ 200
Purchases (from records) ..1,760 ..1,100
Cost of Goods Available for Sale 2,080 1,300
..Less: EsƟmated Ending Inventory ..(80) ..(50)

Cost of Goods Sold ..2,000 ..1,250

..

Step 4: Ending inventory is re-
stated at cost by dividing by
160%. Ending inventory of $80
at retail is divided by 160% to get
ending inventory at cost of $50.

.

Step 3: Ending inven-
tory can be derived by
taking cost of goods
available for sale at
retail and subtracƟng
sales at retail ($2,080-
2,000=$80).

.

Step 2a: Cost of
goods sold at retail
is Sales of $2,000
which was given.
RestaƟng sales to
cost requires divid-
ing $2,000 by 160%
($2,000÷160%=$1,250).

.

Step 2b: Instead of conƟnuing to
Steps 3 and 4, ending inventory
at cost could be calculated at
this point by taking cost of goods
available for sale of $1,300 and
subtracƟng cost of goods sold
of $1,250. Ending inventory at
retail could then be calculated by
mulƟplying ending inventory at
cost of $50 x 160%.

.

Step 1: Opening inventory and
purchases are restated at retail
by mulƟplying the cost x 160%.
$200 x 160% = $320
$1,100 x 160% = $1,760

The retail inventory method of esƟmaƟng ending inventory is easy to calculate and produces a
relaƟvely accurate cost of ending inventory, provided that no change in the average mark-up has
occurred during the period.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Retail
Inventory Method.

6.5 AppendixA: RaƟoAnalysis—Merchandise Inventory Turnover

LO5 – Explain and
calculate mer-
chandise inven-
tory turnover.

To help determine how quickly a company is able to sell its inventory, the
merchandise inventory turnover can be calculated as:

Cost of Goods Sold ÷ Average Merchandise Inventory

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_4_2Retail
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The average merchandise inventory is the beginning inventory plus the ending inventory divided
by two. For example, assume Company A had cost of goods sold of $3,000; beginningmerchandise
inventory of $500; and ending inventory of $700. The merchandise inventory turnover would be
5, calculated as:

Cost of Goods Sold ÷ Average Merchandise Inventory
$3,000 ÷ (($500+$700)/2)

The ‘5’ means that Company A sold its inventory 5 Ɵmes during the year. In contrast, assume
Company B had cost of goods sold of $3,000; beginning merchandise inventory of $1,000; and
ending inventory of $1,400. The merchandise inventory turnover would be 2.50 calculated as:

Cost of Goods Sold ÷ Average Merchandise Inventory
$3,000 ÷ (($1,000+$1,400)/2)

The ‘2.5’ means that Company B sold its inventory 2.5 Ɵmes during the year which is much slower
than Company A. The faster a business sells its inventory, the beƩer, because high turnover pos-
iƟvely affects liquidity. Liquidity is the ability to convert assets, such as merchandise inventory,
into cash. Therefore, Company A’s merchandise turnover is more favourable than Company B’s.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Using
the InformaƟon - Merchandise Turnover.

6.6 Appendix B: Inventory Cost Flow AssumpƟons Under the Pe-
riodic System

LO6 – Calculate
cost of goods sold
and merchandise
inventory using
specific idenƟ-
ficaƟon, first-in
first-out (FIFO),
and weighted
average cost
flow assumpƟons
periodic.

Recall fromChapter 5 that the periodic inventory systemdoes notmaintain
detailed records to calculate cost of goods sold each Ɵme a sale is made.
Rather, when a sale is made, the following entry is made:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XX

To record a credit sale.

No entry is made to record cost of goods sold and to reduce Merchandise
Inventory, as is done under the perpetual inventory system. Instead, all
purchases are expenses and recorded in the general ledger account “Pur-
chases.” A physical inventory count is conducted at year-end. An amount

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_5_1MerchTurnover
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for ending inventory is calculated based on this count and the valuaƟon of
the items in inventory, and cost of goods sold is calculated in the income
statement based on this total amount. The income statement format is:

Sales $10,000
Cost of Goods Sold:
OperaƟng Inventory $ 1,000
Purchases 5,000
Goods Available for Sale 6,000
Less: Ending Inventory (2,000)

Cost of Goods Sold 4,000
Gross Profit $6,000

Even under the periodic inventory system, however, inventory cost flow assumpƟons need to be
made (specific idenƟficaƟon, FIFO, weighted average) when purchase prices change over Ɵme, as
in a period of inflaƟon. Further, different inventory cost flow assumpƟons produce different cost
of goods sold and ending inventory values, just as they did under the perpetual inventory system.
These effects have been explained earlier in this chapter. Under the periodic inventory system,
cost of goods sold and ending inventory values are determined as if the sales for the period all take
place at the end of the period. These calculaƟons were demonstrated in our earliest example in
this chapter.

Our original example using units assumed there was no opening inventory at June 1, 2015 and
that purchases were made as follows.

Purchase TransacƟon
Date Number of units Price per unit

June 1 1 $1
5 1 2
7 1 3

21 1 4
28 1 5

5 $15

When recorded in the general ledger T-account “Purchases” (an income statement account), these
transacƟons would be recorded as follows.

Purchases No. 570
Jun. 1 $1

5 2
7 3

21 4
28 5

Sales of four units are all assumed to take place on June 30. Ending inventory would then be
counted at the end of the day on June 30. One unit should be on hand. It would be valued as
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follows under the various inventory cost flow assumpƟons, as discussed in the first part of the
chapter:

Specific idenƟficaƟon $4
FIFO 5
Weighted average 3

These values would be used to calculate cost of goods sold and gross profit on the income state-
ment, as shown in Figure 6.16 below:

Spec.
Ident.

FIFO Wtd.
Avg.

Sales $40 $40 $40
Cost of Goods Sold:
OperaƟng Inventory -0- -0- -0-
Purchases 15 15 15
Goods Available for Sale 15 15 15
Less: Ending Inventory (4) (5) (3)

Cost of Goods Sold 11 10 12
Gross Profit and Net Income $29 $30 $28

Gross Profit and Net Income $ 4 $ 5 $ 3

Figure 6.16: Effects of Different Cost Flow AssumpƟons: Periodic Inventory System

Note that these results are the same as those calculated using the perpetual inventorymethod and
assuming all sales take place on June 30 using specific idenƟficaƟon (Figure 6.2), FIFO (Figure 6.3),
and weighted average (Figure 6.4) cost flow assumpƟons, respecƟvely.

As discussed in the appendix to Chapter 5, the ending inventory amount will be recorded in the
accounƟng recordswhen the income statement accounts are closed to the IncomeSummary at the
end of the year. The amount of the closing entry for ending inventory is obtained from the income
statement. Using the example above and assuming no other revenue or expense items, the closing
entry to adjust ending inventory to actual under the each inventory cost flow assumpƟon would
be as follows.

Specific Weighted
IdenƟficaƟon FIFO Average

Merchandise Inventory (ending) 4 5 3
Sales 40 40 40
Income Summary 44 45 43

To close all income statement accounts with credit
balances to the Income Summary and record end-
ing inventory balance.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Assigning
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146 Assigning Costs to Merchandise

Costs to Inventory - Periodic System.

Summary of Chapter 6 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Calculate cost of goods sold and merchandise inventory using specific
idenƟficaƟon, first-in first-out (FIFO), andweighted average cost flowassumpƟons—
perpetual.

Cost of goods available for salemust be allocated between cost of goods sold and ending inventory
using a cost flow assumpƟon. Specific idenƟficaƟon allocates cost to units sold by using the actual
cost of the specific unit sold. FIFO (first-in first-out) allocates cost to units sold by assuming the
units sold were the oldest units in inventory. Weighted average allocates cost to units sold by
calculaƟng a weighted average cost per unit at the Ɵme of sale.

LO2 – Explain the impact on financial statements of inventory cost flows and
errors.

As purchase prices change, parƟcular inventory methods will assign different cost of goods sold
and resulƟng ending inventory to the financial statements. Specific idenƟficaƟon achieves the
exact matching of revenues and costs while weighted average accomplishes an averaging of price
changes, or smoothing. The use of FIFO results in the current cost of inventory appearing on
the balance sheet in ending inventory. The cost flow method in use must be disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements and be applied consistently from period to period. An error in
ending inventory in one period impacts the balance sheet (inventory and equity) and the income
statement (COGS and net income) for that accounƟng period and the next. However, inventory
errors in one period reverse themselves in the next.

LO3 – Explain and calculate lower of cost and net realizable value inventory ad-
justments.

Inventory must be evaluated, at minimum, each accounƟng period to determine whether the net
realizable value (NRV) is lower than cost, known as the lower of cost and net realizable value
(LCNRV) of inventory. An adjustment is made if the NRV is lower than cost. LCNRV can be applied
to groups of similar items or by item.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN6_6_1Periodic
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LO4 – EsƟmate merchandise inventory using the gross profit method and the
retail inventory method.

EsƟmaƟng inventory using the gross profit method requires that esƟmated cost of goods sold be
calculated by, first, mulƟplying net sales by the gross profit raƟo. EsƟmated ending inventory at
cost is then arrived at by taking goods available for sale at cost less the esƟmated cost of goods
sold. To apply the retail inventory method, three calculaƟons are required:

• retail value of goods available for sale less retail value of net sales equals retail value of
ending inventory,

• goods available for sale at cost divided by retail value of goods available for sale equals cost
to retail raƟo, and

• retail value of ending inventory mulƟplied by the cost to retail raƟo equals esƟmated cost
of ending inventory.

LO5 – Explain and calculate merchandise inventory turnover.

The merchandise turnover is a liquidity raƟo that measures how quickly inventory is sold. It is
calculated as: COGS/Average Merchandise Inventory. Average merchandise inventory is the be-
ginning inventory balance plus the ending inventory balance divided by two.

LO6 – Calculate cost of goods sold and merchandise inventory using specific
idenƟficaƟon, first-in first-out (FIFO), andweighted average cost flowassumpƟons—
periodic.

Periodic systems assign cost of goods available for sale to cost of goods sold and ending inventory
at the end of the accounƟng period. Specific idenƟficaƟon and FIFO give idenƟcal results in each
of periodic and perpetual. Theweighted average cost, periodic, will differ from its perpetual coun-
terpart because in periodic, the average cost per unit is calculated at the end of the accounƟng
period based on total goods that were available for sale.
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Chapter 7

.
Cash and Receivables

This chapter focuses on the current assets of cash and receivables. Internal control over cash
involves processes and procedures that include the use of a peƩy cash fund and the preparaƟon
of a bank reconciliaƟon. Receivables can be determined to be uncollecƟble. To match the cost of
uncollecƟble accounts and the related revenue, uncollecƟble accounts, more commonly referred
to as bad debts, must be esƟmated. Bad debts are accounted for using the allowance approach,
applied using either the income statement method or balance sheet method. When uncollecƟble
accounts are specifically idenƟfied, they arewriƩen off. Write-offs can be subsequently recovered.
The journalizing of short-term notes receivable and related interest revenue is also discussed in
this chapter. To help in the analysis of cash and receivables, two raƟos are introduced: the acid-
test and accounts receivable turnover.

Chapter 7 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Define internal control and explain how it is applied to cash.

LO2 – Explain and journalize peƩy cash transacƟons.

LO3 – Explain the purpose of and prepare a bank reconciliaƟon, and record related adjust-
ments.

LO4 – Explain, calculate, and record esƟmated uncollecƟble accounts receivable and subse-
quent write-offs and recoveries.

LO5 – Explain and record a short-term notes receivable as well as calculate related interest.

LO6 – Explain and calculate the acid-test raƟo.

LO7 – Explain and calculate the accounts receivable turnover.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 7.

1. What consƟtutes a good system of control over cash?

2. What is a peƩy cash system and how is it used to control cash?

149
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3. How is peƩy cash reported on the balance sheet?

4. How does the preparaƟon of a bank reconciliaƟon facilitate control over cash?

5. What are the steps in preparing a bank reconciliaƟon?

6. How does the esƟmaƟon of uncollecƟble accounts receivable address the GAAP of match-
ing?

7. How are uncollecƟble accounts disclosed on financial statements?

8. What are the different methods used for esƟmaƟng uncollecƟble accounts receivable?

9. How is aging of accounts receivable used in esƟmaƟng uncollecƟble accounts?

10. How are notes receivable recorded?

11. What is the acid-test raƟo and how is it calculated?

12. How is the accounts receivable turnover calculated and what does it mean?

7.1 Internal Control

LO1 – Define
internal control
and explain how
it is applied to
cash.

Assets are the lifeblood of a company. As such, they must be protected.
This duty falls to managers of a company. The policies and procedures im-
plemented bymanagement to protect assets are collecƟvely referred to as
internal controls. An effecƟve internal control program not only protects
assets, but also aids in accurate recordkeeping, produces financial state-
ment informaƟon in a Ɵmely manner, ensures compliance with laws and
regulaƟons, and promotes efficient operaƟons. EffecƟve internal control
procedures ensure that adequate records aremaintained, transacƟons are
authorized, duƟes among employees are divided between recordkeeping
funcƟons and control of assets, and employees’ work is checked by others.
The use of electronic recordkeeping systems does not decrease the need
for good internal controls.

The effecƟveness of internal controls is limited by human error and fraud. Human error can occur
because of negligence or mistakes. Fraud is the intenƟonal decision to circumvent internal control
systems for personal gain. SomeƟmes, employees cooperate in order to avoid internal controls.
This collusion is oŌen difficult to detect, but fortunately, it is not a common occurrence when
adequate controls are in place.

Internal controls take many forms. Some are broadly based, like mandatory employee drug test-
ing, video surveillance, and scruƟny of company email systems. Others are specific to a parƟcular
type of asset or process. For instance, internal controls need to be applied to a company’s account-
ing system to ensure that transacƟons are processed efficiently and correctly to produce reliable
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records in a Ɵmely manner. Procedures should be documented to promote good recordkeeping,
and employees need to be trained in the applicaƟon of internal control procedures.

Financial statements prepared according to generally accepted accounƟng principles are useful
not only to external users in evaluaƟng the financial performance and financial posiƟon of the
company, but also for internal decision making. There are various internal control mechanisms
that aid in the producƟon of Ɵmely and useful financial informaƟon. For instance, using a chart
of accounts is necessary to ensure transacƟons are recorded in the appropriate account. As an
example, expenses are classified and recorded in applicable expense accounts, then summarized
and evaluated against those of a prior year.

The design of accounƟng records and documents is another important means to provide financial
informaƟon. Financial data is entered and summarized in records and transmiƩed by documents.
A good system of internal control requires that these records and documents be prepared at the
Ɵme a transacƟon takes place or as soon as possible aŌerward, since they become less credible
and the possibility of error increases with the passage of Ɵme. The documents should also be
consecuƟvely pre-numbered, to indicate whether there may be missing documents.

Internal control also promotes the protecƟon of assets. Cash is parƟcularly vulnerable to misuse.
A good system of internal control for cash should provide adequate procedures for protecƟng cash
receipts and cash payments (commonly referred to as cash disbursements). Procedures to achieve
control over cash vary from company to company and depend upon such variables as company
size, number of employees, and cash sources. However, effecƟve cash control generally requires
the following:

• SeparaƟon of duƟes: People responsible for handling cash should not be responsible for
maintaining cash records. By separaƟng the custodial and record-keeping duƟes, theŌ of
cash is less likely.

• Same-day deposits: All cash receipts should be deposited daily in the company’s bank ac-
count. This prevents theŌ and personal use of the money before deposit.

• Payments made using non-cash means: Cheques or electronic funds transfer (EFT) provide
a separate external record to verify cash disbursements. For example, many businesses pay
their employees using electronic funds transfer because it is more secure and efficient than
using cash or even cheques.

Two forms of internal control over cash will be discussed in this chapter: the use of a peƩy cash
account and the preparaƟon of bank reconciliaƟons.
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7.2 PeƩy Cash

LO2 – Explain
and journal-
ize peƩy cash
transacƟons.

The payment of small amounts by chequemay be inconvenient and costly.
For example, using cash to pay for postage on an incoming package might
be less than the total processing cost of a cheque. A small amount of cash
kept on hand to pay for small, infrequent expenses is referred to as a peƩy
cash fund.

Establishing and Reimbursing the PeƩy Cash Fund

To set up the peƩy cash fund, a cheque is prepared for the amount of the fund. The custodian
of the fund cashes the cheque and places the coins and currency in a locked box. Responsibility
for the peƩy cash fund should be delegated to only one person, who should be held accountable
for its contents. Cash payments are made by this peƩy cash custodian out of the fund as required
when supported by receipts. When the amount of cash has been reduced to a pre-determined
level, the receipts are compiled and submiƩed for entry into the accounƟng system. A cheque is
then issued to reimburse the peƩy cash fund. At any given Ɵme, the peƩy cash amount should
consist of cash and supporƟng receipts, all totalling the peƩy cash fund amount. To demonstrate
the management of a peƩy cash fund, assume that a $200 cheque is issued for the purpose of
establishing a peƩy cash fund.

The journal entry is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

PeƩy Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200

To establish the $200 peƩy cash fund.

PeƩy Cash is a current asset account. When reporƟng Cash on the financial statements, the bal-
ances in PeƩy Cash and Cash are added together and reported as one amount.

Assume the peƩy cash custodian has receipts totalling $190 and $10 in coin and currency remain-
ing in the peƩy cash box. The receipts consist of the following: delivery charges $100, $35 for
postage, and office supplies of $55. The peƩy cash custodian submits the receipts to the accoun-
tant who records the following entry and issues a cheque for $190.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Delivery Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100
Postage Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35
Office Supplies Expense1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 190
To reimburse the peƩy cash fund.
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The peƩy cash receipts should be cancelled at the Ɵme of reimbursement in order to prevent their
reuse for duplicate reimbursements. The peƩy cash custodian cashes the $190 cheque. The $190
plus the $10 of coin and currency in the locked box immediately prior to reimbursement equals
the $200 total required in the peƩy cash fund.

SomeƟmes, the receipts plus the coin and currency in the peƩy cash locked box do not equal the
required peƩy cash balance. To demonstrate, assume the same informaƟon above except that the
coin and currency remaining in the peƩy cash locked box was $8. This amount plus the receipts
for $190 equals $198 and not $200, indicaƟng a shortage in the peƩy cash box. The entry at the
Ɵme of reimbursement reflects the shortage and is recorded as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Delivery Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100
Postage Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35
Office Supplies Expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55
Cash Over/Short Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 192
To reimburse the peƩy cash fund and ac-
count for the $2.00 shortage.

NoƟce that the $192 credit to Cash plus the $8 of coin and currency remaining in the peƩy cash
box immediately prior to reimbursement equals the $200 required total in the peƩy cash fund.

Assume, instead, that the coin and currency in the peƩy cash locked box was $14. This amount
plus the receipts for $190 equals $204 and not $200, indicaƟng an overage in the peƩy cash box.
The entry at the Ɵme of reimbursement reflects the overage and is recorded as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Delivery Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100
Postage Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35
Office Supplies Expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55

Cash Over/Short Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 186

To reimburse the peƩy cash fund and ac-
count for the $4.00 overage.

Again, noƟce that the $186 credit to Cash plus the $14 of coin and currency remaining in the peƩy
cash box immediately prior to reimbursement equals the $200 required total in the peƩy cash
fund.

What happens if the peƩy cash custodian finds that the fund is rarely used? In such a case, the
size of the fund should be decreased to reduce the risk of theŌ. To demonstrate, assume the
peƩy cash custodian has receipts totalling $110 and $90 in coin and currency remaining in the

1An expense is debited instead of Office Supplies, an asset, because the need to purchase supplies through peƩy
cash assumes the immediate use of the items.
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peƩy cash box. The receipts consist of the following: delivery charges $80 and postage $30. The
peƩy cash custodian submits the receipts to the accountant and requests that the peƩy cash fund
be reduced by $75. The following entry is recorded and a cheque for $35 is issued.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Delivery Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80
Postage Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30

Cash Over/Short Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . 75
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35

To reimburse the peƩy cash fund and re-
duce it by $75.

The $35 credit to Cash plus the $90 of coin and currency remaining in the peƩy cash box immedi-
ately prior to reimbursement equals the $125 new balance in the peƩy cash fund ($200 original
balance less the $75 reducƟon).

In cases when the size of the peƩy cash fund is too small, the peƩy cash custodian could request
an increase in the size of the peƩy cash fund at the Ɵme of reimbursement. Care should be taken
to ensure that the size of the peƩy cash fund is not so large as to become a potenƟal theŌ issue.
AddiƟonally, if a peƩy cash fund is too large, it may be an indicator that transacƟons that should
be paid by cheque are not being processed in accordance with company policy. Remember that
the purpose of the peƩy cash fund is to pay for infrequent expenses; day-to-day items should not
go through peƩy cash.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run PeƩy
Cash.

7.3 Cash CollecƟons and Payments

LO3 – Explain
the purpose of
and prepare
a bank recon-
ciliaƟon, and
record related
adjustments.

The widespread use of banks facilitates cash transacƟons between enƟ-
Ɵes and provides a safeguard for the cash assets being exchanged. This
involvement of banks as intermediaries between enƟƟes has accounƟng
implicaƟons. At any point in Ɵme, the cash balance in the accounƟng
records of a parƟcular company usually differs from the bank cash bal-
ance of that company. The difference is usually because some cash trans-
acƟons recorded in the accounƟng records have not yet been recorded by
the bank and, conversely, some cash transacƟons recorded by the bank
have not yet been recorded in the company’s accounƟng records.

The use of a bank reconciliaƟon is one method of internal control over cash. The reconciliaƟon
process brings into agreement the company’s accounƟng records for cash and the bank statement

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_2_1OverUnder
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_2_1OverUnder
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issued by the company’s bank. A bank reconciliaƟon explains the difference between the balances
reported by the company and by the bank on a given date.

A bank reconciliaƟon proves the accuracy of both the company’s and the bank’s records, and re-
veals any errors made by either party. The bank reconciliaƟon is a tool that can help detect at-
tempts at theŌ and manipulaƟon of records. The preparaƟon of a bank reconciliaƟon is discussed
in the following secƟon.

The Bank ReconciliaƟon

The bank reconciliaƟon is a report prepared by a company at a point in Ɵme. It idenƟfies discrep-
ancies between the cash balance reported on the bank statement and the cash balance reported
in a business’s Cash account in the general ledger, more commonly referred to as the books. These
discrepancies are known as reconciling items and are added or subtracted to either the book bal-
ance or bank balance of cash. Each of the reconciling items is added or subtracted to the business’s
cash balance. The business’s cash balancewill change as a result of the reconciling items. The cash
balance prior to reconciliaƟon is called the unreconciled cash balance. The balance aŌer adding
and subtracƟng the reconciling items is called the reconciled cash balance. The following is a list
of potenƟal reconciling items and their impact on the bank reconciliaƟon.

Book reconciling items Bank reconciling items
CollecƟon of notes receivable (added) Outstanding deposits (added)
NSF cheques (subtracted) Outstanding cheques (subtracted)
Bank charges (subtracted)
Book errors (added or subtracted,
depending on the nature of the error)

Bank errors (added or subtracted,
depending on the nature of the error)

Book Reconciling Items

The collecƟon of notes receivable may bemade by a bank on behalf of the company. These collec-
Ɵons are oŌen unknown to the company unƟl they appear as an addiƟon on the bank statement,
and so cause the general ledger cash account to be understated. As a result, the collecƟon of a
notes receivable is added to the unreconciled book balance of cash on the bank reconciliaƟon.

Cheques returned to the bank because there were not sufficient funds (NSF) to cover them appear
on the bank statement as a reducƟon of cash. The company must then request that the customer
pay the amount again. As a result, the general ledger cash account is overstated by the amount of
the NSF cheque. NSF cheques must therefore be subtracted from the unreconciled book balance
of cash on the bank reconciliaƟon to reconcile cash.

Cheques received by a company and deposited into its bank account may be returned by the cus-
tomer’s bank for a number of reasons (e.g., the cheque was issued too long ago, known as a stale-
dated cheque, an unsigned or illegible cheque, or the cheque shows the wrong account number).
Returned cheques cause the general ledger cash account to be overstated. These cheques are



156 Cash and Receivables

therefore subtracted on the bank statement, and must be deducted from the unreconciled book
balance of cash on the bank reconciliaƟon.

Bank service charges are deducted from the customer’s bank account. Since the service charges
have not yet been recorded by the company, the general ledger cash account is overstated. There-
fore, service charges are subtracted from the unreconciled book balance of cash on the bank rec-
onciliaƟon.

A business may incorrectly record journal entries involving cash. For instance, a deposit or cheque
may be recorded for the wrong amount in the company records. These errors are oŌen detected
when amounts recorded by the company are compared to the bank statement. Depending on the
nature of the error, it will be either added to or subtracted from the unreconciled book balance of
cash on the bank reconciliaƟon. For example, if the company recorded a cheque as $520when the
correct amount of the cheque was $250, the $270 difference would be added to the unreconciled
book balance of cash on the bank reconciliaƟon. Why? Because the cash balance reported on the
bank statement is understated by $270 as a result of the error. As another example, if the company
recorded a deposit as $520when the correct amount of the deposit was $250, the $270 difference
would be subtracted from the unreconciled book balance of cash on the bank reconciliaƟon. Why?
Because the cash balance reported on the bank statement is overstated by $270 as a result of the
error. Each error requires careful analysis to determine whether it will be added or subtracted in
the unreconciled book balance of cash on the bank reconciliaƟon.

Bank Reconciling Items

Cash receipts are recorded as an increase of cash in the company’s accounƟng records when they
are received. These cash receipts are deposited by the company into its bank. The bank records an
increase in cash only when these amounts are actually deposited with the bank. Since not all cash
receipts recorded by the company will have been recorded by the bank when the bank statement
is prepared, there will be outstanding deposits, also known as deposits in transit. Outstanding
deposits cause the bank statement cash balance to be understated. Therefore, outstanding de-
posits are a reconciling item that must be added to the unreconciled bank balance of cash on the
bank reconciliaƟon.

On the date that a cheque is prepared by a company, it is recorded as a reducƟon of cash in a
company’s books. A bank statement will not record a cash reducƟon unƟl a cheque is presented
and accepted for payment (or clears the bank). Cheques that are recorded in the company’s books
but are not paid out of its bank account when the bank statement is prepared are referred to
as outstanding cheques. Outstanding cheques mean that the bank statement cash balance is
overstated. Therefore, outstanding cheques are a reconciling item that must be subtracted from
the unreconciled bank balance of cash on the bank reconciliaƟon.

Bank errors someƟmes occur and are not revealed unƟl the transacƟons on the bank statement
are compared to the company’s accounƟng records. When an error is idenƟfied, the company
noƟfies the bank to have it corrected. Depending on the nature of the error, it is either added to
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or subtracted from the unreconciled bank balance of cash on the bank reconciliaƟon. For example,
if the bank cleared a cheque as $520 thatwas correctlywriƩen for $250, the $270 differencewould
be added to the unreconciled bank balance of cash on the bank reconciliaƟon. Why? Because the
cash balance reported on the bank statement is understated by $270 as a result of this error. As
another example, if the bank recorded a deposit as $520 when the correct amount was actually
$250, the $270 difference would be subtracted from the unreconciled bank balance of cash on the
bank reconciliaƟon. Why? Because the cash balance reported on the bank statement is overstated
by $270 as a result of this specific error. Each error must be carefully analyzed to determine how
it will be treated on the bank reconciliaƟon.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Bank
ReconciliaƟon.

IllustraƟve Problem—Bank ReconciliaƟon

Assume that a bank reconciliaƟon is prepared by Big Dog Carworks Corp. (BDCC) at April 30. At
this date, the Cash account in the general ledger shows a balance of $21,929 and includes the cash
receipts and payments shown in Figure 7.1.

Cash Acct. No. 101
Date DescripƟon Debit Credit DR/CR Balance
2015

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

Mar.

.

31

.

Balance

.

DR

.

2

.

0

.

6

.

7

.

3

.

-

.
Apr.

.
30

.
April cash receipts

.
9

.
4

.
8

.
2

.
-

.
DR

.
3

.
0

.
1

.
5

.
5

.
-

.30 .April cash payments .8 .2 .2 .6 .- .DR .2 .1 .9 .2 .9 .- .

Remember, ‘DR’ (debit) denotes a
posiƟve cash balance in the far right-
hand column of the general ledger.

Figure 7.1: Big Dog’s General Ledger ‘Cash’ Account at April 30

Extracts from BDCC’s accounƟng records are reproduced with the bank statement for April in Fig-
ure 7.2.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_3_1Reconciliation
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_3_1Reconciliation
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PER COMPANY RECORDS PER BANK RECORDS

Outstanding cheques
at March 31:
Cheque No. Amount

580 $4,051 ..x
599 196 x
600 7 ..x

Cheques wriƩen
during month of April:
Cheque No. Amount

601 $ 24 ..x
602 1,720 x
603 230 x
604 200 x ..Second Chartered Bank
605 2,220 x Bank Statement
606 287 for Big Dog Carworks Corp.
607 1,364 For the Month Ended April 30, 2015
608 100
609 40 Deposits/ Balance
610 1,520 Cheques/Charges/Debits Credits 24,927
611 124 x 4,051 x 1,570 22,446
612 397 ..x 196 x 24 x 230 x 390 22,386

$8,226 200 x 22,186
124 x 397 x 7 x 21,658

2,220 x ..180 NSF 5,000 24,258
Deposits made for 1,720 x ..31 1,522 24,029
the month of April: ..6 SC 24,023

Date Amount
April 5 $1,570 ..x

10 390 x
23 5,000 x
28 1,522 x
30 ..1,000

$9,482

..

Step 1a: March
31 outstanding
cheques are com-
pared with cheques
cashed to see if any
are sƟll outstanding
at April 30. Cleared
items are marked
with an ‘x’.

.

Step 1b: Cheques
wriƩen are com-
pared with the
cleared cheques
on the bank state-
ment to idenƟfy
which ones have
not cleared the
bank (outstanding
cheques). Cleared
items are marked
with an ‘x’. .

Step 3: Deposits
made by the com-
pany are compared
with deposits on
the bank statement
to determine out-
standing deposits
at April 30. Cleared
items are marked
with an ‘x’.

.

Step 2: Other
charges made by
the bank are iden-
Ɵfied (SC=service
charge; NSF=not
sufficient funds).

.

Step 5: Remaining items are idenƟfied
and resolved with the bank.

.

Step 4: Outstanding deposits from
March 31 are compared with the bank
statement to see if they are sƟll out-
standing at April 30. (There were no
outstanding deposits at March 31.)

.

The BDCC bank statement for the
month of April is as follows:

Figure 7.2: The Bank ReconciliaƟon Process

For each entry in BDCC’s general ledger Cash account, there should be a matching entry on its
bank statement. Items in the general ledger Cash account but not on the bank statement must be
reported as a reconciling item on the bank reconciliaƟon. For each entry on the bank statement,
there should be a matching entry in BDCC’s general ledger Cash account. Items on the bank state-
ment but not in the general ledger Cash account must be reported as a reconciling item on the
bank reconciliaƟon.

There are nine steps to follow in preparing a bank reconciliaƟon for BDCC at April 30, 2015:
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Step 1

IdenƟfy the ending general ledger cash balance ($21,929 from Figure 7.1) and list it on the bank
reconciliaƟon as the book balance on April 30 as shown in Figure 7.3. This represents the unrec-
onciled book balance.

Step 2

IdenƟfy the ending cash balance on the bank statement ($24,023 from Figure 7.2) and list it on
the bank reconciliaƟon as the bank statement balance on April 30 as shown in Figure 7.3. This
represents the unreconciled bank balance.

Step 3

Cheques wriƩen that have cleared the bank are returnedwith the bank statement. These cheques
are said to be cancelled because, once cleared, the bank marks them to prevent them from being
used again. Cancelled cheques are compared to the company’s list of cash payments. Outstanding
cheques are idenƟfied using two steps:

a. Any outstanding cheques listed on the BDCC’s March 31 bank reconciliaƟon are compared to
the cheques listed on the April 30 bank statement.
For BDCC, all of the March outstanding cheques (nos. 580, 599, and 600) were paid by the
bank in April. Therefore, there are no reconciling items to include in the April 30 bank rec-
onciliaƟon. If one of the March outstanding cheques had not been paid by the bank in April,
it would be subtracted as an outstanding cheque from the unreconciled bank balance on the
bank reconciliaƟon.

b. The cash payments listed in BDCC’s accounƟng records are compared to the cheques on the
bank statement. This comparison indicates that the following cheques are outstanding.

Cheque No. Amount
606 $ 287
607 1,364
608 100
609 40
610 1,520

Outstanding cheques must be deducted from the bank statement’s unreconciled ending cash
balance of $24,023 as shown in Figure 7.3.

Step 4

Other payments made by the bank are idenƟfied on the bank statement and subtracted from the
unreconciled book balance on the bank reconciliaƟon.

a. An examinaƟon of the April bank statement shows that the bank had deducted the NSF cheque
of John Donne for $180. This is deducted from the unreconciled book balance on the bank
reconciliaƟon as shown in Figure 7.3.



160 Cash and Receivables

b. An examinaƟon of the April 30 bank statement shows that the bank had also deducted a service
charge of $6 during April. This amount is deducted from the unreconciled book balance on the
bank reconciliaƟon as shown in Figure 7.3.

Step 5

Last month’s bank reconciliaƟon is reviewed for outstanding deposits at March 31. There were no
outstanding deposits at March 31. If there had been, the amount would have been added to the
unreconciled bank balance on the bank reconciliaƟon.

Step 6

The deposits shown on the bank statement are compared with the amounts recorded in the com-
pany records. This comparison indicates that the April 30 cash receipt amounƟng to $1,000 was
deposited but it is not included in the bank statement. The outstanding deposit is added to the
unreconciled bank balance on the bank reconciliaƟon as shown in Figure 7.3.

Step 7

Any errors in the company’s records or in the bank statement must be idenƟfied and reported on
the bank reconciliaƟon.

An examinaƟon of the April bank statement shows that the bank deducted a cheque issued by
another company for $31 from the BDCC bank account in error. Assume that when noƟfied, the
bank indicated it would make a correcƟon in May’s bank statement.

The cheque deducted in error must be added to the bank statement balance on the bank recon-
ciliaƟon as shown in Figure 7.3.

Step 8

Total both sides of the bank reconciliaƟon. The result must be that the book balance and the bank
statement balance are equal or reconciled. These balances represent the adjusted balance.

The bank reconciliaƟon in Figure 7.3 is the result of compleƟng the preceding eight steps.
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Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Bank ReconciliaƟon
At April 30, 2014

Book balance at Apr. 30 $21,929 Bank statement balance at Apr. 30 $24,023
Add: Outstanding deposit 1,000

Cheque deducted in error 31
25,054

Less: Bank charges $ 6 Less: Outstanding cheques
NSF Cheque – J. Donne 180 186 Cheque No. Amount

606 $ 287
607 1,364
608 100
609 40
610 1,520 3,311

..Adjusted book balance at Apr. 30 ..$21,743 ..Adjusted bank balance at Apr. 30 ..$21,743

..

Reconciling items in this secƟon require
journal entries to be made in the general
journal to correct the unreconciled Cash
balance of $21,929 in the general ledger
to the reconciled balance of $21,743.

.

Reconciling items in this secƟon do not
require journal entries because the out-
standing deposits and cheques should
clear the bank next month, in May. Addi-
Ɵonally, the other reconciling items (e.g.,
the $31 cheque deducted in error) must
be reported to the bank so it can make
the necessary correcƟons to Big Dog’s ac-
count in the next month..

These balances must agree.

Figure 7.3: BDCC’s April Bank ReconciliaƟon

Step 9

For the adjusted balance calculated in the bank reconciliaƟon to appear in the accounƟng records,
an adjusƟng entry(s) must be prepared.

The adjusƟng entry(s) is based on the reconciling item(s) used to calculate the adjusted book bal-
ance. The book balance side of BDCC’s April 30 bank reconciliaƟon is copied to the leŌ below to
clarify the source of the following April 30 adjustments.
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Book balance at Apr. 30 $21,929 ..Bank Service Charges Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
Cash. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

To record service charges from April 30 bank
Less: Bank charges ..$ 6 reconciliaƟon.

NSF Cheque – J. Donne ..180 186
..Accounts Receivable – J. Donne . . . . . . . . . . . . 180

Cash. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 180
To record NSF cheque from April 30 bank reconciliaƟon.

Adjusted book balance at Apr. 30 $21,743

.

It is common pracƟce to use one compound entry to record the adjustments resulƟng from a bank
reconciliaƟon as shown below for BDCC.

Once the adjustment is posted, the Cash general ledger account is up to date, as illustrated in
Figure 7.4.

Bank Service Charges Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
Accounts Receivable – J. Donne . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 180

..Cash. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 186

To record reconciling items from April 30 bank reconciliaƟon.

Cash Acct. No. 101
Date DescripƟon Debit Credit DR/CR Balance
2015

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..
.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. ..

..
Mar.

.
31

.
Balance

.
DR

.
2

.
0

.
6

.
7

.
3

.
-

.Apr. .30 .April cash receipts .9 .4 .8 .2 .- .DR .3 .0 .1 .5 .5 .- .
30

.
April cash payments

.
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.
2

.
2

.
6

.
-

.
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.
2

.
1

.
9

.
2

.
9

.
-

.
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.

Bank charge expense

.

6

.

-

.
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.

2

.

1

.

9

.

2

.

3

.

-

.

30

.

NSF cheque

.

1

.

8

.

0

.

-

.
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.

2

.

1

.

7

.

4

.

3

.

-

.

This adjusted cash balance now
agrees with the bank reconciliaƟon.

Figure 7.4: Updated Cash Account in the General Ledger

Note that the balance of $21,743 in the general ledger Cash account is the same as the adjusted
book balance of $21,743 on the bank reconciliaƟon. Big Dog does not make any adjusƟng entries
for the reconciling items on the bank side of the bank reconciliaƟon since these will eventually
clear the bank and appear on a later bank statement. Bank errors will be corrected by the bank.
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Debit and Credit Card TransacƟons

Debit and credit cards are commonly accepted by companies when customers make purchases.
Because the cash is efficiently and safely transferred directly into a company’s bank account by the
debit or credit card company, such transacƟons enhance internal control over cash. However, the
seller is typically charged a fee for accepƟng debit and credit cards. For example, assume BDCC
makes a $1,000 sale to a customer who uses a credit card that charges BDCC a fee of 2%; the cost
of the sale is $750. BDCC would record:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 980
Credit Card Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20

Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000
To record sale and related credit card fee.
Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 750

Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 750
To record cost of sales.

The credit card fee is calculated as the $1,000 sale X 2% = $20. This means that BDCC collects net
cash proceeds of $980 ($1,000 - $20). The use of debit cards also involves fees and these would
be journalized in the same manner.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Bank
Credit Cards.

7.4 Accounts Receivable

LO4 – Explain,
calculate, and
record esƟmated
uncollecƟble ac-
counts receivable
and subsequent
write-offs and
recoveries.

Recall from Chapter 5 that the revenue porƟon of the operaƟng cycle, as
copied in Figure 7.5, begins with a sale on credit and is completed with
the collecƟon of cash. Unfortunately, not all receivables are collected. This
secƟondiscusses issues related to accounts receivable and their collecƟon.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_3_2CreditCard
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..

..Inventory is
purchased.

.

A liability is incurred.

.

Cash payment to supplier is made.

.

Inventory sold to customer.

.

Accounts receivable result.

.Cash is collected
from customer

.

One OperaƟng Cycle

.

Time

Figure 7.5: Revenue PorƟon of OperaƟng Cycle

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Accounts
Receivable TransacƟons.

UncollecƟble Accounts Receivable

Extending credit to customers results in increased sales and therefore profits. However, there is a
risk that some accounts receivablewill not be collected. A good internal control system is designed
to minimize bad debt losses. One such control is to permit sales on account only to credit-worthy
customers; this can be difficult to determine in advance. Companies with credit sales realize that
some of these amounts may never be collected. UncollecƟble accounts, commonly known as bad
debts, are an expense associated with selling on credit.

Bad debt expenses must be matched to the credit sales of the same period. For example, assume
BDCC recorded a $1,000 credit sale to XYA Company in April, 2015. Assume further that in 2016 it
was determined that the $1,000 receivable from XYA Company would never be collected. The bad
debt arising from the credit sale to XYA Company should be matched to the period in which the
sale occurred, namely, April, 2015. But how can that be done if it is not known which receivables
will become uncollecƟble? A means of esƟmaƟng and recording the amount of sales that will not
be collected in cash is needed. This is done by establishing a contra current asset account called
Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts (AFDA) in the general ledger to record esƟmated uncollecƟble
receivables. This account is a contra account to accounts receivable and is disclosed on the balance
sheet as shown below using assumed values.

Accounts receivable $25,000
Less: Allowance for doubƞul accounts 1,400 23,600
OR

Accounts receivable (net of $1,400 AFDA) $ 23,600

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_4_1AccountNumbers
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The Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts contra account reduces accounts receivable to the amount
that is expected to be collected—in this case, $23,600.

EsƟmaƟng UncollecƟble Accounts Receivable

The AFDA account is used to reflect howmuch of the total Accounts Receivable is esƟmated to be
uncollecƟble. To record esƟmated uncollecƟble accounts, the following adjusƟng entry is made.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Bad Debts Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts . . . . . XXX

To record the adjustment esƟmaƟng un-
collecƟble accounts receivable.

The bad debt expense is shown on the income statement. AFDA appears on the balance sheet
and is subtracted from accounts receivable resulƟng in the esƟmated net realizable accounts re-
ceivable.

Two different methods can be used to esƟmate uncollecƟble accounts. One method focuses on
esƟmaƟng Bad Debt Expense on the income statement, while the other focuses on esƟmaƟng the
desired balance in AFDA on the balance sheet.

The Income Statement Method

The objecƟve of the income statement method is to esƟmate bad debt expense based on credit
sales. Bad debt expense is calculated by applying an esƟmated loss percentage to credit sales
for the period. The percentage is typically based on actual losses experienced in prior years. For
instance, a company may have the following history of uncollected sales on account:

Year
Credit
Sales

Amounts
Not
Collected

2012 $150,000 $1,000
2013 200,000 1,200
2014 250,000 800

$600,000 $3,000

The average loss over these years is $3,000
$600,000

, or 1
2
of 1%. If management anƟcipates that similar

losses can be expected in 2015 and credit sales for 2015 amount to $300,000, bad debts expense
would be esƟmated as $1,500 ($300,000 x 0.005). Under the income statement method, the
$1,500 represents esƟmated bad debt expense and is recorded as:
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This esƟmated bad debt expense is calculated without considering any exisƟng balance in the
AFDA account.

Bad Debts Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,500
Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts . . . . . . . . . . ..1,500

To record the adjustment esƟmaƟng bad debt expense.

Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts
Bal. ..250 ..Bal. 250

Adjustment ..1,500
Adjusted !
Bal. 1,750

..

AFDA ACCOUNT BEFORE
POSTING ADJUSTMENT
Assume the balance re-
maining in AFDA from the
previous period is $250.

.

AFDA ACCOUNT AFTER
POSTING ADJUSTMENT
The adjustment esƟmaƟng
bad debt expense of $1,500
is posted to AFDA to get an
adjusted balance of $1,750.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Income
Statement Method.

The Balance Sheet Method

EsƟmated uncollecƟble accounts can also be calculated by using the balance sheetmethodwhere
a process called aging of accounts receivable is used. At the end of the period, the total of es-
Ɵmated uncollecƟble accounts is calculated by analyzing accounts receivable according to how
long each account has been outstanding. An aging analysis approach assumes that the longer a
receivable is outstanding, the less chance there is of collecƟng it. This process is illustrated in the
following schedule.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_4_2PercentOfSales
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Aging of Accounts Receivable
December 31, 2015

Number of Days Past Due
Not Yet

Customer Total Due 1–30 31–60 61–90 91–120 Over 120
Bendix Inc. $1,000 $1,000
Devco MarkeƟng Inc. 6,000 $1,000 $3,000 $2,000
Horngren Corp 4,000 2,000 1,000 $1,000
Perry Co. Ltd. 5,000 3,000 1,000 1,000
Others 9,000 4,000 5,000
Totals $25,000 $ 0 $10,000 $5,000 $2,000 $7,000 $1,000

In this example, accounts receivable total $25,000 at the end of the period. These are classified
into six Ɵme periods: those receivables that are not yet due; 1–30 days past due; 31–60 days past
due; 61–90 days past due; 91–120 days past due; and over 120 days past due.

Based on past experience, assume management esƟmates a bad debt percentage, or rate of un-
collecƟbility, for each Ɵme period as follows:

Number of Days Not Yet
Outstanding Due 1–30 31–60 61–90 91–120 Over 120

Rate of
UncollecƟbility 0.5% 1% 3% 5% 10% 40%

The calculaƟon of expected uncollecƟble accounts receivable at December 31, 2015 would be as
follows:
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CalculaƟon of UncollecƟble Amounts
December 31, 2015

EsƟmated EsƟmated
Age Accounts Bad Debt UncollecƟble
(days) Receivable Percentage Amount
1–30 $10,000 1% $ 100
31–60 5,000 3% 150
61–90 2,000 5% 100
91–120 7,000 10% 700
Over 120 1,000 40% 400
Totals $25,000 ..$1,450

..Allowance for Doubƞul ..Allowance for Doubƞul
Accounts Accounts

Bal. ..250 ..Bal. 250

Bal. ..1,450

..

The balance remain-
ing in the account is
$250 from the previ-
ous period.

.

The total esƟmated
uncollecƟble receiv-
ables is $1,450.

A total of $1,450 of accounts receivable is esƟmated to be uncollecƟble at December 31, 2015.

Under the balance sheet method, the esƟmated bad debt expense consists of the difference be-
tween the opening AFDA balance ($250, as in the prior example) and the esƟmated uncollecƟble
receivables ($1,450) required at year-end.

..Allowance for Doubƞul
Accounts

Bal. 250
..1,200

Bal. 1,450
The adjustment is recorded by the following journal entry:

Bad Debts Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,200
Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts ..1,200

To record the adjustment esƟmaƟng bad debt expense.

..

$1,200 must be
recorded to bring the
account to $1,450.

.

$1,200 is the difference be-
tween the $250 unadjusted bal-
ance and the required $1,450
closing balance.

As an alternaƟve to using an aging analysis to esƟmate uncollecƟble accounts, a simplified balance
sheet method can be used. The simplified balance sheet method calculates the total esƟmated
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uncollecƟble accounts as a percentage of the outstanding accounts receivables balance. For ex-
ample, assume an unadjusted balance in AFDA of $250 as in the preceding example. Also assume
the accounts receivable balance at the end of the period was $25,000 as in the previous illustra-
Ɵon. If it was esƟmated that 6% of these would be uncollecƟble based on historical data, the
adjustment would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Bad Debts Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,250
Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts . . . . . 1,250

To record the adjustment esƟmaƟng bad
debt expense.

The total esƟmated uncollecƟble accounts was $1,500 ($25,000 × 0.06). Given an unadjusted
balance in AFDA of $250, the adjustment to AFDA must be a credit of $1,250 ($1,500 – $250).

Regardless ofwhether the income statementmethodor balance sheetmethod is used, the amount
esƟmated as an allowance for doubƞul accounts seldom agrees with the amounts that actually
prove uncollecƟble. A credit balance remains in the allowance account if fewer bad debts occur
during the year than are esƟmated. There is a debit balance in the allowance account if more
bad debts occur during the year than are esƟmated. By monitoring the balance in the Allowance
for Doubƞul Accounts general ledger account at each year-end, though, management can deter-
mine whether the esƟmates of uncollecƟble amounts are accurate. If not, they can adjust these
esƟmates going forward.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Balance
Sheet Method.

WriƟng Off Accounts Receivable

When recording the adjusƟng entry to esƟmate uncollecƟble accounts receivable at the end of
the period, it is not known which specific receivables will become uncollecƟble. When an account
is determined to be uncollecƟble, it must be removed from the accounts receivable account. This
process is known as a write-off. To demonstrate the write-off of an account receivable, assume
that on January 15, 2016 the $1,000 credit account for customer Bendix Inc. is idenƟfied as un-
collecƟble because of the company’s bankruptcy. The receivable is removed by:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

AFDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000
Accounts Receivable – Bendix Inc. . . . . 1,000

To recordwrite-offof Bendix Inc.’s account
receivable.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_4_3PercentOfReceivables
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The $1,000 write-off reduces both the accounts receivable and AFDA accounts. The write-off does
not affect net realizable accounts receivable as demonstrated below.

Before
Write-Off Write-Off

AŌer
Write-Off

Accounts receivable $25,000 Cr 1,000 $24,000
Less: Allowance for doubƞul accounts 1,450 Dr 1,000 450
Net accounts receivable $23,550 $23,550

AddiƟonally, a write-off does not affect bad debt expense. This can be a challenge to understand.
To help clarify, recall that the adjusƟng entry to esƟmate uncollecƟbles was:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Bad Debts Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
AFDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To record the adjustment esƟmaƟng bad
debt expense.

This adjustment was recorded because GAAP requires that the bad debt expense be matched to
the period in which the sales occurred even though it is not known which receivables will become
uncollecƟble. Later, when an uncollecƟble receivable is idenƟfied, it is wriƩen off as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

AFDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To record write-off of account receivable.

NoƟce that the AFDA entries cancel each other out so that the net effect is a debit to bad debt
expense and a credit to accounts receivable. The use of the AFDA contra account allows us to
esƟmate uncollecƟble accounts in one period and record the write-off of bad receivables as they
become known in a later period.

Recovery of a Write-Off

WhenBendix Inc. went bankrupt, its debt to Big Dog Carworks Corp. waswriƩen off in anƟcipaƟon
that there would be no recovery of the amount owed. Assume that later, an announcement was
made that 25% of amounts owed by Bendix would be paid. This new informaƟon indicates that
BDCC will be able to recover a porƟon of the receivable previously wriƩen off. A recovery requires
two journal entries. The first entry reinstates the amount expected to be collected by BDCC—$250

($1,000× 25%) in this case and is recorded as:
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accounts Receivable – Bendix Inc. . . . . . . . 250
AFDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 250

To reverse write-off and reinstate col-
lecƟble porƟon of account.

This entry reverses the collecƟble part of the receivable previously wriƩen off. The effect of the
reversal is shown below.

Accounts Receivable Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts
Bal. $25,000 Bal. 1,450

Write-off 1,000 Write-off 1,000
Recovery 250 Recovery 250

The second entry records the collecƟon of the reinstated amount as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 250
Accounts Receivable – Bendix Inc. . . . . 250

To record recovery of collecƟble porƟon
of account previously wriƩen off.

The various journal entries related to accounts receivable are summarized below.

..Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

COGS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
..Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . XXX

..Bad Debts Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
..AFDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

..AFDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
..Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . XXX

..Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
AFDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
..Accounts Receivable . . . . . . . . . . XXX..

Sale on account.

.

AdjusƟng entry esƟmaƟng uncollecƟble accounts.

.

Write-off of uncollecƟble account.

.

Recovery of account previously wriƩen off.
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7.5 Short-Term Notes Receivable

LO5 – Explain
and record a
short-term notes
receivable as
well as calculate
related interest.

Short-term notes receivable are current assets, since they are due within
the greater of 12 months or the business’s operaƟng cycle. A note receiv-
able is a promissory note. A promissory note is a signed document where
the debtor, the person who owes the money, promises to pay the creditor
the principal and interest on the due date. The principal is the amount
owed. The creditor, or payee, is the enƟty owed the principal and inter-
est. Interest is the fee for using the principal and is calculated as: Principal
× Annual Interest Rate× Time. The Ɵme or term of the note is the period
from the date of the note to the due date. The due date, also known as
thematurity date, is the date on which the principal and interest must be
paid. The date of the note is the date the note begins accruing interest.

Short-term notes receivable can arise at the Ɵme of sale or when a customer’s account receiv-
able becomes overdue. To demonstrate the conversion of a customer’s account to a short-term
receivable, assume that BDCC’s customer Bendix Inc. is unable to pay its $5,000 account within
the normal 30-day period. The receivable is converted to a 5%, 60-day note dated December 5,
2015 with the following entry:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Notes Receivable - Bendix. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000
Accounts Receivable - Bendix . . . . . . . . 5,000

To record the conversion of a customer’s
account to a 5%, 60-day note dated De-
cember 5, 2015.

..The note is due on February 3, 2016 calculated as:

Days in December 31
Less: December 5 date of the note 5

Subtotal number of days 26
Add: Days in January 31

Subtotal number of days 57
Add: Days in February to total 60 days ..3
Total term of the note in days 60

.

Assuming a December 31, year-end for BDCC, the adjusƟng entry to accrue interest on December
31 would be:



7.5. Short-Term Notes Receivable 173

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Interest Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17.81
Interest Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17.81

To record the accrual of interest from De-
cember 5 to December 31.

The interest of $17.81 was calculated as: $5,000× 5%× 26/3652 = $17.80822 rounded to $17.81.
All interest calculaƟons in this textbook are rounded to two decimal places.

At maturity, February 3, 2016, BDCC collects the note plus interest and records:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,041.10
Note Receivable - Bendix . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000.00
Interest Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17.81
Interest Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23.29

To record the collecƟon of the principal
and interest.

The total interest realized on the note was $41.10 ($5,000 × 5% × 60/365 = $41.0959 rounded
to $41.10). Part of the $41.10 total interest revenue was realized in 2015 ($17.81) and the rest in
2016 ($41.10 - $17.81 = $23.29). Therefore, care must be taken to correctly allocate the interest
between periods. The total cash received by BDCC on February 3 was the sum of the principal and
interest: $5,000.00 + $41.10 = $5,041.10.

When the term of a note is expressed in months, the calculaƟons are less complex. For example,
assume that BDCC sold customer Woodlow a $4,000 service on August 1, 2015. On that date,
the customer signed a 4%, 3-month note. The term of the note is based on months and not days
therefore the maturity date is October 31, 2015. BDCC would record the collecƟon on October 31
as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,000
Note Receivable - Woodlow. . . . . . . . . . 4,000
Interest Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40

To record the collecƟon of the principal
and interest.

The total interest realized on the note was $40 ($4,000× 4%× 3/123 = $40.00)
2When calculaƟng interest based on days, use 365 days per year.
3When calculaƟng interest based on months, use 12 months per year.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Notes
Receivable.

7.6 Chapter 7 Appendix A: RaƟo Analysis—Acid Test

LO6 – Explain
and calculate the
acid-test raƟo.

The acid-test raƟo, also known as the quick raƟo, is a liquidity raƟo that is
a strict measure of a business’s availability of cash to pay current liabiliƟes
as they come due. It is considered a strict measure because it includes
only quick current assets. Quick current assets are those current assets
that are one step away from becoming cash. For example, accounts re-
ceivable are a quick current asset because collecƟon of receivables results
in cash. However, inventory is not a quick current asset because it is two
steps from cash—it has to be sold which creates an account receivable and
the receivable then has to be collected. Prepaids are not a quick current
asset because the intent in holding prepaids is not to convert them into
cash but, instead, to use them (e.g., prepaid insurance becomes insurance
expense as it is used). Quick current assets include only cash, short-term
investments, and receivables.

The acid-test raƟo is calculated as:

Quick current assets ÷ Current liabiliƟes

The acid-test raƟos for three companies operaƟng in a similar industry are shown below:

Acid-Test RaƟos
Year Company A Company B Company C
2014 0.56 1.3 8.6
2015 0.72 1.2 8.7

In 2014, Company A’s acid-test raƟo shows that it has only $0.56 to cover each $1.00 of current
liabiliƟes as they comedue. CompanyA therefore has a liquidity issue. AlthoughCompanyA’s acid-
test raƟo is sƟll unfavourable in 2015, the change is favourable because the liquidity improved. So
a company can have an unfavourable acid-test raƟo but show a favourable change.

Company B’s 2014 acid-test shows that it has favourable liquidity: $1.30 to cover each $1.00 of
current liabiliƟes as they come due. However, the change from 2014 to 2015 shows a decrease
in the acid-test raƟo which is unfavourable although Company B’s acid-test sƟll shows favourable
liquidity. So a company can have a favourable acid-test raƟo but an unfavourable change.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_5_1NotesReceivable
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Company C’s 2014 acid-test raƟo indicates that it has favourable liquidity: $8.60 to cover each
$1.00 of current liabiliƟes as they come due. However, this is actually unfavourable because a
company canhave an acid-test raƟo that is too high. If the acid-test raƟo is toohigh, it is a reflecƟon
that the company has idle assets. Idle assets do not typically generate the most opƟmum levels of
revenue. Remember that the purpose of holding assets is to generate revenue. In 2015, Company
C’s acid-test raƟo increased a bit and it is sƟll excessive which is unfavourable. So the change was
favourable but because the raƟo is too high, it reflects an unfavourable liquidity posiƟon, though
for different reasons than Company A.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Using
the InformaƟon - Acid-Test RaƟo.

7.7 Chapter 7 Appendix B: RaƟo Analysis—Accounts Receivable
Turnover

LO7 – Explain and
calculate the ac-
counts receivable
turnover.

The accounts receivable turnover not only measures the liquidity of re-
ceivables but also the efficiency of collecƟon, referred to as turnover (i.e.,
accounts receivable turnover into cash). A low turnover indicates high lev-
els of accounts receivable which has an unfavourable impact on liquidity
since cash is Ɵed up in receivables. A low turnover means management
might need to review credit granƟng policies and/or strengthen collecƟon
efforts.

The accounts receivable turnover is calculated as:

Net sales ÷ Average accounts receivable4

Average accounts receivable is calculated by taking the beginning of the period balance plus the
end of the period balance and dividing the sum by two.

The accounts receivable turnover raƟos for two companies operaƟng in a similar industry are
shown below:

Acid-Test RaƟos
Year Company A Company B
2015 5.8 6.9

Company B is more efficient at collecƟng receivables than is Company A. The higher the raƟo, the
more favourable.

4Short-term notes receivable from customers would be included in this amount.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_6_1AcidTest
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_6_1AcidTest
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Accounts
Receivable Turnover RaƟo.

Summary of Chapter 7 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Define internal control and explain how it is applied to cash.

The purpose of internal controls is to safeguard the assets of a business. Since cash is a parƟcularly
vulnerable asset, policies and procedures specific to cash need to be implemented, such as the
use of cheques and electronic funds transfer for payments, daily cash deposits into a financial
insƟtuƟon, and the preparaƟon of bank reconciliaƟons.

LO2 – Explain and journalize peƩy cash transacƟons.

A peƩy cash fund is used to pay small, irregular amounts for which issuing a cheque would be
inefficient. A peƩy cash custodian administers the fund by obtaining a cheque from the cash
payments clerk. The cheque is cashed and the coin and currency placed in a locked box. The peƩy
cash custodian collects receipts and reimburses individuals for the related amounts. When the
peƩy cash fund is replenished, the receipts are compiled and submiƩed for entry in the accounƟng
records so that a replacement cheque can be issued and cashed.

LO3 – Explain the purpose of and prepare a bank reconciliaƟon, and record re-
lated adjustments.

A bank reconciliaƟon is a form of internal control that reconciles the bank statement balance
to the general ledger cash account, also known as the book balance. Reconciling items that af-
fect the bank statement balance are outstanding deposits, outstanding cheques, and bank errors.
Reconciling items that affect the book balance are collecƟons made by the bank on behalf of the
company, NSF cheques, bank service charges, and errors. Once the book and bank statement bal-
ances are reconciled, an adjusƟng entry is prepared based on the reconciling items affecƟng the
book balance.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_7_1ARTurnover
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN7_7_1ARTurnover
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LO4 – Explain, calculate, and record esƟmated uncollecƟble accounts receivable
and subsequent write-offs and recoveries.

Not all accounts receivable are collected, resulƟng in uncollecƟble accounts. Because it is not
known which receivables will become uncollecƟble, the allowance approach is used to match the
cost of esƟmated uncollecƟble accounts to the period in which the related revenue was gener-
ated. The adjusƟng entry to record esƟmated uncollecƟbles is a debit to Bad Debt Expense and
a credit to Allowance for Doubƞul Accounts (AFDA). The income statement method and the bal-
ance sheet method are two ways to esƟmate and apply the allowance approach. The income
statement method calculates bad debt expense based on a percentage of credit sales while the
balance sheet method calculates total esƟmated uncollecƟble accounts (aka the balance in AFDA)
using an aging analysis. When receivables are idenƟfied as being uncollecƟble, they are wriƩen
off. If write-offs subsequently become collecƟble, a recovery is recorded using two entries: by
reversing the write-off (or the porƟon that is recoverable) and then journalizing the collecƟon.

LO5 – Explain and record a short-term notes receivable as well as calculate re-
lated interest.

A short-term notes receivable is a promissory note that bears an interest rate calculated over the
term of the note. Short-term notes receivable are current assets that mature within 12 months
from the date of issue or within a business’s operaƟng cycle, whichever is longer. Notes can be
issued to a customer at the Ɵme of sale, or a note receivable can replace an overdue receivable.

LO6 – Explain and calculate the acid-test raƟo.

The acid-test raƟo is a strict measure of liquidity. It is calculated as quick current assets divided by
current liabiliƟes. Quick assets include cash, short-term investments, and accounts receivable.

LO7 – Explain and calculate the accounts receivable turnover.

The accounts receivable turnover is a measure of liquidity and demonstrates how efficiently re-
ceivables are being collected. It is calculated as net sales divided by average accounts receivable.
Average accounts receivable are the sum of the beginning accounts receivable, including short-
term notes receivable from customers, plus ending receivables, divided by two.
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Chapter 8

.

Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets or property, plant, and equipment (PPE) assets are used in the normal operat-
ing acƟviƟes of the business and are expected to provide benefits for a period in excess of one
year. Long-lived assets covered in this chapter consist of three types: property, plant, and equip-
ment (PPE), intangible assets, and goodwill. Also discussed are depreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon,
techniques to allocate the cost of most long-lived assets over their esƟmated useful lives.

Chapter 8 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Describe how the cost of property, plant, and equipment (PPE) is determined, and
calculate PPE.

LO2 – Explain, calculate, and record depreciaƟon using the units-of-producƟon, straight-line,
and double-declining balance methods.

LO3 – Explain, calculate, and record depreciaƟon for parƟal years.

LO4 – Explain, calculate, and record revised depreciaƟon for subsequent capital expendi-
tures.

LO5 – Explain, calculate, and record the impairment of long-lived assets.

LO6 – Account for the derecogniƟon of PPE assets.

LO7 – Explain and record the acquisiƟon and amorƟzaƟon of intangible assets.

LO8 – Explain goodwill and idenƟfy where on the balance sheet it is reported.

LO9 – Describe the disclosure requirements for long-lived assets in the notes to the financial
statements.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 8.

1. What is the disƟncƟon between capital expenditures and revenue expenditures?

2. How do generally accepted accounƟng principles prescribe what amount should be capital-
ized?

179
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3. How is parƟal period depreciaƟon recorded?

4. What is the formula for calculaƟng revised depreciaƟon?

5. What is the difference between a tangible and intangible long-lived asset?

6. What differentmethods can be used to calculate depreciaƟon for property, plant, and equip-
ment?

7. How are disposals of property, plant, and equipment recorded in the accounƟng records?

8. How is the impairment of a long-lived asset accounted for?

9. How are intangible assets amorƟzed?

10. What is goodwill and what is its accounƟng treatment?

8.1 Establishing the Cost of Property, Plant, and Equipment (PPE)

LO1 – Describe
how the cost
of property,
plant, and equip-
ment (PPE) is
determined, and
calculate PPE.

Property, plant, and equipment (PPE) are tangible long-lived assets that
are acquired for the purpose of generaƟng revenue either directly or in-
directly. They are held for use in the producƟon or supply of goods and
services, have been acquired for use on a conƟnuing basis, and are not in-
tended for sale in the ordinary course of business. Because PPE assets are
long-lived or have a life greater than one year, they are non-current in na-
ture, also known as long-term assets. Examples of PPE assets include land,
office andmanufacturing buildings, producƟonmachinery, trucks, ships or
aircraŌ used to deliver goods or transport passengers, salespersons’ au-
tomobiles owned by a company, or a farmer’s producƟon machinery like
tractors and field equipment. PPE assets are tangible assets because they
can be physically touched. There are other types of non-current assets
that are intangible – exisƟng only as legal concepts – like copyrights and
patents. These will be discussed later in this chapter.

Capital Expenditures

Any cash disbursement is referred to as an expenditure. A capital expenditure results in the ac-
quisiƟon of a non-current asset, including any addiƟonal costs involved in preparing the asset for
its intended use. Examples of various costs that may be incurred to prepare PPE for use are listed
below.
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Capital Expenditures
Land Building Equipment

..Purchase price Purchase price Invoice cost
Commission to real Commission to real TransportaƟon
estate agent estate agent Insurance (during

..Legal fees Legal fees transportaƟon)

..Costs of draining, Repair and Assembly
clearing, and remodelling costs InstallaƟon
landscaping; before use (including wages
demoliƟon Payments to tenants paid to company

Assessments for for premature employees)
streets and terminaƟon of Special floor
sewage system lease foundaƟons or

supports
Wiring
InspecƟon

..Test run costs

..

Costs to Acquire PPE

.

Costs to Pre-
pare PPE for
Use

To demonstrate, assume that equipment is purchased for $20,000. AddiƟonal costs include trans-
portaƟon costs $500, installaƟon costs $1,000, construcƟon costs for a cement foundaƟon $2,500,
and test run(s) costs to debug the equipment $2,000. The total capitalized cost of the asset to put
it into use is $26,000.

Determining whether an outlay is a capital expenditure or a revenue expenditure is a maƩer of
judgment. A revenue expenditure does not have a future benefit beyond one year. The concept
of materiality enters into the disƟncƟon between capital and revenue expenditures. As a maƩer
of expediency, an expenditure of $20 that has all the characterisƟcs of a capital expenditure would
probably be expensed rather than capitalized, because the Ɵme and effort required by accounƟng
staff to capitalize and then depreciate the itemover its esƟmated useful life is somuch greater than
the benefits derived from doing so. CapitalizaƟon policies are established by many companies to
resolve the problem of disƟnguishing between capital and revenue expenditures. For example,
one company’s capitalizaƟon policy may state that all capital expenditures equal to or greater
than $1,000 will capitalized, while all capital expenditures under $1,000 will be expensed when
incurred. Another companymay have a capitalizaƟon policy limit of $500. AddiƟonally, a company
may have a different capitalizaƟon policy for different types of plant and equipment assets – hand
tools may have a capitalizaƟon policy limit of $200 while the limit might be $1,000 for furniture.

Not all asset-related expenditures incurred aŌer the purchase of an asset are capitalized. An
expenditure made to maintain PPE in saƟsfactory working order is a revenue expenditure and
recorded as a debit to an expense account. Examples of these expenditures include: (a) the cost
of replacing small parts of an asset that normally wear out (in the case of a truck, for example:
new Ɵres, new muffler, new baƩery); (b) conƟnuing expenditures for maintaining the asset in
good working order (for example, oil changes, anƟfreeze, transmission fluid changes); and (c)
costs of renewing structural parts of an asset (for example, repairs of collision damage, repair or
replacement of rusted parts).
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Although some expenditures for repair and maintenance may benefit more than one accounƟng
period, they may not be material in amount or they may have uncertain future benefits. They
are therefore treated as expenses. These three criteria must all be met for an expenditure to be
considered capital in nature.

1. Will it benefit more than one accounƟng period?

2. Will it enhance the service potenƟal of the asset, or make it more valuable or more adapt-
able?

3. Is the dollar amount material?

Regardless of when an expenditure is incurred, if it meets the three criteria above it will always be
a capital expenditure and debited to the appropriate asset account. If the expenditure does not
meet all three criteria, then it is a revenue expenditure and is expensed.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Revenue
and Capital Expenditures.

Land

The purchase of land is a capital expenditure when land is used in the operaƟon of a business. In
addiƟon to the costs listed in the schedule above, the cost of land should be increased by the cost
of removing any unwanted structures on it. This cost is reduced by the proceeds, if any, obtained
from the sale of the scrap. For example, assume that the purchase price of land is $100,000 before
an addiƟonal $15,000 cost to raze an old building: $1,000 is expected to be received for salvaged
materials. The cost of the land is $114,000 ($100,000 + $15,000 - $1,000).

Frequently, land and useful buildings are purchased for a lump sum. That is, one price is negoƟated
for their enƟre purchase. A lump sum purchase price must be apporƟoned between the PPE
assets acquired on the basis of their respecƟve market values, perhaps established by a municipal
assessment or a professional land appraiser. Assume that a lump sum of $150,000 cash is paid
for land and a building, and that the land is appraised at 25% of the total purchase price. The
Land account would be debited for $37,500 ($150,000 x 25%) and the Building account would be
debited for the remaining 75% or $112,500 ($150,000 x 75% = $112,500 or $150,000 - $37,500 =
$112,500) as shown in the following journal entry.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_1_3Expenditures
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_1_3Expenditures


8.1. Establishing the Cost of Property, Plant, and Equipment (PPE) 183

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,500
Building . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112,500

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 150,000
To record the purchase of land and build-
ing for a lump sum of $150,000; $150,000
x 25% = $37,500; $150,000 x 75% =
$112,500.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Lump
Sum Purchases.

Building and Equipment

When a capital asset is purchased, its cost includes the purchase price plus all costs to prepare the
asset for its intended use. However, a company may construct its own building or equipment. In
the case of a building, for example, costs include those incurred for excavaƟon, building permits,
insurance and property taxes during construcƟon, engineering fees, the cost of labour incurred by
having company employees supervise and work on the construcƟon of the building, and the cost
of any interest incurred to finance the construcƟon during the construcƟon period.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Cost of
Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE).

Property, Plant, and Equipment (PPE) Subsidiary Ledger

The accounts receivable and accounts payable subsidiary ledgers (more commonly referred to as
subledgers) were introduced in Chapter 5 and the merchandise inventory subledger was intro-
duced in Chapter 6. To review, a subledger lists individual accounts that fall under a common
account, also known as the controlling account. For example, the accounts receivable controlling
account for ABC Inc. shows a balance of $4,000 on the December 31, 2015 balance sheet. The
accounts receivable subledger shows that the $4,000 is made up of three receivables: $800 for
Ducker Inc.; $2,200 for Zest Inc.; and $1,000 for Frank CorporaƟon. Since the controlling account
is a summary of the subledger, their balances must be idenƟcal. Subledgers allow details to be
maintained in a separate record.

In a PPE subledger, an account would exist for each piece of land, each piece of machinery, each
vehicle, and so on. The subledger account would include informaƟon regarding the date of pur-
chase, cost, residual value, esƟmated useful life, depreciaƟon, and other relevant informaƟon.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_1_1LumpSumPurchase
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_1_1LumpSumPurchase
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_1_2Cost
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_1_2Cost
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Preparing
the PPE SecƟon of a Balance Sheet.

8.2 DepreciaƟon

LO2 – Explain,
calculate, and
record depre-
ciaƟon using
the units-of-
producƟon,
straight-line,
and double-
declining balance
methods.

The role of depreciaƟon is to allocate the cost of a PPE asset (except land)
over the accounƟng periods expected to receive benefits from its use. De-
preciaƟon begins when the asset is in the locaƟon and condiƟon necessary
for it to be put to use. DepreciaƟon conƟnues even if the asset becomes
idle or is reƟred from use, unless it is fully depreciated. Land is not depre-
ciated, as it is assumed to have an unlimited life.

DepreciaƟon is an applicaƟon of the matching principle.

According to generally accepted accounƟngprinciples, a com-
pany should select a method of depreciaƟon that represents
the way in which the asset’s future economic benefits are esƟ-
mated to be used up.

There are many different ways to calculate depreciaƟon. The most frequently used methods are
usage-based and Ɵme-based. Regardless of depreciaƟon method, there are three factors neces-
sary to calculate depreciaƟon:

• cost of the asset

• residual value

• esƟmated useful life or producƟve output.

Residual value is the esƟmated worth of the asset at the end of its esƟmated useful life.

Useful life is the length of Ɵme that a long-lived asset is esƟmated to be of benefit to the current
owner. This is not necessarily the same as the asset’s economic life. If a company has a policy of
replacing its delivery truck every two years, its useful life is two years even though it may be used
by the next owner for several more years.

ProducƟve output is the amount of goods or services expected to be provided. For example, it
may be measured in units of output, hours used, or kilometres driven.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_1_4CapitalAsset
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_1_4CapitalAsset
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Usage-Based DepreciaƟon Method – Units-of-ProducƟon

Usage-based depreciaƟon methods, such as the Units-of-ProducƟon Method, are used when the
output of an asset varies from period to period.

Usage methods assume that the asset will contribute to the earning of revenues
in relaƟon to the amount of output during the accounƟng period. Therefore, the de-
preciaƟon expense will vary from year to year.

To demonstrate, assume that Big Dog Carworks Corp. purchased a $20,000 piece of equipment
on January 1, 2015 with a $2,000 residual value and esƟmated producƟve life of 10,000 units. If
1,500 units were produced during 2015, the depreciaƟon expense for the year ended December
31, 2015 would be calculated using the following formula:

Cost− Residual value
EsƟmated units of output

=
DepreciaƟon
per unit × Number of units

produced =
DepreciaƟon
expense

$20,000− $2,000
10,000 units

=
$1.80 depreciaƟon

per unit
× 1,500 units

produced =
$2,700 depreciaƟon
expense for 2015

The following adjusƟng entry would be made on December 31, 2015:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

DepreciaƟon Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,700
Accumulated DepreciaƟon . . . . . . . . . . . 2,700

To record depreciaƟon expense using the
Units-of-ProducƟon method; ($20,000
- $2,000)/10,000 units = $1.80/unit;
$1.80/unit x 1,500 units = $2,700.

The carrying amount or net book value of the asset (cost less accumulated depreciaƟon) on the
December 31, 2015 balance sheet would be $17,300 ($20,000 - 2,700).

Note that the residual value is only used to calculate depreciaƟon expense. It is not
recorded in the accounts of the company or included as part of the carrying amount
(net book value) on the balance sheet.

If 2,000 units were produced during 2016, depreciaƟon expense for that year would be $3,600
($1.80 per unit × 2,000 units). At December 31, 2016, the following adjusƟng entry would be
recorded:
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

DepreciaƟon Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,600
Accumulated DepreciaƟon . . . . . . . . . . . 3,600

To record depreciaƟon expense using the
Units-of-ProducƟon method; ($20,000
- $2,000)/10,000 units = $1.80/unit;
$1.80/unit x 2,000 units = $3,600.

The carrying amount (or net book value) at December 31, 2016would be $13,700 ($20,000 – 2,700
– 3,600). If the equipment produces 1,000 units in 2017, 2,500 units in 2018, and 3,000 units in
2019, depreciaƟon expense and carrying amounts would be as follows each year:

If the equipment produces exactly 10,000 units over its useful life and is then reƟred, depreciaƟon
expense over all years will total $18,000 (10,000 × $1.80) and the carrying amount will equal
residual value of $2,000.

It is unlikely that the equipment will produce exactly 10,000 units over its useful life. Assume
instead that 4,800 units were produced in 2019. DepreciaƟon expense and carrying amounts
would be as follows each year:



8.2. Depreciation 187

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Units-
of-ProducƟon Method.

Time-Based DepreciaƟon Method - Straight-Line

The straight-line method of depreciaƟon – introduced in Chapter 3 – assumes that the asset will
contribute to the earning of revenues equally each Ɵme period. Therefore, equal amounts of
depreciaƟon are recorded during each year of the asset’s useful life. Straight-line depreciaƟon is
based on Ɵme – the asset’s esƟmated useful life.

Straight-line depreciaƟon is calculated as:

Cost− EsƟmated residual value
EsƟmated useful life in years

= DepreciaƟon expense/year

To demonstrate, assume the same $20,000 piece of equipment used earlier, with an esƟmated
useful life of five years and an esƟmated residual value of $2,000. Straight-line depreciaƟonwould
be $3,600 per year calculated as:

$20,000− $2,000
5 years

= $3,600 depreciaƟon expense/year

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_2_2UnitsOfProduction
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_2_2UnitsOfProduction
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Over the five-year useful life of the equipment, depreciaƟon expense and carrying amounts will
be as follows:

(a) (b) (c) (d)
Carrying
amount at

Carrying end of
amount at Dep’n year

Year start of year expense (b) – (c)
2015 $20,000 $3,600 $16,400
2016 16,400 3,600 12,800
2017 12,800 3,600 9,200
2018 9,200 3,600 5,600
2019 5,600 3,600 2,000

$18,000

The carrying amount at December 31, 2015will be the residual value of $2,000 ($20,000 – 18,000).

Under the straight-line method, depreciaƟon expense for each accounƟng period
remains the same dollar amount over the useful life of the asset.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Straight-
Line Method.

Accelerated Time-BasedDepreciaƟonMethod–Double-DecliningBalance (DDB)

An accelerated depreciaƟon method assumes that a plant and equipment asset will contribute
more to the earning of revenues in the earlier stages of its useful life than in the later stages.
This means that more depreciaƟon is recorded in earlier years with the depreciaƟon expense de-
creasing each year. This approach is most appropriate where assets experience a high degree of
obsolescence (such as computers) or where the value of the asset is highest in the first year when
it is new and efficient and declines significantly each year as it is used and becomes worn (such as
equipment).

Under an accelerated depreciaƟonmethod, depreciaƟon expense decreases each
year over the useful life of the asset.

One type of accelerated depreciaƟon is the double-declining balance (DDB) method. It is calcu-
lated as:

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_2_3StraightLine
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_2_3StraightLine
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Carrying Amount (or Net Book Value)× (2/n)

where n = esƟmated useful life. 2/n is the rate of depreciaƟon and it remains constant over the
asset’s esƟmated useful life (unless there is a change in the useful life which is discussed in a later
secƟon of this chapter). The DDB rate of depreciaƟon can also be described as twice the straight-
line rate. For example, if the straight-line rate of depreciaƟon is 15%, the DDB rate will be 30%
(calculated as 2× 15%).

To demonstrate DDB depreciaƟon calculaƟons, assume the same $20,000 equipment with an es-
Ɵmated useful life of five years. The DDB rate of depreciaƟon is calculated as 2/n = 2/5 = 0.40 or
40%. AlternaƟvely, given that we know the straight-line rate is 20%, doubling it is 40%.

The declining balance rate is applied to the carrying amount of the asset without regard to resid-
ual value. Regardless of which depreciaƟon method is used, remember that the asset cannot be
depreciated below its carrying amount (or net book value) which in this case is $2,000. The DDB
depreciaƟon for the five years of the asset’s useful life follows.

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e)
Carrying
amount at

Carrying Dep’n end of
amount at DDB expense year

Year start of year rate (b) x (c) (b) – (d)
2015 $20,000 40% $8,000 $12,000
2016 12,000 40% 4,800 7,200
2017 7,200 40% 2,880 4,320
2018 4,320 40% 1,728 2,592
2019 2,592 40% ..592 2,000

$18,000

..

Although for 2019 the depreciaƟon expense would be calculated as
$1,037 ($2,592 x 40%), only $592 is recorded to bring the carrying
amount of the asset down to its residual value of $2,000.

At the end of five years, the carrying amount is once again equal to the residual value of $2,000.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Double-
Declining Balance.

A comparison of the three depreciaƟon methods is shown in Figure 8.1.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_2_4DoubleDeclining
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_2_4DoubleDeclining
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Figure 8.1: Comparing Three DepreciaƟon Methods

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Disposal
of PPE Assets.

8.3 ParƟal Year DepreciaƟon

LO3 – Explain,
calculate, and
record depreci-
aƟon for parƟal
years.

Assets may be purchased or sold at any Ɵme during a fiscal year. Should
depreciaƟon be calculated for a whole year in such a case? The answer de-
pends on corporate accounƟng policy. There are many alternaƟves. One
is to calculate depreciaƟon to the nearest whole month. Another, oŌen
called the half-year rule, records half a year’s depreciaƟon regardless of
when an asset purchase or disposal occurs during the year.

To demonstrate the half-year approach to calculaƟng depreciaƟon for parƟal periods, assume
again that Big Dog Carworks Corp. purchases equipment for $20,000 with an esƟmated useful
life of five years and a residual value of $2,000. Recall that depreciaƟon expense for 2015 was
$3,600 using the straight-line method. Because of the half-year rule, depreciaƟon expense for
2015 would be $1,800 ($3,600 x .5) even though the asset was purchased on the first day of the
fiscal year. Using the double-declining balance method, depreciaƟon expense for 2015 under the
half-year rulewould be $4,000 ($8,000× .5). Applying the half-year rule to the units-of-producƟon
depreciaƟon for 2015, would result in no change because themethod is usage-based and not Ɵme-
based (presumably usage would be less if the asset is purchased partway through the year, so this
depreciaƟon method already takes this into account).

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_6_1Disposal
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run ParƟal
Periods.

8.4 Revising DepreciaƟon

LO4 – Explain,
calculate, and
record revised
depreciaƟon for
subsequent capi-
tal expenditures.

Both the useful life and residual value of a depreciable asset are esƟmated
at the Ɵme it is purchased. As Ɵme goes by, these esƟmates may change
for a variety of reasons. In these cases, the depreciaƟon expense is recal-
culated from the date of the change in the accounƟng esƟmate and ap-
plied going forward. No change is made to depreciaƟon expense already
recorded.

Consider the example of the equipment purchased for $20,000 on January
1, 2015, with an esƟmated useful life of five years and residual value of
$2,000. If the straight-line depreciaƟon method is used, the yearly depre-
ciaƟon expense is $3,600. AŌer two years, the carrying amount at the end
of 2016 is $12,800 ($20,000 - 3,600 - 3,600). Assume that on January 1,
2017, management esƟmates the remaining useful life of the equipment
to be six years, and the residual value to be $5,000.

DepreciaƟon expense for the remaining six years would be calculated as:

(Remaining carrying amount− Revised residual value)
EsƟmated remaining useful life

=
($12,800− 5,000)

6 years
= $1,300 per year

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Revised
Dep. - Change in Life/Residual.

Subsequent Capital Expenditures

As noted earlier, normal, recurring expenditures that relate to day-to-day servicing of depreciable
assets are not capitalized, but rather are expensed when incurred. Oil changes and new Ɵres for

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_3_1PartialYear
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vehicles are examples of recurring expenditures that are expensed. Expenditures that are mate-
rial, can be reliablymeasured, and enhance the future economic benefit provided by the asset, are
added to the cost of the asset rather than being expensed when incurred. A subsequent capital
expenditure can take one of two forms:

1. AddiƟon (e.g., adding a garage to the back of an exisƟng building or adding a skywalk in a
factory)

2. Replacement (e.g., replacing the refrigeraƟon unit in a long-haul truck or replacing the win-
dows in a building).

To demonstrate the accounƟng for an addiƟon, recall our original example where equipment was
purchased on January 1, 2015 for $20,000; the esƟmated useful life and residual value were five
years and $2,000, respecƟvely. Assume that on January 5, 2016, a heat exchanger was added to
the equipment that allowed it to produce a new product in addiƟon to the exisƟng product line.
This $12,000 addiƟon, paid in cash, had an esƟmated life of ten years with no residual value. The
useful life and residual value of the original equipment did not change as a result of the addiƟon.
The entry to record the addiƟon on January 4 is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Equipment – Heat Exchanger . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,000
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,000

To record the addiƟon of a heat exchanger
to the equipment.

The entry to record revised depreciaƟon on December 31, 2016 is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

DepreciaƟon Expense - Equipment. . . . . . . 4,800
Accumulated DepreciaƟon - Equip-

ment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
4,800

To record revised straight-line depre-
ciaƟon; ($20,000 - $2,000)/5 years =
$3,600/year; ($12,000 - $0)/10 years =
$1,200/year; $3,600 + $1,200 = $4,800.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Revised
Dep. - AddiƟon.

The accounƟng for a replacement is more involved. The cost of the replaced item and its re-
lated accumulated depreciaƟon must be removed from the accounƟng records when the replace-
ment is capitalized recording any resulƟng gain or loss as well as calculaƟng revised depreciaƟon.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_4_2AdditionOfComponent
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Let’s demonstrate, again using the $20,000 equipment purchased on January 1, 2015 with a five-
year life and $2,000 residual value. Assume that on January 5, 2018 the engine in the equipment
burned out and needed to be replaced. The PPE subledger showed that the engine had an original
cost of $8,000, useful life of five years, and residual value of $1,000 resulƟng in a carrying amount
as at January 5, 2018 of $3,800 ($8,000 cost – $4,200 accumulated depreciaƟon). The entry to dis-
pose of the old engine and remove it from the accounƟng records is (the old engine was scrapped
and not sold because it was burned out):

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accum. Dep. – Equip. - Engine . . . . . . . . . . 4,200
Loss on Disposal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,800

Equipment – Enginel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,000
To record the scrapping of the burned
out equipment engine; ($8,000 - $1,000)/5
years = $1,400/year depreciaƟon X 3 years
= $4,200 accumulated depreciaƟon.

NoƟce in the entry above that the cost of the old engine and the accumulated depreciaƟon must
be individually removed from the accounƟng records. Since the asset is not completely depre-
ciated and was scrapped, the $3,800 carrying amount represents a loss. If the engine had been
sold, the gain or loss would have been calculated as the difference between its carrying value and
the cash proceeds. Losses (as well as gains) are reported on the income statement under Other
Revenues and Expenses. A common errormade by students is to debit loss on disposal and credit
equipment–engine for the carrying amount; this is incorrect. AŌer posƟng the entry to dispose
of the old engine, the account balances in the Equipment account and its related Accumulated
DepreciaƟon account would be as follows.

Accumulated DepreciaƟon
Equipment – Equipment

Jan. 1, 2015 20,000 8,000 Jan. 5, 2018 3,600 Dec. 31, 2015
Balance 12,000 3,600 Dec. 31, 2016

3,600 Dec. 31, 2017
Jan. 5, 2018 4,200

6,600 Balance

The entry to record the new engine purchased for $12,000 cash (esƟmated life 8 years; esƟmated
zero residual value) is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Equipment - Engine . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,000
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,000

To record the new engine with esƟmated
useful life of 8 years and esƟmated residual
value of zero.
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The entries to dispose of the old engine and record the addiƟon of the new engine can be com-
bined into one compound entry as follows:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Accum. Dep. – Equip. – Engine (old) . . . . . 4,200
Loss on Disposal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,800
Equipment – Engine (new) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,000

Equipment – Engine (old) . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,000
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,000

To record the scrapping of the burned
out equipment engine and its replacement
with a new engine.

Assuming the useful life and residual value of the equipment did not change and the new engine
had an esƟmated useful life of eight years and an esƟmated residual value of zero, the entry to
record revised depreciaƟon on December 31, 2018 is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

DepreciaƟon Expense - Equipment. . . . . . . 4,200
Accum. Dep. - Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . 4,200

To record revised straight-line deprecia-
Ɵon; Remaining carrying amount of equip-
ment = $12,000 remaining cost - $6,600
remaining balance in accumulated depre-
ciaƟon = $5,400; Revised depreciaƟon on
equipment = ($5,400 remaining carrying
amount - $2,000 residual)/2 years remain-
ing useful life = $2,700 depreciaƟon/year;
DepreciaƟon on new engine = ($12,000 -
$0)/8 years = $1,500/year; Total deprecia-
Ɵon = $2,700 + $1,500 = $4,200.

The previous example emphasizes the importance of maintaining a PPE subledger in order to ap-
ply the concept of componenƟzaƟon. ComponenƟzaƟon requires each major component that
has a different esƟmated useful life than the rest of an asset to be recorded and depreciated
separately. For instance, assume a commercial airliner is purchased for $100 million ($100M) on
January 1, 2015 with the following components: airframe, engines, landing gear, interior, and
other parts. Original cost, esƟmated residual value, esƟmated useful lives, depreciaƟon method
to be used, serial numbers where applicable, and other relevant informaƟon are recorded in the
PPE subledger.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Revised
Dep. - Replacement.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_4_3ReplacementOfComponent
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_4_3ReplacementOfComponent


8.5. Impairment of Long-lived Assets 195

8.5 Impairment of Long-lived Assets

LO5 – Explain,
calculate, and
record the
impairment
of long-lived
assets.

Under generally accepted accounƟng principles, management must com-
pare the recoverable amountof a long-lived assetwith its carrying amount
(cost less accumulated depreciaƟon) at the end of each reporƟng period.
The recoverable amount is the fair value of the asset at the Ɵme less any
esƟmated costs to sell it. If the recoverable amount is lower than the car-
rying amount, an impairment lossmust be recorded.

An impairment loss may occur because of a variety of reasons such as technological obsolescence,
an economic downturn, or a physical disaster. When an impairment is recorded, subsequent years’
depreciaƟon expense must also be revised.

Recall again our $20,000 equipment purchased January 1, 2015 with an esƟmated useful life of
five years and a residual value of $2,000. Assume straight-line depreciaƟon has been recorded for
2015 and 2016 at $3,600 per year. At December 31, 2016, the carrying amount of the equipment
is $12,800 ($20,000 – 3,600 – 3,600). At that point management determines that new equipment
with equivalent capabiliƟes can be purchased for much less than the old equipment due to tech-
nological changes. As a result, the recoverable value of the original equipment at December 31,
2016 is esƟmated to be $7,000. Because the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount
of $12,800, an impairment loss of $5,800 ($12,800 – 7,000) is recorded in the accounƟng records
of BDCC as follows:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Impairment Loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,800
Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,800

To record impairment loss on equipment.

This reduces the carrying amount of the equipment to $7,000 so that revised depreciaƟon expense
of $1,667 per year would be recorded at the end of 2017, 2018, and 2019, calculated as follows
(assume no change to original useful life and residual value):

(Revised carrying amount− Revised residual value)
Remaining useful life

=
($7,000− $2,000)

3 years remaining useful life
= $1,667 per year

Impairment losses can be reversed in subsequent years if the recoverable amount of the asset
exceeds the carrying amount. Also, if the fair value of a PPE asset can be reliably measured, it
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can be revalued to more than its original cost. However, the revaluaƟon process needs to be
conducted thereaŌer on a regular basis. These topics are not dealt with here, as they are beyond
the scope of introductory financial accounƟng.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Impair-
ment Loss.

8.6 DerecogniƟon of Property, Plant, and Equipment

LO6 – Account
for the derecog-
niƟon of PPE
assets.

Property, Plant, and Equipment is derecognized (that is, the cost and any
related accumulateddepreciaƟon are removed from the accounƟng records)
when it is sold orwhen no future economic benefit is expected. To account
for the disposal of a PPE asset, the following must occur:

1. If the disposal occurs partway through the accounƟng period, depreciaƟonmust be updated
to the date of disposal by

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

DepreciaƟon Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Accumulated DepreciaƟon . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To update depreciaƟon for parƟal period.

2. Record the disposal including any resulƟng gain or loss by

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash (if any, or other assets received) . . . . XXX
Accumulated DepreciaƟon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Loss on Disposal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

OR Gain on Disposal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
PPE Asset (such as Equipment) . . . . . . . XXX

To record disposal of PPE asset.

A loss results when the carrying amount of the asset is greater than the proceeds received, if any.
A gain results when the carrying amount is less than any proceeds received.

Sale or ReƟrement of PPE

When a PPE asset has reached the end of its useful life it can be either sold or reƟred. In either
case, the asset’s cost and accumulated depreciaƟon must be removed from the records, aŌer
depreciaƟon expense has been recorded up to the date of disposal or reƟrement.
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Recall the calculaƟon of straight-line depreciaƟon for the equipment purchased for $20,000 with
an esƟmated useful life of five years and a residual value of $2,000. Assume that the general ledger
T-accounts of equipment and accumulated depreciaƟon contain the following entries for the last
five years:

Accumulated DepreciaƟon
Equipment Equipment

2015 20,000 2015 3,600
2016 3,600
2017 3,600
2018 3,600
2019 3,600

18,000

Assume that the equipment is sold at the end of 2019, when accumulated depreciaƟon totals
$18,000. The carrying amount at this date is $2,000 ($20,000 cost – $18,000 accumulated depre-
ciaƟon). Three different situaƟons are possible.

1. Sale at carrying amount

Assume the equipment is sold for its residual value of $2,000. No gain or loss on disposal
would occur.

Cost $ 20,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon (18,000)
Carrying amount 2,000
Proceeds of disposiƟon (2,000)
Gain on disposal $ -0-

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,000
Accumulated Dep. – Equipment . . . . . . . . . 18,000

Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
To record the disposal of equipment sold
for $2,000 cash.

2. Sale above carrying amount

Assume the equipment is sold for $3,000. A gain of $1,000 would occur.

Cost $ 20,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon (18,000)
Carrying amount 2,000
Proceeds of disposiƟon (3,000)
Gain on disposal $ (1,000)
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,000
Accumulated Dep. – Equipment . . . . . . . . . 18,000

Gain on Disposal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000
Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000

To record the disposal of equipment sold
for $3,000 cash.

3. Sale below carrying amount

Assume the equipment is sold for $500. A loss on disposal of $1,500 would occur.

Cost $ 20,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon (18,000)
Carrying amount 2,000
Proceeds of disposiƟon (500)
Loss on disposal $ 1,500

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 500
Accumulated Dep. – Equipment . . . . . . . . . 18,000
Loss on Disposal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,500

Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
To record the disposal of equipment sold
for $500 cash.

In each of these cases, the cash proceeds must be recorded (by a debit) and the cost and accumu-
lated depreciaƟon must be removed from the accounts. A credit difference represents a gain on
disposal while a debit difference represents a loss.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Disposal
of PPE Assets.

Disposal Involving Trade-In

It is a common pracƟce to exchange a used PPE asset for a new one. This is known as a trade-in.
The value of the trade-in agreed by the purchaser and seller is called the trade-in allowance. This
amount is applied to the purchase price of the new asset, and the purchaser pays the difference.
For instance, if the cost of a new asset is $10,000 and a trade-in allowance of $6,000 is given for
the old asset, the purchaser will pay $4,000 ($10,000 – 6,000).
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SomeƟmes as an inducement to the purchaser, the trade-in allowance is higher than the fair value
of the used asset on the open market. Regardless, the cost of the new asset must be recorded at
its fair value, calculated as follows:

Cost of new asset = Cash paid+ Fair value of asset traded

If there is a difference between the fair value of the old asset and its carrying value, a gain or
loss results. For example, assume again that equipment was purchased by BDCC for $20,000 and
has accumulated depreciaƟon of $18,000 at the end of 2019. It is traded on January 1, 2020
for new equipment with a list price of $25,000. A trade-in allowance of $2,500 is given on the
old equipment, which has a fair value of only $1,800. In this case, the cost of the new asset is
calculated as follows:

Cash paid + Fair value of asset traded = Cost of new asset
$22,500 + 1,800 = $24,300

Cash paid will equal the difference between the selling price of the new equipment less the trade-
in allowance, or $22,500 ($25,000 - 2,500). The fair value of the asset traded-in is $1,800. The
cost of the new asset is therefore $24,300 ($23,000 + 1,800). There will be a loss on disposal of
$200 on the old equipment, calculated as follows:

Cost $ 20,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon (18,000)
Carrying amount 2,000

Fair value (1,800)
Loss on disposal $ 200

The journal entry on January 1, 2020 to record the purchase of the new equipment and trade-in
of the old equipment is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Equipment (new) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,300
Accumulated Dep. – Equipment (old) . . . . 18,000
Loss on Disposal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200

Equipment (old) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,500

To record trade-in.

By this entry, the cost of the new equipment ($24,300) is entered into the accounts, the accumu-
lated depreciaƟon and cost of the old equipment is removed from the accounts, and the amount
of cash paid is recorded. The debit difference of $200 represents the loss on disposal of the old
equipment.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Exchange
of PPE Assets.

8.7 Intangible Assets

LO7 – Explain and
record the acqui-
siƟon and amorƟ-
zaƟon of intangi-
ble assets.

Another major category of long-lived assets that arises from legal rights
and does not have physical substance is that of intangible assets. The
characterisƟcs of various types of intangible assets are discussed below.

Patents

A patent is an intangible asset that is granted when a company has an exclusive legal privilege to
produce and sell a product or use a process for a specified period. This period varies depending
on the nature of the product or process patented, and on the legislaƟon in effect. ModificaƟons
to the original product or process can result in a new patent being granted, in effect extending the
life of the original patent.

Patents are recorded at cost. If purchased from an inventor, the patent’s cost is easily idenƟfied;
if developed internally, the patent’s cost includes all expenditures incurred in the development of
the product or process, including salaries and benefits of staff involved.

Copyrights

A copyright is another intangible asset that confers on the holder an exclusive legal privilege to
publish a literary or arƟsƟc work. In this case, the state grants control over a published or arƟsƟc
work for the life of the copyright holder (oŌen the original arƟst) and for a specified period aŌer-
ward. This control extends to the reproducƟon, sale, or other use of the copyrighted material.

Trademarks

A trademark is a symbol or a word used by a company to idenƟfy itself or one of its products in
themarketplace. Symbols are oŌen logos printed on company staƟonery or displayed at company
offices, on vehicles, or in adverƟsing. Awell-knownexample is Coke®. The right to use a trademark
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can be protected by registering it with the appropriate agency. The symbol ‘®’ denotes that a
trademark is registered.

Franchises

A franchise is a legal right granted by one company (the franchisor) to another company (the
franchisee) to sell parƟcular products or to provide certain services in a given region using a specific
trademark or trade name. In return, the franchisee pays a fee to the franchisor. McDonald’s® is
an example of a franchised fast-food chain.

Another example of a franchise is one granted by government for the provision of certain services
within a given geographical locaƟon: for example, television staƟons and telephone services au-
thorized by the telecommunicaƟons branch of the state, or garbage collecƟon authorized within
a given community.

In addiƟon to the payment of an iniƟal franchise fee, which is capitalzsed, a franchise agreement
usually requires annual payments. These payments are considered operaƟng expenses.

Computer SoŌware

Computer soŌware programs may be developed by a company, patented, and then sold to cus-
tomers for use on their computers. ProducƟvity soŌware like MicrosoŌ Office® is an example.
The cost of acquiring and developing computer soŌware programs is recorded as an intangible
asset, even if it is stored on a physical device like a computer. However, computer soŌware that
is integral to machinery – for instance, soŌware that is necessary to control a piece of producƟon
equipment – is included as the cost of the equipment and classified as PPE.

CapitalizaƟon of Intangible Assets

Normally, intangible assets are measured at cost at the Ɵme of acquisiƟon and are reported in
the asset secƟon of a company’s balance sheet under the heading “Intangible Assets.” The cost of
an acquired intangible asset includes its purchase price and any expenditures needed to directly
prepare it for its intended use. Only rarely are subsequent expenditures added to the iniƟal cost
of a purchased intangible asset. Instead, these are expensed as they are incurred.

Intangible assets may also be internally-generated. That is, the enƟty may expend resources to
create processes (for example, computer soŌware) that will provide future economic benefits to
it. In this case, a disƟncƟon is made between research expenditures, which by definiƟon have no
demonstrable future economic benefit and therefore may not be capitalized, and development
expenditures. These may be capitalized if certain criteria are met – for instance, if the product
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or process has demonstrated technical feasibility, and there is a clear intenƟon to use or sell the
intangible asset. Detailed discussion of these topics is beyond the scope of this textbook.

AmorƟzaƟon of Intangible Assets

Plant and equipment assets are depreciated. Intangible assets are also depreciated but the term
used is amorƟzaƟon instead of depreciaƟon. AmorƟzaƟon (of intangible assets) is the system-
aƟc process of allocaƟng the cost of intangible assets over their esƟmated useful lives using the
straight-line method.

Like PPE consideraƟons, useful life and residual value of intangible assets are esƟmated by man-
agement andmust be reviewed annually for reasonableness. Any effects on amorƟzaƟon expense
because of changes in esƟmates are accounted for prospecƟvely. That is, prior accounƟng periods’
expenses are not changed.

To demonstrate the accounƟng for intangibles, assume a patent is purchased for $20,000 on July
1, 2015. The entry to record the purchase is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Patent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000

To record the purchase of a patent, an in-
tangible asset.

Assuming the patent will last 40 years with no residual value, and amorƟzaƟon is calculated to the
nearest whole month, amorƟzaƟon expense will be recorded at the December 31, 2015 year end
as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

AmorƟzaƟon Expense - Patent . . . . . . . . . . 250
Patent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 250

To record amorƟzaƟon on the patent;
($20,000 – 0)/40 years = $500/year; $500
x 6/12 = $250.

NoƟce that the Patent account is credited and not accumulated amorƟzaƟon. When amorƟzing
intangibles, the intangible asset is credited; there is no accumulated amorƟzaƟon for intangible
assets.

Impairment losses, and gains and losses ondisposal of intangible assets, are calculated and recorded
in the same manner as for property, plant, and equipment.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Intangible
Assets.

8.8 Goodwill

LO8 – Explain
goodwill and
idenƟfy where on
the balance sheet
it is reported.

Assume that Big Dog Carworks Corp. purchases another company for $10
million ($10M). BDCC takes over all operaƟons, including management
and staff. There are no liabiliƟes. The fair values of the purchased assets
consist of the following:

Patents $2M
Machinery $7M
Total $9M

Why would BDCC pay $10M for assets with a fair value of only $9M? The extra $1M represents
goodwill. Goodwill is the excess paid over the fair value of the net assets when one company
buys another, and represents the value of the purchasee’s ability to generate superior earnings
compared to other companies in the same industry.

Goodwill is the combinaƟon of a company’s assets which cannot be separately idenƟfied – such as
a well-trained workforce, beƩer retail locaƟons, superior products, or excellent senior managers
– the value of which is recognized only when a significant porƟon of the business is purchased by
another company.

Recall that among other characterisƟcs, intangible assetsmust be separately idenƟfiable. Because
components of goodwill are not separately idenƟfiable, goodwill is not considered an intangible
asset. However, it does have future value and therefore is recorded as a long-lived asset under its
own heading of “Goodwill” on the balance sheet.

The detailed discussion of goodwill is an advanced accounƟng topic and beyond the scope of this
textbook.

8.9 Disclosure

LO9 – Describe
the disclosure
requirements for
long-lived assets
in the notes to
the financial
statements.

When long-lived assets are presented on the balance sheet, the notes to
the financial statements need to disclose the following:

• details of each class of assets (e.g., land; equipment including sepa-
rate parts; patents; goodwill)

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_7_1Intangible
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN8_7_1Intangible


204 Long-lived Assets

• measurement basis (usually historical cost)

• type of depreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon methods used, including esƟ-
mated useful lives

• cost and accumulated depreciaƟon at the beginning and end of the
period, including addiƟons, disposals, and impairment losses

• whether the assets are constructed by the company for its own use
(if PPE) or internally developed (if intangible assets).

Examples of appropriate disclosure of long-lived assets were shown in notes 3(d) and 4 of BDCC’s
financial statements in Chapter 4.

Summary of Chapter 8 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Describe how the cost of property, plant, and equipment (PPE) is deter-
mined, and calculate PPE.

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) are tangible, long-lived assets that are acquired for the pur-
pose of generaƟng revenue either directly or indirectly. A capital expditure is debited to a PPE
asset account because it results in the acquisiƟon of a non-current asset and includes any addi-
Ɵonal costs involved in preparing the asset for its intended use at or aŌer iniƟal acquisiƟon. A
revenue expenditure does not have a future benefit beyond one year so is expensed. The details
regarding a PPE asset are maintained in a PPE subsidiary ledger.

LO2 – Explain, calculate, and record depreciaƟon using the units-of-producƟon,
straight-line, and double-declining balance methods.

DepreciaƟon, an applicaƟon of matching, allocates the cost of a PPE asset (except land) over the
accounƟng periods expected to receive benefits from its use. A PPE asset’s cost, residual value,
and useful life or producƟve output are used to calculate depreciaƟon. There are different depre-
ciaƟonmethods. Units-of-producƟon is a usage-basedmethod. Straight-line and double-declining
balance are Ɵme-based methods. The formulas for calculaƟng depreciaƟon using these methods
are:

Units-of-ProducƟon Straight-Line Double-Declining Balance

Cost− EsƟmated Residual Value Cost− EsƟmated Residual Value Carrying Amount× 2/n
EsƟmated Total Units of ProducƟon EsƟmated Total Useful Life where n= esƟmated useful life

= DepreciaƟon Expense/Unit = DepreciaƟon Expense/Period = DepreciaƟon Expense/Period
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Maximum accumulated depreciaƟon is equal to cost less residual. The carrying amount of a PPE
asset, also known as the net book value, equals the cost less accumulated depreciaƟon.

LO3 – Explain, calculate, and record depreciaƟon for parƟal years.

When assets are acquired or derecognized partway through the accounƟng period, parƟal period
depreciaƟon is recorded. There are several ways to account for parƟal period depreciaƟon. Two
common approaches are to calculate depreciaƟon to the nearest whole month or to apply the
half-year rule. The half-year rule assumes six months of depreciaƟon in the year of acquisiƟon
and year of derecogniƟon regardless of the actual date these occurred.

LO4 – Explain, calculate, and record revised depreciaƟon for subsequent capital
expenditures.

When there is a change that impacts depreciaƟon (such as a change in the esƟmated useful life or
esƟmated residual value, or a subsequent capital expenditure) revised depreciaƟon is calculated
prospecƟvely. It is calculated as:

Remaining Carrying Amount− EsƟmated Residual Value∗
EsƟmated Remaining Useful Life∗

∗ where the residual value and/or useful life may have changed

LO5 – Explain, calculate, and record the impairment of long-lived assets.

The recoverable amount of a long-lived asset must be compared with its carrying amount (cost
less accumulated depreciaƟon) at the end of each reporƟng period. The recoverable amount is
the fair value of the asset at the Ɵme less any esƟmated costs to sell it. If the recoverable amount
is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment lossmust be recorded as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Impairment Loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To record impairment loss.

Impairment losses can be reversed in subsequent years if the recoverable amount of the asset
exceeds the carrying amount. Also, if the fair value of a PPE asset can be reliably measured, it can
be revalued to more than its original cost.
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LO6 – Account for the derecogniƟon of PPE assets.

Property, plant, and equipment is derecognized (that is, the cost and any related accumulated de-
preciaƟon are removed from the accounƟng records) when it is sold or when no future economic
benefit is expected. To account for the disposal of a PPE asset, the following must occur:

1. If the disposal occurs partway through the accounƟng period, depreciaƟonmust be updated
to the date of disposal by

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

DepreciaƟon Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Accumulated DepreciaƟon . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To update depreciaƟon for parƟal period.

2. Record the disposal including any resulƟng gain or loss by

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash (if any, or other assets received) . . . . XXX
Accumulated DepreciaƟon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Loss on Disposal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

OR Gain on Disposal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
PPE Asset (such as Equipment) . . . . . . . XXX

To record disposal of PPE asset.

A loss results when the carrying amount of the asset is greater than the proceeds received, if any.
A gain results when the carrying amount is less than any proceeds received.

It is a common pracƟce to exchange a used PPE asset for a new one, known as a trade-in. The
value of the trade-in is called the trade-in allowance and is applied to the purchase price of the
new asset so that the purchaser pays the difference. SomeƟmes the trade-in allowance is higher
than the fair value of the used asset. The cost of the new asset must be recorded at its fair value,
calculated as:

Cost of new asset = Cash paid+ Fair value of asset traded

If there is a difference between the fair value of the old asset and its carrying value, a gain or loss
results.

LO7 – Explain and record the acquisiƟon and amorƟzaƟon of intangible assets.

Intangible assets are long-lived assets that arise from legal rights and do not have physical sub-
stance. Examples include patents, copyrights, trademarks, and franchises. Intangibles are amor-
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Ɵzed using the straight-line method. The entry to record amorƟzaƟon is a debit to amorƟzaƟon
expense and a credit to the intangible asset – there is no accumulated amorƟzaƟon account.

LO8 – Explain goodwill and idenƟfy where on the balance sheet it is reported.

Goodwill is a long-lived asset that does not have physical substance but it is NOT an intangible.
When one company buys another company, goodwill is the excess paid over the fair value of the
net assets purchased and represents the value of the purchasee’s ability to generate superior
earnings compared to other companies in the same industry. Goodwill appears in the asset secƟon
of the balance sheet under its own heading of “Goodwill”.

LO9 – Describe the disclosure requirements for long-lived assets in the notes to
the financial statements.

When long-lived assets are presented on the balance sheet, the notes to the financial statements
need to disclose the following:

• details of each class of assets (e.g., land; equipment including separate parts; patents; good-
will)

• measurement basis (usually historical cost)

• type of depreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon methods used, including esƟmated useful lives

• cost and accumulated depreciaƟon at the beginning and end of the period, including addi-
Ɵons, disposals, and impairment losses

whether the assets are constructed by the company for its own use (if PPE) or internally developed
(if intangible assets).





...

Chapter 9

.

Debt Financing: Current and Long-term LiabiliƟes

A corporaƟon oŌen has liabiliƟes. These liabiliƟes must be classified on the balance sheet as
current or long-term. Current liabiliƟes can include known liabiliƟes such as payroll liabiliƟes,
interest payable, and other accrued liabiliƟes. Short-term notes payable and esƟmated liabiliƟes,
including warranƟes and income taxes, are also classified as current. Long-term debt is used to
finance operaƟons and may include a bond issue or long-term bank loan.

Chapter 9 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – IdenƟfy and explain current versus long-term liabiliƟes.

LO2 – Record and disclose known current liabiliƟes.

LO3 – Record and disclose esƟmated current liabiliƟes.

LO4 – IdenƟfy, describe, and record bonds.

LO5 – Explain, calculate, and record long-term loans.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 9.

1. What is the difference between a current and long-term liability?

2. What are some examples of known current liabiliƟes?

3. How are known current liabiliƟes different from esƟmated current liabiliƟes?

4. What are some examples of esƟmated current liabiliƟes?

5. How is an esƟmated current liability different from a conƟngent liability?

6. What are bonds, and what rights are aƩached to bond cerƟficates?

7. What are some characterisƟcs of bonds?

8. When a bond is issued at a premium, is the market interest rate higher or lower than the
contract interest rate on the bond?

209
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9. When a bond is issued at a discount, is the market interest rate higher or lower than the
contract interest rate on the bond?

10. How are bonds and related premiums or discounts recorded in the accounƟng records and
disclosed on the balance sheet?

11. How is a loan payable similar to a bond issue? How is it different?

12. How are payments on a loan recorded, and how is a loan payable presented on the balance
sheet?

9.1 Current versus Long-term LiabiliƟes

LO1 – IdenƟfy
and explain
current ver-
sus long-term
liabiliƟes.

Current or short-term liabiliƟes are a form of debt that is expected to be
paid within the longer of one year of the balance sheet date or one oper-
aƟng cycle. Examples include accounts payable, wages or salaries payable,
unearned revenues, short-term notes payable, and the current porƟon of
long-term debt.

Long-term liabiliƟes are forms of debt expected to be paid beyond one
year of the balance sheet date or the next operaƟng cycle, whichever is
longer. Mortgages, long-termbank loans, and bonds payable are examples
of long-term liabiliƟes.

Current and long-term liabiliƟes must be shown separately on the balance sheet. For example,
assume the following adjusted trial balance at December 31, 2015 for Waterton Inc.:
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Waterton Inc.
Adjusted Trial Balance
December 31, 2015

Account Debits Credits
Cash $ 80,000
Accounts receivable 140,000
Equipment 570,000
Accumulated depreciaƟon – equipment $ 40,000
Accounts payable 39,000
Unearned revenue 15,000
Wages payable 7,000
Notes payable, due November 30, 2016 20,000
Notes payable, due March 31, 2018 75,000
Mortgage payable (Note 1) ..115,797
Share capital 300,000
Retained earnings 178,203

$790,000 $790,000

Note 1: A 4-year, 6%, $150,000mortgagewas dated January 1, 2015. Watertonmakes
monthly payments of $3,523. The principal balances at the end of each year are:

December 31, 2015 – $ 115,797
December 31, 2016 – $ 79,484
December 31, 2017 – $ 40,931
December 31, 2018 – $ -0-

.

Based on this informaƟon, the liabiliƟes secƟon of the December 31, 2015 balance sheet would
appear as follows:

Waterton Inc.
LiabiliƟes SecƟon of the Balance Sheet

December 31, 2015
LiabiliƟes
Current liabiliƟes
Accounts payable $39,000
Unearned revenues 15,000
Wages payable 7,000
Notes payable, due November 30, 2016 20,000
Current porƟon of mortgage payable ..36,313
Total current liabiliƟes $117,313

Long-term liabiliƟes
Notes payable, due March 31, 2018 $75,000
Mortgage payable (less current porƟon) ..79,484
Total long-term liabiliƟes 154,484

Total liabiliƟes $271,797

..

NoƟce the sum
of the cur-
rent and long-
term porƟon
of the mort-
gage equals
the unadjusted
balance of
$115,797 on
the Adjusted
Trial Balance.
This must al-
ways be the
case.

The $20,000 notes payable, due November 30, 2016 is a current liability because its maturity date
is within one year of the balance sheet date, a characterisƟc of a current liability. The $75,000
notes payable, due March 31, 2018 is a long-term liability since it is to be repaid beyond one year
of the balance sheet date.
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It is important to classify liabiliƟes correctly otherwise decision makers may make incorrect con-
clusions regarding, for example, the organizaƟon’s liquidity posiƟon.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Current
and Long-Term LiabiliƟes.

9.2 Known Current LiabiliƟes

LO2 – Record
and disclose
known current
liabiliƟes.

Known current liabiliƟes are those where the payee, amount, and Ɵm-
ing of payment are known. Examples include accounts payable, unearned
revenues, and payroll liabiliƟes. These are different from esƟmated cur-
rent liabiliƟes where the amount is not known and must be esƟmated.
EsƟmated current liabiliƟes are discussed later in this chapter.

Payroll LiabiliƟes

Accounts payable and unearned revenues were introduced and discussed in previous chapters.
Payroll liabiliƟes are amounts owing to employees. Employee income taxes, Canada Pension Plan
(CPP, or Quebec Pension Plan in Quebec), Employment Insurance (EI), union dues, health insur-
ance, and other amounts are deducted by the employer from an employee’s salary or wages.
Thesewithheld amounts are remiƩedby the employer to the appropriate agencies. An employee’s
gross earnings, less the deducƟons withheld by the employer, equals the net pay. To demonstrate
the journal entries to record a business’s payroll liabiliƟes for its two employees, assume the fol-
lowing payroll record:

DeducƟons Payment DistribuƟon
Sales Office

Income Health Union Total Salaries Salaries
EI Taxes Ins. CPP Dues DeducƟons Net Pay Expense Expense

25.84 285.00 55.00 62.16 105.00 533.00 1,027.00 1,560.00
16.50 114.00 55.00 51.50 75.00 312.00 663.00 975.00
42.34 399.00 110.00 113.66 180.00 845.00 1,690.00 1,560.00 975.00

The employer’s journal entries would be:

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_1_1CurrentLiability
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_1_1CurrentLiability
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Sales Salaries Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,560.00
Office Salaries Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 975.00

EI Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42.34
Employee Income Taxes Payable. . . . . . 399.00
Employee Health Insurance Payable . . 110.00
CPP Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 113.66
Employee Union Dues Payable . . . . . . . 180.00
Salaries Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,690.00

To record payroll.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

EI Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59.28
CPP Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 113.66

EI Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59.28
CPP Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 113.66

To record the employer’s porƟons of EI
and CPP calculated as 1.4 Ɵmes (42.34 x
1.4) and 1 Ɵmes (113.66 x 1) the employ-
ees’ porƟon.

For EI and CPP, both the employee and employer are responsible for making payments to the
government. At the Ɵme of wriƟng, the employer’s porƟon of EI was calculated as 1.4 Ɵmes
the employee’s EI amount. For CPP, the employer is required to pay the same amount as the
employee. EI, CPP, and federal/provincial income tax amounts payable are based on rates applied
to an employee’s gross earnings. The rates are subject to change each tax year. The actual rates
for EI, CPP, and federal/provincial income tax can be viewed online at Canada Revenue Agency’s
website: http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca.

Sales Taxes

Sales taxes are also classified as known current liabiliƟes. There are two types of sales taxes in
Canada: federal Goods and Services Tax (GST) and Provincial Sales Tax (PST). The Goods and Ser-
vices Tax (GST) is calculated as 5%of the selling price of taxable supplies. For example, if a business
is purchasing supplies with a selling price of $1,000, the GST is $50 (calculated as $1,000 x 5%).
Taxable supplies are the goods or services on which GST applies. GST is not applied to zero-rated
supplies (prescripƟon drugs, groceries, and medical supplies) or exempt supplies (services such
as educaƟon, health care, and financial). Sellers of taxable supplies are registrants, businesses
registered with Canada Revenue Agency that sell taxable supplies and collect GST on behalf of the
Receiver General for Canada. The Receiver General for Canada is the federal government body to
which all taxes, including federal income tax, are remiƩed. Registrants also pay GST on the pur-
chase of taxable supplies recording an input tax credit for the GST paid. Total input tax credits, or
GST receivable, less GST payable is the amount to be remiƩed/refunded.

http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca
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Provincial Sales Tax (PST) is the provincial sales tax paid by the final consumers of products. The
PST rate is determined provincially. PST is calculated as a percentage of the selling price. Quebec’s
equivalent to PST is called the Quebec Sales Tax (QST).

The Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) is a combinaƟon of GST and PST that is used in some Canadian
jurisdicƟons. Figure 9.1 summarizes sales taxes across Canada.

GST PST QST HST
Alberta 5% - - -
BriƟsh Columbia 5% 7% - -
Manitoba 5% 7% - -
Northwest Territories 5% - - -
Nunavut 5% - - -
Saskatchewan 5% 5% - -
Yukon 5% - - -
Quebec 5% - 9.975% -
Newfoundland and Labrador - - - 13%
New Brunswick - - - 13%
Nova ScoƟa - - - 15%
Ontario - - - 13%
Prince Edward Island - - - 14%

Figure 9.1: Sales Taxes in Canada1

To demonstrate how sales taxes are recorded, let us review an example. Assume Perry Sales, out
of Saskatchewan, purchased $2,400 ofmerchandise inventory on account from a supplier, Carmen
Inc., also in Saskatchewan. Perry Sales then sold thismerchandise inventory to a customer for cash
of $3,600. Perry Sales’ entries for the purchase, subsequent sale of merchandise, and remiƩance
of sales taxes are:

1These were the sales tax rates in effect at the Ɵme of wriƟng, July 2014.
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..Merchandise Inventory. . . . . . . . . . . 2,400.00
GST Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 120.00
Accounts Payable – Carmen Inc. 2,520.00

..To record purchase of merchandise inventory on account.

..Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,960.00
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,600.00
PST Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 180.00
GST Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 180.00

To record cash sale.

Cost of Goods Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,400.00
Merchandise Inventory . . . . . . . . 2,400.00

..To record the cost of the sale.

..PST Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 180.00
GST Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 180.00

GST Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 120.00
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 240.00

..To record remiƩance of sales taxes.

..

GST receivable is deb-
ited. Because Perry
Sales is a merchandiser
and therefore not the
final consumer, there is
no PST.

.

The previous $120 debit
to GST receivable plus
the $180 credit to GST
payable in this entry re-
sult in a balance owing
to the government of
$60.

.

PST and GST are remit-
ted to the appropriate
government authority.

Short-term Notes Payable

Short-term notes receivable were discussed in Chapter 7. A short-term note payable is idenƟcal
to a note receivable except that it is a current liability instead of an asset. In Chapter 7, BDCC’s
customer Bendix Inc. was unable to pay its $5,000 account within the normal 30-day period. The
receivable was converted to a 5%, 60-day note receivable dated December 5, 2015. The following
example contrasts the entries recorded by BDCC for the note receivable to the entries recorded
by Bendix Inc. for its note payable.
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Entries in BDCC’s records for the note receivable: Entriees in Bendix Inc.’s records for the note payable:

Notes Receivable – Bendix . . . . . . . . 5,000 Accounts Payable – BDCC. . . . . . . . . 5,000
Accounts Receivable – Bendix . . ..5,000 ..Notes Payable – BDCC . . . . . . . . . 5,000

To record the conversion of a customer’s account to a 5%,
60-day note dated December 5, 2015.

To record the conversion of a supplier’s account to a 5%,
60-day note dated December 5, 2015.

Interest Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17.81 Interest Expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17.81
Interest Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ..17.81 ..Interest Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17.81

To record the adjusƟng entry on December 31 to accrue
interest from December 5 to December 31.

To record the adjusƟng entry on December 31 to accrue
interest from December 5 to December 31.

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,041.10 Notes Payable – BDCC. . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000.00
Note Receivable – Bendix . . . . . . 5,000.00 Interest Expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23.29
Interest Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . ..17.81 ..Interest Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17.81
Interest Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23.29 Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,041.10

To record the collecƟon of the principal and interest at
maturity on February 3, 2016.

To record the payment of the principal and interest atma-
turity on February 3, 2016..

NoƟce that the dollar amounts in the entries for BDCC are idenƟcal to those for Bendix. The dif-
ference is that BDCC is recognizing a receivable from Bendix while Bendix is recognizing a payable
to BDCC.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Known
(Determinable) LiabiliƟes.

9.3 EsƟmated Current LiabiliƟes

LO3 – Record
and disclose es-
Ɵmated current
liabiliƟes.

An esƟmated liability is known to exist where the amount, although un-
certain, can be esƟmated. Two common examples of esƟmated liabiliƟes
are warranƟes and income taxes.

Warranty LiabiliƟes

A warranty is an obligaƟon incurred by the seller of a product or service to replace or repair de-
fects. WarranƟes typically apply for a limited period of Ɵme. For example, appliances are oŌen
sold with a warranty for a specific Ɵme period. The seller does not know which product/service
will require warranty work, when it might occur, or the amount. To match the warranty expense

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_2_1Journalizing
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_2_1Journalizing
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to the period in which the revenue was realized, the following entry that esƟmates the amount of
warranty expense and related liability must be recorded:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Warranty Expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
EsƟmated Warranty Liability . . . . . . . . . XXX

To record esƟmated warranty expense
and related liability.

When the warranty work is actually performed, assuming both parts and labour, the following is
recorded:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

EsƟmated Warranty Liability . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Parts Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Wages Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To record the actual costs of parts and
labour for warranty work.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run EsƟmated
LiabiliƟes.

Income Tax LiabiliƟes

A corporaƟon is taxed on the taxable income it earns. As for any enƟty, corporaƟons must file a
tax return annually. However, the government typically requires the corporaƟon tomake advance
monthly payments based on an esƟmated amount. When the total actual amount of income
tax is known at the end of the accounƟng period, the corporaƟon will record an adjustment to
reconcile any difference between the total actual tax and the total monthly tax accrued in the
accounƟng records. For example, assume it is esƟmated that the total income tax for the year
ended December 31, 2015 will be $300,000. This translates into $25,000 of income tax to be
accrued at the end of each month ($300,000 ÷ 12 months = $25,000/month). Assume further
that the government requires payments to be made by the 15th of the following month. The
entries at the end of each month from January through to November would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Income Tax Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,000
Income Tax Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,000

To record esƟmated income tax expense.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_3_1Warranty
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_3_1Warranty
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On the 15th of eachmonth beginning February 15th to December 15th, the following entry would
be recorded:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Income Tax Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,000
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,000

To record payment of income tax.

Assume that at the end of December, the corporaƟon’s actual income tax was determined to be
$297,000 instead of the originally esƟmated $300,000. The entry at December 31 would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Income Tax Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,000
Income Tax Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,000

To recort income tax expense; ($25,000
x 11 months = $275,000; $297,000 -
$275,000 = $22,000).

ConƟngent LiabiliƟes

Recall that an esƟmated liability is recorded when the liability is probable and the amount can be
reliably esƟmated. A conƟngent liability existswhen one of the following two criteria are saƟsfied:

1. it is not probable or

2. it cannot be reliably esƟmated.

A liability that is determined to be conƟngent is not recorded, rather it is disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements except when there is a remote likelihood of its existence. An example of
a conƟngent liability is a lawsuit where it is probable there will be a loss but the amount cannot
be reliably determined. A brief descripƟon of the lawsuit must be disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements; it would not be recorded unƟl the amount of the loss could be reliably esƟ-
mated. Great care must be taken with conƟngencies—if an organizaƟon intenƟonally withholds
informaƟon, it could cause decision makers, such as investors, to make decisions they would not
otherwise have made.

ConƟngent assets, on the other hand, are not recorded unƟl actually realized. If a conƟngent asset
is probable, it is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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9.4 Long-Term LiabiliƟes

LO4 – IdenƟfy,
describe, and
record bonds.

CorporaƟons generally acquire long-lived assets like property, plant, and
equipment through the issue of shares or long-term debt that is repayable
over many years. Chapter 10 addresses the ways in which a corporaƟon
can raise funds by issuing shares, known as equity financing. This chapter
discusses corporate financing by means of issuing long-term debt, known
as debt financing. Types of long-term debt are typically classified accord-
ing to their means of repayment.

1. Bonds pay only interest at regular intervals to investors. The original investment is repaid
to bondholders when the bond matures (or comes due), usually aŌer a number of years.
Bonds are generally issued to many individual investors.

2. Loans are repaid in equal payments on a regular basis. The payments represent both interest
and principal paid to creditors. Such payments are said to be blended. That is, each payment
contains repayment of a certain amount of the original amount of the loan (the principal),
as well as interest on the remaining principal balance.

Bonds are discussed in this secƟon. Loans are expanded upon in the next secƟon. Other types of
debt, such as leases, are leŌ for study in a more advanced accounƟng textbook.

Rights of Bondholders

As noted above, a bond is a debt instrument, generally issued to many investors, that requires fu-
ture repayment of the original amount at a fixed date, as well as periodic interest payments during
the intervening period. A contract called a bond indenture is prepared between the corporaƟon
and the future bondholders. It specifies the terms with which the corporaƟon will comply, such as
howmuch interest will be paid and when. Another of these terms may be a restricƟon on further
borrowing by the corporaƟon in the future. A trustee is appointed to be an intermediary between
the corporaƟon and the bondholder. The trustee administers the terms of the indenture.

Ownership of a bond cerƟficate carries with it certain rights. These rights are printed on the actual
cerƟficate and vary among bond issues. The various characterisƟcs applicable to bond issues are
the subject of more advanced courses in finance and are not covered here. However, individual
bondholders always acquire two rights.

1. The right to receive the face value of the bond at a specified date in the future, called the
maturity date.

2. The right to receive periodic interest payments at a specified percent of the bond’s face
value.
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Bond AuthorizaƟon

Every corporaƟon is legally required to follow awell-defined sequence in authorizing a bond issue.
The bond issue is presented to the board of directors by management and must be approved by
shareholders. Legal requirements must be followed and disclosure in the financial statements of
the corporaƟon is required.

Shareholder approval is an important step because bondholders are creditors with a prior claim
on the corporaƟon’s assets if liquidaƟon occurs. Further, dividend distribuƟons may be restricted
during the life of the bonds, and those shareholders affected usually need to approve this. These
restricƟons are typically reported to the reader of financial statements through note disclosure.

Assume that Big Dog Carworks Corp. decides to issue $30 million of 12% bonds to finance its
expansion. The bonds are repayable three years from the date of issue, January 1, 2015. The
amount of authorized bonds, their interest rate, and their maturity date can be shown in the
accounts as follows:

GENERAL LEDGER
Bonds Payable –

Long-Term
Due Jan. 1, 2018

Acct. No. 272
Date DescripƟon Debit Credit DR/CR Balance
2015

.. .. ..
..
..

..

Jan.

.

1

.

Authorized to issue $30,000,000

.

of 12%, 3-year bonds, due

.

January 1, 2018.

Bonds in the Financial Statement

Each bond issue is disclosed separately in the notes to the financial statements because each issue
may have different characterisƟcs. The descripƟve informaƟon disclosed to readers of financial
statements includes the interest rate andmaturity date of the bond issue. Also disclosed in a note
are any restricƟons imposed on the corporaƟon’s acƟviƟes by the terms of the bond indenture
and the assets pledged, if any.

Other Issues Related to Bond Financing

There are several addiƟonal consideraƟons related to the issue of bonds.

1. Cash Required in the Immediate and the Foreseeable Future
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Most bond issues are sold in their enƟretywhenmarket condiƟons are favourable. However,
more bonds can be authorized in a parƟcular bond issue than will be immediately sold.
Authorized bonds can be issued whenever cash is required.

2. Time Periods Associated with Bonds

The interest rate of bonds is associated with Ɵme, their maturity date is based on Ɵme, and
other provisions—such as converƟbility into share capital and restricƟons on future dividend
distribuƟons of the corporaƟon—are typically acƟvated at a given point in Ɵme. Thesemust
also be considered, as the success of a bond issue oŌen depends on the proper combinaƟon
of these and other similar features.

3. Assets of the CorporaƟon to Be Pledged

Whether or not long-lived assets like property, plant, and equipment are pledged as secu-
rity is an important consideraƟon for bondholders because doing so helps to safeguard their
investments. This decision is also important to the corporaƟon because pledging all these
assets may restrict future borrowings. The total amount of authorized bonds is usually a
fracƟon of the pledged assets, such as 50%. The difference represents a margin of safety to
bondholders. The value of these assets can shrink substanƟally but sƟll permit reimburse-
ment of bondholders should the company be unable to pay the bond interest or principal,
and need to sell the pledged assets.

Bond CharacterisƟcs

Each corporaƟon issuing bonds has unique financing needs and aƩempts to saƟsfy various bor-
rowing situaƟons and investor preferences. Many types of bonds have been created tomeet these
varying needs.

Secured bonds are backed by physical assets of the corporaƟon. These are usually long-lived
assets. When real property is legally pledged as security for the bonds, they are calledmortgage
bonds.

Unsecured bonds are commonly referred to as debentures. A debenture is a formal document
staƟng that a company is liable to pay a specified amount with interest. The debt is not backed by
any collateral. As such, debentures are usually only issued by large, well-established companies.
Debenture holders are ordinary creditors of the corporaƟon. These bonds usually command a
higher interest rate because of the added risk for investors.

Registered bonds require the name and address of the owner to be recorded by the corporaƟon
or its trustee. The Ɵtle to bearer bonds passes on delivery of the bonds to new owners and is not
tracked. Payment of interest is made when the bearer clips coupons aƩached to the bond and
presents these for payment. Bearer bonds are becoming increasingly rare.

When serial bonds Serial bondsare issued, the bonds have differing maturity dates, as indicated
on the bond contract. Investors are able to choose bonds with a term that agrees with their in-
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vestment plans. For example, in a $30 million serial bond issue, $10 million worth of the bonds
may mature each year for three years.

The issue of bonds with a call provision permits the issuing corporaƟon to redeem, or call, the
bonds before their maturity date. The bond indenture usually indicates the price at which bonds
are callable. Corporate bond issuers are thereby protected in the event that market interest rates
decline below the bond contract interest rate. The higher interest rate bonds can be called to be
replaced by bonds bearing a lower interest rate.

Some bonds allow the bondholder to exchange bonds for a specified type and amount of the
corporaƟon’s share capital. Bonds with this feature are called converƟble bonds. This feature
permits bondholders to enjoy the security of being creditors while having the opƟon to become
shareholders if the corporaƟon is successful.

When sinking fund bonds are issued, the corporaƟon is required to deposit funds at regular in-
tervals with a trustee. This feature ensures the availability of adequate cash for the redempƟon
of the bonds at maturity. The fund is called “sinking” because the transferred assets are Ɵed up
or “sunk,” and cannot be used for any purpose other than the redempƟon of the bonds.

The corporaƟon issuing bonds may be required to restrict its retained earnings. The restricƟon of
dividendsmeans that dividends declared cannot exceed a specified balance in retained earnings.
This protects bondholders by limiƟng the amount of dividends that can be paid.

Investors consider the interest rates of bonds as well as the quality of the assets, if any, that are
pledged as security. The other provisions in a bond contract are of limited or no value if the issuing
corporaƟon is in financial difficulƟes. A corporaƟon in such difficulƟes may not be able to sell its
bonds, regardless of the aƩracƟve provisions aƩached to them.

Recording the Issuance of Bonds at Face Value (at Par)

Each bond has an amount printed on the face of the bond cerƟficate. This is called the face value
of the bond; it is also referred to as the par-value of the bond. When the cash received is the
same as a bond’s face value, the bond is said to be issued at par. A common face value of bonds
is $1,000, although bonds of other denominaƟons exist. A $30 million bond issue can be divided
into 30,000 bonds, for example. This permits a large number of individuals and insƟtuƟons to
parƟcipate in corporate financing.

If a bond is sold at face value, the journal entry is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000
Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000

To record the issue of 8% bonds at par.



9.4. Long-Term Liabilities 223

Recording the Issuance of Bonds at a Premium

A $1,000 bond is sold at a premium when it is sold for more than its face value. This results
when the bond interest rate is higher than the market interest rate. For instance, assume Big Dog
Carworks Corp. issues a bond on January 1, 2015 with a face value of $1,000, a maturity date of
one year, and a stated or contract interest rate of 8% per year, at a Ɵme when the market interest
rate is 7%. PotenƟal investors will bid up the bond price to $1,009.34 based on present value
calculaƟons where FV = $1,000; PMT = $80; i = 7 (the market rate); and n = 1.2 We will round the
$1,009.34 to $1,009 to simplify the demonstraƟon.

The premium is the $9 difference between the $1,009 selling price of the bond and the $1,000
face value. The journal entry to record the sale of the bond on January 1, 2015 is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,009
Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000
Premium on Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . 9

To record the issue of 8% bonds at a pre-
mium.

The Premium on Bonds Payable account is a contra liability account that is added to the value of
the bonds on the balance sheet. Because the bonds mature in one year, the bond appears in the
current liabiliƟes secƟon of the balance sheet as follows:

LiabiliƟes
Current
Bonds payable $1,000
Add: Premium on bonds payable 9 $1,009

On the maturity date of December 31, 2015, the interest expense of $80 is paid, bondholders are
repaid, and the premium is wriƩen off as a reducƟon of interest expense.

These three journal entries would be made:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80

To record interest paid on bonds.

2Present Value (PV) calculaƟons can be done using tables or a business calculator. Table values are rounded causing
results to be less accurate. Since business calculators have PV funcƟonality, all PV calculaƟons should be done using a
calculator. PV calculaƟons are reviewed in SecƟon 9.6. Given the variety of calculators on themarket, students should
take responsibility for knowing how to do PV calculaƟons using their own calculator.
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000

To record payment of bonds.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Premium on Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

To record write-off of premium against in-
terest.

AlternaƟvely, a single entry would be preferable as follows:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 71
Premium on Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,080
To record payment of bond and interest
on maturity date.

Note that the interest expense recorded on the income statement would be $71 ($80 – 9). This is
equal to the market rate of interest at the Ɵme of bond issue.

Recording the Issuance of Bonds at a Discount

If the bond is sold for less than $1,000, then the bond has been sold at a discount. This results
when the bond interest rate is lower than the market interest rate. To demonstrate the journal
entries, assume a $1,000, one-year, 8% bond is issued by BDCC when the market interest rate is
9%. The selling amount will be $990.83 using PV calculaƟons where FV = $1,000; PMT = $80; i = 9
(the market rate); and n = 1. We will round the $990.83 to $991 to simplify the demonstraƟon.

The difference between the face value of the bond ($1,000) and the selling price of the bond ($991)
is $9. This is the discount.

The journal entry to record the transacƟon on January 1, 2015 is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 991
Discount on Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000
To record issue of bonds at a discount.
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The $9 amount is a contra liability account and is deducted from the face value of the bonds on
the balance sheet as follows:

LiabiliƟes
Current
Bonds payable $1,000
Add: Premium on bonds payable (9) $991

On December 31, 2015, when the bonds mature, the following entries would be recorded:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80

To record interest paid on bonds.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000

To record payment of bonds.

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
Discount on Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . 9

To record write-off of premium against in-
terest.

AlternaƟvely, a single entry would be preferable as follows:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 89
Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000

Discount on Bonds Payable . . . . . . . . . . 9
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,080

To record payment of bond and interest
on maturity date.

The interest expense recorded on the income statement would be $89 ($80 + 9). This is equal to
the market rate of interest at the Ɵme of bond issue.

These are simplified examples, and the amounts of bond premiums and discounts in these ex-
amples are insignificant. In reality, bonds may be outstanding for a number of years, and related
premiums and discounts can be substanƟal when millions of dollars of bonds are issued. These
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premiums and discounts are amorƟzed using the effecƟve interest method over the same number
of periods as the related bonds are outstanding. The amorƟzaƟon of premiums and discounts is
an intermediate financial accounƟng topic and is not covered here.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Issuance
of bond at par.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Recording
payment of Bond Interest.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Pricing
Bonds Using a Calculator.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Issuing
Bonds at a Discount.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Issuing
Bonds at a Premium.

9.5 Long-term LiabiliƟes—Loans Payable

LO5 – Explain,
calculate, and
record long-term
loans.

A loan is another form of long-term debt that a corporaƟon can use to
finance its operaƟons. Like bonds, loans can be secured, giving the lender
the right to specified assets of the corporaƟon if the debt cannot be repaid.
For instance a mortgage is a loan secured by specified real estate of the
company, usually land with buildings on it.

Unlike a bond, a loan is typically obtained from one lender such as a bank. Also, a loan is repaid in
equal blended payments over a period Ɵme. These payments contain both interest payments and
some repayment of principal. As well, a loan does not give rise to a premium or discount because
it is obtained at the market rate of interest in effect at the Ɵme.

To demonstrate the journal entries related to long-term loans, assume BDCC obtained a three-
year, $100,000, 10% loan on January 1, 2015 from First Bank to acquire a piece of equipment.
When the loan proceeds are deposited into BDCC’s bank account, the following entry is recorded:

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_4_1IssuanceBondPar
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http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_4_2RecPaymentBondInterest
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_4_2RecPaymentBondInterest
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_4_3BondPricingCalc
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_4_3BondPricingCalc
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_4_4Discount
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_4_4Discount
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,000
Long-Term Note Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,000

To record 10%, 3-year, $100,000 bank
loan.

The loan is repayable in three annual blended payments. To calculate the payments, PV analysis
is used whereby the following keystrokes are entered into a business calculator:

PV = 100000 (the cash received from the bank),

i = 10 (the interest rate),

n = 3 (the term of the loan is three years), and

Compute PMT.

The PMT (or payment) is -40211.48. The result is negaƟve because payments are cash ouƞlows.
While the payments remain the same each year, the amount of interest paid decreases and the
amount of principal increases. Figure 9.2 illustrates this effect.

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e)
Beginning Periodic ReducƟon Ending

Year Loan Interest of Loan Total Loan
Ended Balance Expense Payable Loan Balance
Dec. 31 (e) (a) x 10% (d) - (b) Payment (a) - (c)
2015 $100,000 $10,000 $30,211 $40,211 $69,789
2016 69,789 6,979 33,232 40,211 36,557
2017 36,557 ..3,654 36,557 40,211 ..-0-

$100,000

..

Interest expense and the principal balance decrease
with each loan payment.

Figure 9.2: Effect of Blended Interest and Principal Payments

Figure 9.2 can be used to construct the journal entries to record the loan payments at the end of
each year:
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Dec. 31, 2015 Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,000
Loan Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,211

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,211
Dec. 31, 2016 Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,979

Loan Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33,232
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,211

Dec. 31, 2017 Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,654
Loan Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36,557

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,211

The amounts in Figure 9.2 can also be used to present the related informaƟon on the financial
statements of BDCC at each year end. Recall that assets and liabiliƟes need to be classified as
current and non-current porƟons on the balance sheet. Current liabiliƟes are amounts paid within
one year of the balance sheet date. That part of the loan payable to First Bank to be paid in the
upcoming year needs to be classified as a current liability on the balance sheet. The amount of
the total loan outstanding at December 31, 2015, 2016, and 2017 and the current and non-current
porƟons are shown in Figure 9.3:

A B C D
Ending loan

Year balance per Current porƟon (B – C)
ended Dec. general ledger (Fig. 9.2, Col. C) Long-term

31 (Fig 9.2, Col. E) porƟon
2015 $69,788 $33,232 $36,557
2016 36,557 36,557 -0-
2017 -0- -0- -0-

Figure 9.3: Current and Long-term PorƟons of Loan Principal

Balance sheet presentaƟon would be as follows at the end of 2015, 2016, and 2017:

2015 2016 2017
Current liabiliƟes
Current porƟon of bank loan $33,232 $36,557 $ -0-

Long-term liabiliƟes
Bank loan (Note X) 36,557 -0- -0-

Details of the loan would be disclosed in a note to the financial statements. Only the principal
amount of the loan is reported on the balance sheet. The interest expense porƟon is reported on
the income statement as an expense. Because these loan payments are made at BDCC’s year end,
no interest payable is accrued or reported on the balance sheet.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Equal
Payments.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_5_1NotesPaymentEqualTotal
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN9_5_1NotesPaymentEqualTotal
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9.6 Appendix: Present Value CalculaƟons

Interest is the Ɵme value of money. If you borrow $1 today for one year at 10% interest, its future
value in one year is $1.10 ($1× 110% = $1.10). The increase of 10 cents results from the interest
on $1 for the year. Conversely, if you are to pay $1.10 one year from today, the present value
is $1—the amount you would need to invest today at 10% to receive $1.10 in one year’s Ɵme
($1.10/110% = $1). The exclusion of applicable interest in calculaƟng present value is referred to
as discounƟng.

If the above $1.10 amount at the end of the first year is invested for an addiƟonal year at 10%
interest, its future valuewould be $1.21 ($1.10 x 110%). This consists of the original $1 investment,
$.10 interest earned in the first year, and $.11 interest earned during the second year. Note that
the second year’s interest is earned on both the original $1 and on the 10 cents interest earned
during the first year. This increase provides an example of compound interest—interest earned on
interest.

The following formula can be used to calculate this:

FV = PV× (1 + i)n

where FV = future value, PV = present value, i = the interest rate, and n = number of
periods.

SubsƟtuƟng the values of our example, the calculaƟon would be FV = $1[(1 + .1)2], or $1.21.

If the future value of today’s $1 at 10% interest compounded annually amounts to $1.21 at the
end of two years, the present value of $1.21 to be paid in two years, discounted at 10%, is $1. The
formula to calculate this is just the inverse of the formula shown above, or

PV =
FV

(1 + i)n

SubsƟtuƟng the values of our example,

PV =
$1.21

(1 + .1)2

That is, the present value of $1.21 received two years in the future is $1. The present value is
always less than the future value, since an amount received today can be invested to earn a return
(interest) in the intervening period. CalculaƟng the present value of amounts payable or receivable
over several Ɵme periods is explained more thoroughly below.

Instead of using formulas to calculate future and present values, a business calculator can be used
where:

PV = present value
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FV = future value

i = interest rate per period (for a semi-annual period where the annual interest rate is
8%, for example, i = 4% and would be entered into the calculator as ‘4’ – not .04)

PMT = dollar amount of interest per period

n = number of periods.

The following three scenarios demonstrate how PV analysis is used to determine the issue price
of a $100,000 bond.

1. Big Dog Carworks Corp. issues $100,000 of 3-year, 12% bonds on January 1, 2015 when the
market rate of interest is 12%. Interest is paid semi-annually.

2. BDCC’s bonds are issued at a premium because the market rate of interest is 8% at the date
of issue.

3. BDCC’s bonds are issued at a discount because the market rate of interest is 16% at the date
of issue.

In each scenario, the bond principal of $100,000 will be repaid at the end of three years, and in-
terest payments of $6,000 (calculated as $100,000 x 12% x 6/12) will be received every six months
for three years.

Scenario 1: The Bond Contract Interest Rate is 12% and theMarket Interest Rate
Is 12%

The market interest rate is the same as the bond interest rate, therefore the bond is selling at
par. The present value will be $100,000, the face value of the bond, which can be confirmed by
entering the following into a business calculator:

FV = -100000 (we enter this as a negaƟve because it is a cash ouƞlow—it is being paid
and not received when the bond matures)

i = 6 (calculated as 12%/year÷ 2 periods per year)

PMT = -6000 (we enter this as a negaƟve because it is a cash ouƞlow—it is being paid
and not received each semi-annual interest period)

n = 6 (3-year bond× 2 periods per year)

Compute PV

The PV = 100000. This result confirms that the bond is being issued at par or face value.
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Scenario 2: The Bond Contract Interest Rate is 12% and theMarket Interest Rate
Is 8%

The market interest rate is less than the bond interest rate, therefore the bond is selling at a pre-
mium. The present value can be determined by entering the following into a business calculator:

FV = -100000 (we enter this as a negaƟve because it is a cash ouƞlow—it is being paid
and not received when the bond matures)

i = 4 (calculated as 8%/year÷ 2 periods per year)

PMT = -6000 (we enter this as a negaƟve because it is a cash ouƞlow—it is being paid
and not received each semi-annual interest period)

n = 6 (3-year bond× 2 periods per year)

Compute PV

The PV = 110484.27. This confirms that the bond is being issued at a premium. The premium is
$10,484.27 calculated as the difference between the present value of $110,484.27 and the face
value of $100,000.

Scenario 3: The Bond Contract Interest Rate is 12% and theMarket Interest Rate
Is 16%

The market interest rate is more than the bond interest rate, therefore the bond is selling at a dis-
count. The present value can be determined by entering the following into a business calculator:

FV = -100000 (we enter this as a negaƟve because it is a cash ouƞlow—it is being paid
and not received when the bond matures)

i = 8 (calculated as 16%/year÷ 2 periods per year)

PMT = -6000 (we enter this as a negaƟve because it is a cash ouƞlow—it is being paid
and not received each semi-annual interest period)

n = 6 (3-year bond× 2 periods per year)

Compute PV

The PV = 90754.24. This confirms that the bond is being issued at a discount. The discount is
$9,245.76 calculated as the difference between the present value of $90,754.24 and the face value
of $100,000.
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Summary of Chapter 9 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – IdenƟfy and explain current versus long-term liabiliƟes.

Current or short-term liabiliƟes are a form of debt that is expected to be paid within the longer of
one year of the balance sheet date or one operaƟng cycle. Long-term liabiliƟes are a form of debt
that is expected to be paid beyond one year of the balance sheet date or the next operaƟng cycle,
whichever is longer. Current and long-term liabiliƟes must be shown separately on the balance
sheet.

LO2 – Record and disclose known current liabiliƟes.

Known current liabiliƟes are those where the payee, amount, and Ɵming of payment are known.
Payroll liabiliƟes are a type of known current liability. Employers are responsible for withholding
from employees amounts including Employment Insurance (EI), Canada Pension Plan (CPP), and
income tax, and then remiƫng the amounts to the appropriate authority. Sales taxes, including
the Goods and Services Tax (GST) and Provincial Sales Tax (PST), must be collected by registrants
and subsequently remiƩed to the Receiver General for Canada. Short-term notes payable, also
a known current liability, can involve the accrual of interest if the maturity date falls in the next
accounƟng period.

LO3 – Record and disclose esƟmated current liabiliƟes.

An esƟmated liability is known to exist where the amount, although uncertain, can be esƟmated.
WarranƟes and income taxes are examples of esƟmated liabiliƟes. ConƟngent liabiliƟes are nei-
ther a known liability nor an esƟmated liability and are not recorded if they are determined to
exist. A conƟngent liability exists when it is not probable or it cannot be realiably esƟmated. A
conƟngent liability is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

LO4 – IdenƟfy, describe, and record bonds.

Bonds pay interest at regular intervals to bondholders. The original investment is repaid to bond-
holders when the bonds mature. There are different types of bonds: secured or unsecured, as
well as registered or bearer bonds. Bonds can have a variety of characterisƟcs, including: varying
maturity dates, call provisions, conversion privileges, sinking fund requirements, or dividend re-
stricƟons. Bonds are issued: (a) at par (also known as the face value) when the market interest
rate is the same as the bond (or contract) interest rate; (b) at a discount when the market interest
rate is higher than the bond interest rate; or (c) at a premium when the market interest rate is
lower than the bond interest rate.
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LO5 – Explain, calculate, and record long-term loans.

A loan is a form of long-term debt that can be used by a corporaƟon to finance its operaƟons.
Bonds can be secured and are typically obtained from a bank. Loans are oŌen repaid in equal
blended payments containing both interest and principal.





...

Chapter 10

.

Equity Financing

CorporaƟons someƟmes finance a large porƟon of their operaƟons by issuing equity in the form
of shares. This chapter discusses in detail the nature of the corporate form of organizaƟon, the
different types of shares used to obtain funds for business acƟviƟes, and how these transacƟons
are recorded. It also expands on the concept of dividends.

Chapter 10 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – IdenƟfy and explain characterisƟcs of the corporate form of organizaƟon and classes
of shares.

LO2 – Record and disclose preferred and common share transacƟons including share splits.

LO3 – Record and disclose cash dividends.

LO4 – Record and disclose share dividends.

LO5 – Calculate and explain the book value per share raƟo.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 10.

1. What are the characterisƟcs of a corporaƟon?

2. What types of shares can a corporaƟon issue to investors?

3. What are the rights of common shareholders in a corporaƟon?

4. How are the rights of common shareholders different from those of preferred shareholders?

5. How are share transacƟons recorded?

6. When both preferred and common shares are issued by a corporaƟon, how is this disclosed
in the equity secƟon of the balance sheet?

7. What is meant by authorized shares?

8. How do issued shares differ from outstanding shares?

235
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9. What is a share split?

10. How does a share split affect equity?

11. How are cash dividends recorded?

12. What is a share dividend and how is it recorded?

13. How does a share dividend affect equity?

14. What is book value and how is it calculated?

10.1 The Corporate Structure

LO1 – IdenƟfy
and explain char-
acterisƟcs of the
corporate form
of organizaƟon
and classes of
shares.

The accounƟng equaƟonexpresses the relaƟonship betweenassets owned
by a corporaƟonand the claims against those assets by creditors and share-
holders. AccounƟng for equity in a corporaƟon requires a disƟncƟon be-
tween the two main sources of shareholders’ equity: share capital and
retained earnings. Their relaƟonship to the accounƟng equaƟon is shown
in Figure 10.1.

ASSETS = LIABILITIES + ..EQUITY

..
SHARE CAPITAL

.
RETAINED EARNINGS

.
This is the amount sharehold-
ers have paid to purchase
ownership interests in a com-
pany.

.
This is the total net income
earned by a company over
its life that has not been dis-
tributed to shareholders as
dividends.

Figure 10.1: Share Capital Versus Retained Earnings

Corporate CharacterisƟcs

A unique characterisƟc of corporaƟons is that they are legally separate from their owners, who
are called shareholders. Each unit of ownership of a corporaƟon is called a share. If a corporaƟon
issues 1,000 shares and you own 100 of them, you own 10% of the company. CorporaƟons can be
privately-held shares or publicly-held shares. A privately-held corporaƟon’s shares are not issued
for sale to the general public. A publicly-held corporaƟon offers its shares for sale to the gen-
eral public, someƟmes on a stock market like the Toronto Stock Exchange or the New York Stock
Exchange.
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A corporaƟon has some of the same rights and obligaƟons as individuals. For instance, it pays
income taxes on its earnings, can enter into legal contracts, can own property, and can sue and
be sued. A corporaƟon also has disƟncƟve features. It is separately regulated by law, has an
indefinite life, its owners have limited liability, and it can usually acquire capital more easily than
an individual. These features are discussed below.

• CreaƟon by law

A corporaƟon is formed under legislaƟon enacted by a country or a poliƟcal jurisdicƟon within
it. For instance, in Canada a corporaƟon can be formed under either federal or provincial laws.
Although details may vary among jurisdicƟons, a legal document variously described as arƟcles of
incorporaƟon, a memorandum of associaƟon, or leƩers patent is submiƩed for consideraƟon to
the appropriate government by prospecƟve shareholders. The document lists the classes or types
of shares that will be issued as well as the total number of shares of each class that can be issued,
known as the authorized number of shares.

When approved, the government issues a cerƟficate of incorporaƟon. Investors then purchase
shares from the corporaƟon. They meet and elect a board of directors. The board formulates cor-
poraƟon policy and broadly directs the affairs of the corporaƟon. This includes the appointment
of a person in charge of day-to-day operaƟons, oŌen called a president, chief execuƟve officer, or
similar Ɵtle. This person in turn has authority over the employees of the corporaƟon.

A shareholder or group of shareholders who control more than 50% of the voƟng shares of a
corporaƟon are able to elect the board of directors and thus direct the affairs of the company. In a
large public corporaƟon with many shareholders, minority shareholders with similar ideas about
how the company should be run someƟmes delegate their votes to one person who will vote on
their behalf by signing a proxy statement. This increases their relaƟve voƟng power, asmany other
shareholders may not parƟcipate in shareholders’ meeƟngs.

Shareholders usually meet annually to vote for a board of directors—either to re-elect the current
directors or to vote in new directors. The board meets regularly, perhaps monthly or quarterly,
to review the operaƟons of the corporaƟon and to set policies for future operaƟons. The board
may decide to distribute some assets of the corporaƟon as a dividend to shareholders. It may
also decide that some percentage of the assets of the corporaƟon legally available for dividends
should be made unavailable; in this case, a restricƟon is created. AccounƟng for such restricƟons
is discussed later in this chapter.

Wherever it is incorporated, a company is generally subject to the following regulaƟons:

1. It must provide Ɵmely financial informaƟon to investors.

2. It must file required reports with the government.

3. It cannot distribute profits arbitrarily but must treat all shares of the same class alike.

4. It is subject to special taxes and fees.
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Despite these requirements, a corporaƟon’s advantages usually outweigh its disadvantages when
compared to other forms of business such as a proprietorship or partnership. These features of a
corporaƟon are described further below. Proprietorships and partnerships are discussed in more
detail in Chapter 13.

• Indefinite life

A corporaƟon has an existence separate from that of its owners. Individual shareholders may
die, but the corporate enƟty conƟnues. The life of a corporaƟon comes to an end only when it is
dissolved, becomes bankrupt, or has its charter revoked for failing to follow laws and regulaƟons.

• Limited liability

The corporaƟon’s owners are liable only for the amount that they have invested in the corporaƟon.
If the corporaƟon fails, its assets are used to pay creditors. If insufficient assets exist to pay all
debts, there is no further liability on the part of shareholders. This situaƟon is in direct contrast
to a proprietorship or a partnership. In these forms of organizaƟon, creditors have full recourse to
the personal assets of the proprietorship or partners if the business is unable to fulfil its financial
obligaƟons. For the protecƟon of creditors, the limited liability of a corporaƟonmust be disclosed
in its name. Thewords “Limited,” “Incorporated,” or “CorporaƟon” (or the abbreviaƟons Ltd., Inc.,
or Corp.) are oŌen used as the last word of the name of a company to indicate this corporate form.

• Ease of acquiring capital

Issuing shares allows many individuals to parƟcipate in the financing of a corporaƟon. Both small
and large investors are able to parƟcipate because of the relaƟvely small cost of a share, and
the ease with which ownership can be transferred—shares are simply purchased or sold. Large
amounts of capital can be raised by a corporaƟon because the risks and rewards of ownership can
be spread among many investors.

A corporaƟon only receives money when shares are first issued. Once a share is issued, it can be
bought and sold a number of Ɵmes by various investors. These subsequent transacƟons between
investors do not affect the corporaƟon’s balance sheet.

Income Taxes on Earnings

Because corporaƟons are considered separate legal enƟƟes, they pay income taxes on their earn-
ings. To encourage risk-taking and entrepreneurial acƟvity, certain types of corporaƟons may be
taxed at rates that are lower than other corporaƟons and individual shareholders’ income tax
rates. This can encourage research and development acƟvity or small-company start-ups, for in-
stance.
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Classes of Shares

There are many types of shares, with differences related to voƟng rights, dividend rights, liquida-
Ɵon rights, and other preferenƟal features. The rights of each shareholder depend on the class or
type of shares held.

Every corporaƟon issues common shares. The rights and privileges usually aƩached to common
shares are outlined below.

• The right to parƟcipate in the management of the corporaƟon by voƟng at shareholders’
meeƟngs (this parƟcipaƟon includes voƟng to elect a board of directors; each share normally
corresponds to one vote).

• The right to receive dividends when they are declared by the corporaƟon’s board of direc-
tors.

• The right to receive assets upon liquidaƟon of the corporaƟon.

• The right to appoint auditors through the board of directors.

For other classes of shares, some or all of these rights are usually restricted. The arƟcles of incor-
poraƟon may also grant the shareholders the pre-empƟve right to maintain their proporƟonate
interests in the corporaƟon if addiƟonal shares are issued.

If the company is successful, common shareholders may receive dividend payments. As well, the
value of common shares may increase. Common shareholders can submit a proposal to raise
any maƩer at an annual meeƟng and have this proposal circulated to other shareholders at the
corporaƟon’s expense. If the corporaƟon intends to make fundamental changes in its business,
these shareholders can oŌen require the corporaƟon to buy their shares at their fair value. In
addiƟon, shareholders can apply to the courts for an appropriate remedy if they believe their
interests have been unfairly disregarded by the corporaƟon.

Some corporaƟons issue different classes of shares in order to appeal to as large a group of in-
vestors as possible. This permits different risks to be assumed by different classes of shareholders
in the same company. For instance, a corporaƟon may issue common shares but divide these into
different classes like class A and class B common shares. When dividends are declared, they might
only be paid to holders of class A shares.

Preferred shares is a class of sharewhere the shareholders are enƟtled to receive dividends before
common shareholders. These shares usually do not have voƟng privileges. Preferred shareholders
typically assume less risk than common shareholders. In return, they receive only a limited amount
of dividends. Issuing preferred shares allows a corporaƟon to raise addiƟonal capital without re-
quiring exisƟng shareholders to give up control. Preferred shares are listed before common shares
in the equity secƟon of the balance sheet. Other characterisƟcs of preferred shares and dividend
payments are discussed later in this chapter.
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The shares of a corporaƟon can have a different status at different points in Ɵme. They can be
unissued or issued, issued and outstanding, or issued and reacquired by the corporaƟon (called
treasury shares). The meaning of these terms is summarized in Figure 10.2:

..AUTHORIZED SHARES.

Total number of shares that can be issued.

.

UNISSUED SHARES

.

ISSUED SHARES

.

Shares that have not yet
been sold.

.

Shares that have been sold
but may have been repur-
chased by the corporaƟon.

.

ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING
SHARES

.

REQUIRED SHARES
(or TREASURY SHARES)

.

Shares that have been sold
and are held by investors.

.

Shares that have been is-
sued, were once held by
shareholders, and have now
been reacquired by the cor-
poraƟon. They may be reis-
sued or cancelled at a later
date. (To cancel a share is
to prevent it from being
sold again.)

Figure 10.2: Status of Shares

The Debt Versus Equity Financing Decision

Many factors influencemanagement in its choice between the issue of debt and the issue of share
capital. One of themost important consideraƟons is the potenƟal effect of each of these financing
methods on the present shareholders.

Consider the example of Old World CorporaƟon, which has 100,000 common shares outstanding,
is a growth company, and is profitable. Assume Old World requires $30 million in cash to finance
a new plant. Management is currently reviewing three financing opƟons:

1. Issue 12% debt, due in three years

2. Issue 300,000 preferred shares (dividend $8 per share annually)

3. Issue an addiƟonal 200,000 common shares at $30 each.



10.1. The Corporate Structure 241

Management esƟmates that the new plant should result in income before interest and tax of $6
million. Management has prepared the following analysis to compare and evaluate each financing
opƟon.

Plan 1: Plan 2: Plan 3:
Issue Issue

Preferred Common
Issue Debt Shares Shares

Income before interest and income taxes $ 6,000,000 $ 6,000,000 $ 6,000,000
Less: Interest expense ($30M x 12%) (3,600,000) -0- -0-

Income before taxes $ 2,400,000 $ 6,000,000 $ 6,000,000
Less: Income taxes assumed to be 50% (1,200,000) (3,000,000) (3,000,000)

Net income 1,200,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
Less: Preferred dividends (300,000 x $8 per share) -0- (2,400,000) -0-

Net income available to common shareholders $ 1,200,000 $ 600,000 $ 3,000,000
Number of common shares outstanding 100,000 100,000 300,000
Earnings per common share1 $ 12 $ 6 $ 10

Plan 1, the issue of debt, has several advantages for exisƟng common shareholders.

• Advantage 1: Earnings per share

If the addiƟonal long-term financing were acquired through the issue of debt, the corporate earn-
ings per share (EPS) on each common share would be $12. This EPS is greater than the EPS earned
through financing with either preferred shares or addiƟonal common shares. On this basis alone,
the issue of debt is more financially aƩracƟve to exisƟng common shareholders.

• Advantage 2: Control of the corporaƟon

Creditors have no vote in the affairs of the corporaƟon. If addiƟonal common shares were issued,
there might be a loss of corporate control by exisƟng shareholders because ownership would be
distributed over a larger number of shareholders, or concentrated in the hands of one or a few
new owners. In the OldWorld case, issuing common shares would increase the number threefold
from 100,000 to 300,000 shares.

• Advantage 3: Income taxes expense
1 The amount of net income earned in a year can be divided by the number of common shares outstanding to

establish how much return has been earned for each outstanding share. EPS is calculated as:

Net income
Number of common shares outstanding

EPS is quoted in financial markets and is disclosed on the income statement of publicly-traded companies. It is
discussed in more detail in Chapter 12.
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Interest expense paid on debt is deducƟble from income for income tax purposes. Dividend pay-
ments are distribuƟons of retained earnings, which is aŌer-tax income. Thus, dividends are not
deducƟble again for tax purposes. With a 50% income tax rate, the aŌer-tax interest expense to
the corporaƟon is only 6% (12% x 50%). The effecƟve interest rate on preferred shares in this
example is much higher, at 40% ($8/$20).

Debt Financing Disadvantages

There are also some disadvantages in long-term financing with debt that must be carefully re-
viewed by management and the board of directors. The most serious disadvantage is the pos-
sibility that the corporaƟon might earn less than $6 million before interest expense and income
taxes. The interest expense is a fixed amount. It must be paid to creditors at specified Ɵmes, unlike
dividends.

Another disadvantage is the fact that debt must be repaid at maturity, whether or not the corpo-
raƟon is financially able to do so. Shares do not have to be repaid.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Debt vs
Equity Financing.

10.2 Recording Share TransacƟons

LO2 – Record
and disclose
preferred and
common share
transacƟons
including share
splits.

Shares have a stated (or nominal) value—the amount for which they are
issued. AlternaƟvely, but rarely, shares will have a par-value which is the
amount stated in the corporate charter belowwhich shares cannot be sold
upon iniƟal offering. For consistency, we will assume all shares have a
stated value.

Todemonstrate the issuance andfinancial statement presentaƟonof shares,
assume that New World CorporaƟon is authorized to issue share capital
consisƟng of an unlimited number of voƟng common shares and 100,000
non-voƟng preferred shares.

TransacƟon 1: On January 1, 2015, NewWorld sells 1,000 common shares to its first shareholders
for $10 per share, or $10,000 cash. New World records the following entry:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,000
Common Shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,000

To record the issuance of 1,000 common
shares at $10 per share.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN10_1_1DebtVSEquity
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TransacƟon 2: On February 1, 2015, 2,500 preferred shares are issued to the owner of land and
buildings that have a fair value of $35,000 and $50,000, respecƟvely. The journal entry to record
this transacƟon is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35,000
Building . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50,000

Preferred Shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85,000
To record the issuance of 2,500 preferred
shares in exchange for land and buildings.

Usually, one or more individuals decide to form a corporaƟon and before the corporaƟon is cre-
ated, may then use their own funds to pay for legal and government fees, travel and promoƟonal
costs, and so on. When the corporaƟon is legally formed, it is not unusual for the corporaƟon to
issue shares to these organizers for these amounts. These expenditures are referred to as organi-
zaƟon costs (start-up costs) and are expensed.

TransacƟon 3: On March 1, 2015, 500 common shares are issued to the organizers of NewWorld
to pay for their services, valued at $5,000. The journal entry to record this transacƟon is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

OrganizaƟon Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000
Common Shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000

To record the issuance of 500 common
shares in exchange for organizaƟon ef-
forts.

Assuming no further share transacƟons and a retained earnings balance of $480,000, the equity
secƟon of the New World CorporaƟon balance sheet would show the following at December 31,
2015:

Equity SecƟon of the Balance Sheet

..Contributed capital
Preferred shares, 100,000 shares ..authorized,
2,500 shares issued and outstanding . . . . . . . . . . $85,000

Common shares, unlimited shares authorized,
..1,500 shares issued and ..outstanding . . . . . . . . . . 15,000

Total contributed capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $100,000
Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 480,000
Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $580,000

..

Heading required when there is more
than one share capital account on a
classified balance sheet.

.

1,500 shares issued
means 1,500 shares
have been sold. .

100,000 shares authorized
means there are 100,000
shares available for sale.

.

1,500 shares outstanding means 1,500 shares are held by share-
holders (shares that have been issued but are not outstanding
means the corporaƟon purchased its own shares).



244 Equity Financing

TransacƟon 4: Corporate legislaƟon permits a company to reacquire some of its shares, provided
that the purchase does not cause insolvency. A company can repurchase and then cancel the
repurchased shares. When repurchased shares are cancelled, they are no longer issued and no
longer outstanding. A company can also repurchase shares and then hold them in treasury. Trea-
sury shares are issued but not outstanding. A company can use treasury shares for purposes such
as giving to employees as an incenƟve or bonus.

Assume that NewWorld CorporaƟon decides to repurchase 200 common shares on December 1,
2016 and hold them in treasury. Assume that the price of each share is the average issue price of
the outstanding common shares, or $10. The journal entry to record the repurchase is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Common Shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,000
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,000

To record the repurchase of 200 common
shares at $10 per share to be held in trea-
sury.

Assuming no further transacƟons, the equity secƟon of the NewWorld CorporaƟon balance sheet
would show the following at December 31, 2016:

Equity SecƟon of the Balance Sheet
Contributed capital
Preferred shares, 100,000 shares authorized,
2,500 shares issued and outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . $85,000

Common shares, unlimited shares authorized,
1,500 shares issued; 1,300 shares outstanding . . . . 13,000

Total contributed capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $98,000
Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 480,000
Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $578,000

NoƟce that the repurchase of shares caused a decrease in both the paid-in capital for the common
shares ($2,000 decrease) and in the number of shares outstanding decreased (decreased by 200
shares). If the 200 shares had been cancelled, both the number of shares issued and outstanding
would have decreased by 200 shares.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Issuing
Share Capital.

Share Splits

A corporaƟon may find its shares are selling at a high price on a stock exchange, perhaps puƫng
them beyond the reach of many investors. To increase the marketability of a corporaƟon’s shares,
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management may opt for a share split. A share split increases the number of shares issued and
outstanding, and lowers the cost of each new share. The originally-issued shares are exchanged
for a larger number of new shares.

Assume that on December 1, 2017 NewWorld CorporaƟon declares a 3-for-1 common share split.
This results in three new common shares replacing each currently-issued and outstanding com-
mon share. The number of issued and outstanding shares has now been tripled. The market price
of each share will decrease to about one-third of its former market price. Since there is no change
in the dollar amount of common shares, no debit-credit entry is required to record the share split.
Instead, amemorandumentrywould be recorded in the general ledger indicaƟng the newnumber
of shares issued and outstanding, as follows:

Common Shares Acct. No. 320
Date DescripƟon Debit Credit DR/CR Balance
2017
Dec. 1 ..

..

..

..Memorandum Entry: .
Because of a 3-for-1 share split, the issued and outstanding common shares

.

increased, respecƟvely, from 1,500 and 1,300 to 4,500 and 3,900.

The dollar amount shownon the balance sheet and statement of changes in equitywill not change.
The only change is an increase in the number of issued and outstanding common shares. AŌer
the share split, the equity secƟon of the NewWorld CorporaƟon would appear as follows:

Equity SecƟon of the Balance Sheet

Contributed capital
Preferred shares, 100,000 shares authorized,
2,500 shares issued and outstanding . . . . . . . . . . $85,000

Common shares, unlimited shares authorized,
..4,500 shares issued; ..3,900 shares outstanding . . ..13,000

Total contributed capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $98,000
Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 480,000
Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $578,000

..

The number of common shares is-
sued changed from 1,500 shares
before the share split to 4,500 aŌer
the share split.

.

The number of common shares outstanding
changed from 1,300 shares before the share
split to 3,900 aŌer the share split. .

The paid-in
capital is not
affected by a
share split.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Share
Splits.
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10.3 Cash Dividends

LO3 – Record and
disclose cash div-
idends.

Both creditors and shareholders are interested in the amount of assets
that can be distributed as dividends. Dividends The paid-in share capital
is not available for distribuƟon as dividends. This helps protect creditors
by prevenƟng shareholders from withdrawing assets as dividends to the
point where remaining assets become insufficient to pay creditors. For ex-
ample, assume total assets are $40,000; total liabiliƟes $39,000; and total
equity $1,000, consisƟng of $900 in common shares and $100 of retained
earnings. The maximum dividends that could be declared in this situaƟon
is $100, the balance in retained earnings.

Dividend Policy

SomeƟmes the board of directorsmay choose not to declare any dividends. Theremay be financial
condiƟons in the corporaƟon that make the payment impracƟcal.

• ConsideraƟon 1: There may not be adequate cash

CorporaƟons regularly reinvest their earnings in assets in order to make more profits. In this way,
growth occurs and reliance on creditor financing can be minimized. As a result, there may not be
enough cash on hand to declare and pay a cash dividend. The assets of the corporaƟon may be
Ɵed up in property, plant, and equipment, for instance.

• ConsideraƟon 2: A policy of the corporaƟon may preclude dividend payments

Some corporaƟons pay no dividends. Instead, they reinvest their earnings in the business. Share-
holders generally benefit through increased earnings, reflected in increased market price for the
corporaƟon’s shares. A stated policy to this effect can apprise investors. This type of dividend
policy is oŌen found in growth-oriented corporaƟons.

• ConsideraƟon 3: No legal requirement that dividends have to be paid

The board of directors may decide that no dividends should be paid. Legally, there is no require-
ment to do so. If shareholders are dissaƟsfied, they can elect a new board of directors or sell their
shares.

• ConsideraƟon 4: Dividends may be issued in shares of the corporaƟon rather than in cash

Share dividendsmay be issued to conserve cash or to increase the number of shares to be traded
on the stock market. Shares dividends are discussed in SecƟon 10.4.
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Dividend DeclaraƟon

Dividends can be paid only if they have been officially declared by the board of directors. The
board must pass a formal resoluƟon authorizing the dividend payment. NoƟces of the dividend
are then published. Once a dividend declaraƟon has been made public, the dividend becomes a
liability and must be paid. An example of a dividend noƟce is shown in Figure 10.3.

New World CorporaƟon
Dividend NoƟce

On May 25, 2016 the board of directors of New World CorporaƟon declared a
dividend of $0.50 per share on common shares outstanding (3,900). The dividend
will be paid on June 26, 2016 to shareholders of record on June 7, 2016.

By order of the board

[signed]
Lee Smith
Secretary
May 25, 2016

Figure 10.3: An Example of a Dividend NoƟce

There are three dates associated with a dividend. Usually dividends are declared on one date, the
date of declaraƟon (May 25, 2011 in this case); they are payable to shareholders on a second date,
the date of record (June 7, 2016); and the dividend is paid on a third date, the date of payment
(June 26, 2016).

Date of DeclaraƟon

The dividend declaraƟon provides an official noƟce of the dividend. It specifies the amount of the
dividend as well as which shareholders will receive the dividend. The liability for the dividend is
recorded in the books of the corporaƟon at its declaraƟon date.

The following entry would be made in the general ledger of New World CorporaƟon on May 25,
2016, the date of declaraƟon:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash Dividends Declared . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,950
Dividends Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,950

To record $0.50 per common share
cash dividend declared; 3,900 shares x
$0.50/share = $1,950.
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OR

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Retained Earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,950
Dividends Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,950

To record $0.50 per common share
cash dividend declared; 3,900 shares x
$0.50/share = $1,950.

If, as shown in the second entry above, retained earnings is debited instead of cash dividends
declared, a closing entry is not required for dividends during the closing process.

Date of Record

Shareholders who own shares on the date of record will receive the dividend even if they have
sold the shares before the dividend is actually paid. No journal entry is made in the accounƟng
records for the date of record.

Date of Payment

The dividend is paid on this date and recorded as:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Dividends Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,950
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,950

To record payment of dividend.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Divi-
dends.

Preferred Shareholder Dividends

Preferred shares are offered to aƩract investorswhohave lower tolerance for risk than do common
shareholders. Preferred shareholders are content with a smaller but more predictable share of a
corporaƟon’s profits. For instance, preferred shareholders are enƟtled to dividends before any
dividends are distributed to common shareholders. Also, most preferred shares specifically state
what amount of dividends their holders can expect each year. For example, owners of $8 preferred
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shares would be paid $8 per share held each year. These dividends are oŌen paid even if the
corporaƟon experiences a net loss in a parƟcular year.

Preferred shares may also have other dividend preferences, depending on what rights have been
aƩached to preferred shares at the date of incorporaƟon. One such preference is the accumu-
laƟon of undeclared dividends from one year to the next—referred to as cumulaƟve dividends.
Discussion of other preferences is beyond the scope of this introductory textbook. CumulaƟve
dividends are discussed in the next secƟon.

CumulaƟve Dividend Preferences

CumulaƟve preferred shares require that any unpaid dividends accumulate from one year to the
next and are payable from future earningswhen a dividend is eventually declared by a corporaƟon.
These accumulated dividendsmust be paid before any dividends are paid on common shares. The
unpaid dividends are called dividends in arrears. Dividends in arrears are not recorded as a liability
on the balance sheet of the company unƟl they have been declared by the board of directors.
However, disclosure of dividends in arrears must be made in a note to the financial statements.

If a preferred share is non-cumulaƟve, a dividend not declared by the board of directors in any
one year is never paid to shareholders.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run AllocaƟng
Dividends.

10.4 Share Dividends

LO4 – Record and
disclose share
dividends.

A share dividend is a dividend given to shareholders in the form of shares
rather than cash. In this way, the declaring corporaƟon is able to retain
cash in the business and reduce the need to finance its acƟviƟes through
borrowing. Like a cash dividend, a share dividend reduces retained earn-
ings. However, a share dividend does not cause assets to change. Instead,
it simply transfers an amount from retained earnings to contributed capi-
tal. Total assets, total liabiliƟes, and total equity remain unchanged when
there is a share dividend. Like a cash dividend, there are three dates re-
garding a share dividend: date of declaraƟon, date of record, and date of
distribuƟon. NoƟce that there is no ‘date of payment’ as there was for
a cash dividend. This is because there is no cash payment involved for a
share dividend. Instead, shares are distributed, or given, to the sharehold-
ers.
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AccounƟng for Share Dividends

To demonstrate a share dividend, assume that the Sherbrooke CorporaƟon declares a 10% share
dividend to common shareholders. The share dividend is declared on December 15, 2015 payable
to shareholders of record on December 20, 2015. The share dividend is distributed on January 10,
2016. At the Ɵme of the dividend declaraƟon, the shares were trading on the stock exchange at
$4 per share and the equity of the corporaƟon consisted of the following:

Common shares; 20,000 shares authorized;
5,000 shares issued and outstanding . . . . . . . . $25,000

Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,000
Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $100,000

The 10% share dividend equals 500 shares (calculated as 5,000 outstanding shares x 10% share
dividend). The market price on the date of declaraƟon is used to record a share dividend. On the
declaraƟon date, the journal entry to record the share dividend is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Share Dividends Declared . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,000
Common Share Dividends Dis-

tributable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2,000

To record declaraƟon of share dividend;
5,000 shares x 10% = 500 shares; 500
shares x $4 = $2,000.

OR

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Retained Earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,000
Common Share Dividends Dis-

tributable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2,000

To record declaraƟon of share dividend;
5,000 shares x 10% = 500 shares; 500
shares x $4 = $2,000.

If, as shown in the second entry above, retained earnings is debited instead of share dividends, a
closing entry is not required for dividends during the closing process. Common Share Dividends
Distributable is an equity account, specifically, a share capital account.

On the share dividend distribuƟon date, the following entry is recorded:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Common Share Dividends Distributable . . 2,000
Common Shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,000

To record distribuƟon of share dividend.
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Corporate ownership
Before share dividend AŌer share dividend

Shareholder Shares Percent Shares Percent
1 1,000 20% 1,100 20%
2 500 10% 550 10%
3 2,000 40% 2,200 40%
4 1,500 30% 1,550 30%

5,000 100% 5,500 100%

The effect of these entries is to transfer $2,000 from retained earnings to share capital. No as-
sets are paid by the corporaƟon when the addiƟonal shares are issued as a share dividend, and
therefore the total equity remains unchanged.

Is There Any Change in the Investor’s Percentage of Corporate Ownership Be-
cause of a Share Dividend?

Since a share dividend is issued to all shareholders of a parƟcular class, as a result of a share
dividend, each shareholder has a larger number of shares. However, ownership percentage of the
company remains the same for each shareholder, as illustrated below, for the four shareholders
of Sherbrooke CorporaƟon.

Each shareholder has received a 10% share dividend but their ownership percentage of the com-
pany remains constant. Since total equity does not change when there is a share dividend, the
proporƟon owned by each shareholder does not change.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Share
Dividends.

10.5 Book Value

LO5 – Calculate
and explain the
book value per
share raƟo.

The book value of a share is the amount of net assets represented by
one share. When referring to common shares, book value represents the
amount of net assets not claimed by creditors and preferred shareholders.
When referring to preferred shares, book value represents the amount
that preferred shareholders would receive if the corporaƟon were liqui-
dated.

Book value per preferred share =

Paid-in capital for preferred shares plus dividends in arrears
Number of preferred shares outstanding
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Book value per common share =

Total equity less (paid-in capital for preferred shares plus dividends in arrears)
Number of common shares outstanding

CalculaƟon of the Book Value of Shares

The calculaƟon of the book value of preferred and common shares can be illustrated by using the
following data:

Equity SecƟon of the Balance Sheet
Contributed capital
Preferred shares; 5,000 shares authorized;
1,000 shares issued and outstanding . . $10,000

Common shares; 200,000 shares authorized;
60,000 shares issued and outstanding. . 20,000

Total contributed capital . . . . . . . . . $30,000
Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . 105,000
Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $135,000

Book value is calculated as:

Preferred shares Common shares
Dividends in arrears $ 5,000 Total equity $135,000
Plus: Paid-in capital 10,000 Less: Preferred claims 15,000
Balance $15,000 Balance $120,000
Shares outstanding 1,000 Shares outstanding 60,000
Book value per share $15 Book value per share $2

Comparison of book value with market value provides insight into investors’ evaluaƟons of the
corporaƟon. For instance, if the book value of one common share of CorporaƟon A is $20 and its
common shares are traded on a public stock exchange for $40 per share (market value), it is said
to be trading for “two Ɵmes book value.” If CorporaƟon B is trading for three Ɵmes book value,
investors are indicaƟng that the future profit prospects for corporaƟon B are higher than those
for CorporaƟon A. They are willing to pay proporƟonately more for shares of CorporaƟon B than
CorporaƟon A, relaƟve to the underlying book values.

Some shares regularly sell for less than their book value on various stock exchanges. This does
not necessarily mean they are a bargain investment. The market price of a share is related to such
factors as general economic outlook and perceived potenƟal of the company to generate earnings.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Book
Value per Share.
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Summary of Chapter 10 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – IdenƟfy and explain characterisƟcs of the corporate form of organizaƟon
and classes of shares.

A corporaƟon is a legal enƟty that is separate from its owners, known as shareholders. The board
of directors is responsible for corporate policy and broad direcƟon of the corporaƟon, includ-
ing hiring the person in charge of day-to-day operaƟons. A corporaƟon has an indefinite life, its
shareholders have limited liability, it can acquire capital more easily than a sole proprietorship or
partnership, and it pays income taxes on its earnings since it is a separate legal enƟty. A corpora-
Ɵon can issue common and preferred shares. Common shares have voƟng rights while preferred
shares do not. Preferred shares are listed before common shares in the equity secƟon of the
balance sheet. Preferred shareholders are enƟtled to receive dividends before common share-
holders. Authorized shares are the total number of shares that can be issued or sold. Shares that
have been issued can be repurchased by the corporaƟon and either held in treasury for subse-
quent sale/distribuƟon or cancelled. Outstanding shares are those that have been issued and are
held by shareholders. Shares repurchased by a corporaƟon are not outstanding shares.

LO2 – Record and disclose preferred and common share transacƟons including
share splits.

Common and preferred shares can be issued for cash or other assets. OrganizaƟon costs are ex-
pensed when incurred and organizers someƟmes accept shares in lieu of cash for their work in
organizing the corporaƟon. When more than one type of share has been issued, the equity sec-
Ɵon of the balance sheet must be classified by including a Contributed Capital secƟon. When a
corporaƟons shares are selling at a high price, a share split may be declared to increase the mar-
ketability of the shares. There is no journal entry for a share split. Instead, a memorandum entry
is entered into the records detailing the split. A share split increases the number of shares but
does not change any of the dollar amounts on the financial statements.

LO3 – Record and disclose cash dividends.

Cash dividends are a distribuƟon of earnings to the shareholders and are declared by the board
of directors. On the declaraƟon date, cash dividends declared (or retained earnings) is debited
and dividends payable is credited. On the date of record, no journal entry is recorded. Sharehold-
ers who hold shares on the date of record are eligible to receive the declared dividend. On the
date of payment, dividends payable is debited and cash is credited. Preferred shares may have a
feature known as cumulaƟve or non-cumulaƟve. CumulaƟve preferred shares accumulate unde-
clared dividends fromone year to the next. These unpaid dividends are called dividends in arrears.
When dividends are subsequently declared, dividends in arrears must be paid before anything is
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paid to the other shareholders. Non-cumulaƟve preferred shares do not accumulate undeclared
dividends.

LO4 – Record and disclose share dividends.

Share dividends distribute addiƟonal shares to shareholders and are declared by the board of di-
rectors. On the declaraƟon date, share dividends declared (or retained earnings) is debited and
common share dividends distributable, a share capital account, is credited. When the share divi-
dend is distributed to shareholders, the Common Share Dividends Distributable account is debited
and common shares is credited. Share dividends cause an increase in the number of shares issued
and outstanding but do not affect account balances. Share dividends simply transfer an amount
from retained earnings to share capital within the equity secƟon of the balance sheet.

LO5 – Calculate and explain the book value per share raƟo.

The book value of a share is the amount of net assets represented by one share. Book value per
common share is the amount of net assets not claimed by creditors and preferred shareholders.
Preferred book value per share is the net assets that preferred shareholders would receive if the
corporaƟon were liquidated.



...

Chapter 11

.
The Statement of Cash Flows

Details about the amount of cash received and paid out during an accounƟng period are not shown
on the balance sheet, income statement, or statement of changes in equity. This informaƟon is
disclosed on the statement of cash flows (SCF). This chapter discusses the purpose of the state-
ment of cash flows, the steps in preparing the SCF, as well as how to interpret various secƟons of
the statement of cash flows.

Chapter 11 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Explain the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

LO2 – Prepare a statement of cash flows.

LO3 – Interpret a statement of cash flows.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 11.

1. What is the definiƟon of cash and cash equivalents?

2. Why is a statement of cash flows prepared?

3. What are the three secƟons of a statement of cash flows?

4. What twomethods can be used to prepare the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon of the statement
of cash flows?

5. Why is depreciaƟon expense an adjustment in the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon of the state-
ment of cash flows?

6. Where are dividend payments listed on the statement of cash flows?

7. In what secƟon of the statement of cash flows are the cash proceeds resulƟng from the sale
of a non-current asset listed?

8. Where on the statement of cash flows is a long-term bank loan payment idenƟfied?

255
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11.1 Financial Statement ReporƟng

LO1 – Explain
the purpose of
the statement of
cash flows.

Cash flow is an important factor in determining the success or failure of
a corporaƟon. It is quite possible for a profitable business to be short of
cash. As discussed in Chapter 7, a company can have liquidity issues be-
cause of large amounts of cash Ɵed up in inventory and accounts receiv-
able, for instance. Conversely, an unprofitable business might have suffi-
cient cash to pay its bills if it has access to enough financing from loans or
by issuing share capital.

We know that the financial acƟviƟes of a corporaƟon are reported through four financial state-
ments: a balance sheet, an income statement, a statement of changes in equity, and a statement
of cash flows (SCF). Statement of cash flowsThis chapter discusses the statement of cash flows in
detail.

The SCF idenƟfies the sources (inflows) and uses (ouƞlows) of cash during the accounƟng period.
It explains why the cash balance at the end of the accounƟng period is different from that at the
beginning of the period by describing the enterprise’sfinancing, invesƟng, and operaƟng acƟviƟes.

Cash flow informaƟon is useful to management when making decisions such as purchasing equip-
ment, plant expansion, reƟring long-term debt, or declaring dividends. The SCF is useful to exter-
nal users when evaluaƟng a corporaƟon’s financial performance.

The SCF, together with the income statement, provides a somewhat limited means of assessing
future cash flows because these statements are based on historical, not prospecƟve data. Nev-
ertheless, the ability to generate cash from past operaƟons is oŌen an important indicaƟon of
whether the enterprise will be able to meet obligaƟons as they become due, pay dividends, pay
for recurring operaƟng costs, or survive adverse economic condiƟons.

For SCF purposes, cash includes cash and cash equivalents—assets that can be quickly converted
into a known amount of cash, such as short-term investments that are not subject to significant
risk of changes in value. For our purposes, an investment will be considered a cash equivalent
when it has a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisiƟon.

Because of differences in the nature of each enƟty and industry,management judgment is required
to determine what assets consƟtute cash and cash equivalents for a parƟcular firm. This decision
needs to be disclosed on the SCF or in a note to the financial statements as shown in the following
example:
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Note X
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and short-term investments held for the
purposes of meeƟng cash commitments within three months from the balance sheet date. Cash
and cash equivalents consist of the following:

($000s)
2019 2018 2017

Cash on Deposit $20 $30 $50
Short-term Investments 36 31 37

$56 $61 $87

For simplicity, examples throughout this chapter involving cash and cash equivalents will include
only cash.

Cash flows result from a wide variety of a corporaƟon’s acƟviƟes as cash is received and disbursed
over a period of Ɵme. Because the income statement is based on accrual accounƟng that matches
expenses with revenues, net incomemost oŌen does not reflect cash receipts and disbursements
during the Ɵme period they were made. As we will see, the statement of cash flows converts
accrual net income to a cash basis net income.

11.2 Preparing the Statement of Cash Flows

LO2 – Prepare a
statement of cash
flows.

The general format for a SCF is shown in Figure 11.1. The SCF details the
cash inflows and ouƞlows that caused the beginning of the period cash
account balance to change to its end of period balance.
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Name of Company
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Period Ended

Cash flows from operaƟng acƟviƟes:
[Each operaƟng inflow/ouƞlow is listed]
Net cash inflow/ouƞlow from operaƟng acƟviƟes $ XX

Cash flows from invesƟng acƟviƟes:
[Each invesƟng inflow/ouƞlow is listed]
Net cash inflow/ouƞlow from invesƟng acƟviƟes XX

Cash flows from financing acƟviƟes:
[Each financing inflow/ouƞlow is listed]
Net cash inflow/ouƞlow from financing acƟviƟes XX

Net increase/decrease in cash $ XX
Cash at beginning of period XX
Cash at end of period $ XX

Figure 11.1: General Format for a Statement of Cash Flows

NoƟce that the cash flows in Figure 11.1 are separated into three groups: cash flows from oper-
aƟng, invesƟng, and financing acƟviƟes. Grouping or classifying cash flows is a key component of
preparing a SCF.

Classifying Cash Flows—OperaƟng AcƟviƟes

Cash flow from operaƟng acƟviƟes represents cash flows generated from the principal acƟviƟes
that produce revenue for a corporaƟon, such as selling products, and the related expenses re-
ported on the income statement. Because of accrual accounƟng, the net income reported on the
income statement includes noncash transacƟons. For example, revenue earned on account is in-
cluded in accrual net income but it does not involve cash (debit accounts receivable and credit
revenue). Therefore, the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon of the SCF must convert accrual net income
to a cash basis net income. There are two generally accepted methods for preparing the operat-
ing acƟviƟes secƟon of the SCF, namely the direct method and the indirect method. This chapter
illustrates the indirect method because it is more commonly used in Canada. The direct method
is addressed in a different textbook. Both methods result in the same cash flows from operat-
ing acƟviƟes—it is the way in which the number is calculated that differs. The method used has
an impact on only the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon and not on the invesƟng or financing acƟviƟes
secƟons.

In using the indirect method for preparing the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon, the accrual net in-
come is adjusted for changes in current assets (except cash), current liabiliƟes (except dividends
payable), depreciaƟon expense, and gains/losses on the disposiƟon of non-current assets. Fig-
ure 11.2 illustrates the effect of these items on the SCF.
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Cash flows from operaƟng acƟviƟes:
Net income/net loss $ XX
Adjustments to reconcile net income/loss to cash pro-
vided/used by operaƟng acƟviƟes:
Add: Decreases in current assets (except Cash) XX
Subtract: Increases in current assets (except Cash) XX
Add: Increases in current liabiliƟes (except Dividends

payable)
XX

Subtract: Decreases in current liabiliƟes (except Divi-
dends payable)

XX

Add: DepreciaƟon expense XX
Add: Losses on disposal of non-current assets XX
Subtract: Gains on disposal of non-current assets XX
Net cash inflow/ouƞlow from operaƟng acƟviƟes $ XX

Figure 11.2: Detailed Adjustments to Convert Accrual Net Income to a Cash Basis

Decreases in current assets are added back as an adjustment to net income because, for example,
a decrease in accounts receivable indicates that cash was collected from credit customers (debit
cash and credit accounts receivable) yet it is not part of accrual net income, so the cash collected
must be added. An increase in accounts receivable indicates that sales on account were recorded
(debit accounts receivable and credit sales) so it is part of accrual net income. However, since no
cash was collected, this must be subtracted from accrual net income to adjust it to a cash basis.

Increases in current liabiliƟes are added back as an adjustment to net income because, for ex-
ample, an increase in accounts payable indicates that a purchase/expense was made on account
(debit expense and credit accounts payable) so it was subtracted in calculaƟng accrual net income.
However, since no cash was paid, this must be added back to accrual net income to adjust it to a
cash basis. A decrease in accounts payable indicates that a payment was made to a creditor (debit
accounts payable and credit cash) yet it is not part of accrual net income so the cash paid must be
subtracted.

DepreciaƟon expense is subtracted in calculaƟng accrual net income. However, an analysis of the
journal entry shows that no cashwas involved (debit depreciaƟon expense and credit accumulated
depreciaƟon), so it must be added back to adjust the accrual net income to a cash basis.

A loss on thedisposal of a non-current asset is addedback as an adjustment to net incomebecause,
in analyzing the journal entry when losses occur (e.g., debit cash, debit loss, credit land), the loss
represents the difference between the cash proceeds and the book value of the non-current asset.
Since a loss is subtracted on the income statement and does not represent a cash ouƞlow, it is
added back to adjust the accrual net income to a cash basis. The same logic applies for a gain on
the disposal of a non-current asset.
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Classifying Cash Flows—InvesƟng AcƟviƟes

Cash flows from invesƟng acƟviƟes involve increases and decreases in long-term asset accounts.
These include outlays for the acquisiƟon of property, plant, and equipment, as well as proceeds
from their disposal. Figure 11.3 illustrates the effect of these items on the SCF.

Cash flows from invesƟng acƟviƟes:
Cash proceeds from sale of non-current assets XX
Cash paid to purchase non-current assets XX
Net cash inflow/ouƞlow from invesƟng acƟviƟes XX

Figure 11.3: Detail of Inflows/(Ouƞlows) From InvesƟng AcƟviƟes

Classifying Cash Flows—Financing AcƟviƟes

Cash flows from financing acƟviƟes result when the composiƟon of the debt and equity capital
structure of the enƟty changes. This category is generally limited to increases and decreases in
long-term liability accounts and share capital accounts such as common and preferred shares.
These include cash flows from the issue and repayment of debt, and the issue and repurchase of
share capital. Dividend payments are generally considered to be financing acƟviƟes, since these
represent a return to shareholders on the original capital they invested. Figure 11.4 illustrates the
effect of these items on the SCF.

Cash flows from invesƟng acƟviƟes:
Cash proceeds from issuance of shares XX
Cash paid for repurchase of shares XX
Cash proceeds from borrowings XX
Cash repayments of borrowings XX
Cash paid for dividends XX
Net cash inflow/ouƞlow from invesƟng acƟviƟes XX

Figure 11.4: Detail of Inflows/(Ouƞlows) From Financing AcƟviƟes

Classifying Cash Flows—Noncash InvesƟng and Noncash Financing AcƟviƟes

There are some transacƟons that involve the direct exchange of non-current balance sheet items
so that cash is not affected. For example, noncash invesƟng and noncash financing acƟviƟeswould
include the purchase of a non-current asset by issuing debt or share capital, the declaraƟon and
issuance of a share dividend, reƟrement of debt by issuing shares, or the exchange of noncash
assets for other noncash assets. Although noncash invesƟng and noncash financing acƟviƟes do
not appear on the SCF, the full disclosure principle requires that they be disclosed either in a note
to the financial statements or in a schedule on the SCF.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Cash
Flow Statement Categories.

Now, let us demonstrate the preparaƟon of a SCF using the balance sheet, income statement, and
statement of changes in equity of Example CorporaƟon shown below.

Example CorporaƟon
Balance Sheet
At December 31

($000s)
2016 2015

Assets
Current assets
Cash $ 27 $ 150
Accounts receivable 375 450
Merchandise inventory 900 450
Prepaid expenses 20 10
Total current assets 1,322 1,060

Property, plant, and equipment
Land 70 70
Buildings 1,340 620
Less: Accumulated depreciaƟon - buildings (430) (280)
Machinery 1,130 920
Less: Accumulated depreciaƟon - machinery (250) (240)
Total property, plant, and equipment 1,860 1,090

Total assets $ 3,182 $ 2,150

LiabiliƟes
Current liabiliƟes
Accounts payable $ 235 $ 145
Dividends payable 25 30
Income taxes payable 40 25
Total current liabiliƟes 300 200

Long-term loan payable 1,000 500
Total liabiliƟes 1,300 700

Equity
Common shares 1,210 800
Retained earnings 672 650
Total equity 1,882 1,450
Total liabiliƟes and equity $ 3,182 $ 2,150

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_1ClassifyingTransactions
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_1ClassifyingTransactions
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Example CorporaƟon
Income Statement

For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
($000s)

Sales $ 1,200
Cost of goods sold 674
Gross profit 526
OperaƟng expenses
Selling, general, and administraƟon $ 115
DepreciaƟon 260 375
Income from operaƟons 151
Other revenues and expenses
Interest expense 26
Loss on disposal of machinery 10 36
Income before income taxes 115
Income taxes 35
Net Income $ 80

Example CorporaƟon
Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
($000s)

Share Retained Total
Capital Earnings Equity

Opening balance $ 800 $ 650 $ 1,450
Common shares issued 410 - 410
Net income - 80 80
Dividends declared - (58) (58)
Ending balance $ 1,210 $ 672 $ 1,882

The SCF can be prepared from an analysis of transacƟons recorded in the Cash account. Accoun-
tants summarize and classify these cash flows on the SCF for the three major acƟviƟes noted ear-
lier, namely operaƟng, invesƟng, and financing. To aid our analysis, the following list of addiƟonal
informaƟon from the records of Example CorporaƟon will be used.

AddiƟonal InformaƟon

1. A building was purchased for $720 cash.

2. Machinery was purchased for $350 cash.

3. Machinery cosƟng $140 with accumulated depreciaƟon of $100 was sold for $30 cash.

4. Total depreciaƟon expense of $260 was recorded during the year; $150 on the building and
$110 on the machinery.

5. Example CorporaƟon received $500 cash from issuing a long-term loan with the bank.

6. Shares were issued for $410 cash.

7. $58 of dividends were declared during the year.
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Analysis of Cash Flows

There are different ways to analyze cash flows and then prepare the SCF; only one of those tech-
niques will be illustrated here using the following steps.

1. Set up a cash flow table.

2. Calculate the changes in each balance sheet account.

3. Calculate and analyze the changes in retained earnings and dividends payable (if there is a
Dividends Payable account).

4. Calculate and analyze the changes in the noncash current assets and current liabiliƟes (ex-
cluding Dividends Payable account).

5. Calculate and analyze changes in non-current asset accounts

6. Calculate and analyze changes in Long-term Liability and Share Capital accounts.

7. Reconcile the analysis.

8. Prepare a statement of cash flows.

Step 1: Set up a cash flow table

Set up a table as shown below with a row for each account shown on the balance sheet. Enter
amounts for each account for 2015 and 2016. Show credit balances in parentheses. Total both
columns and ensure they equal zero. The table should appear as follows aŌer this step has been
completed:
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Balance
($000s)

Account 2016 2015
Dr. (Cr.) Dr. (Cr.)

Cash 27 150
Accounts receivable 375 450
Merchandise inventory 900 450
Prepaid expenses 20 10
Land 70 70
Buildings 1,340 620
Accum. dep.- buildings (430) (280)
Machinery 1,130 920
Accum. dep.- machinery (430) (240)
Accounts payable (235) (145)
Dividends payable (25) (30)
Income taxes payable (40) (25)
Long-term loan payable (1,000) (500)
Share capital (1,210) (800)
Retained earnings (672) (650)
Total -0- -0-

Step 2: Calculate the change in cash

Add two columns to the cash flow table. Calculate the net debit or net credit change in cash and
insert this change in the appropriate column. This step is shown below.
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Step 2
Balance
($000s) Change

2016 2015
Dr. Dr.

Account (Cr.) (Cr.) Dr. Cr.
Cash 27 150 ..123
Accounts receivable 375 450
Merchandise inventory 900 450
Prepaid expenses 20 10
Land 70 70
Buildings 1,340 620
Accum. dep. – buildings (430) (280)
Machinery 1,130 920
Accum. dep. – machinery (250) (240)
Accounts payable (235) (145)
Dividends payable (25) (30)
Income taxes payable (40) (25)
Long-term loan payable (1,000) (500)
Share capital (1,210) (800)
Retained earnings (672) (650)
Total -0- -0-

..

Cash has
decreased
by $123k.
This is the
amount
that the
SCF anal-
ysis must
reconcile
to.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Cash
Balance.

Step 3: Calculate and analyze the changes in retained earnings and dividends payable (if there
is a Dividends Payable account)

When we calculate the changes for each of retained earnings and dividends payable, the net dif-
ference may not always reflect the causes for change in these accounts. For example, the net
difference between the beginning and ending balances in retained earnings is an increase of $22
thousand. However, two things occurred to cause this net change: a net income of $80 thousand
(a debit to income summary and a credit to retained earnings) and dividends of $58 thousand
that were declared during the year per the addiƟonal informaƟon (a debit to retained earnings of
$58k and a credit to dividends payable of $58k). The net income of $80 thousand is the starƟng
posiƟon in the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon of the SCF (see Figure 11.5).

The change in the dividends payable balance was also caused by two transacƟons—the dividend
declaraƟon of $58 thousand (a debit to retained earnings and a credit to dividends payable) and
a $63 thousand payment of dividends (a debit to dividends payable and a credit to cash). The

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_4CashBalance
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_4CashBalance
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$63 thousand cash payment is subtracted in the financing acƟviƟes secƟon of the SCF (see Fig-
ure 11.5). Dividends payable can change because of two transacƟons, as in this example, or be-
cause of one transacƟon, which could be either a dividend declaraƟon with no payment of cash,
or a payment of the dividend payable and no dividend declaraƟon. Step 3 as it applies to Example
CorporaƟon is detailed below.

Step 3
Balance
($000s) Change

2016 2015
Dr. Dr.

Account (Cr.) (Cr.) Dr. Cr.
Cash 27 150 123
Accounts receivable 375 450 75
Merchandise inventory 900 450 450
Prepaid expenses 20 10 10
Land 70 70
Buildings 1,340 620
Accum. dep. – buildings (430) (280)
Machinery 1,130 920
Accum. dep. – machinery (250) (240)
Accounts payable (235) (145) 90

..Dividends payable (25) (30) 63 58
Income taxes payable (40) (25) 15
Long-term loan payable (1,000) (500)
Share capital (1,210) (800)
Retained earnings (672) (650) 58 ..80
Total -0- -0-

..

During
2016, net
income of
$80k was
earned.
The be-
ginning
balance in
retained
earnings
of $650k
plus net
income of
$80 means
$58k of
dividends
were de-
clared,
creaƟng
the $672k
ending
retained
earnings
balance.

.

During
2016, div-
idends of
$58k were
declared
(this infor-
maƟon was
given). The
beginning
balance of
$30k plus
$58k means
$63k were
paid, creat-
ing the end-
ing balance
of $25k (the
$63k was
not given so
had to be
calculated
and results
in a debit
to dividends
payable).
The pay-
ment of
$63k of div-
idends is a
financing
acƟvity.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Net
income/loss and Dividends Paid.

Step 4: Calculate and analyze the changes in the noncash current assets and current liabiliƟes
(excluding Dividends Payable account)

Calculate the net debit or net credit changes for each current asset and current liability account
on the balance sheet and insert these changes in the appropriate column. Step 4 as it applies
to Example CorporaƟon is detailed below. The $75 thousand decrease in accounts receivable is
added in the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon of the SCF, the $450 thousand increase in merchandise
inventory is subtracted, the $10 thousand increase in prepaid expenses is subtracted, the $90

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_5DividendsPaid
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_5DividendsPaid
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thousand increase in accounts payable is added, and the $15 thousand increase in income taxes
payable is added (see Figure 11.5).

Step 4
Balance
($000s) Change

2016 2015
Dr. Dr.

Account (Cr.) (Cr.) Dr. Cr.
Cash 27 150 123
Accounts receivable 375 450 ..75
Merchandise inventory 900 450 ..450
Prepaid expenses 20 10 ..10
Land 70 70
Buildings 1,340 620
Accum. dep. – buildings (430) (280)
Machinery 1,130 920
Accum. dep. – machinery (250) (240)
Accounts payable (235) (145) ..90
Dividends payable (25) (30)
Income taxes payable (40) (25) ..15
Long-term loan payable (1,000) (500)
Share capital (1,210) (800)
Retained earnings (672) (650)
Total -0- -0-

..

The net
change in
each of
accounts
receivable,
merchan-
dise inven-
tory, and
prepaid
expenses
are clas-
sified as
operaƟng
acƟviƟes.

.

The net
change in
each of
accounts
payable
and in-
come taxes
payable
are clas-
sified as
operaƟng
acƟviƟes.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Cash
Flows from OperaƟng AcƟviƟes.

Step 5: Calculate and analyze changes in non-current asset accounts

Changes in non-current assets are classified as invesƟng acƟviƟes. There was no change in the
Land account. We know from the addiƟonal informaƟon provided that buildings and machinery
were purchased and that machinery was sold.

Buildings were purchased for $720 thousand (a debit to buildings and a credit to cash). The cash
payment of $720 thousand is shown in the invesƟng acƟviƟes secƟon (see Figure 11.5).

Accumulated depreciaƟon–buildings is a non-current asset account and it increased by $150 thou-
sand. This change was caused by a debit to depreciaƟon expense and a credit to accumulated
depreciaƟon–building. We know from an earlier discussion that depreciaƟon expense is an ad-
justment in the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon of the SCF therefore the $150 thousand is added in

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_2Classifying
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_2Classifying
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the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon (see Figure 11.5).

Two transacƟons caused machinery to change. First, the purchase of $350 thousand of machin-
ery (debit machinery and credit cash); the $350 thousand cash payment is shown in the invesƟng
acƟviƟes secƟon (see Figure 11.5). Second, machinery cosƟng $140 thousand with accumulated
depreciaƟon of $100 thousand was sold for cash of $30 thousand resulƟng in a loss of $10 thou-
sand. The cash proceeds of $30 thousand is shown in the invesƟng acƟviƟes secƟon of the SCF
and the $10 thousand loss is added in the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon (see Figure 11.5).

Accumulated depreciaƟon–machinery not only decreased $100 thousand because of the sale of
machinery but it increased by $110 thousand because of depreciaƟon (debit depreciaƟon expense
and credit accumulated depreciaƟon–machinery). The $110 thousand of depreciaƟon expense is
added in the operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon of the SCF (see Figure 11.5).

Step 5
Balance
($000s) Change

2016 2015
Dr. Dr.

Account (Cr.) (Cr.) Dr. Cr.
Cash 27 150 123
Accounts receivable 375 450 75
Merchandise inventory 900 450 450
Prepaid expenses 20 10 10
Land 70 70 -0-
Buildings 1,340 620 ..720

..Accum. dep. – buildings (430) (280) 150
Machinery 1,130 920 350 ..140

..Accum. dep. – machinery (250) (240) 100 ..110
Accounts payable (235) (145) 90
Dividends payable (25) (30) 5
Income taxes payable (40) (25) 15
Long-term loan payable (1,000) (500)
Share capital (1,210) (800)
Retained earnings (672) (650)
Total -0- -0-

..

Total de-
preciaƟon
expense of
$260k was
recorded
during
the year;
$150k on
the build-
ing and
$110k on
the ma-
chinery, an
adjustment
under op-
eraƟng ac-
ƟviƟes on
the SCF.

.

Machinery
cosƟng
$140k with
accum.
dep. of
$100k was
sold for
cash of
$30k, an
invesƟng
acƟvity.

.

A build-
ing was
purchased
for cash of
$720k, an
invesƟng
acƟvity.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run InvesƟng
AcƟviƟes.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_3Classifying
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_3Classifying
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Step 6: Calculate and analyze changes in Long-term Liability and Share Capital accounts

Changes in Long-term Liability and Share Capital accounts result from financing acƟviƟes. We
know from the addiƟonal informaƟon provided earlier that Example CorporaƟon received cash of
$500k from a bank loan (debit cash and credit long-term loan payable) and issued shares for $410k
cash (debit cash and credit share capital). The $500 thousand cash proceeds from the bank loan
and $410 thousand cash proceeds from the issuance of shares are listed in the financing secƟon
of the SCF (see Figure 11.5).

Step 6
Balance
($000s) Change

2016 2015
Dr. Dr.

Account (Cr.) (Cr.) Dr. Cr.
Cash 27 150 123
Accounts receivable 375 450 75
Merchandise inventory 900 450 450
Prepaid expenses 20 10 10
Land 70 70 -0-
Buildings 1,340 620 720
Accum. dep. – buildings (430) (280) 150
Machinery 1,130 920 350 140
Accum. dep. – machinery (250) (240) 100 110
Accounts payable (235) (145) 90
Dividends payable (25) (30) 5
Income taxes payable (40) (25) 15
Long-term loan payable (1,000) (500) ..500

..Share capital (1,210) (800) 410
Retained earnings (672) (650) 58 80
Total -0- -0-

..

Shares
were is-
sued for
cash of
$410k, a
financing
acƟvity.

.

$500k of
cash was
received
because
of an ad-
diƟonal
bank loan,
a financing
acƟvity.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Financing
AcƟviƟes.

Step 7: Reconcile the analysis

The analysis is now complete. Add the debit and credit changes, excluding the change in cash. The
total debits of $1,693 less the total credits of $1,570 equal a difference of $123 which reconciles
to the decrease in cash calculated in Step 2.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_6Classifying
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN11_2_6Classifying
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Step 7
Balance
($000s) Change

2016 2015
Dr. Dr.

Account (Cr.) (Cr.) Dr. Cr.
Cash 27 150 ..123
Accounts receivable 375 450 ..75
Merchandise inventory 900 450 450
Prepaid expenses 20 10 10
Land 70 70 -0-
Buildings 1,340 620 720
Accum. dep. – buildings (430) (280) 150
Machinery 1,130 920 350 140
Accum. dep. – machinery (250) (240) 100 110
Accounts payable (235) (145) 90
Dividends payable (25) (30) 5
Income taxes payable (40) (25) 15
Long-term loan payable (1,000) (500) 500
Share capital (1,210) (800) 410
Retained earnings (672) (650) 58 80
Total -0- -0- 1,693 ..1,570
Change in cash ..123

..

The
change
in cash cal-
culated in
Step 2…

…must
agree to
the change
in cash
resulƟng
from the
analysis.

The informaƟon in the completed analysis can be used to prepare the statement of cash flows
shown in Figure 11.5.
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Example CorporaƟon
Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
($000s)

Cash flows from operaƟng acƟviƟes:
Net income $ 80
Adjustments to reconcile net income
cash provided by operaƟng acƟviƟes:
Decrease in accounts receivable 75
Increase in merchandise inventory (450)
Increase in prepaid expenses (10)
Increase in accounts payable 90
Increase in income taxes payable 15
DepreciaƟon expense 260
Loss on disposal of machinery 10
Net cash inflow from operaƟng acƟviƟes $ 70

Cash flows from invesƟng acƟviƟes:
Proceeds from sale of machinery 30
Purchase of building (720)
Purchase of machinery (350)
Net cash ouƞlow from invesƟng acƟviƟes (1,040)

Cash flows from financing acƟviƟes:
Payment of dividends (63)
Proceeds from bank loan 500
Issuance of shares 410
Net cash inflow from financing acƟviƟes 847

Net decrease in cash $ (123)
Cash at beginning of year 150
Cash at end of year $ 27

Figure 11.5: Statement of Cash Flows for Example CorporaƟon

11.3 InterpreƟng the Statement of Cash Flows

LO3 – Interpret a
statement of cash
flows.

Readers of financial statements need to know how cash has been used by
the enterprise. The SCF provides external decision makers such as credi-
tors and investors with this informaƟon. The statement of cash flows pro-
vides informaƟon about an enterprise’s financialmanagement policies and
pracƟces. It also may aid in predicƟng future cash flows, which is an im-
portant piece of informaƟon for investors and creditors.

The quality of earnings as reported on the income statement can also be assessed with the infor-
maƟon provided by the SCF. The measurement of net income depends on a number of accruals
and allocaƟons thatmay not provide clear informaƟon about the cash-generaƟng power of a com-
pany. Users will bemore confident in a companywith a high correlaƟon between cash provided by
operaƟons and net income measured under the accrual basis. Recall, for instance, that although
Example CorporaƟon has net income of $80,000 during 2016, its net cash inflow from operaƟons
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is only $70,000, chiefly due to the large increase in inventory levels. Although net cash flow from
operaƟons is sƟll posiƟve, this discrepancy between net income and cash flow from operaƟons
may indicate looming cash flow problems, parƟcularly if the trend conƟnues over Ɵme.

Example CorporaƟon’s SCF also reveals that significant net addiƟons to plant and equipment assets
occurred during the year ($1,070,000), financed in part by cash flow from operaƟng acƟviƟes but
primarily by financing acƟviƟes. These acƟviƟes included the assumpƟon of loans and issue of
shares that amounted to $847,000, net of dividend payments ($500,000 from issuing a long-term
loan plus $410,000 from issuing shares less $63,000 for payment of dividends).

It appears that a significant plant and equipment asset acquisiƟon program may be underway,
whichmay affect future financial performance posiƟvely. This expansion has been financedmainly
by increases in long-term debt and the issuance of common shares. However, the magnitude of
the plant and equipment asset purchases, coupled with the payment of the dividends to share-
holders, has more than offset cash inflows from operaƟng and financing acƟviƟes, resulƟng in
a net overall decrease in cash of $123,000. Though the current cash expenditure on long-term
producƟve assets may be a prudent business decision, it has resulted in (hopefully temporary)
adverse effects on overall cash flow.

The SCF is not a subsƟtute for an income statement preparedon the accrual basis. Both statements
should be used to evaluate a company’s financial performance. Together, the SCF and income
statement provide a beƩer basis for determining the enterprise’s ability to generate funds from
operaƟons and thereby meet current obligaƟons when they fall due (liquidity), pay dividends,
meet recurring operaƟng costs, survive adverse economic condiƟons, or expand operaƟons with
internally-generated cash.

The SCF highlights the amount of cash available to a corporaƟon, which is important. Excess cash
on hand is unproducƟve. Conversely, inadequate cash decreases liquidity. Cash is the most liquid
asset, and its efficient use is one of the most important tasks of management. Cash flow informa-
Ɵon, interpreted in conjuncƟon with other financial statement analyses, is useful in assessing the
effecƟveness of the enterprise’s cash management policies.

Readers who wish to evaluate the financial posiƟon and results of an enterprise’s operaƟons also
require informaƟon on cash flows produced by invesƟng and financing acƟviƟes. The SCF is the
only statement that explicitly provides this informaƟon. By examining the relaƟonship among the
various sources and uses of cash during the year, readers can also focus on the effecƟveness of
management’s invesƟng and financing decisions and how these may affect future financial per-
formance.

Summary of Chapter 11 Learning ObjecƟves



Summary of Chapter 11 Learning Objectives 273

LO1 – Explain the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

The statement of cash flows is one of the four financial statements. It highlights the net increase
or decrease in the cash and cash equivalents balance during the accounƟng period, and details
the sources and uses of cash that caused that change.

LO2 – Prepare a statement of cash flows.

The operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon of the statement of cash flows can be prepared using the direct or
indirectmethod. This textbook focuses only on the indirectmethod. The result of bothmethods is
idenƟcal; it is only how the calculaƟons are performed that differs. The operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon
begins with accrual net income and, by adjusƟng for changes in current assets, current liabiliƟes,
adding back depreciaƟon expense, and adding back/subtracƟng losses/gains on disposal of non-
current assets, arrives at net income on a cash basis. The invesƟng acƟviƟes secƟon analyzes cash
inflows and ouƞlows from the sale and purchase of non-current assets. The finance acƟviƟes
secƟon details the cash inflows and ouƞlows resulƟng from the issue and payment of loans, issue
and repurchase of shares, and payment of dividends.

LO3 – Interpret a statement of cash flows.

A statement of cash flows contributes to the decision-making process by explaining the sources
and uses of cash. The operaƟng acƟviƟes secƟon can signal potenƟal areas of concern by focus-
ing on differences between accrual net income and cash basis net income. The invesƟng acƟviƟes
secƟon can highlight if cash is being used to acquire assets for generaƟng revenue, while the fi-
nancing acƟviƟes secƟon can idenƟfy where the cash to purchase those assets might be coming
from. Those who use financial statements can focus on the effecƟveness of management’s invest-
ing and financing decisions and how these may affect future financial performance.





...

Chapter 12

.

Financial Statement Analysis

Financial statements can be used by shareholders, creditors, and other interested parƟes to an-
alyze a corporaƟon’s liquidity, profitability, and financial structure compared to prior years and
other similar companies. As part of this analysis, financial evaluaƟon tools are used. Some of
these tools are discussed in this chapter.

Chapter 12 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Describe raƟo analysis, and explain how the liquidity, profitability, leverage, and mar-
ket raƟos are used to analyze and compare financial statements.

LO2 – Describe horizontal and verƟcal trend analysis, and explain how they are used to an-
alyze financial statements.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following as a self-check while working through Chapter 12.

1. What is working capital?

2. What is meant by liquidity?

3. What are some raƟos commonly used to evaluate liquidity?

4. What is a company’s revenue operaƟng cycle and how is it measured?

5. What profitability raƟos can be used to evaluate a corporaƟon?

6. How is the amount of shareholder claims against a corporaƟon’s assets compared to the
amount of creditor claims?

7. What are the relaƟve advantages of short-term and long-term debt?

8. What are some measures used to evaluate the future financial prospects of a company for
investors?

9. What is a horizontal analysis? How does it differ from a verƟcal analysis?

10. What is a common-size analysis?

275
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12.1 IntroducƟon to RaƟo Analysis

LO1 – Describe
raƟo analysis,
and explain how
the liquidity,
profitability,
leverage, and
market raƟos
are used to
analyze and com-
pare financial
statements.

A common way to evaluate financial statements is through raƟo analysis.
A raƟo is a relaƟonship between two numbers of the same kind. For exam-
ple, if there are two apples and three oranges, the raƟo of the number of
apples to the number of oranges is 2:3 (read as “two to three”). A financial
raƟo is a measure of the relaƟvemagnitude of two selected numerical val-
ues taken from a company’s financial statements. For instance, the gross
profit percentage studied in Chapter 6, also known as the gross profit ra-
Ɵo, expresses the numerical relaƟonship between gross profit and sales.
If a company has a gross profit raƟo of 0.25:1, this means that for every $1
of sales, the company earns, on average, $0.25 to cover expenses other
than cost of goods sold. Another way of staƟng this is to say that the gross
profit raƟo is 25%.1

Financial raƟos are effecƟve tools for measuring the financial performance of a company because
they provide a common basis for evaluaƟon—for instance, the amount of gross profit generated
by each dollar of sales for different companies. Numbers that appear on financial statements
need to be evaluated in context. It is their relaƟonship to other numbers and the relaƟve changes
of these numbers that provide some insight into the financial health of a business. One of the
main purposes of raƟo analysis is to highlight areas that require further analysis and invesƟgaƟon.
RaƟo analysis alonewill not provide a definiƟve financial evaluaƟon. It is used as one analyƟc tool,
which, when combined with informed judgment, offers insight into the financial performance of
a business.

For example, one business may have a completely different product mix than another company
even though both operate in the same broad industry. To determine how well one company is
doing relaƟve to others, or to idenƟfy whether key indicators are changing, raƟos are oŌen com-
pared to industry averages. To determine trends in one company’s performance, raƟos are oŌen
compared to past years’ raƟos of the same company.

To perform a comprehensive analysis, qualitaƟve informaƟon about the company as well as raƟos
should be considered. For example, although a business may have sold hundreds of refrigerators
last year and all of the key financial indicators suggest growth, qualitaƟve informaƟon from trade
publicaƟons and consumer reports may indicate that the trend will be towards refrigerators us-
ing significantly different technologies in the next few years. If the company does not have the
capacity or necessary equipment to produce these new appliances, the present posiƟve financial
indicators may not accurately reflect the likely future financial performance of the company.

An examinaƟon of qualitaƟve factors provides valuable insights and contributes to the compre-
hensive analysis of a company. An important source of qualitaƟve informaƟon is also found in the
notes to the financial statements, which are an integral part of the company’s financial statements.

1Any raƟo in the form X:1 can be expressed as a percentage by mulƟplying both the numerator and denominator
by 100. For example, a 0.25:1 raƟo would equal 25% [(0.25× 100)/(1× 100) = 25/100 = 25%]
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In this chapter, financial raƟos will be used to provide insights into the financial performance of
Big Dog Carworks Corp. (BDCC). The raƟos will focus on financial informaƟon contained within the
income statement, statement of changes in equity, and balance sheet of BDCC for the three years
2019, 2020, and 2021. This informaƟon is shown below. Note that figures in these statements are
reported in thousands of dollars (000s). For consistency, all final calculaƟons in this chapter are
rounded to two decimal places.

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Balance Sheet
At December 31

($000s)

Assets
2021 2020 2019

Current
Cash $ 20 $ 30 $ 50
Short-term Investments 36 31 37
Accounts Receivable 544 420 257
Inventories 833 503 361

1,433 984 705
Property, Plant, and Equipment, net 1,053 1,128 712
Total Assets $ 2,486 $ 2,112 $ 1,417

LiabiliƟes
Current
Borrowings $ 825 $ 570 $ 100
Accounts Payable 382 295 $ 219
Income Taxes Payable 48 52 $ 50

1,255 917 369

Equity
Share Capital 1,063 1,063 963
Retained Earnings 168 132 85

1,231 1,195 1,048
Total LiabiliƟes and Equity $ 2,486 $ 2,112 $ 1,417
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Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Income Statement

For the Year Ended December 31
($000s)

2021 2020 2019
Sales (net) $ 3,200 $ 2,800 $ 2,340
Cost of Goods Sold 2,500 2,150 1,800
Gross Profit 700 650 540
OperaƟng Expenses
Selling, General, and AdministraƟon 212 183 154
Employee Benefits 113 109 119
DepreciaƟon 75 84 63

400 376 336
Income from OperaƟons 300 274 204
Financing Costs
Interest 89 61 -0-

Income Before Income Taxes 211 213 204
Income Taxes 95 96 92

Net Income $ 116 $ 117 $ 112

Big Dog Carworks Corp.
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended December 31

($000s)

2021 2020 2019
Share Retained Total Total Total
Capital Earnings Equity Equity Equity

Opening Balance $1,063 $132 $1,195 $1,148 $143
Common Shares Issued 953
Net Income 116 116 117 112
Dividends Declared (80) (80) (70) (60)
Ending Balance $1,063 $168 $1,231 $1,195 $1,148

Assume that 100,000 common shares are outstanding at the end of 2019, 2020, and 2021.

There are four major types of financial raƟos: a) liquidity raƟos that measure the ability of a cor-
poraƟon to saƟsfy demands for cash as they arise in the near-term (such as payment of current
liabiliƟes); b) profitability raƟos that measure various levels of return on sales, total assets em-
ployed, and shareholder investment; c) leverage raƟos that measure the financial structure of a
corporaƟon, its amount of relaƟve debt, and its ability to cover interest expense; and d) market
raƟos that measure financial returns to shareholders, and percepƟons of the stock market about
the corporaƟon’s value.

IniƟal insights into the financial performance of BDCC can be derived from an analysis of relaƟve
amounts of current and non-current debt. This analysis is addressed in the following secƟons.
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12.2 Liquidity RaƟos: Analyzing Short-term Cash Needs

Current (Short-term) versus Non-current (Long-term) Debt

Short-term and long-termfinancing strategies both have their advantages. The advantage of some
short-term debt (repayable within one year of the balance sheet date) is that it oŌen does not
require interest payments to creditors. For example, accounts payable may not require payment
of interest if they are paid within the first 30 days they are outstanding. Short-term debt also
has its disadvantages; payment is required within at least one year, and oŌen sooner. Interest
rates on short-term debt are oŌen higher than on long-term debt. An increase in the proporƟon
of short-term debt is more risky because it must be renewed and therefore renegoƟated more
frequently.

The advantages of long-termdebt are that paymentmay bemadeover an extendedperiod of Ɵme.
Risk may be somewhat reduced through the use of a formal contractual agreement that is oŌen
lacking with short-term debt. The disadvantages of long-term debt are that interest payments
must bemade at specified Ɵmes and the amounts owingmay be secured by assets of the company.

Analyzing Financial Structure

As a general rule, long-term financing should be used to finance long-term assets. Note that in
BDCC’s case, property, plant, and equipment assets amount to $1,053,000 at December 31, 2021
yet the firm has no long-term liabiliƟes. This is unusual. An analysis of the company’s balance
sheet reveals the following:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Current LiabiliƟes $1,255 $917 $369
Non-current LiabiliƟes -0- -0- -0-

2021 informaƟon indicates that BDCC’s management relies solely on short-term creditor financ-
ing, part of which is $382,000 of accounts payable that may bear no interest and $825,000 of
borrowings that also need to be repaid within one year. The risk is that management will likely
need to replace current liabiliƟes with new liabiliƟes. If creditors become unwilling to do this, the
ability of BDCC to pay its short-term creditors may be compromised. As a result, the companymay
experience a liquidity crisis—the inability to pay its current liabiliƟes as they come due. The raƟos
used to evaluate liquidity of a corporaƟon are discussed below.

Even though a company may be earning net income each year (as in BDCC’s case), it may sƟll
be unable to pay its current liabiliƟes as needed because of a shortage of cash. This can trigger
various problems related to current and non-current liabiliƟes and equity.

Current LiabiliƟes
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• Creditors can refuse to provide any further goods or services on account.

• Creditors can sue for payment.

• Creditors can put the company into receivership or bankruptcy.

Non-current LiabiliƟes

• Long-term creditors can refuse to lend addiƟonal cash.

• Creditors can demand repayment of their long-term debts, under some circumstances.

Equity

• Shareholders may be unwilling to invest in addiƟonal share capital of the company.

• Shareholders risk the loss of their investments if the company declares bankruptcy.

There are several raƟos that can be used to analyze the liquidity of a company.

Working Capital

Working capital is the difference between a company’s current assets and current liabiliƟes at a
point in Ɵme. BDCC’s working capital calculaƟon is as follows:

(000s)

2021 2020 2019
Current Assets
Cash $ 20 $ 30 $ 50
Short-term Investments 36 31 37
Accounts Receivable 544 420 257
Inventories 833 503 361

Total Current Assets (a) 1,433 984 705
Current LiabiliƟes
Borrowings 825 570 100
Accounts Payable 382 295 219
Income Taxes Payable 48 52 50

Total Current LiabiliƟes (b) 1,255 917 369
Net Working Capital (a-b) $ 178 $ 67 $ 336

In the schedule above, working capital amounts to $178,000 at December 31, 2021. Between 2019
and 2021, working capital decreased by $158,000 ($336,000 – 178,000). BDCC is less liquid in 2021
than in 2019, though its liquidity posiƟon has improved since 2020 when it was only $67,000.
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In addiƟon to calculaƟng an absolute amount of working capital, raƟo analysis can also be used.
The advantage of a raƟo is that it is usually easier to interpret.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Working
Capital.

Current RaƟo

Is BDCC able to repay short-term creditors? The current raƟo can help answer this quesƟon. It
expresses working capital as a proporƟon of current assets to current liabiliƟes and is calculated
as:

Current assets
Current liabiliƟes

The relevant BDCC financial data required to calculate this raƟo is taken from the balance sheet,
as follows:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Current Assets (a) $1,433 $984 $705
Current LiabiliƟes (b) 1,255 917 369
Current RaƟo (a/b) 1.14:1 1.07:1 1.91:1

This raƟo indicates howmany current asset dollars are available to pay current liabiliƟes at a point
in Ɵme. The expression “1.14:1” is read, “1.14 to 1.” In this case it means that at December 31,
2021, $1.14 of current assets exist to pay each $1 of current liabiliƟes. This raƟo is difficult to
interpret in isolaƟon. There are two types of addiƟonal informaƟon that could help. First, what is
the trend within BDCC over the last three years? The raƟo declined between 2019 and 2020 (from
1.91 to 1.07), then recovered slightly between the end of 2020 and 2021 (from 1.07 to 1.14). The
overall decline may be a cause for concern, as it indicates that in 2021 BDCC had fewer current
assets to saƟsfy current liabiliƟes as they became due.

A second interpretaƟon aid would be to compare BDCC’s current raƟo to a similar company or
that of BDCC’s industry as a whole. InformaƟon is available from various trade publicaƟons and
business analysts’ websites that assemble financial raƟo informaƟon for awide range of industries.

Some analysts consider that a corporaƟon should maintain a 2:1 current raƟo, depending on the
industry in which the firm operates. The reasoning is that, if there were $2 of current assets to
pay each $1 of current liabiliƟes, the company should sƟll be able to pay its current liabiliƟes as
they become due, even in the event of a business downturn. However, it is recognized that no
one current raƟo is applicable to all enƟƟes; other factors—such as the composiƟon of current
assets—must also be considered to arrive at an acceptable raƟo. This is illustrated below.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_2_1WorkingCapital
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_2_1WorkingCapital
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ComposiƟon of Specific Items in Current Assets

In the following example, both CorporaƟon A and CorporaƟon B have a 2:1 current raƟo. Are the
companies equally able to repay their short-term creditors?

Corp. A Corp. B
Current Assets
Cash $ 1,000 $ 10,000
Accounts Receivable 2,000 20,000
Inventories 37,000 10,000
Total Current Assets $ 40,000 $ 40,000

Current LiabiliƟes $ 20,000 $ 20,000
Current RaƟo 2:1 2:1

The companies have the same dollar amounts of current assets and current liabiliƟes. However,
they have different short-term debt paying abiliƟes because CorporaƟon B hasmore liquid current
assets than does CorporaƟon A. CorporaƟon B has less inventory ($10,000 vs. $37,000) and more
in cash and accounts receivable. If CorporaƟon A needed more cash to pay short-term creditors
quickly, it would have to sell inventory, likely at a lower-than-normal gross profit. So, CorporaƟon
B is in a beƩer posiƟon to repay short-term creditors.

Since the current raƟo doesn’t consider the components of current assets, it is only a rough in-
dicator of a company’s ability to pay its debts as they become due. This weakness of the current
raƟo is partly remedied by the acid-test raƟo discussed below.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Current
RaƟo.

Acid-Test RaƟo

A more rigid test of liquidity is provided by the acid-test raƟo; also called the quick raƟo. To
calculate this raƟo, current assets are separated into quick current assets and non-quick current
assets.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_2_2CurrentRatio
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_2_2CurrentRatio
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Quick Current Assets

..Cash
Short-term investments

..Accounts Receivable

Non-quick Current Assets

..Inventories
..Prepaid Expenses

..

These current assets are considered to
be readily converƟble into cash.

.

Cash cannot be obtained either at all
or easily from these current assets.

Inventory and prepaid expenses cannot be converted into cash in a short period of Ɵme, if at all.
Therefore, they are excluded in the calculaƟon of this raƟo. The acid-test raƟo is calculated as:

Quick current assets
Current liabiliƟes

The BDCC informaƟon required to calculate this raƟo is:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Cash $ 20 $ 30 $ 50
Short-term investments 36 31 37
Accounts receivable 544 420 257
Quick current assets (a) $ 600 $ 481 $ 344
Current liabiliƟes (b) $ 1,255 $ 917 $ 369
Acid-test raƟo (a/b) 0.48:1 0.52:1 0.93:1

This raƟo indicates howmany quick asset dollars exist to pay each dollar of current liabiliƟes. What
is an adequate acid-test raƟo? It is generally considered that a 1:1 acid test raƟo is adequate to
ensure that a firm will be able to pay its current obligaƟons. However, this is a fairly arbitrary
guideline and is not appropriate in all situaƟons. A lower raƟo than 1:1 can oŌen be found in
successful companies. However, BDCC’s acid-test raƟo trend is worrisome.

Therewere $0.48 of quick assets available to pay each $1 of current liabiliƟes in 2021. This amount
appears inadequate. In 2020, the acid-test raƟo of $0.52 also seems to be too low. The 2019 raƟo
of $0.93 is less than 1:1 but may be reasonable. Of parƟcular concern to financial analysts would
be BDCC’s declining trend of the acid-test raƟo over the three years.

AddiƟonal analysis can also be performed to determine the source of liquidity issues. These are
discussed next.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Acid-test
RaƟo.

Accounts Receivable CollecƟon Period

Liquidity is affected by management decisions related to trade accounts receivable. Slow collec-
Ɵon of receivables can result in a shortage of cash to pay current obligaƟons. The effecƟveness of
management decisions relaƟng to receivables can be analyzed by calculaƟng the accounts receiv-
able collecƟon period.

The calculaƟon of the accounts receivable collecƟon period establishes the average number of
days needed to collect an amount due to the company. It indicates the efficiency of collecƟon
procedures when the collecƟon period is compared with the firm’s sales terms (in BDCC’s case,
the sales terms are net 30meaning that amounts are due within 30 days of the invoice date).

The accounts receivable collecƟon period is calculated as:

Average accounts receivable2

Net credit sales
× 365

The BDCC financial informaƟon required to make the calculaƟon is shown below (the 2019 calcu-
laƟon cannot be made because 2016 Accounts Receivable amount is not available). Assume all of
BDCC’s sales are on credit.

(000s)
2021 2020

Net credit sales (a) $3,200 $2,800
Average accounts receivable
[(Opening balance + closing balance)/2] (b) $ 4823 $ 338.54
Average collecƟon period
[(b/a)× 365 days] 55 days 44 days

When Big Dog’s 30-day sales terms are compared to the 55-day collecƟon period, it can be seen
that an average 25 days of sales (55 days – 30 days) have gone uncollected beyond the regular
credit period in 2021. The collecƟon period in 2021 is increasing compared to 2020. Therefore,
some over-extension of credit and possibly ineffecƟve collecƟon procedures are indicated by this

2Average balance sheet amounts are used when income statement amounts are compared to balance sheet
amounts in a raƟo. This is because the income statement item is realized over a fiscal year, while balance sheet
amounts are recorded at points in Ɵme at the end of each fiscal year. Averaging opening and ending balance sheet
amounts is an aƩempt to match numerators and denominators to an approximate midpoint in the fiscal year.

3($420 + 544)/2 = $482
4($257 + 420)/2 = $338.5
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raƟo. Quicker collecƟonwould improve BDCC’s cash posiƟon. It may be that older or uncollecƟble
amounts are buried in the total amount of receivables; this would have to be invesƟgated.

Whether the increase in collecƟon period is good or bad depends on several factors. For instance,
more liberal credit terms may generate more sales (and therefore profits). The root causes of the
change in the raƟo need to be invesƟgated. However, the calculaƟon does provide an indicaƟon
of the change in effecƟveness of credit and collecƟon procedures between 2020 and 2021.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Accounts
Receivable CollecƟon Period.

Number of Days of Sales in Inventory

The effecƟveness of management decisions relaƟng to inventory can be analyzed by calculaƟng
the number of days of sales that can be serviced by exisƟng inventory levels.

The number of days of sales in inventory is calculated by dividing average inventory by the cost
of goods sold and mulƟplying the result by 365 days.

Average merchandise inventory
Cost of goods sold

× 365

The BDCC financial data for 2020 and 2021 required to calculate this raƟo are shown below.

(000s)
2021 2020

Cost of goods sold $2,500 $2,150
Average inventory
[(Opening balance + closing balance)/2] (a) $ 6685 $ 4326
Cost of goods sold (b) 365 365
Number of days sales in inventory
[(b/a)× 365 days] 98 days 73 days

The calculaƟon indicates that BDCC is invesƟng more in inventory in 2021 than in 2020 because
there are 98 days of sales in inventory in 2021 versus 73 days in 2020. BDCC has approximately
3 months of sales with its exisƟng inventory (98 days represents about 3 months). The increase
from 2020 to 2021 may warrant invesƟgaƟon into its causes.

A declining number of days of sales in inventory is usually a sign of good inventory management
because it indicates that the average amount of assets Ɵed up in inventory is lessening. With lower
inventory levels, inventory-related expenses such as rent and insurance are lower because less

5($503 + 833)/2 = $668
6($361 + 503)/2 = $432
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storage space is oŌen required. However, lower inventory levels can have negaƟve consequences
since items that customers want to purchase may not be in inventory resulƟng in lost sales.

Increasing days of sales in inventory is usually a sign of poor inventory management because an
excessive investment in inventory Ɵes up cash that could be used for other purposes. Increasing
levels may indicate that inventory is becoming obsolete (consider clothing) or deterioraƟng (con-
sider perishable groceries). Obsolete and/or deterioraƟng inventories may be unsalable. How-
ever, the possible posiƟve aspect of more days of sales in inventory is that there can be shorter
delivery Ɵme to customers if more items are in stock.

Whether Big Dog’s increasing days of sales in inventory is posiƟve or negaƟve depends on man-
agement’s objecƟves. Is management increasing inventory to provide for increased sales in the
next year, or is inventory being poorly managed? Remember that raƟo analyses idenƟfy areas
that require invesƟgaƟon. The resulƟng invesƟgaƟon will guide any required acƟon.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Number
of Days of Sales in Inventory RaƟo.

The Revenue PorƟon of the OperaƟng Cycle

As discussed in Chapter 4, the sale of inventory and resulƟng collecƟon of receivables are part of
a business’s operaƟng cycle as shown in Figure 12.1.

..

..Inventory is
purchased.

.

A liability is incurred.

.

Cash payment to supplier is made.

.

Inventory sold to customer.

.

Accounts receivable result.

.Cash is collected
from customer.

.

One OperaƟng Cycle

.

Time

Figure 12.1: Sales and CollecƟon PorƟon of the OperaƟng Cycle

A business’s revenue operaƟng cycle is a subset of the operaƟng cycle and includes the purchase
of inventory, the sale of inventory and creaƟon of an account receivable, and the generaƟon of
cash when the receivable is collected. The length of Ɵme it takes BDCC to complete one revenue
operaƟng cycle is an important measure of liquidity and can be calculated by adding the number
of days of sales in inventory plus the number of days it takes to collect receivables. The BDCC
financial data required for this calculaƟon follows.
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2021 2020
Average number of days of sales in inventory 98 days 73 days
Average number of days to collect receivables 55 days 44 days
Number of days to complete the revenue cycle 153 days 117 days

In 2021, 153 days were required to complete the revenue cycle, compared to 117 days in 2020.
So, if accounts payable terms require payment within 60 days, BDCC may not be able to pay them
because the number of days to complete the revenue cycle for both 2020 (117 days) and 2021
(153 days) are significantly greater than 60 days.

Analysis of BDCC’s Liquidity

ReflecƟng on the results of all the liquidity raƟos, it appears that Big Dog Carworks Corp. is growing
less liquid. Current assets, especially quick assets, are declining relaƟve to current liabiliƟes. The
revenue operaƟng cycle is increasing.

12.3 Profitability RaƟos: Analyzing OperaƟng AcƟviƟes

Profitability raƟos compare various expenses to revenues, and measure how well the assets of a
corporaƟon have been used to generate revenue.

Gross Profit RaƟo

The gross profit raƟo, as introduced briefly in Chapter 6, indicates the percentage of sales revenue
that is leŌ to pay operaƟng expenses, creditor interest, and income taxes aŌer deducƟng cost of
goods sold. The raƟo is calculated as:

Gross profit
Net sales

OR
Gross profit
Net sales

× 100

BDCC’s gross profit raƟos for the three years are:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Gross profit (a) $ 700 $ 650 $ 540
Net sales (b) $ 3,200 $ 2,800 $ 2,340
Gross profit raƟo (a/b) 0.22:1 or 22% 0.23:1 or 23% 0.23:1 or or 23%

In other words, for each dollar of sales BDCC has $0.22 of gross profit leŌ to cover operaƟng,
interest, and income tax expenses ($0.23 in each of 2020 and 2019). The raƟo has not changed
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significantly from year to year. However, even a small decline in this percentage can affect net
income significantly because the gross profit is such a large component of the income statement.
Changes in the gross profit raƟo should be invesƟgated, as it will impact future financial perfor-
mance.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Gross
profit raƟo.

OperaƟng Profit RaƟo

The operaƟng profit raƟo is one measure of relaƟve change in these other expenses. This raƟo
indicates the percentage of sales revenue leŌ to cover interest and income taxes expenses aŌer
deducƟng cost of goods sold and operaƟng expenses. In other words:

Income from operaƟons
Net sales

OR
Income from operaƟons

Net sales
× 100

BDCC’s operaƟng profit raƟo for the 2019, 2020, and 2021 fiscal years is calculated as follows:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Income from operaƟons (a) $ 300 $ 274 $ 204
Net sales (b) $ 3,200 $ 2,800 $ 2,340
OperaƟng profit raƟo (a/b) 0.09:1 or 9% 0.10:1 or 10% 0.09:1 or or 9%

For each dollar of sales revenue in 2021, the company had $0.09 leŌ to cover interest and income
tax expenses aŌer deducƟng cost of goods sold and operaƟng expenses. A review of the com-
pany’s operaƟng expenses (selling, general, and administraƟve expenses; employee benefits, and
depreciaƟon) show that they have all increased. As a result, and despite increasing sales revenue
and gross profit, operaƟng income has remained relaƟvely flat. Although it seems reasonable that
an increase in operaƟng expenses would follow an increase in sales, the reasons for the operaƟng
expense increases should be invesƟgated.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to runOperaƟng
Profit RaƟo.

Net Profit RaƟo

The net profit raƟo is the percentage of sales revenue retained by the company aŌer payment of
operaƟng expenses, interest expenses, and income taxes. It is an index of performance that can
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be used to compare the company to others in the same industry. This raƟo is calculated by the
following formula:

Net income
Net sales

OR
Net income
Net sales

× 100

BDCC’s net profit raƟos for the three years are calculated as follows:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Net income (a) $ 116 $ 117 $ 112
Net sales (b) $ 3,200 $ 2,800 $ 2,340
Net profit raƟo (a/b) 0.04:1 or 4% 0.4:1 or 4% 0.05:1 or or 5%

For each $1 of sales in 2021, BDCC earned $0.04 of net income. The net profit raƟo has been
relaƟvely stable but needs to be compared with industry or compeƟtors’ averages for a beƩer
perspecƟve.

Recall that revenues are generated from a business’s asset holdings. The financial strength and
success of a corporaƟon depends on the efficient use of these assets. An analysis of asset invest-
ment decisions can be made by calculaƟng several raƟos, and is discussed next.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Net Profit
RaƟo.

Sales to Total Assets RaƟo

Are BDCC’s sales adequate in relaƟon to its assets? The calculaƟon of the sales to total assets raƟo
helps to answer this quesƟon by establishing the number of sales dollars earned for each dollar
invested in assets. The raƟo is calculated as:

Net sales
Average total assets

OR
Net sales

Average total assets
× 100

BDCC’s raƟos are calculated as follows:

(000s)
2021 2020

Net sales (a) $ 3,200 $ 2,800
Average total assets (b) $ 2,2997 $ 1,765.58
Sales to total assets raƟo (a/b) 1.39:1 or 139% 1.59:1 or 159%

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_3_3ProfitMargin
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_3_3ProfitMargin


290 Financial Statement Analysis

The raƟo has decreased from 2020 to 2021. Each $1 of investment in assets in 2020 generated
sales of $1.59. In 2021, each $1 of investment in assets generated only $1.39 in sales. Over the
same period, BDCC’s investment in assets increased. The raƟos indicate that the addiƟonal assets
are not producing revenue as effecƟvely as in the past. It may be too soon to tell whether the
increase in assets in 2020 will eventually create greater sales but an invesƟgaƟon is required.

As noted earlier, comparison with industry averages would be useful. A low raƟo in relaƟon to
other companies in the same industry may indicate an over-investment in or inefficient use of
assets by BDCC. On the other hand, a higher raƟo in comparison to other companies would be a
posiƟve indicator.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Sales to
Total Assets RaƟo.

Return on Total Assets RaƟo (ROA)

The return on total assets raƟo or ROA is designed to measure the efficiency with which all of a
company’s assets are used to produce income from operaƟons. The raƟo is calculated as:

Income from operaƟons
Average total assets

OR
Income from operaƟons
Average total assets

× 100

Note that expenses needed to finance the company operaƟons are excluded from the calculaƟon,
specifically interest and income taxes. This is because all the assets of the company are considered
in the raƟo’s denominator, whether financed by investors or creditors. Average Total Assets are
used in the calculaƟon because the amount of assets used likely varies during the year. The use
of averages tends to smooth out such fluctuaƟons.

BDCC’s returns on total assets for 2020 and 2021 are calculated as follows:

(000s)
2021 2020

Income from operaƟons (a) $ 300 $ 274
Average total assets (b) $ 2,2999 $ 1,765.510
Return on total assets raƟo (a/b) 0.13:1 or 13% 0.16:1 or 16%

The raƟos indicate that Big Dog earned $0.13 of income from operaƟons for every $1 of average
total assets in 2021, a decrease from $0.16 per $1 in 2020. This downward trend indicates that

7($2,112 + 2,486)/2 = $2,299
8($1,417 + 2,112)/2 = $1,764.5
9($2,112 + 2,486)/2 = $2,299

10($1,417 + 2,112)/2 = $1,764.5

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_3_4SOA
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_3_4SOA


12.3. Profitability Ratios: Analyzing Operating Activities 291

assets are being used less efficiently. However, it may be that the increased investment in assets
has not yet begun to pay off. On the other hand, although sales are increasing, it is possible that
future sales volume will not be sufficient to jusƟfy the increase in assets. More informaƟon about
the company’s plans and projecƟons would be useful. Recall that raƟo analysis promotes the
asking of directed quesƟons for the purpose of more informed decision making.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Return
on Total Assets RaƟo.

Return on Equity RaƟo (ROE)

The return on equity raƟo measures the return to shareholders—how much net income was
earned for the owners of a business. It is calculated as:

Net income
Average equity

OR
Net income

Average equity
× 100

The 2020 and 2021 returns on equity raƟos for BDCC are calculated as follows (note that the 2019
raƟo is excluded because average equity cannot be calculated since 2018 ending balances are not
provided):

(000s)
2021 2020

Net income (a) $ 116 $ 117
Average equity (b) $ 1,21311 $ 1,121.512
Return on equity raƟo (a/b) 0.10:1 or 10% 0.10:1 or 10%

In both years, shareholders earned, on average, $0.10 for every $1 invested in BDCC, or 10%.
Industry averages could help with this analysis. For instance, if the industry as a whole earned
only a 5% return on equity in 2021, it could be concluded that BDCC performed beƩer than the
industry average in terms of return on equity.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Return
on Equity RaƟo.

11($1,195 + 1,231)/2 = $1,213
12($1,048 + 1,195)/2 = $1,121.5
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12.4 Leverage RaƟos: Analyzing Financial Structure

The accounƟng equaƟon expresses a relaƟonship between assets owned by an enƟty and the
claims against those assets. Although shareholders own a corporaƟon, they alone do not finance
the corporaƟon; creditors also finance some of its acƟviƟes. Together, creditor and shareholder
capital are said to form the financial structureFinancial structure of a corporaƟon. At December
31, 2021, the balance sheet of BDCC shows the following financial structure:

ASSETS = LIABILITIES + EQUITY
$2,486 = $1,255 + $1,231

Debt RaƟo

The proporƟon of total assets financed by debt is called the debt raƟo, and is calculated by dividing
total assets by total liabiliƟes.

Total liabiliƟes
Total assets

OR
Total liabiliƟes
Total assets

× 100

In BDCC’s case, these amounts are:

(000s)
2021 2020

Total liabiliƟes (a) $ 1,255 $ 917
Total assets (b) $ 2,486 $ 2,112
Debt raƟo (a/b) 0.50:1 or 50% 0.43:1 or 43%

In other words, 50% of BDCC’s assets are financed by debt. Therefore, because assets are financed
by debt (aka liabiliƟes) and equity, we intuiƟvely know that 50% of BDCC’s assetsmust be financed
by equity which is the topic of the next secƟon.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Debt
RaƟo.

Equity RaƟo

The proporƟon of total assets financed by equity is called the equity raƟo, and is calculated by
dividing total equity by total assets. In BDCC’s case, these amounts are:
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(000s)
2021 2020

Total equity (a) $ 1,231 $ 1,195
Total assets (b) $ 2,486 $ 2,112
Equity raƟo (a/b) 0.50:1 or 50% 0.57:1 or 57%

In 2021, 50% of the assets were financed by equity while in 2020 57% of the assets were financed
by equity. Generally, this is considered an unfavourable trend because as equity financing de-
creases, we know that debt financing must be increasing as evidenced by the debt raƟo above.
The greater the debt financing, the greater the risk because principal and interest payments are
part of debt financing.

NoƟce that the sumof the debt and equity raƟoswill always equal 100%because of the accounƟng
equaƟon relaƟonship: A = L + E where A = 100% and, in the case of BDCC, L = 43% in 2020 and E
= 57% in 2020.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Equity
RaƟo.

Debt to Equity RaƟo

The proporƟon of creditor to shareholders’ claims is called the debt to equity raƟo, and is calcu-
lated by dividing total liabiliƟes by equity. In BDCC’s case, these amounts are:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Total liabiliƟes (a) $ 1,255 $ 917 $ 369
Equity (b) $ 1,231 $ 1,195 $ 1,048
Debt to equity raƟo (a/b) 1.02:1 0.77:1 0.35:1

In other words, BDCC has $1.02 of liabiliƟes for each dollar of equity at the end of its current fiscal
year, 2021. The proporƟon of debt financing has been increasing since 2019. In 2019 there was
only $0.35 of debt for each $1 of equity. In 2021, creditors are financing a greater proporƟon of
BDCC than are shareholders. This may be a cause for concern.

On the one hand, management’s reliance on creditor financing is good. Issuing addiƟonal shares
might require exisƟng shareholders to give up some of their control of BDCC. Creditor financing
may also be more financially aƩracƟve to exisƟng shareholders if it enables BDCC to earn more
with the borrowed funds than the interest paid on the debt.

On the other hand, management’s increasing reliance on creditor financing increases risk because
interest and principal have to be paid on this debt. Before deciding to extend credit, creditors oŌen
look at the total debt load of a company, and therefore the company’s ability to meet interest
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and principal payments in the future. Total earnings of BDCC could be reduced if high interest
payments have to be made, especially if interest rates rise. Creditors are interested in a secure
investment and may evaluate shareholder commitment by measuring relaƟve amounts of capital
invested. From the creditors’ perspecƟve, the more capital invested by owners of the company,
the greater the relaƟve risk assumed by shareholders thus decreasing risk to creditors.

Although there is no single most appropriate debt to equity raƟo, there are techniques for esƟ-
maƟng the opƟmum balance. These are beyond the scope of introductory financial accounƟng.
For now, it is sufficient to note that for BDCC the debt to equity raƟo has increased considerably
over the three-year period which is generally unfavourable because of the risk associated with
debt financing.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Debt to
Equity RaƟo.

Times Interest Earned RaƟo

Creditors are interested in evaluaƟng a company’s financial performance, in order to projectwhether
the firm will be able to pay interest on borrowed funds and repay the debt when it comes due.
Creditors are therefore interested in measures such as the Ɵmes interest earned raƟo. This raƟo
indicates the amount by which income from operaƟons could decline before a default on interest
may result. The raƟo is calculated by the following formula:

Income from operaƟons
Interest expense

Note that income from operaƟons is used, so that income before deducƟon of creditor payments
in the form of income taxes and interest is incorporated into the calculaƟon. BDCC’s 2020 and
2021 raƟos are calculated as follows:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Income from operaƟons (a) $ 300 $ 274 $ 204
Interest expense (b) $ 89 $ 61 -0-
Times interest earned raƟo (a/b) 3.37:1 4.49:1 n/a

The larger the raƟo, the beƩer creditors are protected. BDCC’s interest coverage has decreased
from2020 to 2021 (3.37 Ɵmes vs. 4.49 Ɵmes), but incomewould sƟll need to decrease significantly
for the company to be unable to pay its obligaƟons to creditors. The analysis does indicate, though,
that over the past two years interest charges have increased compared to income fromoperaƟons.
Creditors need to assess company plans and projecƟons, parƟcularly those affecƟng income from
operaƟons, to determine whether their loans to the company are at risk. As discussed above, it
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may be that significant investments in assets have not yet generated related increases in sales and
income from operaƟons.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Times
Interest Earned RaƟo.

12.5 Market RaƟos: Analysis of Financial Returns to Investors

Investors frequently consider whether to invest or divest in shares of a corporaƟon. There are
various raƟos that help them make this decision. These are called market raƟos, because the
stock market plays an important role in allocaƟng financial resources to corporaƟons that offer
their shares to the public.

Earnings-per-Share (EPS)

Measures of efficiency can focus on shareholder returns on a per-share basis. That is, the amount
of net income earned in a year can be divided by the number of common shares outstanding to
establish how much return has been earned for each outstanding share. This earnings-per-share
(EPS) value is calculated as:

Net income
Number of common shares outstanding

EPS is quoted in financial markets and is disclosed on the income statement of publicly-traded
companies. If there are preferred shareholders, they have first rights to distribuƟon of dividends.
Therefore, when calculaƟng EPS, preferred shareholders’ claims on net income are deducted from
net income to calculate the amount available for common shareholders:

Net income− preferred share dividends
Number of common shares outstanding

BDCC has no preferred shares and thus no preferred share dividends. Recall that 100,000 common
shares are outstanding at the end of 2019, 2020, and 2021. For BDCC, EPS calculaƟons for the
three years are:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Net income (a) $ 116 $ 117 $ 112
Number of common shares outstanding (b) 100 100 100
Earnings per share (a/b) $ 1.16 $ 1.17 $ 1.12
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Big Dog’s EPS has remained relaƟvely constant over the three-year period because both net in-
come and number of outstanding shares have remained fairly stable. Increasing sales levels and
the resulƟng posiƟve effects on net income, combined with unchanged common shares issued,
has generally accounted for the slight increase from 2019 to 2020.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Earnings
Per Share.

Price-earnings (P/E) RaƟo

A price at which a common share trades on a stockmarket is perhaps themost importantmeasure
of a company’s financial performance. The market price of one share reflects the opinions of
investors about a company’s future value compared to alternaƟve investments.

The earnings performance of common shares is oŌen expressed as a price-earnings (P/E) raƟo.
Price-earnings (P/E) raƟo It is calculated as:

Market price per share dividends
Earnings per share

This raƟo is used as an indicator of the market’s expectaƟon of a company’s future performance.
Assume Company A has a current market value of $15 per share and an EPS of $1 per share. It will
have a P/E raƟo of 15. If Company B has a market value of $4 per share and an EPS of $0.50 per
share, it will have a P/E raƟo of 8. This means that the stock market expects Company A to earn
relaƟvely more in the future than Company B. For every $1 of net income generated by Company
A, investors are willing to invest $15. In comparison, for every $1 of net income generated by
Company B, investors are willing to pay only $8. Investors perceive shares of Company A as more
valuable because the company is expected to earn greater returns in the future than is Company
B.

Assume that BDCC’s average market price per common share was $4 in 2019, $5 in 2020, and $6
in 2021. Its P/E raƟo would be calculated as:

(000s)
2021 2020 2019

Market price per common share (a) $ 6.00 $ 5.00 $ 4.00
Earnings per share (see above) (b) $ 1.16 $ 1.17 $ 1.12
Price-earnings raƟo (a/b) 5.17 4.27 3.57

BDCC’s P/E raƟo has increased each year. Although industry and compeƟtor’s P/E raƟo com-
parisons would be important to compare, BDCC’s increasingly posiƟve raƟo also indicates that
investors are “bullish” on BDCC. That is, the stock market indicates that it expects BDCC to be
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increasingly profitable in the coming years. Despite a relaƟvely constant EPS raƟo from 2019 to
2021, investors are willing to pay more and more for the company’s common shares. This must
be because future financial prospects are anƟcipated to be beƩer than in the past three years.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Price-
Earnings RaƟo.

Dividend Yield

Some investors’ primary objecƟve is tomaximize dividend revenue from share investments, rather
than realize an increasingmarket price of the shares. This type of investor is interested in informa-
Ɵon about the earnings available for distribuƟon to shareholders and the actual amount of cash
paid out as dividends rather than the market price of the shares.

The dividend yield raƟo is a means to determine this. It is calculated as:

Dividends per share
Market price per share

This raƟo indicates how large a return in the formof dividends can be expected froman investment
in a company’s shares. The relevant informaƟon for BDCC over the last three years is shown in the
financial statements, as follows:

(000s – except per share values)
2021 2020 2019

Dividends declared (a) $ 80 $ 70 $ 60
Outstanding common shares (b) 100 100 100
Dividends per share (a/b) $ 0.80 $ 0.70 $ 0.60

The dividend yield raƟo is therefore:

2021 2020 2019
Dividends per share (a) $ 0.80 $ 0.70 $ 0.60
Market price per share (given) (b) $ 6.00 $ 5.00 $ 4.00
Dividend yield raƟo (a/b) 0.13:1 0.14:1 0.15:1

The company’s dividend yield raƟo decreased from 2019 to 2021. In 2019, investors received
$0.15 for every $1 invested in shares. By 2021, this had decreased to $0.13 for every $1 invested.
Though the decline is slight, the trend may concern investors who seek steady cash returns. Also
noƟce that total dividends declared increased from 2019 to 2021 even though net income did
not substanƟally increase, and despite the company’s poor liquidity posiƟon noted in an earlier
analysis. Investors might ask why such high levels of dividends are being paid given this situaƟon.
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An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Dividend
Yield.

12.6 Overall Analysis of Big Dog’s Financial Statements

Results of raƟo analysis are alwaysmore useful if accompanied by other informaƟon such as overall
industry performance, the general economy, financial raƟos of prior years, and qualitaƟve factors
such as analysts’ opinions and management’s plans.

However, there are some interpretaƟons that can be made about BDCC from the foregoing raƟo
analyses even without other informaƟon. Although BDCC is experiencing growth in sales, net in-
come has not substanƟally increased over the three-year period 2019 to 2021. The gross profit
raƟo is relaƟvely constant. Their increasing operaƟng expenses appear to be an issue. The sales
to total assets and return on assets raƟos have decreased due to a recent investment in property,
plant and equipment assets and growth in current assets. Income from operaƟons has not in-
creased with the growth in the asset base. However, it may be premature to make conclusions
regarding the Ɵming of outlays for property, plant, and equipment.

The most immediate problem facing BDCC is the shortage of working capital and its poor liquidity.
BDCC expanded its property, plant, and equipment in 2020 and experienced increases in revenue
that did not correspond to increases in accounts receivable and inventories. The company should
therefore review its credit policies and monitor its investment in inventory to ensure that these
expand in proporƟon to sales.

The plant expansion produced an increase in current liabiliƟes (mainly borrowings). The com-
pany’s ability to meet its debt obligaƟons appears to be deterioraƟng. The ability of income from
operaƟons to cover interest expense has declined. The company’s liquidity posiƟon is deteriorat-
ing, even though it conƟnues to produce net income each year. BDCC should invesƟgate alterna-
Ɵves to short-term borrowings, such as converƟng some of this to long-term debt and/or issuing
addiƟonal share capital to reƟre some of its short-term debt obligaƟons.

Despite these challenges, the stock market indicates that it expects BDCC to be increasingly prof-
itable in the future. Perhaps it views the negaƟve indicators noted above as only temporary or
easily recƟfied by management.

The next secƟon provides further insights into BDCC’s operaƟons through trend analysis of the
company’s financial statements.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_5_3DividendYield
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN12_5_3DividendYield


12.7. Horizontal and Vertical Trend Analysis 299

12.7 Horizontal and VerƟcal Trend Analysis

LO2 – Describe
horizontal and
verƟcal trend
analysis, and
explain how
they are used to
analyze financial
statements.

Trend analysis is the evaluaƟon of financial performance based on a re-
statement of financial statement dollar amounts to percentages. Horizon-
tal analysis and verƟcal analysis are two types of trend analyses.

Horizontal analysis involves the calculaƟon of percentage changes from
one or more years over the base year dollar amount. The base year is
typically the oldest year and is always 100%. The following two examples
of horizontal analysis use an abbreviated income statement and balance
sheet informaƟon where 2019 represents the base year. For demonstra-
Ɵon purposes, the percentages have been rounded to the nearest whole
number.

..2021 ..2020 ..2019
Sales1 $100 200% $70 140% $50 100%
Gross profit $ 48 160% $45 150% $30 100%
Net income $ 14 140% $12 120% $10 100%

1. Sales in 2020 were 140% of 2019 sales calculated as ($70/$50)x100. Sales
in 2021 were 200% of 2019 sales calculated as ($100/$50)x100.

..2021 ..2020 ..2019
Current assets2 $ 18 90% $ 22 110% $ 20 100%
Long-term investments $ -0- N/A $ 48 60% $ 80 100%
Total assets $252 105% $228 95% $240 100%

2. Current assets in 2020 were 110% of 2019 current assets calculated as
($22/$20)x100. Current assets in 2021 were 90% of 2019 current assets cal-
culated as ($18/$20)x100.

.

An alternate method of performing horizontal analysis calculaƟons is to simply calculate the per-
centage change between two years as shown in the following example.
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..2021 % Change ..2020
Sales3 $100 43% $70
Gross profit $ 48 7% $45
Net income $ 14 17% $12

3. Sales in 2021 increased 43% over 2020 calculated as ($100–$70)=$30;
($30/$70)x100=43%.

.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to runHorizontal
Analysis.

VerƟcal analysis requires numbers in a financial statement to be restated as percentages of a base
dollar amount. For income statement analysis, the base amount used is sales. For balance sheet
analysis, total assets, or total liabiliƟes and equity, are used as the base amounts. When financial
statements are converted to percentages, they are called common-size financial statements. The
following two examples of verƟcal analysis use informaƟon froman abbreviated income statement
and balance sheet.

2021 2020 20191
Sales $100 100% $70 100% $50 ..100%
Gross profit $ 48 48% $45 64% $30 ..60%
Net income $ 14 14% $12 17% $10 ..20%

1. 2019 Gross profit was 60% of Sales calculated as ($30/$50)x100; 2019 Net
income was 20% of Sales calculated as ($10/$50)x100.

2021 2020 20192
Current assets $ 18 7% $ 22 10% $ 20 ..8%
Long-term investments $ -0- N/A $ 48 21% $ 80 ..33%
Total assets $252 100% $228 100% $240 ..100%

2. 2019 Current assets were 8% of Total assets calculated as ($20/$240)x100.
2019 Long-term investments were 33% of Total assets calculated as
($80/$240)x100.

.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run VerƟcal
Analysis.
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NoƟce that the same informaƟon was used for both the horizontal and verƟcal analyses examples
but that the results are different because of how the dollar amounts are being compared.

Horizontal and verƟcal analyses of the balance sheets of Big Dog Carworks Corp. are as follows:

Horizontal Analysis: Balance Sheet VerƟcal Analysis (Common-size):
Balance

Change
Per % %

2021 2020 Difference Cent 2021 2020
Current assets $1,433 (a) $ 984 (b) +$449 (a-b) +45.6 [(a-b)/b] Current assets 57.6 46.6 (b/c)
PPE assets 1,053 1,128 -75 -6.6 PPE assets 42.4 53.4

Total $2,486 $2,112 (c) +$374 +17.7 Total 100.0 100.0
Current liabiliƟes $1,255 $917 +$338 +36.9 Current liabiliƟes 50.5 43.4
Equity 1,231 1,195 +36 +3.0 Equity 49.5 56.6

Total $2,486 $2,112 ..+$374 ..+17.7 Total 100.0 100.0

..

NoƟce the two columns introduced here. Anal-
ysis of the changes indicates a large increase in
current assets (45.6%) together with a large in-
crease in current liabiliƟes (36.9%). There was
a small decline in PPE assets (6.6%) and a small
increase in equity (3%). The percentage change
must always be interpreted together with the
absolute dollar amount of change to avoid incor-
rect conclusions; percentage can someƟmes be
misleading. .

In the common-size balance
sheet, the composiƟon of the
assets has changed with an over-
all shiŌ to current assets in 2019
(57.6% vs. 46.6%). Also, an in-
crease in the percentage of cur-
rent liabiliƟes has occurred, re-
sulƟng in an overall shiŌ from
equity financing to debt financing
from 2020 to 2021.

The same analysis of BDCC’s income statement is as follows:

Horizontal Analysis: Income Statements VerƟcal Analysis (Common-size):
Income Statements

Change
Per % %

2021 2020 Amount Cent 2021 2020
Sales $3,200 (a) $2,800 (b) +$400 (a-b) +14 [(a-b)/b] Sales 100 100 (b/c)
Cost of Goods Sold 2,500 2,150 +$350 +16 Cost of Goods Sold 78 77

Gross Profit 700 650 (c) +$ 50 +8 Gross Profit 22 23
Expenses 584 533 +$ 51 +10 Expenses 18 19

..Net Income $ 116 $ 117 -$ 1 -1 Net Income 4 4

..

Although sales and gross profit in-
creased in dollar amounts, net in-
come decreased slightly from 2020
to 2021 (1%). This net decrease re-
sulted because cost of goods sold
increased at a faster rate than sales
(16% vs. 14%).

.

NoƟce the relaƟve change in the compo-
nents. For example, cost of goods sold
increased in 2021 relaƟve to sales (78% vs.
77%), while expenses in 2021 relaƟve to
sales decreased (18% vs. 19%). The over-
all changes were almost offseƫng, as net
income remained fairly stable.
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The percentages calculated become more informaƟve when compared to earlier years. Further
analysis is usually undertaken in order to establish answers to the following quesƟons:

..

Horizontal Analysis: VerƟcal Analysis:
What caused this change? How do the percentages of this
Is this change favourable or company compare with other
unfavourable? companies in the same industry?

In other industries?

These and similar quesƟons call aƩenƟon to areas that require further study. One item of note
becomes more apparent as a result of the trend analysis above. IniƟally, it was stated that oper-
aƟng expenses were increasing between 2019 and 2021. Based on trend analysis, however, these
expenses are actually declining as a percentage of sales. As a result, their fluctuaƟons may not be
as significant as first inferred. Conversely, the increases each year in cost of goods sold may be
worrisome. IniƟal gross profit raƟo calculaƟons seemed to indicate liƩle variaƟon, and thus liƩle
effect on income from operaƟons. The increase in cost of goods sold (78% vs. 77% of sales) may
warrant further invesƟgaƟon.

The raƟos covered in this chapter are summarized in Figure 12.2.

Analysis of liquidity: CalculaƟon of raƟo: Indicates:

1. Working Capital Current assets – Current liabiliƟes The excess of current assets available aŌer
covering current liabiliƟes (expressed as a
dollar amount).

2. Current raƟo Current assets The amount of current assets available to
Current liabiliƟes pay current liabiliƟes.

3. Acid-test raƟo Quick current assets Whether the company is able to meet the
Current liabiliƟes immediate demands of creditors. (This is a

more severe measure of liquidity.)

4. Accounts Average accounts receivable x 365 The average Ɵme needed to collect
receivable collecƟon
period

Net credit sales receivables.

5. Number of days of Average inventory x 365 How many days of sales can be made with
sales in inventory Cost of goods sold exisƟng inventory

6. Revenue operaƟng
cycle

Average number of days to collect
receivables + average number of
days of sales inventory

Length of Ɵme between the purchase of
inventory and the subsequent collecƟon of
cash.
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Analysis of
profitability:

CalculaƟon of raƟo: Indicates:

1. Gross profit raƟo Gross profit The percentage of sales revenue that
Net sales is leŌ to pay operaƟng expenses, interest,

and income taxes aŌer deducƟng cost of
goods sold.

2. OperaƟng profit Income from operaƟons The percentage of sales revenue that is leŌ
raƟo Net sales to pay interest and income taxes expenses

aŌer deducƟng cost of goods sold and
operaƟng expenses.

3. Net profit raƟo Net income The percentage of sales leŌ aŌer payment
Net sales of all expenses.

4. Sales to total Net sales The adequacy of sales in relaƟon to the
assets raƟo Average total assets investment in assets.

5. Return on total Income from operaƟons How efficiently a company uses its assets
assets Average total assets as resources to earn net income.

6. Return on equity Net income The adequacy of net income as a return
Average equity on equity.

Leverage raƟos: CalculaƟon of raƟo: Indicates:

1. Debt raƟo Total liabiliƟes The proporƟon of total assets financed
Total assets by debt.

2. Equity raƟo Total equity The proporƟon of total assets financed
Total assets by equity.

3. Debt to equity Total liabiliƟes The proporƟon of creditor financing to
raƟo Equity shareholder financing.

4. Times interest Income from operaƟons The ability of a company to pay interest to
earned raƟo Interest expense long-term creditors.

Market raƟos: CalculaƟon of raƟo: Indicates:

1. Earnings per share Net income – preferred share dividends The amount of net income that has been
Average number of common shares earned on each common share aŌer

outstanding deducƟng dividends to preferred
shareholders.

2. Price-earnings Market price per share Market expectaƟons of future
raƟo Earnings per share profitability.

3. Dividend yield Dividends per share The short-term cash return that can be
raƟo Market price per share expected from an investment in a

company’s shares.

Figure 12.2: Summary of Financial Statement Analysis RaƟos
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SchemaƟcally, the various analyƟcal tools can be illustrated as shown in Figure 12.3.

Financial Market Trend
Liquidity Profitability Structure Measures Analysis

Returns on
Short-term Current asset Returns on balance sheet
cash needs performance sales items
Current A/R collecƟon Gross Sales to total Debt to Earnings Horizontal
raƟo period profit raƟo assets raƟo equity raƟo per share

Acid-test Number of OperaƟng Return on Times Price- VerƟcal
raƟo days of sales income total assets interest earnings

in inventory raƟo earned raƟo
raƟo

Revenue Net profit Return on Dividend
operaƟng raƟo equity yield raƟo
cycle

Figure 12.3: CategorizaƟon of Financial Statement AnalyƟcal Tools

Summary of Chapter 12 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Describe raƟo analysis, and explain how the liquidity, profitability, lever-
age, and market raƟos are used to analyze and compare financial statements.

RaƟo analysis measures the relaƟve magnitude of two selected numerical values taken from a
company’s financial statements and compares the result to prior years and other similar compa-
nies. Financial raƟos are an effecƟve tool for measuring: (a) liquidity (current raƟo, acid-test raƟo,
accounts receivable collecƟon period, and number of days of sales in inventory); (b) profitability
(gross profit raƟo, operaƟng profit raƟo, net profit raƟo, sales to total assets raƟo, return on total
assets, and return on equity); (c) leverage (debt raƟo, equity raƟo, debt to equity raƟo, and Ɵmes
interest earned raƟo); and (d)market raƟos (earnings per share, price-earnings raƟo, and dividend
yield raƟo). RaƟos help idenƟfy the areas that require further invesƟgaƟon.

LO2 – Describe horizontal and verƟcal trend analysis, and explain how they are
used to analyze financial statements.

Horizontal analysis involves the calculaƟon of percentage changes from one or more years over
the base year dollar amount. The base year is typically the oldest year and is always 100%. Ver-
Ɵcal analysis requires that numbers in a financial statement be restated as percentages of a base
dollar amount. For income statement analysis, the base amount used is sales. For balance sheet
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analysis, total assets, or total liabiliƟes and equity, are used as the base amounts. When financial
statements are converted to percentages, they are called common-size financial statements.





...

Chapter 13

.

Proprietorships and Partnerships

Chapter 1 introduced the three forms of business organizaƟons—corporaƟons, proprietorships,
and partnerships. The corporaƟon has been the focus in Chapters 1 through 12. This chapter will
expand on some of the basic accounƟng concepts as they apply to proprietorships and partner-
ships.

Chapter 13 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Describe the characterisƟcs of a proprietorship, including how its financial statements
are different from those of a corporaƟon.

LO2 – Describe the characterisƟcs of a partnership including how its financial statements
are different from those of a corporaƟon.

Concept Self-Check

Use the following quesƟons as a self-check while working through Chapter 13.

1. What are some of the characterisƟcs of a proprietorship, that are different from those of a
corporaƟon?

2. What is the journal entry to record the investment of cash by the owner into a proprietor-
ship?

3. How are the closing entries for a proprietorship different than those recorded for a corpo-
raƟon?

4. Why is there only one equity account on a sole proprietorship’s balance sheet and mulƟple
accounts in the equity secƟon of a corporate balance sheet?

5. What is mutual agency as it relates to a partnership?

6. How is a partnership different than a corporaƟon?

307
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13.1 Proprietorships

LO1 – Describe
the charac-
terisƟcs of a
proprietorship
including, how
its financial
statements
are different
from those of a
corporaƟon.

As discussed in Chapter 1, a proprietorship is a business owned by one per-
son. It is not a separate legal enƟty, which means that the business and
the owner are considered to be the same enƟty. As a result, for example,
from an income tax perspecƟve, the profits of a proprietorship are taxed
as part of the owner’s personal income tax return. Unlimited liability is an-
other characterisƟc of a proprietorship meaning that if the business could
not pay its debts, the owner would be responsible even if the business’s
debts were greater than the owner’s personal resources.

InvesƟng in a Proprietorship

When the owners of a corporaƟon, known as shareholders, invest in the corporaƟon, shares are
issued. The shares represent how much of the corporaƟon is owned by each shareholder. In a
proprietorship, there is only one owner. When that owner invests in their business, the journal
entry is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Owner’s Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To record the owner’s investment into
their business.

DistribuƟon of Income in a Proprietorship —Withdrawals

A corporaƟon distributes a porƟon of income earned to its owners, the shareholders, in the form
of dividends. In a proprietorship, the owner distributes a porƟon of the business’s income to
her/himself in the form of withdrawals. Typically, the owner will withdraw cash but they can
withdraw other assets as well. The journal entry to record a cash withdrawal is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Withdrawals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . XXX

To record the owner’s withdrawal of cash.
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Closing Entries for a Proprietorship

The closing entries for a corporaƟon involved four steps:

Entry 1: Close the revenue accounts to the Income Summary account

This would be idenƟcal for a proprietorship.

Entry 2: Close the expense accounts to the Income Summary account

This would also be idenƟcal for a proprietorship.

Entry 3: Close the income summary to retained earnings

Instead of closing the balance in the income summary to retained earnings, a proprietorshipwould
close the income summary to the Owner’s Capital account.

Entry 4: Close dividends to retained earnings

The equivalent to dividends for a proprietorship is withdrawals. There is no Retained Earnings
account in a proprietorship. A corporaƟon separates investments made by the owners (share-
holders) into a Share Capital account while dividends and accumulated net incomes/losses are
recorded in retained earnings. In a proprietorship, all owner investments, withdrawals, and net
incomes/losses aremaintained in the Owner’s Capital account. Therefore, the fourth closing entry
for a proprietorship closes withdrawals to this Owner’s Capital account.

Figure 13.1 compares the closing entries for a proprietorship and a corporaƟon.
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Proprietorship CorporaƟon
Entry 1: Close the revenue accounts to the In-
come Summary account.

Revenues XXX Revenues XXX
Income Summary XXX Income Summary XXX

Entry 2: Close the expense accounts to the In-
come Summary account.

Income Summary XXX Income Summary XXX
Expenses XXX Expenses XXX

Entry 3: Close the Income Summary account
…to the Owner’s Capital account. …to the Retained Earnings account.

Income Summary XXX Income Summary XXX
Owner’s Capital XXX Retained Earnings XXX

When there is a net income. When there is a net income.
OR OR

Owner’s Capital XXX Retained Earnings XXX
Income Summary XXX Income Summary XXX

When there is a net loss. When there is a net loss.

Entry 4: Close
…withdrawals to the Owner’s Capital account. …dividends to the Retained Earnings account.

Owner’s Capital XXX Retained Earnings XXX
Withdrawals XXX Dividends XXX

Figure 13.1: Comparing Closing Entries for a Proprietorship and CorporaƟon

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Closing
Entries.

Financial Statements

The financial statements for a proprietorship are much the same as for a corporaƟon with some
minor differences. As shown in Figure 13.2, the income statements only differ in that the pro-
prietorship does not include income tax expense since its profits are taxed as part of the owner’s
personal income tax return.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_1_1ClosingEntries
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_1_1ClosingEntries
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Proprietorship CorporaƟon

ABC ConsulƟng ABC Inc.
Income Statement Income Statement

Year ended December 31, 2015 Year ended December 31, 2015

Revenues $400 Revenues $400
OperaƟng expenses 180 OperaƟng expenses 180
Income from operaƟons $220 Income from operaƟons $220
Other revenues and expenses Interest revenue $20
Interest revenue $20 Loss on sale of equipment (5)
Loss on sale of equipment (5) 15 15

Net income $235 Income before tax $235
Income tax expense 50
Net income $185

Figure 13.2: Comparing the Income Statement for a Proprietorship and for a CorporaƟon

The statement of changes in equity for each of a proprietorship and corporaƟon includes the same
elements: beginning equity, addiƟonal investments by the owner(s), net income/loss, distribuƟon
of income to the owner(s), and the ending balance in equity. However, the statements are struc-
tured differently because in a proprietorship, all the equity items are combined in one account, the
Owner’s Capital account. In a corporaƟon, equity is divided between share capital and retained
earnings. These differences are illustrated in Figure 13.3.

Proprietorship CorporaƟon

ABC ConsulƟng ABC Inc.
Statement of Changes in Equity Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended December 31, 2015 Year ended December 31, 2015

Share Retained Total
Owner’s capital, January 1, 2015 $12,000 Capital Earnings Equity
Add: Owner investment $1,000 Balance, January 1, 2015 $9,000 $3,000 $12,000

Net income 235 1,235 Issuance of share capital 1,000 1,000
Total $13,235 Net income/loss 185 185

Less: Withdrawals 150 Dividends (150) (150)
Owner’s capital, December 31, 2015 $13,085 Balance, December 31, 2015 $10,000 $3,035 $13,035

Figure 13.3: Comparing the Statement of Changes in Equity for a Proprietorship and for a Cor-
poraƟon

Although both statements are based on idenƟcal dollar amounts, noƟce that the total equity at
December 31, 2015 for the proprietorship is $13,085 which is $50 more than the $13,035 shown
for the corporaƟon. The $50 difference is the income tax expense deducted on the corporaƟon’s
income tax.
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The balance sheet for each of a proprietorship and corporaƟon includes the same elements: as-
sets, liabiliƟes, and equity. However, the equity secƟon of the statement differs because in a
proprietorship, all the equity items are combined in one account, the owner’s capital account. In
a corporaƟon, equity is divided between share capital and retained earnings. These differences
are illustrated in Figure 13.4.

Proprietorship CorporaƟon

ABC ConsulƟng ABC Inc.
Balance Sheet Balance Sheet

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2015

Assets Assets
Cash $ 4,000 Cash $ 3,950
Other assets 86,000 Other assets 86,000

Total assets $90,000 Total assets $89,950

LiabiliƟes $76,915 LiabiliƟes $76,915

Equity Equity
Owner’s capital 13,085 Share capital $10,000

Total liabiliƟes and equity $90,000 Retained earnings 3,035
Total equity 13,035
Total liabiliƟes and equity $89,950

Figure 13.4: Comparing the Balance Sheet for a Proprietorship and for a CorporaƟon

The $50 difference between the proprietorship’s and corporaƟon’s balances in each of cash and
total equity is because the corporaƟon paid $50 income tax which the proprietorship is not sub-
ject to. The equity secƟons of the two balance sheets are different only in terms of the types of
accounts used.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run Financial
Statements.

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_1_2FS
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_1_2FS
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13.2 Partnerships

LO2 – Describe
the characteris-
Ɵcs of a partner-
ship, including
how its finan-
cial statements
are different
from those of a
corporaƟon.

As discussed in Chapter 1, a partnership is a business owned bymore than
one person. Partners should have a partnership contract that details their
agreement on things such as each partner’s rights and duƟes, the shar-
ing of incomes/losses and withdrawals, as well as dispute and terminaƟon
procedures. A partnership is not a separate legal enƟty, which means that
the business and the partners are considered to be the same enƟty. As a
result, for example, from an income tax perspecƟve, each partner’s share
of the profits is taxed as part of that partner’s personal income tax return.
Unlimited liability is another characterisƟc of a partnership, meaning that
if the business could not pay its debts, the partners would be responsible
even if the business’s debts were greater than their personal resources.

The excepƟon to this would be the formaƟon of a limited liability partnership (LLP) that that is
permiƩed for professionals such as lawyers and accountants. In an LLP, the general partner(s)
is/are responsible for the management of the partnership and assume(s) unlimited liability, while
the limited partners have limited liability but also limited roles in the partnership as specified in
the partnership agreement. Partnerships also have a limited life and are subject tomutual agency.
Mutual agency means that a partner can commit the partnership to any contract because each
partner is an authorized agent of the partnership. For example, one partner could sign a contract
to purchase merchandise that falls within the scope of the business’s operaƟons.

InvesƟng in a Partnership

Recall that when the owners of a corporaƟon, known as shareholders, invest in the corporaƟon,
shares are issued. Recall as well that in a proprietorship there is only one owner whose invest-
ments into the business are credited to their capital account. A partnership is similar to a pro-
prietorship in that each partner’s investment into the business is credited to an owner’s capital
account. The difference is that in a partnership there will be more than one owner’s capital ac-
count. For example, assume Doug Wharton, Lisa Bartwiz, and Tahanni Buƫ started a partnership
called WBB ConsulƟng and invested cash of $20,000, $15,000, and $40,000, respecƟvely. The
journal entry to record the investment is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 75,000
Wharton, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
Bartwiz, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,000
Buƫ, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,000

To record each partner’s investment into
the business.
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DistribuƟon of Income in a Partnership —Withdrawals

Recall that a corporaƟon distributes a porƟon of income earned to its owners, the shareholders,
in the form of dividends. In a proprietorship and partnership, the owner/partners distribute a
porƟon of the income to themselves in the form of withdrawals. Assume Wharton, Bartwiz, and
Buƫ each withdraw $5,000. The journal entry is:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Wharton, Withdrawals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000
Bartwiz, Withdrawals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000
Buƫ, Withdrawals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,000
To record the partners’ withdrawal of
cash.

Closing Entries for a Partnership

The closing entries for a partnership are much the same as those for a proprietorship except that
for a partnership there is more than one withdrawals account and more than one capital account.
The only complexity with the closing entries for a partnership is with closing the Income Summary
account to the capital accounts. The complexity stems from the partnership agreement which
details how incomes/losses are to be allocated. Let us review several scenarios.

Example 1: Assume WBB ConsulƟng earned $60,000 during the year and the partnership agree-
ment sƟpulates that incomes/losses are to be allocated equally. The journal entry to close the
income summary to the partners’ capital accounts would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000
Wharton, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
Bartwiz, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
Buƫ, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000

To close the income summary based on
equal allocaƟon.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run AllocaƟng
Income - No Partnership Agreement.

Example 2: Assume WBB ConsulƟng had a net loss of $70,000 during the year and the partner-
ship agreement sƟpulates that incomes/losses are to be allocated on a fracƟonal basis of 2:1:4,
respecƟvely. The journal entry to close the income summary to the partners’ capital accounts
would be:

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_1IncomeAllocationSimpleEqual
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_1IncomeAllocationSimpleEqual
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Wharton, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
Bartwiz, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,000
Buƫ, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,000

Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,000
To close the income summary based on
2:1:4 fracƟonal allocaƟon; calculaƟons:
2/(2+1+4) x 70,000 = 20,000; 1/(2+1+4)
x 70,000 = 10,000; 4/(2+1+4) x 70,000 =
40,000.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run AllocaƟng
Income/Loss – FracƟonal Basis.

Example 3: Assume WBB ConsulƟng had a net income of $100,000 during the year and the part-
nership agreement sƟpulates that incomes/losses are to be allocated on the raƟo of capital invest-
ments. The journal entry to close the income summary to the partners’ capital accounts would
be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,000
Wharton, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,667
Bartwiz, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
Buƫ, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53,333

To close the income summary with the al-
locaƟon based on a raƟo of capital invest-
ments; calculaƟons: (20,000/75,000) x
100,000 = 26,667 (rounded to the nearest
whole dollar); (15,000/75,000) x 100,000
= 20,000; (40,000/75,000 x 100,000 =
53,333 (rounded to the nearest whole dol-
lar).

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run AllocaƟng
Income – RaƟo of Investments.

Example 4: Assume WBB ConsulƟng had a net income of $60,000 during the year and the part-
nership agreement sƟpulates that incomes/losses are to be allocated based on salaries of $70,000
to Wharton; $20,000 to Bartwiz; zero to Buƫ; and the remainder equally. The journal entry to
close the income summary to the partners’ capital accounts would be:

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_2IncomeAllocationSimple
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_2IncomeAllocationSimple
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_3IncomeAllocationRatio
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_3IncomeAllocationRatio
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General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000
Buƫ, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,000

Wharton, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000
Bartwiz, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,000

To close the income summary with the al-
locaƟon based on salaries and the remain-
der allocated equally; calculaƟons:

Wharton Bartwiz Buƫ Total
Net income ..60,000
Salaries: 70,000 20,000 0 -90,000

Remainder to be allocated: -30,000
-30,000x1/3 -10,000 -10,000 -10,000 30,000

Balance of net income to be allocated 0
Total to be allocated to each partner 60,000 10,000 -10,000 ..60,000

..
The sum of the to-
tals must reconcile
(be equal to) the
net income/loss
being allocated.

NoƟce in Example 4 that Buƫ is receiving a negaƟve allocaƟon which results in a debit to her
Capital account.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run AllocaƟng
Income – Remainder to be Allocated.

Example 5: AssumeWBB ConsulƟng had a net income of $90,000 during the year and the partner-
ship agreement sƟpulates that incomes/losses are to be allocated based on a combinaƟon of: (a)
20% interest of each partner’s beginning-of-year capital balance; (b) salaries of $70,000 to Whar-
ton, $20,000 to Bartwiz, $15,000 to Buƫ; and (c) the remainder equally. The journal entry to close
the income summary to the partners’ capital accounts would be:

General Journal
Date Account/ExplanaƟon PR Debit Credit

Income Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90,000
Wharton, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 64,000
Bartwiz, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,000
Buƫ, Capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,000

To close the income summary with the al-
locaƟon based on a combinaƟon of inter-
est and salaries with the remainder allo-
cated equally; calculaƟons:

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_4IncomeAllocationIncome
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_4IncomeAllocationIncome
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Wharton Bartwiz Buƫ Total
Net income ..90,000
Interest:
20%x20,000; 20%x15,000; 20%x40,000 4,000 3,000 8,000 -15,000

Salaries: 70,000 20,000 15,000 -105,000
Remainder to be allocated: -30,000
-30,000x1/3 -10,000 -10,000 -10,000 30,000

Balance of net income to be allocated 0
Total to be allocated to each partner ..64,000 ..13,000 ..13,000 ..90,000

..

The sum of
the totals
must recon-
cile (be equal
to) the net
income/loss
being allo-
cated.

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run AllocaƟng
Incomes/Losses – Interest, Salaries, Remainder.

Financial Statements

The income statement for a partnership is idenƟcal to that for a proprietorship. The statement
of changes in equity for a partnership is similar to a proprietorship’s except that there is a Capital
account and Withdrawals account for each of the partners.

Assume that on January 1, 2015, the first year of operaƟons for WBB ConsulƟng, the partners,
Wharton, Bartwiz, and Buƫ, invested $20,000, $15,000, and $40,000, respecƟvely. During 2015
they each withdrew $5,000. The statement of changes in equity would appear as illustrated in
Figure 13.5 given a net income for the year of $90,000 allocated as shown in Example 5 above.

WBB ConsulƟng
Statement of Changes in Equity
Year Ended December 31, 2015

Wharton Bartwiz Buƫ Totals
Capital, January 1, 2015 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Add: Investments by partners 20,000 15,000 40,000 75,000

..Net income 64,000 13,000 13,000 90,000
Subtotals $84,000 $28,000 $53,000 $165,000

Less: Withdrawals by partners 5,000 5,000 5,000 15,000
Capital, December 31, 2015 $79,000 $23,000 $48,000 $150,000

.

Figure 13.5: Statement of Changes in Equity for a Partnership

An exploraƟon is available on the Lyryx system. Log into your Lyryx course to run AllocaƟng

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_5IncomeAllocationLoss
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_5IncomeAllocationLoss
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_4IncomeAllocationIncome
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Income – Remainder to be Allocated.

In the equity secƟon on the balance sheet there will be more than one owner’s capital account as
shown in Figure 13.6.

WBB ConsulƟng
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2015
Assets

Cash $ 35,000
Other assets 143,000

Total assets $178,000

LiabiliƟes $ 28,000

Equity
Wharton, capital $79,000
Bartwiz, capital 23,000
Buƫ, capital 48,000 150,000

Total liabiliƟes and equity $178,000

Figure 13.6: Balance Sheet for a Partnership

Summary of Chapter 13 Learning ObjecƟves

LO1 – Describe the characterisƟcs of a proprietorship, including how its financial statements are
different from those of a corporaƟon.

A proprietorship is a business owned by one person. It is not a separate legal enƟty, which means
that the business and the owner are considered to be the same enƟty. The profits of a propri-
etorship are taxed as part of the owner’s personal income tax return. Unlimited liability is an-
other characterisƟc of a proprietorship meaning that if the business could not pay its debts, the
owner would be responsible even if the business’s debts were greater than the owner’s personal
resources. Owner investments, owner withdrawals, and net incomes/losses are closed to one
permanent account: the Owner’s Capital account.

LO2 – Describe the characterisƟcs of a partnership, including how its financial statements are
different from those of a corporaƟon.

A partnership is a business owned by more than one person. Partners should have a partnership
contract that details their agreement on things such as each partner’s rights andduƟes, the sharing
of incomes/losses and withdrawals, as well as dispute and terminaƟon procedures. A partnership
is not a separate legal enƟty, which means that the business and the partners are considered to
be the same enƟty. Each partner’s share of the profits is taxed as part of that partner’s personal

http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_4IncomeAllocationIncome
http://lifa1.lyryx.com/student-servlets/ExplorationServlet?command=page&c=ANN13_2_4IncomeAllocationIncome
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income tax return. Unlimited liability is another characterisƟc of a partnership meaning that if
the business could not pay its debts, the partners would be responsible even if the business’s
debts were greater than the partners’ personal resources. The excepƟon to this would be the for-
maƟon of a limited liability partnership (LLP) that is permiƩed for professionals such as lawyers
and accountants. In an LLP, the general partner(s) is/are responsible for the management of the
partnership and assume(s) unlimited liability while the limited partners have limited liability but
also limited roles in the partnership as specified in the partnership agreement. Partnerships also
have a limited life and are subject to mutual agency. Mutual agency means that a partner can
commit the partnership to any contract because each partner is an authorized agent of the part-
nership. The closing entries for a partnership are the same as those for a proprietorship except
there is more than one capital account and more than one withdrawals account. The closing of
the income summary to each partner’s capital account is based on the allocaƟon details in the
partnership agreement.
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